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Chairlady’s Statement
EFEHRES

Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”), | am pleased to present the annual report of Jiyi
Holdings Limited (the
subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2023 ("FY2023" or the “Reporting Period”), together with the
comparative figures for the corresponding year ended 31
December 2022 (“FY2022").

“Company”) together with its

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the Reporting Period, the management team continued
to put forth significant effort in fostering its existing businesses
and actively seeking new business opportunities, recovering
and catching up with the Group’s revenue and net profits,
which had been negatively impacted by the novel coronavirus
("COVID-19") epidemic and from the intense market
competition as a result of market recovery. The Company
sought to expand its sale and distribution of merchandise
business segment by entering the business of bulk commodity
trading. As a result, the Group’s revenue had an increase in
the Reporting Period. In FY2023, the provision of interior
design and building engineering services segment accounted
for 0% of the total revenue (2022: 5%), while the sale and
distribution of merchandise segment accounted for 100% of
the total revenue (2022: 95%).

BIR

AAERXREZF(EFDE(ESFEDM
REME—EZEBRERRB(TARA ] EF
HIfB AR il [AEEDBEE T _=

FH+ZA=ZT—BLEFE(ZZ=_=0BF
ElsREHBEDOF®R  ERBE-F
T+ A=+ —BHLtHEEFEE(ZE
THBFEEDOLERET -

e E)-

RREHRRE - EEBREERNNERERSE
EBWERSRKIFEHE - RERKSHT
AR E ([COVID-19)) Z 15 R 518 BERS 2K
HWBZBREFHASRE WA RGENEENE
AFE - ARAABEBBEARNTERES
EBRBAEBEERDHARESDE - A
bt NEEAREBMWABREN - RZF
ZoHMBFE  REERARITREETIRR
BoBBRAMGBRARNON (ZTE=Z_F:
5%) + MHE &7 Mmoo BAAGRUA
B1100% (ZZE =4 : 95%) °



Provision of interior design and building
engineering services

The business segment of the provision of interior design and
building engineering services was severely impacted by the
recession in the real estate and property development industry
in China which had delayed the progress of various interior
design and building engineering projects. This led to a
decrease in revenue in the provision of interior design and
building engineering services segment. The revenue generated
from the provision of interior design and building engineering
services decreased by approximately RMB28.5 million or
approximately 100.0%, from approximately RMB28.5 million
in FY2022 to 0 in FY2023. The Group also recorded a decrease
in gross profit of approximately RMB6.2 million or
approximately 100.0%, from approximately RMB6.2 million in
FY2022 to O in FY2023. The gross profit margin decreased
from approximately 21.7% in FY2022 to 0% in FY2023.

Sale and distribution of merchandise

The sale and distribution of merchandise remained a stable
source of revenue to the Group. In FY2023, the Group
experienced an overall increase of approximately RMB98.2
million or approximately 18.5% in revenue from the sale and
distribution of merchandise from approximately RMB531.3
million in FY2022 to approximately RMB629.5 million in
FY2023, in particular, the revenue generated from bulk
commodity trading had an increase of approximately
RMB131.8 million, which was offset by the decrease in
revenue generated from the sale of building materials of
approximately RMB33.6 million during the Reporting Period.
The Group also recorded an decrease in gross profit of
approximately RMB23.5 million or approximately 97.5%, from
approximately RMB24.1 million in FY2022 to approximately
RMBO.6 million in FY2023. The gross profit margin decreased
from approximately 4.5% in FY2022 to approximately 0.1% in
FY2023.
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Overall, the Group recorded a consolidated net loss of
approximately RMB498.6 million for FY2023, representing an
increase of approximately RMB458.7 million or approximately
1,149.62% as compared with consolidated loss of
approximately RMB39.9 million for FY2022. Such increase was
mainly resulted from the net effect of the increase in provision
for impairment loss under the expected credit loss model by
approximately RMB332.7 million, increase in provision for
impairment loss of goodwill by approximately RMB50.9 million,
increase in provision for litigation and legal fees by
approximately RMB28.0 million, decrease in share-based
payment expenses by approximately RMB11.9 million, increase
in other net expenses by approximately RMB18.8 million,
offset by decrease in gross profit of approximately RMB29.7
million as well as the decrease in finance costs of
approximately RMB3.7 million.

PROSPECTS

The year 2023 was marked by persistent challenges to the
global economy, resulting from the prolonged negative
economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and geopolitical
tensions that affected international trade. The pandemic’s
resurgence in China led to temporary store closures and
construction suspensions, which negatively impacted our
business performance. Additionally, a slowdown in the
property market eroded buyers’ confidence, resulting in delays
in new project development and decreased capital investments
from real estate investors.

BREME  AEBR_ZE_=FHFEHRSE
BAFEBRHOARKBIG6EE L BT
T oMBEEZREFERHOARK39.9
BETEMNHARKAILTAEE LY
1149.62% ~ ZIEMEBHRFEHEEEIE
BRABBTZREGEREEMOARE
3327EET  BEZREBEREEND
ARBS09BEL  FAMEZBRER
MO ARKE280BE T - ARMH AHE
WMeRARAIBRIODARENIBEE T
HiFA FHEEMHARKISSEE T
KEBEENBRIDOARKE297EE TR
BRABRLDOAREITEB LR Z FE
FTEK ©

Al

T =F RREESEMBKE
COVID- 19 & IBH KB EXERFANEER
FEMMEBCRBRRBEVEBRKES - P
HEERBEREHERERALRE EET
HEMNEBRRAELAATE - 1IN B
HEMISIERBEESETERNEL - M
BYHMEEHAREE BHEREENER

BARD -



To address these challenges, the Group’s management team
implemented a multi-pronged strategy that included expanding
into new markets, optimizing cost structures, and pursuing
new business opportunities. For example, the Group diversified
its sales and distribution channels by venturing into
international bulk commodity trading, leveraging its experience
and cost advantages to achieve success in this field. The Group
also secured new Engineering, Procurement, and Construction
(EPC) projects in several cities in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-
Macao Greater Bay Area, which included the construction of
solar-powered motor charging stations and several corporate
construction projects. This success has significantly increased
our confidence in securing new project tenders and business
opportunities with corporate and governmental clients.

Looking ahead, the Group plans to further expand its presence
in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area,
particularly in new energy supply chain and bulk commodity
trading, where it sees promising growth potential. The Group
remains committed to expanding its online distribution and
e-marketing channels, utilizing cutting-edge technologies such
as artificial intelligence to sell and distribute building materials,
home improvement supplies, and furniture. Moreover, the
Group is actively seeking investment opportunities to bolster
its service capabilities and capacity in the merchandise sale and
distribution business segment by leveraging digital
transformation initiatives across traditional distribution
channels. Our overarching aim is to increase our market share
and scale of sales, generating sustainable benefits for both the
Group and our valued shareholders.
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Regarding the Group's capital market strategy, we successfully
completed seven placements of new shares under general
mandate in 2022, raising approximately HK$241.4 million to
bolster our financial position and foundation, and facilitate
future business growth and development. The capital was
allocated towards its intended purpose and has positively
impacted our operations. The Group will remain focused on
raising capital and proactively seek out strategic relationships
with external investors to support new and existing business
development and expansion.

We anticipate that the reopening of the border between Hong
Kong and Mainland China, coupled with the relaxation of
protective measures against the COVID-19 pandemic in
Mainland China, will result in a rebound of business activities
and economic conditions. This expected recovery is a positive
development that is likely to enhance our business
performance. The Group is dedicated to adhering to our
pragmatic and enterprising approach in executing our business
strategies, continually searching for fresh opportunities to
maximize value for our shareholders.

10
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APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
thank our management and all committed staff members for
their contributions to the Group and the shareholders, valued
customers, suppliers, and other business partners for their
continuous support. Our success would not have been possible
without their dedication, contributions, efforts, time and
confidence.

Yours sincerely,

Hou Wei
Chairlady

Hong Kong, 28 June 2024
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FINANCIAL REVIEW g e

Revenue by business operations REBLES KA
AEEEFEARBENGERERKERE
MEHUARGIEHER R E ARG MEETRR
FRIGHER - AEBFEZRFHEE S HY
oo MR = R AT SR TIRAR -

The Group is a well-established integrated building and home
improvement materials and furnishings supplier and interior
design and building engineering services provider in the PRC.
The Group is mainly engaged in the sale and distribution of
merchandise and the provision of interior design and building
engineering services.

TREHINR RS - RAREBEEE D HE
DR AR - BRI —F - —HRFE 2
BHYTF

The following table sets forth the breakdown of revenue by
the Group's business segments for the Reporting Period with
the comparative figures of FY2022:

For the year ended
31 December

BE+=-HA=+—HLEFE

2023 5 20224 Changes
—E-=F T F #E)
RMB'000 RMB’000 %
AR¥TT ARBFT
Sale and distribution of HE RS HEE M
merchandise
— Building materials — BEM 3,142 28,389 (88.9)
— Home improvement materials ~— R/E & &M £ 81 2,043 (96.0)
— Furnishings —Ix1E - 6,424 (100.0)
— Bulk commodity trading* — ARrEmES* 626,259 494,450 26.7
629,482 531,306 18.5
Provision of services TR AR
— Interior design services — ENRET RS - 2,224 (100.0)
— Building engineering services ~ — T2 RS - 26,233 (100.0)
- 28,457 (100.0)
Total st 629,482 559,763 12.5
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Total revenue of the Group increased by approximately
RMB69.7 million or approximately 12.5% from approximately
RMB559.8 million for FY2022 to approximately RMB629.5
million for FY2023. Such increase was mainly attributed to the
increase in revenue from the provision of sale and distribution
of furnishings and bulk commodity trading during the
Reporting Period.

Revenue from sale of and distribution of
merchandise

Revenue of the Group from sale and distribution of
merchandise, comprising (i) sale of building materials; (i) sale
of home improvement materials; (iii) sale of furnishings; and (iv)
bulk commodity trading, recorded an overall increase by
approximately RMB98.2 million or approximately 18.5% from
approximately RMB531.3 million for FY2022 to approximately
RMB629.5 million for FY2023. The overall increase was a
combined result of the followings:

Sale of building materials

Revenue generated from the sale of building materials
decreased by approximately RMB25.3 million or approximately
89.1% from approximately RMB28.4 million for FY2022 to
approximately RMB3.1 million for FY2023. Such decrease was
mainly due to the decrease in sales of cement and the decrease
in sales of aluminum alloy during the Reporting Period.

Sale of home improvement materials

Revenue generated from the sale of home improvement
materials decreased by approximately RMB1.96 million or
approximately 96% from approximately RMB2.04 million for
FY2022 to approximately RMBO0.08 million for FY2023. The
decrease was mainly due to the decrease in sales of paint and
other home improvement products during the Reporting
Period.

EEEwES T

NEBRAWANH S _BHEENNDAR
¥ 550.8 BB TIL MM ARK69.7 BB T
HNE%RE_Z-_ZHHFENHARE
6295BEIL c B MIIEEHNREH
FRERHEIEHERDHERERRRTEMRES
Z WA IEANPTER

HERTHEmMEA

Nilﬂ%% 785 7 SR A B IE () = 6 8E
B MRBEEMBAHEE  (VREHE
RWAREARES  FIBRABRZ=ZZ=Z
FRFEMNHOARKS31.3EETEEEM
HMAREIB2AEHLN185%E_T_=
PHFEMNHARBE295BETT - 2R
EINTIE A NS IEGRE SRR

BHEE

EMEEEENRAR S _UHFEN
WARK284BETLRLHARE 2538
B H801%E T -_—HREENY
AREBIIEBITL - ZRP DEEHRNRE
HREAKECHEERD RIEESZHES
BAETER

KEREMREE

REEEMHEEEENRAB S =28
BEEMHARB204BETRIHOAR
BI196ABILHNBCNE_ST _Z“FHKRF
EHHARKOBEBIL  ZRMIPIEE
AR EHERREMREEEEREE
SR -
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EEEwES T

Sale of furnishings

Revenue generated from the sale of furnishings increased by
approximately RMB6.4 million or approximately 100.0% from
approximately RMB6.4 million for FY2022 to approximately
RMBO million for FY2023. Such decrease was mainly due to
the decrease in sales of electronic products and home
decoration products during the Reporting Period.

Bulk commodity trading

Revenue generated from the bulk commodity trading increased
by approximately RMB131.8 million or approximately 26.7%
from approximately RMB494.4 million for FY2022 to
approximately RMB626.3 million for FY2023. Such increase
was mainly due to the increase in sales of electrolytic copper
and aluminum ingot products during the Reporting Period.

Revenue from provision of services

Revenue from provision of interior design and building
engineering services decreased by approximately RMB28.5
million or approximately 100.0% from approximately RMB28.5
million for FY2022 to approximately RMBO million for FY2023.
Such decrease was due to a decline in the scale of corporate
projects, as well as a delay in the stage of completion of some
construction engineering projects as a result of COVID-19
during the Reporting Period.

14
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Gross profit and gross profit margin

The following table sets forth the breakdown of gross profit
and gross profit margin by the Group’s business segments for
the Reporting Period with the comparative figures of FY2022:

EEEwES T

EMNRERN=R
TREFINREHRE - LA EEEE D LS

FREZLBHT

For the year ended 31 December

BE+-HA=+—HLEE

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F

Gross profit Gross profit

Gross profit margin  Gross profit margin

EX ER=E EH ESViES

RMB’000 % RMB’000 %

AR¥ T ARBTFT

Sale and distribution of THE & iHE m

merchandise 617 0.1 24,133 4.5
Provision of interior design  RHZEAREET &
and building engineering EETRERS

services - - 6,186 21.7

Total HEt 617 0.1 30,319 5.4

The revenue of the Group increased by approximately
RMB69.7 million or approximately 12.5% from approximately
RMB559.8 million for FY2022 to approximately RMB629.5
million for FY2023, the Group's overall gross profit decreased
by approximately RMB29.7 million or approximately 98.0%
from approximately RMB30.3 million for FY2022 to
approximately RMBO0.6 million for FY2023. The decrease in the
Group's overall gross profit was mainly due to the decrease in
the revenue and gross profit margin other than the bulk
commodity trading during the Reporting Period.

REBRAR - —BBEEHLHARE
559.8 B B LI K AR 69.7 B B Lk 4y
NRE%ZE_T_—FBRFENHDARE
6295 HETL AEEEREENH_T -
BREENHAREIOIEBETALHA
REE297TEHELHA80%E —T — =8
BREEMNHOARBOEEIL - AEEERE
FARLEEARREBEBRATERES
Z NI K FE I O A BT ER o
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EEEwES T

The gross profit margin of provision of interior design and
building engineering services decreased from 21.7% for
FY2022 to 0.0% for the Reporting Period. With the decreasing
volume of corporate projects and the expansion of market
share, the gross profit margin of this business will gradually
decrease.

The gross profit margin of the business of sale and distribution
of merchandise decreased from 4.5% for FY2022 to 0.1% for
FY2023, mainly due to the decrease in gross profit margin
from the sale and distribution of merchandise including bulk
commodity trading during the Reporting Period.

Distribution and selling expenses

The Group’s selling expenses decreased by approximately
RMB3.7 million or approximately 69.8% from approximately
RMB5.3 million for FY2022 to approximately RMB1.6 million
for the Reporting Period. Such decrease was due to the closure
of retail stores during the Reporting Period.

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses decreased by
approximately RMBO0.2 million or approximately 1.3% from
approximately RMB15.8 million for FY2022 to approximately
RMB15.6 million for the Reporting Period, and the change is
not significant.
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Finance costs — net

The Group's net finance costs decreased by approximately
RMB3.7 million or approximately 27.6% from approximately
RMB13.4 million for FY2022 to approximately RMB9.7 million
for the Reporting Period. The decrease was mainly due to the
decrease in the finance costs arising from the convertible loan
notes during the Reporting Period.

Loss for the year

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s loss was
approximately RMB498.6 million for the Reporting Period as
compared to the profit of approximately RMB39.9 million for
FY2022.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL
RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total cash and bank
balances of approximately RMB5.6 million (2022: RMB7.0
million) mainly denominated in RMB and HK$. The Group also
had a total restricted cash balances of approximately RMBO. 1
million (2022: RMBO0.2 million) which was mainly related to
security deposits provided to secure certain bank borrowings.
The decrease in total cash and bank balances was mainly due
to decrease in cash inflows from collection of trade receivables
during the Reporting Period.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had net current assets of
approximately RMB297.5 million, as compared to
approximately RMB740.9 million as at 31 December 2022.
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BORROWINGS AND PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no unutilised banking
facilities for short term financing (31 December 2022: Nil) and
total bank borrowings of approximately RMB254.3 million
(2022: RMB232.0 million). The total bank borrowings
comprised approximately RMB100.0 million (2022: RMB77.7
million) in bank borrowings arising from discounted
commercial bills and discounted letters of credit that were not
yet due.

Other than the bank borrowings arising from discounted
commercial bills and discounted letters of credit that were not
yet due, the bank borrowings of the Group were secured by
property, plant and equipment, investment properties and
right-of-use assets as at 31 December 2023 and 2022. The
bank borrowings were also jointly guaranteed by Ms. Hou Wei
and Mr. Deng Jianshen, husband of Ms. Hou Wei.

Details of the Group’s capital structure, in terms of among
other things, the maturity profile of debt and obligation and

types of capital instruments used as at 31 December 2023, are
set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

The Group has no material capital expenditure during the
Reporting Period.
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FINANCIAL RATIO Mt =®
As at
his

31 December 31 December

2023 2022

—E-=F —EoF

+=—HA=+—-HB +-—A=+—H

Current ratio ™ VEI 1.60 2.72

Quick ratio @ REYLL KO 1.60 2.71

Gearing ratio (%) © BERBELE (%) 67.08 30.87

Net debt to equity ratio (%) @ SFEB LT (%) 65.58 30.08
o Current ratio is calculated as total current assets divided by total current @ MBLLETRREE ELER RS A GRS

i

liabilities.

@ Quick ratio is calculated as total current assets less inventories and @ R EDERBEELBERFTERBRARSE
divided by total current liabilities. BHEREAE -

® Gearing ratio is calculated as total debt divided by total equity and @ BARBGL R TIRE L EMR DA R A5 BRI
multiplied by 100%. 100% 515 °

@ Net debt to equity ratio is calculated as total borrowings net of cash and @ FEBERLEDREREFE (KRR RS

cash equivalents and restricted cash, and divided by total equity and ZEVURZRHNES) RAEREEBRN
multiplied by 100%. 100% 5t & °

MATERIAL INVESTMENTS, ACQUISITIONS BEAKRE WERHE
AND DISPOSALS

The Group had no material investment, acquisition and AEBENRFEHELTEEALE - WHEK T
disposal transactions during the Reporting Period. BERG o
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UPDATES ON THE ISSUE OF CONVERTIBLE
BONDS AND THE USE OF PROCEEDS

On 22 April 2019, the company entered into eight (8)
subscription agreements with the subscribers (the
“Subscribers”) respectively, pursuant to which the Company
has conditionally agreed to issue and the Subscribers has
respectively and conditionally agreed to subscribe for the
convertible bonds in the aggregate principal amount of
HK$102,100,000 (the “Convertible Bonds”). The issue of the
Convertible Bonds was completed on 25 June 2019. The net
proceeds from the issuance of the Convertible Bonds, which
amounted to approximately HK$101.6 million after deducting
the related professional fees and an related expenses, have
already been fully utilised during FY2019.

On 24 December 2021, the Company and the bondholders
agreed to extend the maturity date of the outstanding
Convertible Bonds with an aggregate principal amount of
HK$41,555,555 from 24 December 2021 to 31 August 2022
(the “Maturity Date”). Save for the extension of the maturity
date, all the terms and conditions of the Convertible Bonds
remain unchanged.

As of 30 June 2022, Convertible Bonds in the amount of
HK$60,544,445 have been converted into 60,544,445
conversion shares by the bondholders, and the remaining
Convertible Bonds in the amount of HK$41,555,555 were
outstanding (“Outstanding Convertible Bonds").
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As at the date of this annual report, the Outstanding
Convertible Bonds have reached the Maturity Date. The
Company and the outstanding bondholder are in the course of
negotiating for a further extension of the Maturity Date and
the outstanding bondholder has indicated its intention to
agree to an extension. Please refer to the announcement of
the Company dated 31 August 2022 and further
announcement(s) to be made by the Company as and when
necessary in relation to the Outstanding Convertible Bonds.

The extension of the Maturity Date, if realized, would allow
the Company to enjoy more flexibility when planning its
financial resources, as it would enable the Company to apply
its financial resources to fund its operation and/or business
development, especially when facing the challenges of the
COVID-19 situation, instead of repayment of the Outstanding
Convertible Bonds by 31 August 2022 so as to maximise
returns to the Shareholders.

For further details in relation to the Outstanding Convertible
Bonds, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 24 December 2020, 31 December 2020, 24 June 2021,
24 December 2021 and 31 August 2022, the circular of the
Company dated 26 January 2021, 30 July 2021 and 11
February 2022 in respect of the EGM, and the poll result
announcement dated 22 February 2021, 10 September 2021
and 7 March 2022 in respect of the EGM.
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PLACING OF NEW SHARES UNDER GENERAL
MANDATE AND THE USE OF PROCEEDS

On 25 January 2022, the Company allotted and issued a total
of 28,022,000 placing shares to not less than six placees at the
placing price of HK$1.2 per placing shares pursuant to the
terms and conditions of the placing agreement signed
between the Company and the placing agent dated 30
November 2021. The net proceeds (after deducting the placing
commission and other related expenses and professional fees)
from the placing amounted to approximately HK$33.1 million.
Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 30
November 2021, 20 December 2021, 11 January 2022, 12
January 2022 and 26 January 2022 for further details.

On 15 March 2022, the Company allotted and issued a total
of 48,000,000 placing shares to not less than six placees at the
placing price of HK$0.9 per placing shares pursuant to the
terms and conditions of the placing agreement signed
between the Company and the placing agent dated 4 March
2022. The net proceeds (after deducting the placing
commission and other related expenses and professional fees)
from the placing amounted to approximately HK$42.6 million.
Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 4
March 2022, 8 March 2022, 11 January 2022 and 15 March
2022 for further details.

On 28 April 2022, the Company allotted and issued a total of
56,000,000 placing shares to not less than six placees at the
placing price of HK$0.76 per placing shares pursuant to the
terms and conditions of the placing agreement signed
between the Company and the placing agent dated 22 April
2022. The net proceeds (after deducting the placing
commission and other related expenses and professional fees)
from the placing amounted to approximately HK$42 million.
Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 22
April 2022, 25 April 2022, and 28 April 2022 for further
details.
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On 31 May 2022, the Company allotted and issued a total of
41,431,833 placing shares to not less than six placees at the
placing price of HK$0.57 per placing shares pursuant to the
terms and conditions of the placing agreement signed
between the Company and the placing agent dated 20 May
2022. The net proceeds (after deducting the placing
commission and other related expenses and professional fees)
from the placing amounted to approximately HK$23.3 million.
Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 20
May 2022 and 31 May 2022 for further details.

On 27 July 2022, the Company allotted and issued a total of
73,230,000 placing shares to not less than six placees at the
placing price of HK$0.55 per placing shares pursuant to the
terms and conditions of the placing agreement signed
between the Company and the placing agent dated 14 July
2022. The net proceeds (after deducting the placing
commission and other related expenses and professional fees)
from the placing amounted to approximately HK$39.7 million.
Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 14
July 2022 and 27 July 2022 for further details.

On 17 August 2022, the Company allotted and issued a total
of 45,882,000 placing shares to not less than six placees at the
placing price of HK$0.55 per placing shares pursuant to the
terms and conditions of the placing agreement signed
between the Company and the placing agent dated 3 August
2022. The net proceeds (after deducting the placing
commission and other related expenses and professional fees)
from the placing amounted to approximately HK$24.9 million.
Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 3
August 2022 and 17 August 2022 for further details.
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On 22 September 2022, the Company allotted and issued a
total of 95,362,000 placing shares to not less than six placees
at the placing price of HK$0.38 per placing shares pursuant to
the terms and conditions of the placing agreement signed
between the Company and the placing agent dated 9
September 2022 (the “September Placing”). The net proceeds
(after deducting the placing commission and other related
expenses and professional fees) from the placing amounted to
approximately HK$35.9 million. Please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 9 September 2022 and
22 September 2022 (the “September Announcements”) for
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further details.

Net Proceeds Raised

Date of Placing (Approximately)

Proposed use of proceeds
(Approximately)
FERERERR (BK)

Actual and intended use of
proceeds
FEREERRBRERE

BESEHS EECBRIETE (BY)
25 January 2022 HK$33.1 million

T -f—-A=+HhA BIBEET

15 March 2022 HK$42.6 million
—“T--F#=A+hA N6EEET
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General working capital of
the Group
AEEZ-REERS

() approximately HK$20
million for the
repayment of trade
and bill payables;

() K20BE&BTARE
REIHRFREEMNK
15 ;

(i) approximately HK$20
million for the
repayment of other
borrowings;

(i) #20BEEETHARE
REMIER

(i) approximately HK$2.6
million for general
working capital of the
Group;

(i) #26BEBTARAE
SEZ—REEESR

The amount has been used as
intended.
ZEBOERTRERA

(i) HK$20 million has been

used as intended.

() 20BEBBTCERETH
BER -

(i)~ HK$20 million has been
used as intended.

iy 20BEBECEETER

BiER -

(i)~ The amount has been
used as intended.

(i) HERCERBERRE
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Net Proceeds Raised

Proposed use of proceeds

Actual and intended use of

Date of Placing (Approximately) (Approximately) proceeds

RESEAH BECMBHEFRAMN) FMEREREAZ (M) FEREERREERR

28 April 2022 HK$42 million Capital investment on new The amount has been used as
investment opportunities; intended.

—T-FMAZ+A\R NBEEET MRERE L EARE ZeECDERTERGER

31 May 2022 HK$23.3 million Working capital to expand The amount has been used as
existing business segment intended.
of the sale and distribution
of merchandise;

T FAA=1T—H 233BEAT TERAREMHEERDHE ZeBCKBTEREEM -
Bome gEES

27 July 2022 HK$39.7 million Working capital to expand The amount has been used as
existing business segment intended.
of the provision of interior
design and engineering
services;

e Sk 25 = By o o = 9.7BEET MRARRUEARIRT  ZeBCKBETEREER -
BRBEBHHB2EEE
%

17 August 2022 HK$24.9 million Working capital to expand The amount has been used as
existing business segment intended.
of the provision of interior
design and engineering
services;

—T-FN\ATtH 249B8ET MRARRREARRT ZeECKBEREER -
BRBEBIB2EEER
%

22 September 2022 HK$35.9 million Repayment of the principal Approximately HK$35.9 million
and interest payables of has been reallocated and
the Company's utilised towards expansion of
outstanding convertible the existing business segment
bonds; of the sale and distribution of

merchandise.

—T-_FAAZTZH 359BERT BERRAIMAITEARE 35988 BTEEN AT

EHFzAE RENME

AR EARANEMEER
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REASONS FOR THE CHANGE IN USE OF THE
NET PROCEEDS RAISED IN THE SEPTEMBER
PLACING

With reference to the September Announcements regarding
the September Placing, the original intended use of proceeds
raised in the September Placing was for the repayment of the
outstanding principal and interests accrued and payable with
respect to the Company’s outstanding convertible bonds. With
further reference to the Company’s voluntary announcement
dated 31 August 2022, the Board has been negotiating for the
extension of the maturity date pursuant to the outstanding
convertible bonds. In view of the ongoing negotiation
progress, after further deliberation of the Board, the Board
resolved to the reallocation in such manner set out in the table
above. Furthermore, owing to the lifting of restrictions
regarding COVID-19 pandemic in the PRC, the Board sees a
spike in the demand for building and home improvement
material and furnishings, and the Company intends to expand
its investments in the development of the business segment of
sale and distribution of merchandise of the Group by
expanding its sales pipelines, which are expected to improve
the profitability and/or further develop the revenue streams of
the business segment of sale and distribution of merchandise
for the Group.

The Board is of the view that the reallocation would allow the
Group to utilise its financial resources in a more flexible,
beneficial and effective way and to meet its operational and
business needs of the Group.

The Board considers that the reallocation of the net proceeds
raised in the September Placing will not have any material
adverse impact on the existing business and operations of the
Group and is in the best interest of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole. Save as disclosed in this annual
report, the Board confirms that there are no other changes to
the use of the net proceeds raised in the September Placing.
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CAPITAL REORGANISATION

In extraordinary general meeting of the Company convened on

9 December 2022 (the "EGM"), the resolutions approving the

capital reorganisation involving the share consolidation, the

capital reduction and the share sub-division (the “Capital

Reorganisation”) was duly passed by way of poll. The Capital

Reorganisation involves:

()

(i)

(iii)

Share Consolidation (the “Share
Consolidation”)

Every five (5) issued Shares of HK$0.10 (“Existing
shares”) each shall be consolidated into one (1)
Consolidated Shares of HK$0.50 each, and every five (5)
unissued Existing Shares of HK$0.10 each shall be
consolidated into one (1) unissued consolidated share of
HK$0.50 each (“Consolidated Shares”).

Capital Reduction (“Capital Reduction”)

The Capital Reduction will be implemented subsequent
to the Share Consolidation becoming effective, pursuant
to which the par value of each of the issued Consolidated
Shares will be reduced from HK$0.50 to HK$0.01 by
cancelling the paid-up capital of the Company to the
extent of HK$0.49 on each of the issued Consolidated
Shares. As such, the issued share capital of the Company
will be reduced.

Share Sub-Division (the “Share
Sub-Division”)

Immediately following the effectiveness of the Capital
Reduction, the Share Sub-Division will be implemented
on the basis that every unissued Consolidated Share of
HK$0.50 each in the authorised share capital of the
Company shall be sub-divided into fifty (50) New Shares
of HK$0.01 each (the “New Shares”).

EEEwES T

RAEH

RARRE T - _F+ - ANRARTHR
REpIRE (IRREARE ) £ #ERR
BIIRAEA OF KRB D &6 - BB M
DA (TIRAZER])) FRBERUEZTA
BIEAEE - RAERS N

(i) Buoraest(REEH6D

FHE)RERAMBON0ETHEELT
B (TRAERR D EEHR—(DERE
BEEO.S0BTMA MG - RER
GBS EEC. 10T REITRE
Bty i & 6 R — ()R EBKEE.50%
TCHIRBATE GHRIA ([ & PHARIA )
(i) MAER ([ BRAER )
AR AR BB S B AD & OF A R B AT
Bt BB AL RO BHARAR (A
ERTAMRHER0.49BTAR)
ETE OHR 0 S I E B 0.50 7
TCHIMZE0.0178 7T « Bt - A FK
E BT T LABIA -

(iii) B4 ([ R4 481

ERERAHIR AR - BRAD IR AR 1%
AR RATE BT & X E {E0.50 78 7T
MARBETAEHERNEE/FART T+
(50) I AL E 1B 0.01 B TTHYFTAAD ([ ¥
Petn]) 2 EEETT ©

27



JIYI HOLDINGS LIMITED E—#Z=IRER AT
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4R

Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEwES T

The Share Consolidation became effective after the passing of
the resolution in connection with the Share Consolidation as
an ordinary resolution of the Company in the EGM. The
Capital Reduction and the Share Sub-Division became effective
(i) after the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands made an order
confirming the Capital Reduction (the “Court Order”); and (ii)
upon the Court Order together with the minutes approved by
the Court containing the particulars required under the
Companies Act (2022 Revision, Cap. 22 of the Cayman Islands)
with respect to the Capital Reduction were filed and duly
registered with the Registrar of Companies in the Cayman
Islands.

The effect of the Capital Reorganisation on the share capital
structure of the Company is summarised as follows:

& HRBRESNAS LBEEERNE
HOORBRES/ANABIN EBRRZERRE °
AN BB K B AD Hr 4B S () P 2 B B AORBT 3%
HERRAERBRS (DERES D) ¢ K (i)
ERRRSBERERAILERERABE(FRE
HEFRNE(ZT__FE))MBRESR
AR B2 @R R R W R S B
SrrEfEE R EAECERER

RAEBHEARRAIRANRE 2 E /i m
T

Immediately after the

share consolidation
becoming effective

but before the capital Immediately after the

Before Capital reduction becoming  Capital Reorganisation

Reorganisation effective becoming effective

RHRGAHENE

REAEMN  BREAMELHE  FHRAEALNE

Authorised share capital 500,000,000 500,000,000 500,000,000
VETE B

Par value HK$0.10 per HK$0.50 per HK$0.01 per

Existing Share Consolidated Share New Share

HfE FRIAFRN BR& o BRI

0.10/87T 0.50/87T 0.017%87T

No. of authorised shares 5,000,000,000 1,000,000,000 50,000,000,000

Existing Shares Consolidated Share New Share

EERMHEE 5,000,000,000 A% 1,000,000,000 fx 50,000,000,000 fx

BERD CXilser] it ey)

Par value of issued share 131,882,761.20 131,882,761.20 2,637,655.22

capital (HK$)
EETRAEE(ET)
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Immediately after the
share consolidation
becoming effective

but before the capital

Immediately after the

Before Capital reduction becoming  Capital Reorganisation
Reorganisation effective becoming effective

ERERD SO ERE
RRAEAA 1B R BR A HI R 4 XAl EEREAEAERE
No. of issued shares 1,318,827,612 263,765,522 263,765,522
Existing Share Consolidated Share New Share
BEETRNEAE 1,318,827,612 % 263,765,522 % 263,765,522 I%
BERM &R At
No. of unissued shares 3,681,172,388 736,234,478 49,736,234,478
Existing Share Consolidated Share New Share
ARETRHEE 3,681,172,388 % 736,234,478 % 49,736,234,478 %
BERM &R R,

Par value of unissued share 368,117,238.80 368,117,238.80 497,362,344.80
capital (HK$)

RETRAEEGET)

Details of the Capital Reorganisation aforementioned are set  ARf i f% AN B A EIFE R () AN A7) B Hf
out in (i) the announcements of the Company dated 4 HRA—ZE-_—F+—ANEAE-_ZT=-—4F
November 2022 and 9 December 2022 respectively in relation +ZANAHMAE  REERB(EREHE)R
to, among other things, the Capital Reorganisation; (i) the ZA&E# : () AARHHA-_ZT-—F+—
circular of the Company dated 24 November 2022 in relation Z—-+PIHMBK  RBEEBEREERIAE
to the EGM; (i) the announcement of the Company dated 9 (i) ARG HEHA-_ZT-—_F+=-F LAY
December 2022 regarding, amongst other things, the poll A% AAEM (AR E1E) BREEIASH
results of the EGM; and (iv) the announcement of the HEXXRER: RMWAATBEHA-Z
Company dated 17 February 2022 in relation to,amongst other ——F - A++tHKRE AR ARE(EH
things, the effective date of the Capital Reduction and the — B4&) BRAHIE K A% () TR 4 A0 A 4 B HA -
Share Sub-Division.
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FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Apart from those disclosed in the above paragraphs, there
were no material investments or additions of capital assets
authorised by the Board at the date of this annual report.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group mainly earns revenue in RMB and also incurs cost in
HK$ and RMB. The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk
with respect mainly to HK$ which may affect the Group’s
performance. The management is aware of the possible
exchange rate exposure due to the continuing fluctuation of
HK$ and will closely monitor its impact on the performance of
the Group to see if any hedging policy is necessary. The Group
currently does not have any foreign currency hedging policy.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no significant contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2023 (2022: Nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had no significant outstanding capital commitment
as at 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).
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LITIGATION

The management report and Chinese legal opinion on the
litigation and arbitration of our affiliated subsidiaries are
detailed in the appendix on pages 341 to 396, which involves
bank loans, remuneration, tax and other debts due. In
accordance with the relevant requirements of the Accounting
Standards and based on the principle of prudence, the
Company has provided for the estimated liabilities of the
pending litigation totalling RMB28.0 million for the year 2023
based on the outcome of the litigation judgement, which will
reduce the Company’s net profit attributable to the
shareholders of the listed company for the year 2023 by
RMB28.0 million, and the specific impact of this judgement on
the Company is subject to the final execution of the case.

The associated subsidiaries of the Group were involved in
litigation and arbitration cases, all of which were caused by the
downturn of the domestic economy and the unprecedented
impact on the industry to which the Group belongs, the large-
scale extension of the construction works in the early stage of
the construction period, the failure to make timely repayment
of the payments for the governmental works as well as the
payments for the other works. In order to ensure that the
Company's business continues to progress, it has been
necessary to increase the relevant borrowings and financing
and to reduce and defer the relevant expenses, which has
further aggravated the pressure on the Company’s capital and
led to numerous litigation and arbitration cases. In respect of
the amounts involved in the current litigation and arbitration
cases, large amounts of the cases were secured by the relevant
properties belonging to the Company and its senior
management, and the Company’s receivables were sufficient
to cover the payment of such amounts, therefore, the
management of the Company is of the view that the litigation
and arbitration cases involved in the associated subsidiaries of
the Group will not have a material impact on the audit for the
current period.
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EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2023, the employee headcount of the
Group was 21 (2022: 33) and the total staff costs, including
Directors’ remuneration, amounted to approximately RMB6.5
million for the Reporting Period (2022: RMB13.8 million). The
decrease in employee headcount was due to the strategic
restructuring and outsourcing plan implemented by the Group
to achieve better cost control while streamlining its operations
and improving overall efficiency during the Reporting Period.
The increase in total staff cost was due to the increase
inequity-settled share-based payment expenses during the
Reporting Period.

The Group offers competitive remuneration packages
commensurate with industry practice and provides various
fringe benefits to employees. The Group conducts induction
training for all of its new employees and on-going training
from time to time during their employment. The nature of
training offered depends on their specific field of operation.

The objective of the Group’s remuneration policy is to maintain
fair and competitive packages based on business requirements
and industry practice. In order to determine the level of
remuneration paid to its employees (including directors and
senior management), the following factors are considered:

o workload, responsibility and job complexity;

° business requirements;

o individual performance and contribution to results;

o company performance and profitability;

° retention considerations and the potential of individuals;
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o corporate goals and objectives;

o market rates and changes in relevant markets, including
supply and demand fluctuations and changes in
competitive conditions; and

o general economic situation.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations,
businesses and prospects may be affected by a number of risks
and uncertainties. The followings are the key risks and
uncertainties identified by the Group. There may be other risks
and uncertainties in addition to those shown below which are
not known to the Group or which may not be material now
but could turn out to be material in the future.

Business Risk

Future growth of the Group relies, to a certain extent, on the
successful maintenance and expansion of the Group's sales to
key customers. As a result, any loss of key customers or
substantial reduction in the amount of purchase by them could
significantly and adversely affect the business, results of
operations, financial condition and prospects of the Group.
Further, the business of the Group is currently concentrated in
Meizhou of Guangdong Province. Any adverse economic or
market development in this region or any other regions that
the Group operates may materially and adversely affect the
demand for the merchandise of the Group.
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Operational Risk

Most of the Group's sale and distribution of merchandise are
derived from merchandise procured from its suppliers. Any
adverse change of the Group's relationship, including
termination or change in requirements as imposed by the
suppliers, with its suppliers may adversely affect the business
operation of the Group. Further, the Group’s operation can
also be adversely affected if there occur any material delay in
product delivery by the Group’s suppliers.

Industrial Risk

The products and services offered by the Group are mainly
used for or closely related to building or home improvement
purposes. Accordingly, business, results of operations and
prospects of the Group are driven, to a considerable extent, by
the growth of the real estate market and the relevant
government policies in China.

Financial Risk
The business and operation of the Group are exposed to
financial risks on currency, interest rates, credit and impairment

assessment and liquidity.

Details of financial risk management of the Group are set out
in note 37(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

34

R mk

AEEBKE D B amiHE koIR8 mEHE
EERBHER - AEBEREHEEREERN
ERAFEE B (B IR H BRI B A =X
2REB) AR EHARENRIGEEENX
THRIZE - Lo WARENHERRNE
M REAERNEE  ARENEETEX
TR E -

TERER

AEBEFRINER LIRS EZANEES
RERESEZ BIMEBOME - B - K
SENERR KEXELARERAREL
5 2|7 Bl 55 4 B T 548 I DA S AR B U BR R
HIHES) o

Bt 75 B

AEBZEBMELEGHEBES /X
EEMBEMEARREE ST ENMEE

LA
i

o o
A

REBNTBREREBFBEHNGES TER
FMIFE37(0) ©



JIYI HOLDINGS LIMITED & —3= 8 H R A 7
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 £k

Management Discussion and Analysis

MANPOWER AND RETENTION RISK

The competition for talents in the cities that the Group
operates leads to the risk that the Group may not be able to
attract and retain key personnel and talents with the most
appropriate and required skills, experience and competence
which would meet the business objectives of the Group from
time to time. The Group will continue to evaluate our
remuneration system and policy from time to time and target
to provide attractive remuneration package to attract, retain
and motivate suitable candidates and personnel.

REPORT AND CHINESE LEGAL OPINION ON
THE SITUATION OF LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION OF RELATED SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE GROUP BY THE MANAGEMENT

The management report and Chinese legal opinion on the
litigation and arbitration of our affiliated subsidiaries are
detailed in the appendix on pages 341 to 396.
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DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Ms. Hou Wei (&%), aged 54, was appointed as a Director on 2
February 2015 and was re-designated as an executive Director on
5 June 2015. Ms. Hou is also the chairlady and chief executive
officer of the Group. She is primarily responsible for the overall
management, strategic planning, business development and
cooperation of the Group. In September 1999, Ms. Hou joined
Guangdong Jiyi Household Building Materials Chain Co., Ltd. (“Jiyi
Household”) as the manager of Jiyi Household and she was later
appointed as the executive director of Jiyi Household in May
2004, primarily responsible for the overall management,
operation, strategic planning and the supervision of the finance
and purchase department. She has over 20 years of experience in
retail chain store operation and distribution of housewares and
building materials. Prior to joining the Group, from July 1989 to
July 1999, Ms. Hou served as a teacher of Meizhou Middle School
of Meizhou (M T #N# E2). From October 2011 to December
2016, Ms. Hou served as a member of CPPCC Guangdong
Province Meixian Committee (X % E R B 1§ 52 Z B &€). In
November 2011, she received the title of “Guangdong Province
Outstanding Entrepreneurs” (& R & 8 F 1 ¥ XK) jointly
awarded by Guangdong Entrepreneurs Council (& R 1> 2% R 12
%= &) and Guangdong Province Economists and Entrepreneurs
Association (& B & £ B 2 K 1 % FK I i &). In November
2012, she received the title of “Green Brand Advocates of
Chinese Household Building Materials” (7 B2 M 5K f& 4% (& b
{8 ) awarded by China Real Estate Society (FF Bl E I EZ2 &
and China Building Materials Daily (4 # M #). Ms. Hou
received her diploma in English from Guangdong Jiaying College
(E ] 5 & 2 %) in the PRC in June 1989 and her graduate
certificate in the advanced class of business strategy (A& 5 & =
AMHHETT) from the Peking University (£ 5 AZ2) in the PRC in
January 2013. Ms. Hou is the sister of Mr. Hou Bo, a non-
executive Director of the Group.
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Mr. Liu Xianxiu (£/855), aged 51, was appointed as an executive
Director on 5 June 2015. He is primarily responsible for overall
internal control and internal audit affairs of the Group. He joined
the Group in July 2011 and served as an account manager and
warehouse logistics manager of Jiyi Household until February
2013, primarily responsible for accounting and auditing and
management of warehouse logistics. He was re-designated as a
deputy chief financial officer of Jiyi Household from March 2013
to June 2013, and was appointed as the chief financial officer of
Jiyi Household in July 2013, primarily responsible for the overall
management of financial affairs. He was re-designated as the
chief internal audit officer of Jiyi Household in September 2017,
primarily responsible for the overall internal control and internal
audit affairs. Prior to joining the Group, from July 1995 to
November 2001, he served as the accountant of Meizhou Gas
Company Limited (1§ & 8RB R 2 7]), a company which
is principally engaged in supply of town gas in Meizhou, where
he was primarily responsible for accounting. From November
2001 to November 2004, he was the finance manager of
Meizhou Yanming Lake Tourist Resorts Company Limited (& 5
JfEE 1S 48 B 357 £ R AT A BR A A1), a company which is principally
engaged in the management of Yanming Lake Tourist Resorts
(JFE U8 588 i %2 2 R A), primarily responsible for accounting and
finance of such company. From November 2004 to July 2011, he
served as the head of finance of Meizhou New Weima Ceramics
Company Limited (18 M 7 %7 & 5 F8 & B R 2 7]), a company
which is principally engaged in the production of ceramics,
primarily responsible for accounting and finance of such
company. Mr. Liu received his diploma in financial management
and computer application from South China Agricultural
University (327 22 K2) in the PRC in July 1995. He received
his qualification certificate of specialty and technology
(intermediate accounting) (B & i &E&#FE (R K E5)) from
the Ministry of Finance of the PRC in May 2002.
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Mr. Yang Baikang (##8), aged 58, was appointed as our executive
Director on 7 November 2018. He has been the vice president of
the Company since 1 November 2017 and is primarily responsible
for overseeing the engineering services business of the Company’s
subsidiary in the PRC. Mr. Yang served in various positions in
different government departments in Meizhou City, Guangdong
Province, PRC. He served as the deputy mayor of the People’s
Government of the Triangle Town of Meijiang District in Meizhou
City (8N T8I [ = A% A REUT) from December 1995 to
March 1999; he served as the deputy secretary of the Party
Committee (2 % &l £ i2) of the People’s Government of the
Triangle Town of Meijiang District in Meizhou City (&1 8T [&
= A ARBT) from March 1999 to July 2002; he also served
as the mayor of the People’s Government of the Triangle Town of
Meijiang District in Meizhou City (#§/ T/ L & = A E A RBUT)
from December 2000 to July 2002; he served as the deputy
director of the Meizhou Municipal Real Estate Administration
Bureau (18 M T ZE & 2 ) from July 2002 to June 2007; he
served as deputy director of the Meizhou Municipal Construction
Bureau(t8/M T #2:&/5) from June 2007 to February 2010; and he
served as deputy director of Meizhou Municipal Housing and
Urban-Rural Development Bureau (181 1= = A H 2 £ /5)
from February 2010 to July 2016. He obtained his diploma in
political history from Jiaying Normal College (52 fEAM #3  F1£24%)
in July 1986. He obtained his graduation certificate in economic
management from CPC Guangdong Provincial Party School (7 ££
[E R & Z E ) in December 2000 and obtained his graduation
certificate of the postgraduate course for world economy and
political majors from Graduate School of Renmin University of
China (P EI AR AZFFFTART) in June 2002.
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Non-executive Directors

Mr. Hou Bo ({&}%), aged 56, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 5 June 2015. He is primarily responsible for the risk
management and providing supervision in the business of the
Group. From September 2010 to December 2011, he has been
the supervisor of Jiyi Household and from December 2011
onwards, was then appointed as the non-executive director of Jiyi
Household, primarily responsible for the risk management and
providing supervision in the business of Jiyi Household. Since June
2002, he has been the managing director of Meizhou Xikang
Real Estate Investment Company Limited (18N i1 1E FE = b E &
ZABRAF]), acompany which is principally engaged in property
investments, where he is primarily responsible for the overall
business management. From October 2011 onwards, he has also
served as the managing director of Meizhou Xikang Estate
Management Company Limited ({2 EMEEIEER A T),
a company which is principally engaged in estate management,
where he is primarily responsible for the overall business
management. He received a diploma in electronics from Meizhou
West Vocational and Technical College (#5135 75 5% 2 B T 247 )
in the PRC in July 1984. Mr. Hou is the brother of Ms. Hou Wei.
He was qualified as a senior industrial construction engineer (L
¥ZE S TH2EM) recognised by the Department of Personnel
of Guangdong Province (&R & A Z=E2) in March 2006, and was
registered as an architect with the Department of Housing and
Urban Rural Construction of Guangdong Province (R & 1+ &=
FNyg B3R EE ) in August 2010.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chen Zenghua (FR3E%), aged 51, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 29 December 2023. Mr. Chen, is an
accomplished finance and accounting professional with a strong
academic background and extensive qualifications. He has over 20
years of experience in the financial accounting and investment
industries. He holds an undergraduate degree in Finance from
Dongbei University of Finance and Economics* (SR4LBH4E A E2), and
holds a graduation certificate in Presidential Seminar on Financial
Investment and Capital Operation of the Graduate School at
SRYIAE L @ RIRE

MAFE ). He is an academic member of the

Shenzhen, Tsinghua University* (BEKXR
HERNBLEHS
Association of International Accountants and an international affiliate
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Prior to
joining the Company, he worked at Shenzhen Huaxia CPA* (&3 %

EesHEMEEHT) as an audit assistant from 1995 to 1999 and later
joined Shenzhen Donghai CPA* (R JI| 3 )& & &t Bl = 75 A7) from
2000 to 2010 with the last position as the general manager. From
2011 to 2014, he served as the Chairman of Shenzhen Fengshou
Capital Investment Company* (3| ZUCE R E A R]). Currently,
he holds the position of Executive President and Secretary-General of
Uit
2 5 2 @), a 5A-level social organisation. Mr. Chen has been

the Shenzhen Futian District Institute of Accountants* (j%

recognlsed for hIS professional achievements and contributions to the
industry. He received the Certificate for High-Level Professional in
Shenzhen in 2013. In 2014, his research paper was acknowledged as
excellent by Tsinghua University’s Shenzhen Graduate School. He was
the chief editor of the “Research Report and Development Plan for
the Accounting Industry in Shenzhen Futian District” which was
published in 2018. He organised four nationally influential accounting
summits for the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area
from 2018 to 2022. In 2021, he led the creation of the first high-end
accounting industrial park in Guangdong, Hong Kong, and Macao
Bay Area and introduced four domestic top ten accounting firms. At
the same time, he participated in the preparation of “Entrepreneurial
Financing” and published a number of industry papers in journals
such as “Chief Financial Officer” and “Shenzhen Finance and
Accounting Research”. He was also awarded the honorary title of
“Outstanding Accounting Worker” for the 40th anniversary of the
founding of the Shenzhen Special Economic Zone by the Shenzhen

40

VFHTES

BRIEESLEE S5 RZTE_=F+=A
THNBEZEAEBIIERNITES - REE

—NEBEUERNSHEEESURE
EEEMNEEAT - BREVBHSFTIIRETT
XEBHB20FMER - BiIFARILTLK
RESRBARRERE - RIFHFERZRY
WRAT S BIR & A NE L RS RS
i ﬁ%°ﬁ%ﬂ&aﬁ%ﬂA§mah
MEBGFA REEEE o FEMAR
ﬂﬂZm’ﬁ%—hhﬁﬁi—nhhiﬁ
RN EE ST BISATETEBE - &R
R-EEEFE T —SEMAFIIREE
SEES REBUARKE - E-F
——FE T FHRM - HEERYILU
BARRERARNESK - BAl - HEERY
TEHEREETEEMNITERENER &
A —ROAGHSEE - RAEENFTE
LA TR BERE R T EIZRA » HR

“E-CHERTRIITBEREEALE
BoRCF-ME - BOTRRREEA

ERINARERRABES - FE-FT—/\
FORYIMEARGHTERFREEER
REDBRENER MHE_FT—\FE-F
—FHRASER T IREBERE NN
BiER K/%unaﬁmm%umai@” —F—%F

REZBRZTEERNERAESHETE
ESEIR EIE%UET@?R.WT?F%H' TH E EHAD

=% R R2RTCAERE)NR
5 THECERFHE)  CRIFERESTT
MEDEHTLEERTZRITERN » K&



JIYI HOLDINGS LIMITED & —3= 8 H R A 7
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 £k

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Futian District Institute of Accountants* (R THIEHE @2 e).
In addition to his professional pursuits, Mr. Chen is actively involved
in various honorable social roles, including but not limited to serving
as a deputy to the 8th National People’s Congress of Futian District,
Shenzhen, a member of the 10th and 11th Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference of Jiaoling County, Guangdong Province, a
supervisor of the 2nd Shenzhen Appraisal Association, and a judicial
supervisor of the Futian District People’s Procuratorate.

Ms. Chen Tao (FR#k), aged 37, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 24 June 2024. Ms. Chen a double
bachelor’s degree in Economics and Trade and English from
Zhongnan University of Forestry Science and Technology* (9
MERHE K E). She further studied Industrial Economics at the
School of Economics and Trade of Hunan University* (43 A2
4 B E07) and held the title of Economist. In addition, she has
completed advanced training courses at Suzhou Research Institute
of National University of Singapore* (AN Bz K22 &k M 855
B ) and Tsinghua University School of Continuing Education* (/&
E KB B W E 2 B, etc Ms. Chen has been in the
construction machinery industry since 2008 and has accumulated
rich experience in management and international trade. She
worked as Key Account Manager in BYD Company Limited,
responsible for the government official car procurement project in
South China; and Key Account Director in Sanyi Heavy Industrial
Company Limited* (= — & T & 5 B IR 2 7]), responsible for
international key account sales and key project follow-up. Since
2014, Ms. Chen has founded and served as the Deputy General
Manager of Changsha Tianduan Heavy Industry Co., Ltd* (&%
XEEIARE T A A andis fully responsible for the
company’s business management, financial supervision,
international trade and marketing. She has led the company to
make remarkable achievements in the field of aerial work
platforms, with products selling well both at home and abroad,
and obtaining a number of domestic and international
certifications and honorary titles. Ms. Chen is also actively involved
in social affairs, serving as a special supervisor of Changsha
Municipal and Changsha County Supervisory Commissions, and a
special supervisor of Changsha Economic Development Zone for
optimizing the business environment.
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Mr. Hou Lianchang (&% &), aged 56, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 6 October 2015. He has over 20 years of
experience in legal work focusing on corporate finance practice. Since
April 2000, Mr. Hou has been a lawyer with Jing Tian Law Office of
Guangdong (/& 5 £ X £ &l % 7 FfT), specializing in areas such as
foreign investment, mergers and acquisitions, venture capital financing,
asset and shareholding restructuring, and initial public offerings in
overseas markets. He is also well versed in corporate structure and
governance matters. From March 2012 onwards, he serves as a board
Y AR 7
ZZWHEIEE). Mr. Hou received his bachelor’s degree in international
law and his graduate certificate in the professional graduate course of
economic law (£€ 775 /& 5 % #f 7% 4 &R 12 # £ HE) from Wuhan
University (I /& X £2) in the PRC, in December 1989 and December
2003, respectively. He is a lawyer registered with the Ministry of Justice
of the PRC (AP ZE A R FHANE B17AER) since September 1995.

member of Shenzhen Association of Trade in Services (J%&

Mr. Hou was a director of New Heng Ye Investment
Development Limited ($T1E %1% & E HR A 7
liability company incorporated in Hong Kong with a principal

), a limited

business of investment holding and dissolved by de registration
by the Registrar of Companies in Hong Kong as a defunct
company pursuant to section 291 of the Predecessor
Companies Ordinance. The aforesaid company was inactive
prior to its dissolution and was dissolved in 2009.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yu Yunkun (5R381#), aged 37, was appointed as our chief
executive officer of the Company on 29 December 2023. Mr.
Yu is responsible for the Company’s strategic management,
investor relations, business development, corporate finance
and legal and regulatory compliance of the Group. Mr. Yu
holds a bachelor’s degree in financial management from
Guangdong Ocean University. Mr. Yu joined the Group in May
2011 and worked as a finance manager in the accounting and
finance department of Guangdong Jiyi Household Building
Materials Chain Co., Ltd. (BERE—REEMEHER A A])
("Jiyi Household”) until December 2013. From January 2014 to
July 2017, he was re-designated as the director of internal
audit department of the Group, and was mainly responsible
for conducting independent assessments of the Group’s
operations, risk management, establishing organisational and
departmental internal controls, identifying areas for
improvement, and supporting the achievement of the Group’s
strategic and business objectives. From August 2017 to
December 2023, he served as the finance director of the
Group and was mainly responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial accounting and reporting, financial operations,
strategic financial planning, taxation and ensuring the Group'’s
compliance with relevant corporate regulations.
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Ms. Liu Yulan (2| %), aged 40, was appointed as our chief
financial officer of the Company on on 24 June 2024. She is
primarily responsible for overseeing all aspects of the Group’s
operations, including financial and audit management,
corporate finance, investment management, investor relations
and administration and matters. She obtained an executive
MBA degree from Xiamen University and is a certified public
accountant in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). Ms.
Liu has extensive experience and knowledge in compliance
monitoring and auditing, corporate and management
accounting, internal control, corporate governance, capital
markets, and listing project operations. Prior to joining the
Group, she worked in the audit department of
PricewaterhouseCoopers for nearly nine and a half years, and
was also the chief financial officer and company secretary of a
number of PRC enterprises planning to list on the A-share
market in the PRC or Nasdagq in the US. Ms. Liu recently owned
shares of a private trading group company established in the
PRC and served as its controlling shareholder and legal
representative, and as an independent non-executive director
and a member of the remuneration committee of Greater Bay
Area Dynamic Growth Holding Limited (Stock code: 1189).
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Mr. Liang Weizhen (2 & &), aged 38, was appointed as the
chief sales officer of the Group on 1 January 2019. He is
mainly responsible for the sales and marketing management of
the Group. He joined the Group in June 2013 and worked as a
construction engineer in the engineering department of Jiyi
Xinya until September 2013, and was mainly responsible for
supervising construction engineering work. From September
2013 to June 2014, he served as the deputy manager of the
purchasing department of the Company, and was mainly
responsible for managing and coordinating the Group's
procurement. From June 2014 to January 2015, he was re-
designated as the deputy director of the General Office, and
was mainly responsible for the Group’s internal administration
affairs and corporate legal work. From January 2015 to
January 2016, he served as the company’s representative, and
was mainly responsible for assisting the company secretary in
handling listing-related matters and coordination between
various internal departments of the Group. Since January
2016, He served as the assistant to the Chairlady and was
mainly assisting the Chairlady in managing the coordination
between internal departments, and was in charge of managing
the Group’s administration, logistics, human resources, legal
affairs, warehousing and other tasks. Mr. Liang obtained a
bachelor’s degree in law from Guangzhou University of China
in June 2009.

Mr. Wong Chi Kong (E%&5I), was appointed as the company
secretary of the Company on 31 July 2024. The Company
engaged an external professional company secretarial services
provider, Red Sun Capital Limited, to provide compliance and
full range of company secretarial services to the Group in order
to assist the Group to cope with the changing regulatory
environment. Mr. Wong Chi Kong, the representative of Red
Sun Capital Limited, was appointed as the Company Secretary.
According to the requirements of Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules, Mr. Wong Chi Kong had taken no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training for the year ended 31 December
2023.
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The Board are pleased to present their report and the audited
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 41
to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A review of the business of the Group and a discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance during the year under
review and a discussion on the Group’s future business
development and outlook of the Company’s business, possible
risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing and
important events affecting the Company occurred during the
year ended 31 December 2023 are provided in the sections
headed “Chairlady’s Statement” and “Management Discussion
and Analysis” on pages 6 to 11 and pages 12 to 35 of this
annual report. An account of the Company’s relationships with
its key stakeholders is included in the paragraph headed
“Relationships with Employees, Suppliers and Customers” of
the report of the Directors on page 96 to 97 of this annual
report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year ended
31 December 2023 using financial performance indicators is
provided in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 12 to 35 of this annual report.

An analysis of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the
Group and the particulars of events affecting the Group since
the end of the Reporting Period are set out respectively in the
paragraph headed “Key Risks and Uncertainties” on pages 33
to 34, and the paragraph headed “Event after the Reporting
Period” on page 71 of this annual report.
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In addition, more details regarding the Group's performance
by reference to environmental and social-related key
performance indicators and policies, as well as compliance
with relevant laws and regulations which have a significant
impact on the Company are provided in the section headed
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of the on
pages 98 to 127 of this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 140 to 141 of this report.

The Board does not recommend any payment of final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil). The Board
has adopted a dividend policy on 31 December 2018. Details
of which is set out of page 48 of this annual report.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and note 42 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December
2023, calculated in accordance with the Companies Law,
Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of
the Cayman Islands (the “Companies Law"”) amounted to
approximately RMB382.5 million.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Reporting Period are set out in note 16 to
the consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on 31 December
2018 (the “Dividend Policy”), pursuant to which the Company
may declare and distribute dividends to the shareholders of the
Company to allow shareholders to share the Company’s profit
and for the Company to retain adequate reserves for future
growth.

Under the Dividend Policy, provided the Group is profitable
and without affecting the normal operations of the Group, the
Company may consider to declare and pay dividends to the
shareholders of the Company. In deciding whether to propose
a dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the Board
shall take into account, among others, the operating results,
cash flow, financial condition, capital requirements of the
Group, the interests of the shareholders and any other factors
that the Board may consider appropriate. Declaration of the
dividend by the Company is also subject to the Companies
Laws, the articles of association of the Company and any
applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Dividend Policy will continue to be reviewed from time to
time and shall in noway constitute a legally-binding
commitment by the Company in respect of its future dividend.
There can be no assurance that a dividend will be proposed or
declared in any specific periods.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during
the Reporting Period are set out in note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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BORROWINGS

Details of the Group’s borrowings as at 31 December 2023 are
set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company'’s articles of association and there is no restriction
against such rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a
pro-rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 December 2023.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date
of this annual report were:

Executive Directors
Ms. Hou Wei (Chairlady)
Mr. Liu Xianxiu

Mr. Yang Baikang

Non-executive Director

Mr. Hou Bo
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Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Chen Zenghua (appointed on 29 December 2023)

Mr. Hou Lianchang

Ms. Chen Tao (appointed on 24 June 2024)

Mr. Ho Hin Yip (resigned on 29 December 2023)

Mr. Wong Yee Nok Enoch (appointed on 23 February 2024
and resigned on 25 March 2024)

Mr. Ye Yihui (resigned on 24 November 2023)

In accordance with article 108(a) of the Company'’s articles of
association, Ms. Hou Wei and Mr. Hou Lianchang will retire
and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

In accordance with article 112 of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. Chen Zenghua and Ms. Chen Tao will retire
and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non- executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his/her
independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considered all of the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with the Company which is not determinable within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors had engaged in or were interested in
any business which competed or was likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group during the
Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save for disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, no
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which
the Company, or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in
which a Director or an entity connected with a Director had or
is having a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

The controlling shareholders of the Company entered into a
deed of non-competition in favour of the Company dated 6
October 2015 (“Deed of Non-competition”) as set out in the
paragraph headed “Relationship with Controlling
Shareholders” in the Prospectus, pursuant to which the
controlling shareholders of the Company have undertaken to
the Company that she/it will not, and will procure her/its close
associates (other than members of the Group) not to directly
or indirectly be involved in or undertake any business (other
than our business) that directly or indirectly competes, or may
compete, with our business or undertaking, or hold shares or
interest in any companies or business that compete directly or
indirectly with the business engaged by the Group from time
to time. The controlling shareholders have provided an annual
declaration and confirmed their compliance of all the
undertakings provided under the Deed of Non-competition.
There are no matters which required to be deliberated by the
independent non-executive Directors in relation to the
compliance and enforcement of the Deed of Non-competition
and it is considered that the terms of the Deed of Non-
competition have been complied by the controlling
shareholders.

CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTOR

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Biographical Details
of Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report,
there are no other changes in the information of Directors,
which are required to be disclosed pursuant to rule 13.51B(1)
of the Listing Rules.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of Directors and senior management
of the Group are set out in the “Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management” section on pages 36 to 45
of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of
each director and chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong, the “SFO")), which were required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of the SFO; as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code")
as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, were as follows:

JIY HOLDINGS LIMITED $£— 2[R ER A T
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 £ i

Report of the Directors
EEEHRE

EERBEITHRAERAQFR
DRERRG 2 EER XA

RZZEZ=F+-A=+—H  ARAIKE
ER&EBTHRABRANR R A AIEEE
B (EEABBEOIESNEZHFRATK
1 (5 MG GAI ) EXVER) i - 48
By Sk ERERE R A RIRRE 5 M E 15D
F7 R8N AR TERMEG NN R NPT
B#ELORR - HRBNIREBEES KRB RS
FE352FARRIAFE 2 B MrEss MR
B HRE LR ERCIAE EHETT
AEFETEFRHGNBRESTRI([IRLESF
A1) ZBFEARNA R LB R e s FOR B 40
T

Long positions in the shares and underlying REATRDREBERED ZHE
shares of the Company
Number of
shares Approximate
(After share percentage of
consolidation the issued
Name of Director Nature of interest Class of shares adjustments) share capital
ignig 4=
(RBRGBES HEBTRE
=Y s i gnigkid) RER) BABES
(Note 1)
(et 1)
Ms. Hou Wei Interest in a controlled Ordinary shares 89,839,673 34.06%
(“Ms. Hou") corporation (Note 2)
ERLE(MErt]) SEEEER(ME2) E A 89,839,673 34.06%
Beneficial owner Ordinary shares 19,950,613 7.56%
ERFEBA B 19,950,613 7.56%
Beneficial owner (Note 3) Options 200,000 0.08%
EnEBA(MZ3) BB 200,000 0.08%
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Number of
shares

(After share
consolidation

Approximate
percentage of
the issued

Name of Director Nature of interest Class of shares adjustments) share capital
RGEE

(RBRGOEH HEBTRA

EEpR EREME R E|R AER) BABES

(Note 1)

(Btat 1)
Mr. Hou Bo Beneficial owner Ordinary shares 20,000 0.00%*

(“Mr. Hou")

EREE(MEERE]) EmBEAA EEAR 20,000 0.00%*

Beneficial owner (Note 3)  Options 200,000 0.08%

BmEAANMTE3) fERR e 200,000 0.08%

Mr. Liu Xianxiu Beneficial owner (Note 3)  Options 200,000 0.08%

FBAEE EREBANMZE3) =ibg 200,000 0.08%
Mr. Yang Baikang Beneficial owner Ordinary shares 20,000 0.00%*
BHEELE E=BmAA B 20,000 0.00%*

Beneficial owner (Note 3)  Options 200,000 0.08%

BmEAANMTE3) fERR e 200,000 0.08%

Mr. Hou Lianchang Beneficial owner Ordinary shares 40,000 0.01%

EHE R4 BB A Rl 40,000 0.01%

Beneficial owner (Note 3) ~ Options 200,000 0.08%

EnlEBAMiF3) RE AR i 200,000 0.08%

* less than 0.01%
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Notes:

The percentage figures were calculated based on 263,765,522 ordinary
shares (“Shares”) of the Company having a par value of HK$0.01 each

in issue as of 31 December 2023.

Ms. Hou was beneficially interested in 100% of the issued share capital
of Xinling Limited (“Xinling”). Xinling was the registered holder of
89,839,673 Shares. Under Part XV of the SFO, Ms. Hou was therefore
deemed to have interests in 89,839,673 Shares in which Xinling was

interested.

As at 27 July 2022, the Company granted Share Options of 200,000
(after share consolidation adjustments) to each of the members in the
Board. For details of the exercise period and vesting period of the Share
Options, please refer to the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme”

in this section on page 58 of this annual report.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the

Directors and chief executive of the Company had or was

deemed to have any interests or short positions in any Shares,

underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its

associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the

SFO),

which were required to be notified to the Company and

the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of the SFO

or which were required to be kept pursuant to section 352 of

the SFO or which were required to be notified to the Company

and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
DEBENTURES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2023, the following persons (other than
the Directors or chief executive of the Company) had interests
or short positions in the Shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would be required to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO:

Aggregate long positions in the Shares and
underlying shares of the Company

FERRRARARD - EHEE
RERROzEZR XA

R-ZEBE-_=F+-"A=+—H UTAL
(RARMEZSZSTEABRIN RARQ
AR SRR Y P B IR IEE S MR
BIZEXV B S 2 & 3 9 BME BRI AR a5
MBS R - SRE RN AR AR B FEFH
REEIGHIE 336 K BFE 2 Bz
PIRA

REDBARDREBRD 2HFRER
]

Number of
shares Approximate
(After share percentage of

Name of consolidation the issued
Shareholder Nature of interest Class of shares adjustments) share capital
G EE

(RBRBES HEBTRE

BREREHE EmEME REOER AER) BABES

(Note 1)

(Btex1)

Xinling Beneficial owner Ordinary shares 89,839,673 34.06%
(Note 2) (Note 5)

& BERBEAA BB 89,839,673 34.06%
(Btat2)(Htat5)

Hou Wei Beneficial owner Ordinary shares 19,950,613 7.56%
(Note 2) (Note 5)

&% BB A BB 19,950,613 7.56%

(Kt 2)(HtaE5)
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Number of
shares Approximate
(After share percentage of
Name of consolidation the issued
Shareholder Nature of interest Class of shares adjustments) share capital
R&GEE
(RBRGOEH HEBTRA
BREE & EEME RG|R AER) BABEI
(Note 1)
(Btat1)
Yiju Holdings Limited Beneficial owner Ordinary shares 11,052,600 4.19%
(“Yiju Holdings™) (Note 3) (Note 5)
wEEEIRAE R A A BEREAA EiBR 11,052,600 4.19%
(DagEER D) (K173)(H1aE5)
Ms. Ouyang Huiping Interest in a controlled  Ordinary shares 11,052,600 4.19%
(“Ms. Ouyang”) corporation (Note 4)
ENCE-Sd e XEEEER (MiE4) BB 11,052,600 4.19%
(TExFZ 2+ 1)
Ms. Deng Yiyi Beneficial owner (Note 4) Ordinary shares 3,200 0.00%*
gt BEmEAAHT4) T imAR 3,200 0.00%*
Beneficial owner Options 200,000 0.08%
BERBEAA R e 200,000 0.08%

* less than 0.01%

Notes:

1. The percentage figures were calculated based on 263,765,522 Shares 1.

with a par value of HK$0.01 each in issue as of 31 December 2023.

2. Xinling was the registered holder of 89,839,673 Shares.

3. Ms. Hou was beneficially interested in 100% of the issued share capital 3.
of Xinling. Xinling was the registered holder of 89,839,673 Shares.
Under Part XV of the SFO, Ms. Hou was therefore deemed to have
interests in 89,839,673 Shares in which Xinling was interested. Ms. Hou

also had a personal holding of 19,950,613 Shares and as a result, Ms.
Hou held 109,790,286 Shares or 41.62% in aggregate of the

Company'’s total issued share capital.

D2 0.01%

HEAE O LEFEIRER S -_=ZF+_A
=+ —HD#77263,765,522 (X B EE0.0178
TTZROETE ©

fR%E 589,839,673 k& 1h ~ Bl iF A A ©

BT ERFEBRE100% 2 O BITHA © R4E
#89,839,673RR M Z BERIFAA « BEEFK
HEGAIEXVE - At - B TR EmMERA
A RSB 75 1 25 1989,839,673 B3 % 17 Fh 4k A #E
i o ERTEAREE 19,950,613 © HEL+
AFHFE 109,790,286 % + G AR B EITRALR
B 41.62% °
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4. Ms. Hou Wei, Ms. Ouyang and Ms. Deng Yiyi being parties acting in
concert, are collectively deemed to have interest in 121,046,086 Shares,
representing 45.9% of the total issued share capital of the Company as
of 31 December 2023.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the
Company had not been notified of any other persons (other
than the Directors or chief executive of the Company) who
had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would be required to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under section
336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to the share option scheme adopted on 6 October
2015 (“Share Option Scheme”), the Company may grant share
options (the “Share Option”) to any directors, employees,
advisers, consultants, suppliers, customers and distributors
who in the sole discretion of the Board, will contribute or have
contributed to the growth and development of the Group so
as to provide incentives or rewards for their contribution to the
success of the Group’s operation.

Summary of the terms of the Share Option Scheme is as
follows:

(@) Purposes

The purposes of the Share Option Scheme are to enable
the Group to grant options to the eligible participants to:
(i) motivate them to optimise their performance efficiently
for the benefit of the Group; and (ii) attract and retain or
maintain on-going business relationship with the eligible
participants whose contributions are or will be beneficial
to the long-term growth of the Group.
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(b) Eligible Participants

(c)

Any employees (whether full time or part time), directors
(including executive, non-executive and independent
non- executive directors), advisers, consultants, suppliers,
customers and distributors of the Group (“Eligible
Participants”) who, in the sole opinion of the Board, will
contribute or have contributed to the growth and
development of the Group.

Maximum number of Shares available for
issue

The maximum number of Shares which may be allotted
and issued upon the exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the
total number of Shares in issue from time to time. The
total number of Shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company shall not
exceed 10% of the total number of Shares in issue as at
the date of listing of the Shares, being 36,000,000
Shares, unless the Company obtains the approval of the
shareholders in general meeting for refreshment.

The shareholders of the Company passed an ordinary
resolution at the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 2 June 2023 to approve the renewal of the 10%
general limit on the number of shares which may be
allotted and issued upon the exercise of the options to
be granted under the Share Option Scheme, being 10%
of the total number of Shares in issue as of 2 June 2023
and amounting to 26,376,552 Shares.

As a result, the total number of shares available for issue
under the Share Option Scheme was 26,376,552 shares
(after Share Consolidation Adjustments), representing
10% of the issued shares as at the date of this annual
report.
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(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)
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Maximum entitlement of each Eligible
Participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of options (whether exercised or outstanding)
granted in any 12-month period to:

(i)  each Eligible Participant must not exceed 1.0% of
the total number of Shares in issue; and

(i) a substantial shareholder of the Company or an
independent non-executive director must not
exceed 0.1% of the total number of Shares in issue
and not exceed HK$5.0 million in aggregate value.

Period within which the Shares must be
taken up under an option

An option must be exercised within 10 years from the
date on which it is granted or such shorter period as the
Board may specify at the time of grant.

Minimum period, if any, for which an
option must be held

No minimum period for which the option has to beheld
before it can be exercised is specified in the Share Option
Scheme.

Period open for acceptable of an option
and amount payable upon acceptance

An offer of grant of an option may be accepted by an
Eligible Participant within 21 days from the date of the
offer of grant of the option. A consideration of HK$1.00
is payable on acceptance of the offer of grant of an
option.

(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)
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(h) Basis of determining the subscription price

()

of an option

The exercise price must be at least the highest of: (i) the
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of grant; (ii)
the average closing prices of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five
trading days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and (iii) the nominal value of a Share.

Validity of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme has a life of 10 years and will
expire on 5 October 2025 unless otherwise terminated in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme.
The remaining life of the Scheme is approximately 1 year
and three months as at the date of this report.
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Share options granted on 27 July 2022 (the R-BE-_—_F+tHA=-t++tHELZ

"FY22 Share Options”)

BRE(CZE-_MBREEBRE]D

On 27 July 2022, the Company granted a total of 69,100,000 RKR—-ZT—-—F+H—-++0H ~AGREE
share options (the “Share Options”) to certain eligible R#EEME TAERL2EERHAH
participants under the Share Option Scheme. These options 69,100,000 19 B A% 4 ([ BEARHE |) o X=X
were to subscribe for a total of 69,100,000 ordinary shares of  # ‘5 £ 28 & 69,100,000 j& 24~ 2 7] fg <
HK$0.10 each in the Share Capital of the Company. The HEREMEO0I10B Ty L@k o 2 HEK
details of this grant of the Share Options were disclosed in the EE B ZFHBENAAGIARA-T - —F+
announcement of the Company dated 27 July 2022 and are AZ++RBZAHERNEE  FHHWT :

set out as follows:

Total number of Share Options granted

ERHBREAR

Exercise price of the Share Options
granted
ERHBREZITEE

Validity period of the Options
BB IR RE 2 B AU
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69,100,000
69,100,000 3

HK$0.56 per share, as stated in the daily quotations sheet
issued by the Stock Exchange on 27 July 2022, the average
closing price of approximately HK$0.56 per Shares as
quoted in the Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheets for
the five business days immediately preceding the Date of
Grant and the nominal value of HK$0.10 per Share, subject
to adjustments

TR 0.56 BT (BN PAN —E - —F+ A - ++H
FrEE ARERMIITE)  ROREERL BHHA
BEEXAEBIMEBAREBRMBNTFHUTELER
0.56 BT B 0. 10 THEE - Al TR

The Options are exercisable for a period of 10 years from
the Date of Grant (27 July 2022 to 26 July 2032)
BRENROAHES TFBE(CT__FtA-THHEZ
Z=—FtAZ+RR)AIFIE



Out of the 69,100,000 Share Options granted, 9,000,000
Share Options were granted to the Directors or substantial
shareholders of the company, or any of their respective
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules), details of which are

as follows:
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» 2 & H 269,100,0001) & A% # &+ -
9,000,000 EREE R FTARARR ZEEF K
TEMRAFBESEBCEMBEA(EER
EWRAD - HFBOT -

Name of grantee

Position(s) held with the Company

Number of
options granted

ERABE R R RHEE 2B RzBREHE

Ms. Hou Wei Chairlady of the Board, executive Director and substantial 1,000,000
shareholder of the Company

e EEGXF  ARAMTEFLREZRR

Mr. Liu Xianxiu Executive Director of the Company 1,000,000

BIBHEE RRABHITES

Mr. Yang Baikang Executive Director of the Company 1,000,000

BREEE RATHITES

Mr. Hou Bo Non-executive Director and the brother of the chairlady of 1,000,000
the Board and substantial shareholder of the Company

BR %% RAFBEMITEE  UREFEIRLTIBERRZ K

Mr. Ye Yihui Independent non-executive Director of the Company 1,000,000

ERESE RRBVEIENITES

Mr. Hou Lianchang Independent non-executive Director of the Company 1,000,000

(3 =Pt RNARVBIEHITES

Mr. Ho Hin Yip Independent non-executive Director of the Company 1,000,000

TR KA RRBVEIENITES

Ms. Deng Haiming Sister-in-law of the chairlady of the Board and substantial 1,000,000
shareholder of the Company

Y= R RRBEFGEIRENMEERR 2R

Ms. Deng Yiyi Chief Executive Officer and the daughter of the executive 1,000,000
director and substantial shareholder of the Company

BEEat TBEBEHEARARRBRITESTRFEZRRNLR
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The following table disclose details of the Company’s FY22 T ARBEEHEELEMEEREZART =
Share Options held by Directors and other employees and = = — B A E BN DA M 2 S ERE
movements in such holding during the year ended 31 Z-—ZT-=%+—-A=+—HIIFEE2#

December 2023: 2=
Outstanding
Outstanding and
and exercisable
exercisable at the
at the date 31 December
of grant Exercised Cancelled Lapsed 2023
REHAH B bt
HRATE RERE X
Date of grant RitiAH R [BXirid B BANM TERITHE
Granted to Directors MEERT
27 July 2022 “E-CF+AC+4H 1,000,000 - - - 600,000
Granted to senior HEREEERT
management
27 July 2022 “E--F+A-ttH 2,163,600 - - - 2,163,600
Granted to employees BEERT
27 July 2022 kS oy S = 80,000 - - - 80,000
Granted to consultants BEERT
27 July 2022 kS 28 oy = 4,180,000 - - - 4,180,000
Total Mgt 7,423,600 - - - 6,823,600

Note 1: As a result of the Share Consolidation became effective on 13 Hiax1 - BRI AR _E-_—_F+-_A+=84

December 2022, adjustments were made to the exercise price of the B IBYE () BT B 2GR R (i) £
outstanding FY2022 Share Options and the number of Consolidated A 17.03013) 1§ KidER MR B &
Shares falling to be issued upon the exercise of the outstanding 17.03(13) (&M RIE S R BRI SR T =
FY2022 Share Options in accordance with (i) the terms and conditions TFE+— ANAEMAE072-20205% & 5
of the Share Option Scheme; (i) Rule 17.03(13) of the Listing Rules; BRREPEMEIRR 2 B ([ /T s
and (iii) the Supplementary Guidance on Main Board Listing Rule S NE T —BREEHRTEBRE T
17.03(13) and the Note immediately after the Rule attached to the FERAR-E - _BHRFE M RITEEREE
Frequently Asked Question No.072-2020 issued by the Stock Exchange TEBETETZEHBROHEBEELFE -

on 6 November 2020 (the “Stock Exchange Supplementary

Guidance”).
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As at 31 December 2023
RZEZ=%+-A=1-H

Prior to adjustment After adjustment

Number of Adjusted number

Existing Shares of Consolidated

to be issued Shares to be

upon full issued upon full

exercise of the Adjusted  exercise of the

outstanding exercise price outstanding

Exercise price per FY2022 Share per Consolidated FY2022 Share

Existing Share Options Share Options

RZBZZHH R-F-ZHE

FERRE FEBRERK

R ATRINE THENEERE

BRARKRT TR&ERT

BREAF BRT2RE  BREHRNz BOZEHERS

Date of grant BREAH Rtz i76EE RH#A ERBIHE LERRHE
(HKS) (HKS)
(%) (%)

27 July 2022 “ECFEACT4A 0.56 37,118,000 2.80 7,423,600

5,000,000 out of the 37,118,000 outstanding FY2022 Share 7t X Frs]RAHY37,118,0001% A 5,000,000
Options stipulated above were granted to and unexercised by ) =ZF = — B F EEREDIE FTESEE Y
the Directors. Details of those Directors and the adjustmentsto  REZEE/T{F - ZEEE R EEZE—F

be made to the exercise price of those FY2022 Share Options Z— @B FEEREZTEEBAZE-Z
and the number of Consolidated Shares falling to be issued = — A E MARITEBIREEREBITHZ
upon full exercise of those outstanding FY2022 Share Options #5217 2 AR ENB {EH AR 2 15
are as follows: ST
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As at 31 December 2023

R-B-=f+-B=t-H

Prior to adjustment After adjustment
AAZA RAE%

Number of Adjusted number

Existing Shares of Consolidated

to be issued Shares to be

upon full issued upon full

exercise of the Adjusted exercise of the

outstanding exercise price outstanding

Exercise price per FY2022 Share  per Consolidated FY2022 Share

Name of director Date of grant Existing Share Options Share Options

R-BZZHR RZBZZHHK

FERRER K EERRER K

THENEES TENERE

TRERT TR&RT

BREE BIeRE  BREHRGz  BEZaHRS

ESfE RinAH Rty 2T E ko #E RRREAEE ZEREHA

(HKS) (HKS)
(1) (1)

Mr. Liu Xianxiu 27 July 2022 0.56 1,000,000 2.80 200,000
AEELE ZECCEYAC-T4A

Mr. Yang Baikang 27 July 2022 0.56 1,000,000 2.80 200,000
BHERE ZECCELAC-TEA

Mr. Hou Lianchang 27 July 2022 0.56 1,000,000 2.80 200,000
EMERE ZECCELAC-T4A

3,000,000 600,000

Among them, Mr. Liu Xianxiu and Mr. Yang Baikang are

executive Directors, Mr. Hou Lianchang is independent non-

executive Director.
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For details of the Share Reorganisation, please refer to (i) the
Company’s announcement dated 4 November 2022, 9
December 2022 and 17 February 2023 respectively in relation
to, among other things, the Capital Reorganisation; (ii) the
circular of the Company dated 24 November 2022 (the
“Circular”) in relation to the Company’s extraordinary general
meeting held on 9 December 2022 (the "EGM"); and (iii) the
announcement of the Company dated 9 December 2022
regarding, amongst other things, the poll results of the EGM.

The fair values of the FY2022 Share Options granted under the
Share Option Scheme were determined and measured using
the Binomial Model on 27 July 2022. The significant inputs
into the model were the exercise price shown above, risk-free
interest rates of 2.78%, volatility of 42.78% and dividend yield
of 0%. As any changes in the subjective input assumptions can
materially affect the fair value estimates, the valuation models
for the Share Options granted do not necessarily provide a
reliable single measure of the fair value of the Share Options.
The related accounting policy for the fair value of the Share
Options granted is disclosed at note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair
value of the Share Options are based on the Directors’ best
estimate. The value of an option varies with different variables
of certain subjective assumptions.

For details of the Share Option Scheme, please refer to the
paragraph headed “Statutory and General Information — D.
Other Information — 1. Share Option Scheme” in Appendix IV
to the prospectus dated 27 October 2015.
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ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up
to the date of this report was the Company, its holding
company, any of its subsidiaries or follow subsidiaries or a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures
of the Company or any other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts by which any person undertook the management
and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into between the
Company and any person who is not a Director or not
engaged in the full-time employment of the Group or existed
during the Reporting Period.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

During the Reporting Period, the Group's five largest customers
in aggregate accounted for approximately 98.6% of the
Group's total turnover. The largest customer accounted for
approximately 76.6% of the Group's total turnover.

During the Reporting Period, the Group's five largest suppliers
in aggregate accounted for approximately 89.8% of the
Group's total purchases. The largest supplier accounted for
approximately 48.0% of the Group's total purchases.

To the best of the knowledge of the Directors, none of the
Directors, their respective associates or any shareholder (which
to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
Company'’s share capital) had an interest in any of the five
largest suppliers or customers.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The Group understands that employees are valuable assets.
The Group provides competitive remuneration package to
attract and motivate the employees. The Group regularly
reviews the remuneration package of employees and makes
necessary adjustments to conform to the market standard.

The Group's business is built on a customer-oriented culture,
and are focused on establishing relationships with customers.
The Group also understands that it is important to maintain
good relationship with its suppliers and customers to fulfil its
immediate and long-term goals. To maintain its market
competitiveness within the industry, the Group aims at
delivering constantly high standards of quality in the service to
its customers. During the Reporting Period, there was no
material and significant dispute between the Group and its
suppliers and/or customers.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken
in the normal course of business are set out in note 40 to the
consolidated financial statements, of which certain transactions
also constitute connected transactions as defined in Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules but were exempted from disclosure
requirements under the Listing Rules.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Each Director or other officer of the Company shall be entitled
to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all
losses or liabilities which he or she may sustain or incur in or
about the execution of the duties of his or her office or
otherwise in relation thereto in accordance with the Articles of
Association.

Directors and officers liability insurance are currently in force
and in place to protect the Directors, officers and/or the
directors of the associated corporation of the Company against
potential costs and liabilities arising from claims brought
against them. Permitted indemnity provision are set out in such
insurance contracts.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float as
required under the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31
December 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principle corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company is set out in the “Corporate
Governance Report” on pages 74 to 93 of this report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Board is aware, saved as disclosed in this report,
there was no material breach of or non-compliance with the
applicable laws and regulations by the Group that has a
significant impact on the business and operation of the Group
during the Reporting Period.
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EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

References are made to the announcements of the Company
dated 5 July 2023, 17 August 2023, 23 August 2023, 18
October 2023, 15 November 2023, 13 December 2023, 10
January 2024, 6 March 2024,11 March 2024 and 12 April
2024, in relation to, among other things, the Petition (the
“Announcements”). A settlement agreement entered into
between the Petitioner and the Company on 30 April 2024,
consent was reached accordingly between the two parties to
adjourn the hearing in connection with the Petition, and in
respect of which, consent summons was filed on 2 May 2024
and an order was granted on 3 May 2024 to (i) vacate the
hearing of the Petition on 6 May 2024; and (ii) the hearing of
the Petition before the Companies Judge was adjourned to 30
September 2024 for the fulfilment of obligations under the
aforesaid settlement agreement.

Except as disclosed in above, there is no material subsequent
event undertaken by the Company or by the Group after 31
December 2023 and up to the date of this annual report.
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AUDITORS

During the three years immediately preceding this annual

report, the Company has undergone the following changes of

auditors:

BB ED

REEAFHRAZ =EAFE - AR AREED
HEpT

Name of former auditors

AR 2 278

Date of resignation

BHE B

Reasons for resignation

BHEEH

PricewaterhouseCoopers
("PwC’)

R B R AT RN S

([ FpioxsE D)

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
(“Deloitte™)

= BERT AT
(IE2))

Moore Stephens CPA Limited
(“Moore Stephens”™)

KRG HERHBEHHERAT

([REBHEGFTEEBAH])

72

20 September 2019

“E-NFNAZ+H

11 November 2020

—ZE-EF+—A+—H

3 January 2022

T F—H=H

The Company and PwC could not reach an
agreement on the audit fee for the
financial year ended 31 December 2019.

RABREEFAKEENEE_T—NF
TZA=1T—BULUBRFEZEZER
FHEARGEEXN—BER -

The Company and Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu could not reach an agreement
on the audit fee for the financial year
ended 31 December 2020.

RABEES - BRI SMITERERE
—ECEFT_A=1T—HILMBFE
ZEZEBERAHEAREEN —HER -

The Company and Moore Stephens could
not reach an agreement on the audit fee
for the financial year ended 31 December
2021.

RRABEAESDESAMELAERE
ET - —F+ZA=+—HILMEF
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The Board,with the recommendation from the Audit
Committee, has resolved to appoint McMillan Woods (Hong
Kong) CPA Limited as the auditor of the Company with effect
from 3 January 2022 to fill the casual vacancy following the
resignation of Moore Stephens and to hold office until the
conclusion of the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company. Please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 3 January 2022 for more details.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2023 have been audited by McMillan Woods
(Hong Kong) CPA Limited, who will retire and, being eligible,
offer itself for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Hou Wei
Chairlady

Hong Kong, 28 June 2024
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CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standard of
corporate governance to safeguard the interests of the
shareholders of the Company and to enhance corporate value
and responsibility. The Board comprises three executive
Directors, one non-executive Director and three independent
non-executive Directors. The Board has adopted the code
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code")
set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. During the year
ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this annual
report, the Company has complied with the code provisions
under the CG Code.

COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE

The Directors have adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuer (the “Model Code")
as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as the code of
conduct for Directors in dealing in the Company's securities.
Specific enquiries have been made to all Directors and all
Directors have confirmed that they have fully complied with
the required standard of dealings as set out in the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 December 2023. Relevant
employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished
inside information of the Group are also subject to compliance
with written guidelines or no less exacting terms than the
Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2023.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is committed to providing effective and responsible
leadership for the Company. The Directors, individually and
collectively, must act in good faith in the best interests of the
Company and its shareholders. The Board has established
three board committees, being the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee
(each a "Board Committee” and collectively the “Board
Committees”), to oversee different areas of the Company’s
affairs.

The Board currently comprises three executive Directors,
namely Ms. Hou Wei (chairlady), Mr. Liu Xianxiu and Mr. Yang
Baikang, one non-executive Director, Mr. Hou Bo and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Chen
Zenghua, Mr. Hou Lianchang and Ms. Chen Tao.

As at the date of this report, the Board composition comprises
one female Director. The Board would continue to maintain at
least one female Director on the Board.

Their biographical details and (where applicable) their family
relationships are set out in the section headed “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 36 to
45 in this annual report. A List of Directors identifying their
roles and functions is available on the Stock Exchange’s and
the Company’s website.

Save as otherwise disclosed, there is no relationship between
any members of the Board, and no information relating to the
Directors is required to be disclosed pursuant to rules 13.51(2)
and 13.51(B)(1) of the Listing Rules.
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The Board sets the Group's overall objectives and strategies,
monitors and evaluates its operating and financial performance
and reviews the corporate governance standard of the Group.
It also decides on matters such as annual and interim results,
major transactions, director appointments or re-appointments,
investment policy, dividend and accounting policies. The Board
has delegated the authority and responsibility for
implementing its business strategies and managing the daily
operations of the Group’s businesses to the executive Directors
and members of senior management. The functions and
power that are so delegated are reviewed periodically to
ensure that they remain appropriate.

All Directors are required to declare to the Board upon their
first appointment, the directorships or other positions they are
concurrently holding at other companies or organisations.
These interests are updated on an annual basis as and when
necessary.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

In accordance with article 108(a) of the Company'’s articles of
association, at each annual general meeting one-third of the
Directors for the time being, or, if their number is not three or
a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less
than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director (including those appointed for a specific
term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-
election. The Company at the general meeting at which a
Director retires may fill the vacated office.
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In accordance with article 112 of the Company’s articles of
association, The Board shall have power from time to time and
at any time to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a
casual vacancy or as an additional Director but so that the
number of Directors so appointed shall not exceed the
maximum number determined from time to time by the
Shareholders in general meeting. Any Director appointed by
the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the
first annual general meeting of the Company after his
appointment and be eligible for reelection at such annual
general meeting. Any Director appointed by the Board as an
addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the
next following annual general meeting of the Company and
shall then be eligible for re-election at such annual general
meeting.

Accordingly, Ms. Hou Wei, Mr. Hou Lianchang, Mr. Chen
Zenghua and Ms. Chen Tao will retire and, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company and is appointed for a specific
term of three years unless terminated by not less than three
months’ notice in writing served by either the executive
Director or the Company.

The non-executive Director and the independent non-executive
Directors have each signed an appointment letter with the
Company and is appointed for a specific term of three years.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Company’s corporate governance function is carried out
by the Board pursuant to provision A.2.1 of the CG Code,
which include: (a) to develop and review the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate governance; (b) to review
and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management of the
Group; (c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements; (d) to develop, review and monitor the code of
conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to
employees of the Group and the Directors; and (e) to review
the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and relevant
disclosure in the corporate governance report of the annual
report of the Company.

The Board has performed the abovementioned corporate
governance functions during the year ended 31 December
2023.

BOARD MEETINGS

The Board held 28 Board meetings during the year ended 31
December 2023, and a tentative schedule for two regular
Board meetings for 2024 has been provided to the Directors at
the beginning of the year. The attendance of each Director at
the Board meetings is set out on page 87.

Between scheduled regular Board meetings, Directors may
approve various matters by way of passing written resolutions.
Additional Board meetings may be arranged if required. In
addition, at least 14 days' notice of a reqgular Board meeting
shall be given and the Company aims at sending the agenda
and the accompanying board papers to Directors at a
reasonable time before the intended date of a Board meeting.
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The Company Secretary assists in preparing the agenda for the
Board meeting and ensures that all applicable rules and
regulations regarding Board meetings are complied with.
Minutes of the Board and Board committees’ meetings are
kept by the Company Secretary, which are available to all
Directors for inspection.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing
the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the
responsibilities of the external auditor to the shareholders are
set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 128
to 139.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITIES
INSURANCE

Appropriate insurance coverage has been arranged in respect
of indemnification against costs, charges, losses, expenses and
liabilities that may be incurred by the Directors and officers of
the Company in the execution and discharge of their duties.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to Code Provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all Directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. For the year
ended 31 December 2023, each of the Directors has been
given relevant guideline materials to ensure that they are
apprised of the latest changes in the commercial, legal and
regulatory requirements in relation to the Company’s
businesses, and to refresh their knowledge and skills on the
roles, functions and duties of a listed company director.

New Directors, on appointment, will be given an induction
package containing all key legal and Listing Rules’
requirements as well as guidelines on the responsibilities and
obligations to be observed by a director. The package will also
include the latest published financial reports of the Company
and the documentation for the corporate governance practices
adopted by the Board.
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The Company also continuously updates Directors on the latest
developments regarding Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and enhance
their awareness of good corporate governance practices.
Circulars or guidance notes are also issued to Directors where
appropriate to ensure their awareness of best corporate
governance practices.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The role of the independent non-executive Directors is to
provide independent and objective opinions to the Board,
giving adequate control and balances for the Group to protect
the overall interests of the shareholders and the Group. They
serve actively on the Board and its committees to provide their
independent and objective views.

Non-Compliance with Rules 3.10(1), 3.10A and
3.21 of the Listing Rules

During the Year ended 31 December 2023, as announced by
the Company dated 24 November 2023, Mr. Ye Yihui resigned
as the independent non-executive director and ceased to be
the chairman of the Audit Committee and member of the
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of the
Company. Following the resignation of Mr. Ye Yihui, the Board
comprised only two independent non-executive Directors and
failed to meet the requirements of (i) at least three
independent non-executive directors on the Board under Rule
3.10(1) of the Listing Rules; (ii) Audit Committee comprising
only non-executive directors with a minimum of three
members under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules; and (iii)
independent non-executive directors representing at least one-
third of the Board.
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Following the appointment of Ms. Chen Tao on 24 June 2024,
the Company had complied with the requirements under Rules
3.10(1), 3.10A and 3.21 of the Listing Rules. For details, please
refer to the announcements of the Company dated 24
November 2023, 1 January 2024, 23 February 2024, 25 March
2024 and 24 June 2024, respectively.

As at the date of this report, the Company has appointed
three independent non-executive Directors, representing more
than one-third of the Board. One of the independent non-
executive Directors namely, Mr. Chen Zenghua, has the
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or
related financial management expertise as required by rule
3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. The Company has received from
each of the independent non-executive Directors a written
confirmation of his independence and has satisfied itself of
such independence in accordance with the independent
guidelines as set out in rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board is supported by three Board Committees, namely
the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee. Each Board Committee has its
defined and written terms of reference approved by the Board
covering its duties, powers and functions. Their terms of
reference are available on the respective websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

All Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties, including access to management or
professional advice if considered necessary.
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Audit Committee

As the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chen
Zenghua, Mr. Hou Lianchang and Ms. Chen Tao. Mr. Chen
Zenghua, who has appropriate professional qualifications and
experience in accounting matters, was appointed as the
chairman of the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the
Board by providing an independent view of the effectiveness
of the financial reporting process, risk management and
internal control systems of the Group, to oversee the external
and internal audit processes, to develop and review the
Group's policies and to perform other duties and
responsibilities as assigned by the Board.

There were 3 meetings of the Audit Committee held during
the year ended 31 December 2023. The attendance of each
Director at the Audit Committee meetings is set out on page
87. During the year under review, the members of the Audit
Committee reviewed the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group, reviewed the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2022 and for the six months ended 30 June 2023, reviewed
the risk assessment results, the internal audit activities for 2023
and discussed the audit plans for the year ended 31 December
2023 with the external auditor.

In addition, the Audit Committee held one meeting in June

2024. The Audit Committee reviewed the Group’s annual
results for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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The Audit Committee monitors the audit and non-audit
services rendered to the Group by the external auditor and
ensures that the engagement of external auditor in non-audit
services will not impair its audit independence or objectivity.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the fees in respect of
the audit and non-audit services provided to the Group by
McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited, is set out as

follows:
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Statutory audit services
Non-audit services

Remuneration Committee

As at 31 December 2023 and the date of this report, the
Remuneration Committee comprises two independent non-
executive Directors and one executive Director, namely Mr.
Hou Lianchang, Mr. Chen Zenghua and Mr. Liu Xianxiu. Mr.
Hou Lianchang is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee. The primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee include (but without limitation): (i) making
recommendations to the Directors regarding the Group’s
policy and structure for the remuneration of all Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policies; (ii)
making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of our Directors and senior management; (iii)
reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives; and (iv) considering and approving the grant of
share options to eligible participants pursuant to the Share
Option Scheme.

970,000
Nil 42
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There was one meeting of the Remuneration Committee held
during the year ended 31 December 2023. The attendance of
each Director at the Remuneration Committee meeting is set
out on page 87. During the year under review, the members
of the Remuneration Committee reviewed the existing
remuneration policy and package of all existing Directors and
senior management.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments for the year ended
31 December 2023 are set out in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The emoluments paid to each of four members of senior
management of the Company was between RMBO to RMB1
million for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Nomination Committee

As at the date of this annual report, the Nomination
Committee comprises two independent non-executive
Directors and one executive Director, namely Mr. Hou
Lianchang, Mr. Chen Zenghua and Ms. Hou Wei. Ms. Hou Wei
is the Chairlady of the Nomination Committee. The primary
duties of the Nomination Committee is to identify individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members and select, or
make recommendations to the Board on the selection of,
individuals nominated for directorships.

There were two meetings of the Nomination Committee held
during the year ended 31 December 2023. The attendance of
each Director at the Nomination Committee meeting is set out
on page 87. During the year under review, the members of the
Nomination Committee reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board and reviewed the objectives set for
implementing the board diversity policy on annual basis to
ensure the effectiveness.
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The Company believes that diversity of Board members can be
achieved through consideration of a number of factors,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge, length of service and the legitimate interests
of the Company’s principal shareholders. All Board's
appointment are based on the merits of the candidates and
the Board believes that doing so will be consistent with
achieving a diversity of perspectives.

Meeting with Independent Non-executive
Directors

Code provision C.2.7 of the CG Code states that the chairman
of the board of directors of a listed issuer should hold meetings
with the independent non-executive directors at least annually
without the presence of other directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, one meeting was
held between the Chairlady and the independent non-
executive Directors, with each of the independent non-
executive Directors present. The Chairlady will continue to
make arrangements for holding at least one meeting with the
independent non-executive Directors for every subsequent
year.

Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee has developed a nomination
policy. Such nomination policy is established with the aims of
ensuring the Board maintains a balance of skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements
of the business of the Group.
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To assess and evaluate whether an individual candidate is
suitably qualified to be appointed as a Director, the
Nomination Committee shall take into account, among other
things:

— the qualifications, skills, knowledge, ability and
experience of the individual candidate;

— the potential time commitment and attention to perform
duties as a director under the Listing Rules and the
applicable laws and regulations;

— the potential contributions that the individual candidate
can make to the diversity of the Board, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service;

— the personal ethics, integrity and reputation of the
individual candidate (and where appropriate, adequate
background checks and other verification processes shall
be conducted against the individual candidate);

— the current structure, size and composition of the Board
and the Company’s corporate strategy;

— Board succession planning considerations and the long-
term needs of the Company;

— (in case of a candidate for an independent non-executive
Director), the independence of such candidate with
reference to, among other things, the independence
criteria as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules; and
the guidance and requirements relating to independent
non-executive directors set out in Code Provision B.3.4 of
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules; and

— any other factors and matters as the Nomination
Committee may consider appropriate.
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The Nomination Committee will review the nomination policy EZEZEE@BELBFH —INIREBE N
at least annually and discuss any revisions and updates that & Eﬁ—]éézxﬁ’ﬂiﬂ{ SINEH WRESE
may be required, and recommend the same to the Board for — &42 HHEE =2 A HHLE -

approval.

The individual attendance records of each Director at the #HE—_Z-_=F+—-_A=+—HILFE &
physical meetings of the Board, Audit Committee, ZEEHF=EEE  EXLEe FHEZEE
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee and at NIZZRZE@@ZULARATIRERE 2
the general meeting of the Company during the year ended  RIlEECeEEF 0T ¢

31 December 2023 are set out below:

=

Number of physical meetings attended/held during his/her tenure

RERHALE BT2EREERY

Audit Remuneration Nomination General
Name of Director Board Committee =~ Committee =~ Committee Meeting
EEpE Ex® BNZERY FMERE RAEZ8E RRAE
Executive Directors HITES
Ms. Hou Wei 37 ¢ 2828  NATEA  NATER 22 171
Mr. Liu Xianxiu ABREE 28/28 N/A TER 171 N/A &R il
Mr. Yang Baikang oLl s 2828  NATEB NATER NATER 17N
Non-executive Director FHTES
Mr. Hou Bo TR E 2828 NATER NATER  NATER 171
Independent non-executive BIFHTES

Directors

Mr. Ye Yihui EEERE 28/28 33 ”n 212 7
Mr. Ho Hin Yip ARTEESE 28/28 33 NATNER  NATER 17
Mr. Hou Lianchang FHE %L 28128 33 11 22 11
Mr. Chen Zenghua BRI A NATER NATER NATER NATER NATER
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FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the
Group's financial statements which give a true and fair view of
the Group's state of affairs, results and cash flows for the year
and in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. The Group has selected
appropriate accounting policies and has applied them
consistently based on prudent and reasonable judgements and
estimates. The Board considers that the Group has adequate
resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future
and not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may affect the business of the Group or cast
doubts on its ability to continue as going concern.

The responsibilities of the Company’s external auditors with
respect to financial reporting are set out in the section headed
"Independent Auditor’s Report” in this annual report.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board recognises its responsibility to ensure the Group
maintains a sound and effective internal control and risk
management system. However, risk-taking is an inherent
element of the Group’s business and operation. The Group’s
risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. It is
also designed to safeguard assets against misappropriation
and unauthorised disposition and to manage operational risks.
Review of the Group's internal controls covering major
financial, operational and compliance control as well as risk
management functions. The Group’s risk management
framework includes the following elements:

o identify significant risks in the Group’s operation

environment and evaluate the impacts of those risks on
the Group's business;
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o develop necessary measures to manage those risks; and

° monitor and review the effectiveness of such measures.

The implementation of risk management framework of the
Group was assisted by the Group's internal audit department
which was responsible for the internal audit function so that
the Group could ensure new and emerging risks relevant to
the Group's operation are promptly identified by management,
assess the adequacy of action plans to manage these risks and
monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of the action plans.

The Board would perform annual review on any significant
change of business and the external environment and establish
procedures to respond to the risks resulting from significant
change of business and the external environment.

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the
handling and dissemination of inside information, the Group: i)
carries out its daily operation with regards to the “Guidance
on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the Securities
and Futures Commission of Hong Kong; and ii) closely
communicates with its legal advisor regarding whether the
relevant information is likely to have impact on the price of the
shares of the Company or their trading volume and thus is
considered as inside information that needs to be disclosed
pursuant to the Inside Information Provisions under Part XIVA

of the SFO and the Listing Rules.
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The Audit Committee is responsible for reporting to the Board
the implementation of the Group's risk management, internal
control policy which among other things, included the
determination of risk factors, evaluation of risk level the Group
could take and effectiveness of risk management measures.
During the Reporting Period, a review was conduct by the
Audit Committee together with the Group’s internal audit
department in compliance with Code Provision D.2 of the CG
Code. The Board acknowledges the review of the effectiveness
of the risk management and risk control systems should be an
on-going process and plans to conduct reviews quarterly
commencing from the coming financial year. For resolving
defects and weaknesses of internal controls and accounting
procedures of the Group which the external auditors and the
Group's internal audit department have identified and reported
to the Company, the Company would pay full attention to the
recommendations made by the external auditors and the
Group's internal audit department and make appropriate
improvements. Based on the reports from the Group's internal
control department and the Audit Committee, the Board
considers the Group's risk management and internal control
system is adequate and effective and the Group has complied
with the provisions on risk management and internal controls
as set out in the CG code.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lo Wai Siu (“Mr. Lo") has resigned as company secretary
of the Company on 29 December 2023. Ms. Chong Wai Shan
("Ms. Chong”) has been appointed as company secretary of
the Company on 29 December 2023 and resigned as company
secretary of the Company on 14 May 2024. Mr. Lo has been
appointed as company secretary of the Company on 14 May
2024 and has resigned as company secretary of the Company
on 24 June 2024. Ms. Liu Yulan has been appointed as
company secretary of the Company on 24 June 2024 and
resigned as company secretary of the Company on 1 July
2024. Mr. Yuen Wai Keung has been appointed as company
secretary of the Company on 1 July 2024 and resigned as
company secretary of the Company on 30 July 2024.

20

BEREZESRENESFEREAEENEAR
ER - NEEFIECROEREER - EReE
ErRBEZE  FEAEEAAZZRARSE
@&Hﬁ%ﬁ?mmﬁﬂﬁoﬂﬁiﬁﬁ'
BEREZBgERANEEAIETIFIRED
FXERTRIZ TG ED 2 EHETER -
ExeHORREEKRREZERFERE
Z BBBIRISE MR - WHEI B R
FERERFEERN - INEZEA RAEE
mm%%%%WE%%$$lmm%ﬁﬁ
SR F A IEERRR B IR KOE S IRED
EmﬁAﬂﬁ%°$Aﬂkﬁnﬁﬁ%%ﬁ
AN R AE BRI NEEF I PIER B R
R EL B B E o ER AN B BT HI 5
FINBEZZESNHE  EETgRATEE
R EE RASIES RAR/T D BRRAR
SEEETREEERTAME R ER R
IR I B 16 3 o

‘I]]]D
EH’ ]]]E>
\m

I+

38

DNEMWE

%ﬁ%%i@%%iDaﬁfvf_$+_
RZTNBBERRRIRGIWE —B - T2
%ﬁiﬂﬂﬁipaﬂ:z:—¢+—ﬂ
ZtTtABREERAARWE WKR-ZT-WN
FRATWMARER Twiﬁﬁ°$ﬁia
RZZE-FRAATHBEEZRTAER
AME S W ZE-_WNFAZ +|7_E|E|ﬁﬂ£
RARME - BIEFMZTR T _WF A
Tt BEESARAARATWE  WER
ZE-MFEA—BEERRAWERE o
&Eﬁ%i%f;fmitﬂ—EﬁEA
AARARME WYER_ZT_WF+LA
= tHBRERRARWER



JIYI HOLDINGS LIMITED & —3= 8 H R A 7
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 £k

Corporate Governance Report

Mr. Wong Chi Kong has been appointed as company secretary
of the Company on 31 July 2024. He fulfills the requirements
under rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules. The biographical details of
Mr. Wong Chi Kong is set out in the paragraph headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” of
this annual report.

During the Reporting Period, Mr. Wong Chi Kong took no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training in compliance
with rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity
for communication between the Shareholders and the Board.
The Company shall in each year hold a general meeting as its
annual general meeting. All general meetings other than
annual general meetings shall be called extraordinary general
meetings (“"EGM").

Right to convene EGM

Any two or more members of the Company, at the date of the
deposit of a written requisition holding not less than one-tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company which carries the right
of voting at general meetings, shall at all times have the right
to require an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction
of any business specified in such requisition.

The written requisition must specify the objects of the meeting,
signed by the requisitionists and deposit it with the Company
Secretary of the Company at the Company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong at Unit 912, 9th Floor, Tai Yau Building,
181 Johnston Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.
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If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit
of the requisition proceed duly to convene the EGM to be held
within a further 21 days, the requisitionists themselves or any
of them representing more than one-half of the total voting
rights of all of them, may convene the EGM, but any EGM
shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the
date of deposit of the requisition.

An EGM so convened by the requisitionists shall be convened
in the same manner, as nearly possible, as that in which
meetings are to be convened by the Board.

Right to put enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may, at any time, direct questions or requests for
information to the Directors or management through the
communication channel provided in “Contact Us” section in
the Company’s website at www.jiyiholdings.com or in writing
and sent by post to the Company’s principal place of business
in Hong Kong.

Right to put forward proposals at general
meetings

As a matter of Cayman lIslands law, no shareholders are
permitted to propose new resolutions at the general meetings
if the intention to propose the new resolutions is not specified
in the notice convening the general meeting. However,
procedures for proposing candidate(s) for election as Directors
at a shareholder’s meeting are set out in the Corporate
Governance section of the “Investor Relations” section of the
Company's website at www jiyiholdings.com.
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INVESTORS RELATIONS REEZRRZ

The Company believes that communicating with its AAREEEBEF AR (BRI EALL)

shareholders, investors and other stakeholders by electronic EZEJRER & EEHE LEMFNOEBBLENE

means, particularly through its website, is an efficient way of ~ FIEHMEREHEHR - AARELAEF A

distributing information in a timely and convenient manner. &HLATRERE [REEBIER] S& -

The Company’s website has a dedicated “Investor Relations”

section which publishes the following information:

— the Board, committee charters, key corporate governance — #EE® . - Z525E TEPEEA
policies and constitutional documents; BRRERXM

N\,

RNE - AT S R VR R 240

— announcements, press and release made to the market —

and media;

— annual and half yearly reports and all material — FELKIFEERENS BT
information lodged with the Stock Exchange; and BEAER &

— notices of general meetings and explanatory materials, if — PR AK@@mE NLHBAME (0E) -
any.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there had beenno REZE-Z-_=F+_A=+—HILFE -
significant change in the Company’s constitutional documents.  ZK/2 &) & F2 3 {4 7 fE 88 A B & o
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REPORT

ABOUT THIS REPORT

The Group is pleased to present this Environmental, Social and
Governance Report (the “Report”) to provide an overview of
the Group’s management and efforts in terms of maintaining
sustainable developments in respect of environmental, social
and governance aspects.

ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Group is committed to ethical corporate citizenship and to
promoting sustainability in all of its activities. We demonstrate
these commitments through transparent and responsible
management of our environment and social values. These
values respect and are informed by those of all of our
stakeholders, including the communities with which we
interact. The requirements listed below apply to the Group’s
operations. Every subsidiary, each manager and employee, as
well as any contractor performing work on behalf of the
Group must support this policy.

The Board is responsible for establishing the Group’s ESG
strategies, and for ensuring the effectiveness in the control of
ESG risks and internal control mechanism. The internal audit
department is in charge of the overall implementation of the
Group's ESG strategies. The Head of internal audit department
organized periodical meeting with other department heads
and is responsible for collecting relevant information on its
ESG aspects for preparing the ESG Report. The Head of
internal audit department reports to the board of directors (the
“Board"”), which assists in the identification and evaluation of
the Group’s ESG risks and the effectiveness of the internal
control mechanism. The Head of internal audit also examines
and evaluates the Group’s performances in different areas
such as environment, safety production, labour standards, and
product responsibilities in the ESG aspects.
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Scope of reporting
Reporting framework

This report has been prepared in compliance with Appendix
C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
(the “Listing Rules”) —
Reporting Guide” and is presented under two categories,

“Environmental, Social and Governance
namely environmental and social.

For the Group's corporate governance practices, please refer
to pages 74 to 93 for the section “Corporate Governance

Report” contained in this annual report.
Reporting period

This Report demonstrates our sustainability initiatives during
the reporting period from 1 January 2023 to 31 December
2023.

Contact us

The Group welcomes stakeholders to provide their opinions
and suggestions on our sustainability initiatives. You can
provide valuable advice in respect of this Report or the Group’s
performances in sustainable development by post at Unit 912,
9th Floor, Tai Yau Building, 181 Johnston Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group understands the importance of developing long-
term relationships and constant dialogues with various
stakeholders. We seek to balance the views and interests of
these various constituencies through constructive conversation.
Through collaborating with the stakeholders, the Group strives
to further improve its ESG initiatives to create greater value for
the community on a continuous basis.

Shareholders

The Company has established a number of efficient channels
of distributing information to its shareholders. The Company
regularly reviews these channels to ensure its effectiveness and
ensure effective and timely dissemination of relevant
information to its shareholders at all times. Shareholders are
also encouraged to raise any question to the Company
Secretary.

Customers

The Group is committed to providing quality services and
products to achieve customer satisfaction. Customer feedback
is invaluable as the Group operates in extremely competitive
markets. Under different product categories, we have
designated teams serving key customers. We also have
experienced sales attendants on site who would introduce
brands and products based on customers’ requirement, and
assist the customers by offering advice and guidance on
product functions, features, dimensions and installations. To
better serve our customers or potential customers who do not
visit our sales outlets, we have service hotlines and website for
handling inquiries from them.
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Employees

The Group had 21 employees as at 31 December 2023 (2022:
33). The Group offers competitive remuneration packages
commensurate with industry practice and provides various
fringe benefits to employees. The Group conducts induction
training for all of its new employees and on-going training
from time to time during their employment. The nature of
training offered depends on their specific field of operation. As
the Group continues its expansion, opportunities are always
available for hardworking employees.

Suppliers

The Group is committed to upholding laws and regulations
that are relevant to its business and closely monitor the
Group's policies relating to maintaining of business ethics.

Government

The Group is mainly engaged in the sale and distribution of
merchandise and the provision of interior design and
engineering services. These activities are mainly subject to the
jurisdictions of laws of the PRC. Along with different
government laws, rules and regulations, each operating
company makes tremendous effort to ensure that it is
complied with the relevant laws and regulations.
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The management and staff of the Group’s respective major
operations have participated in the preparation of the Report
to assist the Group in reviewing its operations and identifying
relevant ESG issues and assess the importance of related
matters to its businesses and stakeholders. The Group had
compiled questionnaires to collect information from relevant
departments, business units, and stakeholders of the Group to
identify key ESG issues.

The Group has taken into account the feedback from relevant
stakeholders in determining the significant ESG aspects
covered in the Report. A summary of significant ESG issues for
the Group based on relative importance is displayed below:

The ESG Reporting Guide
BB HERERKREES

Environmental

RiB
A1. Emissions
Al. BERY

A2. Use of Resources

A2. FAER

EEHRTME

$‘EEIXE;<%AWE’JEE¥£EE\I¢’JE/A
RS - UIHB AR B HEES)
RERIEBRE HERER/REHE I HE
HEEEHAEENEFARSFNHENE

Zf - ARECREABARNERRE - £
ghERRENRES - ARERAZ - X
BB RFNDENER -

AEBEREAREFIREEARE 4
GhERRBR  DEBHEBERNENR
o RIBHEYEZMUAEESORE 1
gREAZENHENT

Material ESG issues

ERRE  HEREREE

No material emission issues

BEERGEE

Paper consumption

MRERE

Electricity consumption

Water consumption

FA7K

A3. The Environmental and Natural Resources
A3. IRENKAEIR

A4. Climate Change
A4 RIREME
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Impacts on the environmental and natural resources
HIRBERRARARE RN E

No material climate change issues
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The ESG Reporting Guide
BRI - HERERREES

Social

e

B1. Employment
B1. (Ef%E

B2. Health and Safety
B2. EEHZE

B3. Development and Training
B3. EE&IE

B4. Labour Standards
B4, B TIZE

B5. Supply Chain Management
BS. HrEsEEIR

B6. Product Responsibility
B6. EmETT

B7. Anti-corruption
B7. RES

B8. Community Investments

B8. ttE@IKRE

R - HERERHE

Material ESG issues
BEXRE  HEREREE

Recruitment, promotion and dismissal
REE - B LR E
Compensation and benefits

B S 13 A

Safety management measures
ZREREE

Development and training
R RIE

Prevention of child and forced labour
BriEE T NMoalss T

Suppliers sourcing and selection mechanism

1 72 SRR % B 5 A

Product quality and safety
EmmERTE

Customer satisfaction

EEmMEE

Customer data protection and privacy

EFPEMRENLE

Anti-corruption
R&ES
Whistle-blowing mechanism

SRR B

Corporate social responsibility
EHERE

In FY2023, the Group confirmed that it has established RIZZEZ=BBFE  ASEBERCE IR
appropriate and effective management policies and internal 3% @ R EGEER I EE AR EE
control systems for ESG issues and confirmed that the BURRAEEEIZERSE - WHERFTIREARR
disclosed contents comply with the requirements of the ESG ~ &IRIE - HEREAMEIEIIMNERK -

Reporting Guide.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL

100

A1. Emissions

Environmental conservation remains a key focus for
the Group. Therefore, we are dedicated to
maintaining our energy consumption and emission
at low level in every single step. The conscientious
use of resources and adoption of best practices
across the Group’s businesses underlie its
commitment to safeguarding the environment. The
Group encourages environmental protection,
complies with relevant environmental legislation s
and promotes awareness towards environmental
protection to the employees.

In light of the nature of business and operation, the
Group does not involve in production of related air,
water, land pollution, greenhouse gas, hazardous
waste and non-hazardous waste and does not have
any direct or significant impact on the environment
and natural resources. Nevertheless, the Group is
aware that the daily operation of the office and
warehouse consume paper, electricity and water.
The Group recognises the impact caused by these
consumption and the production of waste. For the
past several years, the Group has been putting
emphasis in energy conservation, rolling out IT
initiatives to help decrease unnecessary wastage
and reduce carbon emission and adopting different
policies on use of resources with an aim to reduce

the impact on the environment.
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A2. Use of Resources

The Group is committed to protecting the
environment by enhancing our operational
efficiency and energy efficiency to reduce energy,
water, paper and waste by following initiatives:

Paper

o Using E-fax to minimise printing needs

o Handling documents electronically except for
formal Documents

o Using recycled paper and double-sided
printing except for formal and confidential
documents

Paper Consumption: 0.2 tonnes (2022: 0.5
tonnes)

Total consumption of paper of the Group was
about 0.2 tonnes (FY2022: 0.5 tonnes).

Electricity

o The use of electricity in the office of the
Group must comply the principles of power
saving, safety first, high efficiency and low
consumption

o Light and electronic appliances like air-
conditioners, computers, photocopy
machines, printers in workplace must be
turned off when not in use
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Electricity Consumption: 466,554 kWh
(FY2022: 778,223 kWh)

Total consumption of electricity at the Group’s
headquarter and other subsidiaries in the PRC was
461,307 kWh (kilowatt-hour) (FY2022: 674,237
kWh) and 5,247 kWh (FY2022: 103,996 kWh)
respectively, which produced about 362 tonnes
carbon (FY2022: 529 tonnes carbon) and 0.1
tonnes carbon (FY2022: 82 tonnes carbon)
respectively (Assuming that 0.785 kg (kilogram) of
carbon will be produced by 1 kWh electricity
consumption).

Water

Posting notices at common areas of the office
reminding staff members to reduce water

consumption and the importance of water saving.

Water Consumption:5,203 m? (FY2022:
8,198 m3)

Total consumption of water at the Group’s
headquarter and other subsidiaries in the PRC was
5,203 m? (cubic meter) (FY2022: 7,433 m3) and O
m3 (FY2022: 766 m?3) respectively. The Group had
not encountered any issue in sourcing water that is
fit for purpose.
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The consumption of electricity and water reported
above are stated in the total amount of their
measuring units. As the Group is operating a variety
of store portfolios, intensity data (e.g per store or
per gross sales area) were not prepared because
such indicators may not be meaningful.

Stationery and Furniture

Reusing stationery, furniture and equipment among
offices and branches instead of buying new ones or
disposing of such materials.

Waste

Encouraging recycling through installation of
plastic, paper and aluminum recycling boxes at the
headquarters.

Packaging

During the course of the Group’s business
operation, it does not generally involve the use of
packaging materials and thus its impacts on the
environment are considered to be minimal.
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A3.

A4,

The Environment and Natural
Resources

During the year, the Group consumed both less
electricity and less water. With the reduction of
Company’s headcount, the consumption of
electricity decreased by approximately 40%. On the
other hand, with the closures of retail stores and
the Company’s internal policies to control water
wastage, the consumption of water of the Group
decreased by approximately 36.5% during the year
ended 31 December 2023. The Group also
continued its campaign to promote paperless
working practice, of which the paper consumption
remained less than 1 tonnes during the Reporting
Period.

Save as disclosed above, the Group’s business has
no direct or significant impact on the environment
and natural resources.

Climate Change

The Group is actively studying the strategies and
policies of the PRC government and agrees that the
environment and climate change will pose risks to
the Group, such as extreme weather that could
damage the Group’s operating equipment and
increase the Group's operating costs. In addition,
the Group has also identified opportunities for
quality operations, committed to improving the
competitiveness and anticipated potential risks to

resist force majeure.

A3.

A4,
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B. SOCIAL

B1. Employment

The Group adopts fair and open recruitment
mechanism with all positions being openly recruited
regardless of age, gender, race, nationality, religion,
marital status or disability. Apart from internal
transfers, all vacancies are published to public via
different recruiting channels such as advertisement,
online recruitment channels, recruitment fairs,
recruitment through Personnel Exchange Center
and recommendation.

A formal induction together with a tour of the
workplace is provided to all employees on the first
day of employment. This aims to welcome the new
employees and give them a better understanding of
the Group. A brief introduction of employee
handbook is provided to ensure new employees are
aware of relevant policies and code of conduct.
Employee handbook together with various
guidelines and benefits are uploaded on the
Group's intranet network for the access for all staff
members.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group complied with
the Labour Law of the PRC, the Employment
Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
and all other relevant Hong Kong/PRC employment
laws and regulations that deal with working hours
and rest period and had a total of 21 (as at 31
December 2022: 33) full time employees.
Breakdowns of the current employees by position
and gender, age and years of service are set forth
below respectively:
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STAFF DISTRIBUTION BY POSITION AND BERBRARENETHWEIT oM
GENDER
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R HERERHE

DISTRIBUTION BY AGE & F ik &5 K4
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The Group achieved relatively lower turnover rate in general
frontline positions and young workforce, but there was a
reduction of the total number of employee headcount due to
departmental restructuring and the total number of employees
decreased by approximately 36.4% for the Reporting Period as
compared to FY2022. The turnover rate for the management
team was comparatively low which was reflected by the steady
number of senior management employees.

The Group strives to provide a work environment with equal
opportunities regardless of gender and age. As at 31
December 2023, the Group’s male to female employee
maintained at 2:1. The Group had also recruited from a diverse
age group. Around 71% of our workforce were fell in the age
group of 30-50, while around 29% were in the age groups of
51 or above, respectively.
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B2. Health and Safety

The Group strives to promote safety awareness,
improve occupational environment and reduce
occupational risks. The Group continuously
promotes safety awareness among employees and
committed to providing a healthy and safe working
environment for our employees and complies with
the relevant laws and regulations. The Group has
dedicated adequate resources and effort to uphold
and improve the Group's safety management
measures in order to reduce the risks relating to
labour safety, such as:

Guidelines

o Adopting and reviewing from time to time
written guidelines and policies for work safety
and occupational health safety

o Ensuring a healthy and safe workplace and
compliance with all relevant workplace health
and safety laws
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Insurance

o Maintaining various insurance policies of
endowment insurance, medical insurance,
unemployment insurance, industrial injury
insurance, maternity insurance, and housing
accumulation fund for employees’
compensation and liability

Other safety Measures

o Conducting fire drill regularly and
demonstration of the use of fire extinguisher
so as to enhance the fire safety awareness

o Providing regular training sessions on accident
prevention and management to the
employees

Work Related Injury
o There was no fatality or injury case related to

work during the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022
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B3. Development and Training

The Group believes that investing in employees is
essential to the future strength and success of its
business. The Group conducts various internal
trainings for different level of staff members. There
is a general regular training section to all employees
once a month during the morning meeting. For
new employees, they are required to take a one-
week training on specific job duty. The managers of
each department will take turns to different
departments to provide training on product
knowledge, sales skills, store management, market
development and business operation etc.

Besides, the Group also encourages and offers the
opportunities for its staff members to take external
training from the suppliers.

All these trainings are designed to enhance and
broaden employees’ skill sets.

The Group encourages communication and
interaction of the staff members with the
management. The Group provides a wide spectrum
of informal communication platforms regularly.
There are advisory boxes in the office, and regular
experience sharings between middle and senior
management. Through these gatherings,
management is alerted to the issues raised by staff
members and can carry out responsive measures to
improve operations if appropriate. Besides, this
enhanced the sense of belongs of staff members.
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Furthermore, the Group arranged some regular and o AEEAERERETR
irregular activities to facilitate as communication PETEBRTTEEESAME
platforms for the management and staff members R flan

112

such as follows:

e Chinese New Year Gathering (" ¥TEEHE")
is the most prestigious event of the year,
attended by all staff in the Group. Lots of
lucky draws and games make the evening full
of energy and excitement. This event provided
chances to appreciate all of the staff members
with for the effort during the year.

o The Group believes that happy staff make
happy customers and endeavor to provide
happy working environment. The Group
promotes the relationship between staff to
make them like family members. To promote
work life balance, the Group organised
wellness activities like climbing the Baisui
Mountain (" Bl " BB EZEHREEE)) and
Tianbaigong Mountain (" XA Q"B K EE
RS E)) in the past years.
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B4. Labour Standards

The Group believes in nurturing and developing top
talents regardless of race, gender, age, religious
belief, pregnancy, marital status, family status or
disability. The Group also respects human rights
and oppose to the abuse of child labour or forced
labour in our businesses. There is no use of child
labour or forced labour in the Group during the
Reporting Period.

The Group also has policies to ensure all employees
and job applicants enjoy equal opportunities and
fair treatment. All employees have the right to
complain in case of discrimination, suspected
misconduct and illegal acts via established
procedures. The Group will investigate each
complaint thoroughly, resolving it fairly and in the
strictest confidence.

The Group is also in compliance with all relevant
laws and regulations, including but not limited to
Labour Contract Law of the PRC, Provisions on the
Prohibition of Using Child Labour and Employment
of Children Regulations (chapter, 57B of the Laws
of Hong Kong) in Hong Kong, etc. Recruitment and
employment are carried out in full compliance with
relevant laws and regulations such as the
Employment Ordinance, Chapter 57, Laws of Hong
Kong and the guidelines issued by the human
resources department. The Group did not have any
cases related to child labour or forced labour in this
year.
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B5.

B6.

Supply Chain Management

The Group believes that sourcing and selection of
suppliers play a crucial part in enriching our brand
and product mix. The assessment on suppliers
places emphasis on their market positioning, image
of their brand projected, product design,
production capacity, quality and price range,
anticipated market acceptance of their products,
supply lead time, reliability, creditworthiness and
past experiences in conducting business with them.
The Group’s procurement team regularly looks for
quality suppliers in the market, and will engage
new suppliers upon their satisfaction of our internal
review and approval, which includes interview with
their responsible personnel and site visit to the
suppliers’ premises.

Product Responsibility

To enhance customers’ satisfaction of the
merchandise, the Group has stringent control over
the quality of merchandise. The Group carefully
selects suppliers, and pursuant to the supply or
distribution agreements. The Group'’s suppliers shall
ensure the quality of products and may also be
required to provide us with the after-sale services
for the products sold to the Group. The Group
conducts inspections on the quality, measurement
and other specifications of the merchandise before
accepting delivery from the suppliers. The Group is
entitled to return or exchange the products to the
suppliers if they are found to be defective or
otherwise in unsaleable condition.
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In general, no products return or exchange by
customers is allowed except for malfunctions of or
manufacturing defects in products. Nevertheless, to
foster customer loyalty and enhance customer
satisfaction, the Group may allow product return or
exchange to be made with a valid receipt within
seven days after purchase provided that the
merchandise is in good and saleable condition. The
Group also offers product warranty period of one
to three years depending on the nature of
merchandise. During the warranty period, the
Group provides maintenance and repair services to
the customers for free and will also exchange any
defective products for free on the condition that
such products have been installed in accordance
with the manual and were used under normal
conditions. Defective products could be returned to
the suppliers for repair or replacement if the
relevant supplier is found to be liable for such
defect.

Customer data protection and privacy

In addition, the Group is dedicated to protecting
intellectual property rights as well as consumer data
and privacy. Without the permission of the
customers, consumer data will not be used for
publicity or other purposes.

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 31
December 2022, the Group has not identified any
non-compliance cases relating to product
responsibility.
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B7. Anti-corruption

The Group takes its fraud prevention or anti-
corruption responsibilities very seriously. In addition
to the ongoing review of the effectiveness of the
internal control systems, the Group has established
a whistleblowing policy to direct employees to
report to the Group's internal audit department
about possible improprieties in any matter related
to the Group. The Group also established policy
and guidelines about fraud prevention. They are
Commercial Bribery Control Rule ({7 2 B B [y &5
SPAIY), Financial Fraud and Complaint Rule and Fraud
Prevention ({BF BUEE B[ &6 [z i 22 41 /£ ), Inspection
and Reporting Procedures ({ R BEE K IREERF))
and Management Override Prevention Policy (£ [f

LIFE R EBEBR)).

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 31
December 2022, no legal case regarding corruption
was brought against the Group or its employees.
Also, there were no material cases of non-
compliance with laws and regulations on anti-
money laundering in the PRC and Hong Kong.
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B8. Community Investments

The awareness of corporate social responsibility has
been increasing in the market. The Group realises
the importance of different stakeholders’
expectations. In achieving long term, stable and
healthy business prosperity and growth, the Group
strives to balance the interests between
stakeholders and is committed to improve the
community’s wellbeing.

The Group encourages the employees to play an
active role in the communities where they live and
work. In the past years, the Group was engaged in
different events with an aim to fulfill its social
responsibility. For example, in the past few years, the
Group launched “Jiyi Inspirational Student Fund” (£
—E)EBhE ) for the poor but outstanding students
in Meizhou lJiaying University (18 JI| 71 3% /& K 2),
aiming at providing better environment for those
hardworking and ambitious students to achieve their
dreams.

The Group will continue to explore other means to
contribute more to the environment and strive to
facilitate the building of a healthy and sustainable
society.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND

GOVERNANCE REPORTING INDEX

R HERERBRERS

Subject areas, aspects,
general disclosures and
Key Performance

Indicators (KPIs) Description Section/Declaration
TEEHE - -EB@E- — K
WERBARENER #iEA =3:0p -1

A. Environmental

A. BIE

A1: Emissions

emissions data

AV HER)

General Disclosure *A1. Emissions™*
— R EE *A1HER *
KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective *A1. Emissions*

FASERIEIR AL

BEpRE SR AR BB B

*A1.BE *

KPI'AT.2

Greenhouse gas emissions in total and,
where appropriate, intensity

Not applicable to the Group’s

business

FRSREMIEIRA1.2

BERBHNEEN (WER)BE

NERRARENER

KPI'A1.3

Total hazardous waste produced and,
where appropriate, intensity

Not applicable to the Group’s

business

RASRAE WIEIZ A3

FELEEREMEER WER)EE

TNERARA R E X

KPI'A1.4

Total non-hazardous waste produced and,

where appropriate, intensity

*A1. Emissions*

FAREMIEIEALA

ELBEREVMEER WER)EE

AT BERE) *

KPIAT.5

Description of measures to mitigate
emissions and results achieved

*A1. Emissions*

FRSERIEIRALS

OB R BE IR E BV 1 S PTG AR

*A1BERE) *

KPI'A1.6

Description of how hazardous and non-
hazardous wastes are handled, reduction
initiatives and results achieved

*A1. Emissions*

RASRAERUEIZ A6

R A ENEZREMNITA
R E L B R FE I M AT SR

*A1. B *

118




JIYI HOLDINGS LIMITED & —3= 8 H R A 7
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 £k

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
IRIE - HEREGRE

Subject areas, aspects,
general disclosures and
Key Performance

Indicators (KPIs) Description Section/Declaration
TEEHE - -BH- — K
WERBARENEEZ 88 =5:0p -1

A2: Use of Resources

A2: & R{E

General Disclosure *A2. Use of Resources*
—MRIKEE *A2. EIR(ER*
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption *A2. Use of Resources*

by type in total and intensity

BB AE IR IR A2.1 REAERE DM EE R R EEEIRERE *A2. EIRER*
ENEE

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity *A2. Use of Resources — Water*

BARAEIEIRA2.2 BRKEREE *A2. BIRMER — K>

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency *A2. Use of Resources —
initiatives and results achieved Electricity*

BASAE WIEIR A2.3 et B IR AR e 5t 8 R PTSACR *A2.ERER — &

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue *A2. Use of Resources — Water*

in sourcing water that is fit for purpose,
water efficiency initiatives and results

achieved
RSB BIEIZA2.4 il SKEGE A KR _ER] A A R - LA A2 EBRER — K>

K de Tt Rk e st 8 M PSR

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished *A2. Use of Resources —
products and, if applicable, with reference Packaging *
to per unit produced

RS AERUEIZ A2.5 YN MEATABEEMBNEE X (WER) *A2. BIRFERH — B~
BEEEMIhE
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RIg - HER

EagE

Subject areas, aspects,
general disclosures and
Key Performance
Indicators (KPIs)

Description

Section/Declaration

TRER -EBEH - —R
BERBRENER

18

BHB’Y

A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

AIRBERBEARER

General Disclosure

— MR EE

KPI'A3.1

Description of the significant impacts of
activities on the environment and natural
resources and the actions taken to

manage them

*A3. The Environment and
Natural Resources*

R A RUEIZ A3

R RFADHIRENRABRNEKX
TENCRRERFHEXENTY

*A3IRBERAAER*

A4: Climate Change

Ad: BiREL

General Disclosure

— R E

KPIA.4.1

Description of the significant climate-
related issues which have impacted, and
those which may impact, the issuer, and

*A4. Climate Change*

FASRAE N IEIR AL

the actions taken to manage them
PDES Eokd

B &R A RE S Y BITAELETEN
EARGHEBESEE  REHITE
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Subject areas, aspects,
general disclosures and
Key Performance

Indicators (KPIs) Description Section/Declaration
TEHE -BEH —R

BRERARERER 5 -0 2

B. Social

B. #&

B1: Employment

B1: (&%
General Disclosure *B1. Employment*
—RRIKER *B1. & (%
KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment *B1. Employment
type, age group and geographical region — STAFF DISTRIBUTION BY
POSITION AND GENDER
— DISTRIBUTION BY AGE
— DISTRIBUTION BY YEARS
OF SERVICE*
BB A IR BT BRI EIEED - FiER MRl *B1.{Ef®
SDHE TR — R R MRIEN S
— BFRES
— BRERBFEEED*
KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age *B1. Employment*
group and geographical region
BB RUEIRB1.2 RIER - FiARI KR E D HEER *B1. &% *
Ejlags
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Subject areas, aspects,
general disclosures and
Key Performance

Indicators (KPIs) Description Section/Declaration
TEEHE - -EB@-: —K
BERBARENESZ 88 =3:0p - 1]

B2: Health and safety

B2: LS

General Disclosure

*B2. Health and Safety*

safety measures adopted, how they are
implemented and monitored

— MR EE *B2. 2R ML 2

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities -

BRSR AR AHE1R B2.1 B TEREMIE TR AR L X -

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury -

BASR AR A E1R B2.2 HIEREANITERE -

KPIB2.3 Description of occupational health and *B2. Health and Safety*

R AR WE1ZB2.3

FORPTER MR B R B R 2 21576 - A
KRBT REERTTA

*

*B2. ffR Ed

\ED"
Ja
Hp

B3. Development and training

B3. /R K iEd

General Disclosure

*B3. Development and Training*

employee category

—MRIKEE *B3. R M IEFI*
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employee trained and *B3. Development and Training*

BSR4 IR 1R B3.1

REBBHEIDNZIIEEBLL

*B3. B R K EEH +

KPI B3.2

The average training hours completed per
employee by gender and employee
category

*B3. Development and Training*

BA A 515 B3.2

RUERIMEEREI D EAES
SRS SlE 24

X

il
dt

*B3. B R NI *
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Subject areas, aspects,
general disclosures and
Key Performance
Indicators (KPIs)

Description

Section/Declaration

TRER -EBEE - —R
BERBRENER

18

L 8: 1) 2]

B4: Labour Standards

B4 AA T 1Z %

General Disclosure

*B4. Labour Standards*

—ARIEE *B4. B4 THRAE*

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review *B4. Labour Standards*
employment practices to avoid child and
forced labour

BASAE BUEIR B4 s EREOINER AR EET R *B4. 85 THRAE*
SR8 T

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate *B4. Labour Standards*

such practices when discovered

G AE IE1E B4 2

IR E RIS ERR B BT
BRENR 25

*B4. 85 THRAE *

123



JIYI HOLDINGS LIMITED $£— 28 H R A A
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4R

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
IRIE - HERERRS

Subject areas, aspects,
general disclosures and
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Indicators (KPIs) Description Section/Declaration
TEEHE - -EB@-: —K
BERBARENESZ 88 =3:0p - 1]

B5: Supply Chain Management

BS: i fE 58 E 12

General Disclosure

— MR EE

KPI'B5.1

Number of suppliers by geographical
region

*B5. Supply Chain
Management*

BASE AR M IE 1R B5.1

miEm eI D HEREE

*B5. B E IR *

KPI'B5.2

Description of practices relating to
engaging suppliers, number of suppliers
where the practices are being
implemented, how they are implemented
and monitored

*B5. Supply Chain
Management*

BASR 4R N8R B5.2

it AR MEEEES - MERT
BREMNNHEEEEE - UEERED
METT MBS TTR

*B5. fipEGEE IR *

KPI'B5.3

Description of practices used to identify
environmental and social risks along the
supply chain, and how they are
implemented and monitored

*B5. Supply Chain
Management*

FASAE M IE 1R B5.3

A BRI B AR IR Mt & B
BRI - ARMBRIMIT REERTTA

*B5. B E IR *

KPI B5.4

Description of practices used to promote
environmentally preferable products and
services when selecting suppliers, and how
they are implemented and monitored

*B5. Supply Chain
Management*

B IE1RB5.4

A REHERR(EESZ BRRE®D
NIRISEVED] - AR EBERITMERT
P

*B5. fi RS IR
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Subject areas, aspects,
general disclosures and
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Indicators (KPIs) Description Section/Declaration
TEEHE - -BH- — K
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B6: Product Responsibility

B6: EmE(T

General Disclosure

*B6. Product Responsibility*

—RRIKER

*B6. EmE(E*

KPI B6.1

Percentage of total products sold or
shipped subject to recalls for safety and
health reasons

*B6. Product Responsibility*

B B IE 1R B6.1

EEXDEXERARTEAR 2 REE
EhmERE B

*B6. Em BT *

KPI B6.2

Number of products and service related
complaints received and how they are
dealt with

*B6. Product Responsibility*

B 4E 515 B6.2

BN E m MRTS IR EE A K&
EIDAPZA

*B6. EmEE*

KPI B6.3

Description and practices relating to
observing and protecting intellectual
property rights

*B6. Product Responsibility*

FAS 4B M IE 15 B6.3

BB ST RS E R R RIE
{51

*B6. EmEIE*

KPI B6.4

Description of quality assurance process
and recall procedures

*B6. Product Responsibility*

B AN IE12B6.4

08 B e B AR N B m WAE T

*B6. EmET*

KPI B6.5

Description of consumer data protection
and privacy policies, how they are
implemented and monitored

*B6. Product Responsibility*

g 4E I51EB6.5

U BEEERRE RALBEER - ARk
HERTRERTA

*B6. EmE T *
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TEEHE - -EB@-: —K
BERBARENESZ 88 =3:0p - 1]

B7: Anti-corruption

B7: &S

General Disclosure

*B7. Anti-corruption*

— MR EE

*B7. RE)T*

KPIB7.1

Number of concluded legal cases
regarding corrupt practices brought
against the issuer or its employees during
the reporting period and the outcomes of
the case

BASE B IR IR BT 1

RBEHMAHRITAREEERLLD
BERENBESFRARMFVEE MaFrAE

KPIB7.2

Description of preventive measures and
whistle-blowing procedures, how they are
implemented and monitored

*B7. Anti-corruption*

R AE IE1ZB7.2

BT EE e R BB RE R - A REEH
TREER T E

*B7. RE)T*

KPIB7.3

Description of practices used to promote
environmentally preferable products and
services when selecting suppliers, and how
they are implemented and monitored

*B7. Anti-corruption*

R 4E IE1ERT7 .3

R EBREHERR (RS HRRE D
KERFEHER] - A RIBREAIT R EE S
A

*B7.REF*
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TEEHE - -BH- — K
WERBARENEEZ 88 =5:0p -1

B8: Community Investments

BS: (TR E

General Disclosure *B8. Community Investments*
—RRIKER *B8.ALIBIRE *
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. *B8. Community Investments*

education, environmental concerns, labour
needs, health, culture, sport)

T *B8. HLRITE *

FASE B IE 1R BS.1 ETEREE (HE  REEE
FoR o R2E - e BE)

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or *B8. Community Investments*
time) to the focus area

FASR 4B MIE1RBS.2 EEIBEMEBNER(NSENER) | B8 HRIRE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
JIYI HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

McMillanWoods

Professionalism at the forefront

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial
statements of Jiyi Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the
“Group”), set out on pages 140 to 396 which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of material
accounting policy information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the
matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section
of this report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit
opinion on these consolidated financial statements and
whether the consolidated financial statements have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

1.

Material uncertainties relating to the
going concern basis

As explained in Note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group incurred a net loss of
approximately RMB499 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, and, as of that date, the Group had
bank balances and cash amounted of approximately
RMB6 million, while its bank and other borrowings, and
convertibles loan notes totally amounted to
approximately RMB254 million (“Borrowings”), as
detailed in respective notes to the consolidated financial
statements, which were in defaulted or cross-defaulted
or contain early repayment on demand clauses as at 31
December 2023. The outstanding principal amounts and
related overdue interests of the Borrowings amounting
to approximately RMB254 million and RMB11 million,
respectively, become overdue and remained unsettled as
at the date of approval for issuance of the consolidated
financial statements.

Since May 2023 onwards, Zheshang Bank and other
several banks (the “Banks”), creditors of the Group's
major subsidiaries, including Guangdong Jiyi Household
Building Materials Chain Co. Ltd and Guangdong Jiyi
Xinya Decoration and Design Construction Company
Limited and other subsidiaries in the PRC (altogether
known as “Jiyi PRC Subsidiaries”), have individually
applied to the district courts and successfully be granted
from the court for enforcement orders on Jiyi PRC
Subsidiaries, to order Jiyi PRC Subsidiaries to realise all its
pledged assets, including but not limited to, the Group’s
property, plant and equipment, investment properties,
land use right in the PRC which recognised as right-of-
use assets and the property in the PRC held by Chief
Executive Officer located in the PRC, to be used for
repayment to the Banks the outstanding debts which
were guaranteed by the Group’s subsidiaries and key
managements, as detailed in respective notes to the
consolidated financial statements, with the principal
amount of approximately RMB150 million.

i MR 3 S S

BERTERZEE

HEEACEEARAEZEXRT
e E

iR MG mAME 2 i - HEZT
“=F+A=+—RHLFE B
B SEIRFENARKINOEET
mEEZA  ESEZRITEHRKIR
SHR/RAREEEL MERTRE
ffE R RAIMBRERZRE LN ABA
R¥254aBET([ER]) (FEEHRE
EBHREREME)  ZEERR_Z
T=FFZH=T—HEEHKER
NGB EH AR ERKRAEFTIERK ©
BRZREELRE RB@EBRHFED
AMABARE24BEBTRARE 11
BB CaBRERESES ISR
REMZBINIRES o

—To=FRAE BEREEEN
Bor(BRERE—REEMEHA
RAR BERE—EHREHR TR
BRAR) RE M B EQR (G
[E—FPBENBAR ] 2 EEAMER
TREMBFIRT(TRIT]) ED AR
b 77 AR B aR XL K D 1S AR H & —
FEMBRBMMTS L& —F
BB ARSEREMEDENEE -
BREETRRY BEXEEZYE BE
NEfE - REYME CHEAREHE
BEZTE T ERERITRARR
BOURTBEZYE - BRERERTT
B EEENBARLTIEZEEEE
RZACHRB/ARBISOBSETZA
BES(FBEHREEMBHRREN
i) e
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (continued)

130

Material uncertainties relating to the
going concern basis (Continued)

Apart from the overdue Banks Borrowings, a winding-up
petition was filed by E B &K ER TE E AR 2 A
(Qingdao Rongshikaiyuan Trading Company Limited), the
holder of the Company’s convertible loan notes, with the
overdue principal amount of approximately RMB41.6
million, the High Court of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region (the “High Court of Hong Kong”)
for the winding-up of the Company under the provision
of the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous
Provisions) Ordinance (Chapter 32 of the Laws of Hong
Kong). For updates and details, please refer to the
Company's announcement dated 3 May 2024
accordingly.

Furthermore, Jiyi PRC Subsidiaries was indebted to (i) its
former employees; (ii) trade creditors and constructors
for overdue (i) salary payment and social insurance
obligation; and (ii) several overdue project and material
costs in total amounts of approximately RMB5.60 million
and RMB4.7 million, respectively. In addition to above,
Jiyi PRC Subsidiaries was indebted to local tax authority
in a total amount of approximately RMB12.9 million, as
further detailed in respective note under “Litigation” to
the consolidated financial statements. The
aforementioned outstanding amounts as well as relevant
potential litigation fees to be borne by the Group,
remained unsettled as at the date of approval of these
consolidated financial statements.

EBERTIERZEE 5

HEEEKEERERACELRT
BEM @)

BRI EIRITERON - BEARIATERE
HEBRBEATSREtHATHEARR
ARIEREBFITRESEERE(E
BEmEERDIRLERER  RE(A
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ENEBI)ZHE aRASSEOA
AR 6BET EXHEARE
B-EHAETBARFR &2
Bl EQRRAHA_ZT_NFRA=
HZRE -

BEoN - E— R BB A RIR T () EAT
EE (VESERAREZERBER
Mo e kiteRRET: Ki)2IE
BHARNIERMEER  B28D
AABARES0EETRARKLT
BB BRLEMI E—FBEMBEA
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (continued)

Material uncertainties relating to the
going concern basis (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had cash and cash
equivalents of approximately RMB6 million which is
insufficient to fully repay the Borrowings and outstanding
amounts as above-mentioned, regardless the potential
financial impact arising from the unauthorised guarantee
arrangements as further elaborate in second matter for
the basis of disclaimer of opinion below. These factors,
along with other matters as described in Note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements, indicate the existence
of multiple uncertainties that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

The directors have been undertaking certain measures to
improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position,
which are set out in Note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements. The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of
which is dependent on the outcomes of these measures,
which are inherently uncertain and subject to multiple
uncertainties, including (i) whether the Group is able to
implement its cost control measures to attain positive
cash flows from operations; (ii) whether the Group is able
to successfully negotiate with the Banks, other lenders,
and other creditors to restructure and/or refinance the
Borrowings and outstanding debts, and secure necessary
credit facilities to provide additional funds to meet the
Group's working capital and financial requirements in
the near future; and (iii) whether the Company is able to
successfully implement alternative capital raising
initiatives to strengthen the capital base of the Group.

i MR 3 S S

EBERTIERZEE (#)

HEFEKEERERACEART
BEM®)

R-_E-_=F+-A=+—H ' &%
BErsReRBE2FEMHNRARKES
BEL TRUZBEELAERK
KEERE  BTEERBEERZ
THMEEXACBEVBEE  S& T
NEEARTERZEEFZ2HELE
— il - ZERRUARLE B R
W2 2 M EIBRA - FES
BIHEEZ Algeey S5EHE
BreE e NEES KRR -

EXZHAERDETHEREARZES
BznBEe MMBARR  ZFEE
BN A M B MR T2 - A MR
RAFERLE RERRSG - RARM
BURMZFHE R ER - MxFEE
REBEFTHEY  YREZETHETE
AEZ&E B ()EXEELE
AR ARSI - (R EhEFIER
¢ (i) BEEELKINMEIRTT -
HERAREMEEAETHRE
B K, S BREEREAREES
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Bd MEEREBIHcZ2EES N
EF R AR (i) BEARBEEKY
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (continued)

132

Material uncertainties relating to the
going concern basis (Continued)

However, in view of the extent of the inherent
uncertainty relating to aforementioned measures to be
undertaken by the directors to support the going concern
of the Group, we have not been able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to satisfy ourselves about the
appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements.

Should the Group be unable to continue to operate as a
going concern, adjustments would have to be made to
write down the carrying values of assets, to provide for
further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-
current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets
and current liabilities respectively. The effects of these
adjustments have not been reflected in these
consolidated financial statements and we were unable to
determine whether such adjustments might have been
found necessary.

EBERTIERZEE 5
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (continued)

2.

Unauthorised guarantee arrangements

During the course of our audit, we identified certain legal
claims were filed against Jiyi PRC Subsidiaries and certain
existing and former key management of the Jiyi PRC
Subsidiaries, including Ms. Hou Wei (the “Key
Management”), the Chairlady and executive director of
the Company and Jiyi PRC Subsidiaries. These legal claims
were made against the Key Management solely arose
from the default on principal and interest payments of
several loans as detailed in respective note under
“Litigation” to the consolidated financial statements.
These loans were arranged between the Key
Management and financial institutions in favour of
financial guarantees provided by Jiyi PRC Subsidiaries. It
has also come to our attention that the board of directors
did not aware of and approve these financial guarantee
arrangements. Accordingly, the above-mentioned
guarantee arrangements were considered as
unauthorised transactions (the “Unauthorised
Transactions”).

The Unauthorised Transactions and related litigations
may have significant financial implications, including
potential liabilities and contingent liabilities, which have
not been assessed and disclosed in the consolidated
financial statements. As a result, we were unable to
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the nature and extent of the Unauthorised Transactions
as well as their impact on the consolidated financial
statements. Consequently, we are unable to determine
whether any adjustments might have been necessary in
respect of the consolidated financial statements of the
Group as at 31 December 2023.

i MR 3 S S

EBERTIERZEE (#)
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Continved) #EERTRER ZEZE 4)

2. Unauthorised guarantee arrangements 2. REBEZERZHE®

(Continued)

During the course of our audit, we planned our fEEBES .:.—erEMEHXLL,\
procedures to obtain audit evidence in respect of the N Eﬁ}}*{%ﬁ% ETRIBECE
above loan agreements and related guarantee Fo N EERBEESEEHARE
agreements. However, we were unable to obtain B ETE TF INEENITYERITZ
sufficient and appropriate audit evidence nor practicable PREF WnREFHAETEN
alternative procedures that we could perform to satisfy MESESZEZ S L ERDSEE
ourselves to the completeness and accuracy of the BAEREH T RERE B
information and documents related to the loan o ARE BHEESAMIEHRET
agreements and guarantee agreements presented to us BEREER 2 ERERTBRE 2EK -

for the purpose of our audit, and the accuracy and
completeness of the disclosures in the Group's
consolidated financial statements.

We have communicated with the audit committee and EEPHEERETE SR EEERE
board of directors and requested the Company to ERE AR B HAELZ E @B
establish an independent investigation committee or to FEC BV EEEEY Ll ESEE
engage a third-party independent professional advisor to TS - BHEARFEIER  BILH
investigate the above matters. Up to the approval date of BEEEERHAKI - Atk » BEEZE
this report, the independent investigation committee has ZERIXER S 2 28015 -

not been established. As a result, we were unable to
verify the complete details of the Unauthorised
Transactions.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (continued)

3.

Compliance with HKFRSs and applicable
laws and regulations

As disclosed in note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements, the financial statements of the Group have
been prepared by the directors of the Company under
the circumstances of limited financial information
concerning the complete set of records of the
Unauthorised Transactions. The Board believed it was not
practicable to ascertain the completeness and accuracy
of the information and documents related of the
Unauthorised Transactions for inclusion in the financial
statements due to lack of relevant internal control on
governing such Unauthorised Transactions.

In addition, as mentioned in both “1. Material
uncertainties relating to the going concern basis” and “2.
Unauthorised guarantee arrangements”, the matters,
including but not limit to the pending litigation with
detailed background and potential financial impact,
described therein would fall into the disclosure
requirement in due course and any departure from the
disclosure requirement also caused the Board to believe it
was unable to assert that the financial statements
complied with HKFRSs, or that the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and the Hong Kong Listing Rules had been complied
with.

i MR 3 S S

EBERTIERZEE (#)

BIERBMBHRELERNRER
EEER

WEREMBRRME2ATE - B&
BeMismikd EAREFEER
REBR D < BECHBBAIUKE
HERZBEAT RS - EFGHE
HRRZEEARERER S ZHEBEA
BRI ERERRERERIZSBH
ZER R X 2 TR R ERE N A
AMBHRL T ER AT -

BESN - AT BB EER A E
APHEEM | R [2. R EE 2 BRE
BE] Pt - R BRENRNAGFH
BREBCEMBRE 2 RRFD &%
EFERKREEEFRNTERERT
MAERRBEREREZBERTERNE
ERR/EEIHEMBHRRTAE
BHMBHRELED  HEETEERA
PR FE EMRAZ HERTE ©
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (continued)

3.

136

Compliance with HKFRSs and applicable
laws and regulations (Continued)

Accordingly, the notes to the financial statements do not
contain the statement of compliance with HKFRSs and
these disclosure requirements. This constitutes a non-
compliance with the relevant disclosure requirements to
state such compliance in the financial statements. As
such, we have not been able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to satisfy ourselves as to
whether there was non-compliance with applicable laws
and regulations by the Company and its subsidiaries and
hence about the completeness of any actual or
contingent liabilities in the financial statements. There
were no practicable alternative procedures that we could
perform to satisfy ourselves as to whether there existed
unrecorded provisions or undisclosed contingent liabilities
and hence whether there were material misstatements of
the financial statements due to non-compliance with
laws and regulations.

Any adjustments found to be necessary may have a
consequential significant effect on the net liabilities or
net assets of the Group as at 31 December 2023 and of
the result and other comprehensive income or loss and
cash flows of the Group for the years then ended and
the related disclosures thereof in the financial
statements.

EBERTIERZEE 5

3.

BIEBMBHRELERNRER
REER )

At - MBEHRRMERBRSETES
MBEREERNNZEREREBHR
ERRTETEMBHRRPHAET
BRAZHEBRESRE - Bt - HFE
FEBRNEERTER UIE
M BERAIREMBARRERFETD
BT ERERIOER BN AR
BHRRADEFMNERLXABBE I TE
- BFAUBERIITZERER -
KEEREBFERCTER EHE IR
BREZHAREE  HmiEEMBRER
RERTETERELAMFEEARE
# e

EpEFHELATEY BERENR-
E_=F+-_A=+—RHZzAaBE*HE
SEEFRE EEEEEZALFE
ZEEREMEEBREMAESZRAR
MBHRERP2HARBEELEATE -
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (continued)

3.

Compliance with HKFRSs and applicable
laws and regulations (Continued)

Up to the date of approval of the consolidated financial
statements, the Group’s measures, if any, described
above have not yet been completed. There were material
uncertainties on the Group’s ability to execute the future
plan. In view of the significance of the extent of the
uncertainty relating to the ongoing availability of finance
to the Group, we disclaim our opinion in respect of year
ended 31 December 2023. Should the Group fail to
achieve all of the above-mentioned measures on a timely
basis, it may not be able to continue as a going concern,
and adjustments would have to be made to write down
the carrying values of the Group’s assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities
which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets
and non-current liabilities to current assets and current
liabilities respectively. The effects of these adjustments
have not been reflected in the consolidated financial
statements.

i MR 3 S S

EBERTIERZEE (#)

BIERBMBHRELERNRER
EEER @)

HEMEGREMKHRE2E  EXE
ZEMBEE(INE)HRTK - BE
E#HITARKTE 2B N FHEEARTE
ElE - ZERE BEEERFEESHE
ERZTHEEREZEEN  BF
T E—T_=F+=-_A=+—8H
LEFEBRRER - BEETH
W ERER Rl FT A fE e - Al A] pe A X 4
BIREELSE AL MBAEAETHE.
% BESEEECEREEBERBRLELR
AW EISEE - BRIREEL AR HA
BERE YRERBEERIERD
BESRETSEARBDEERRH
BE - ZERABZEEWRRBEL
B BREF o
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group'’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors of the Company in

discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA
and to issue an auditor’s report. However, because of the
matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section
of our report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit
opinion on these consolidated financial statements. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code"”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code.

McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Wong Ka Bo, Jimmy

Practising Certificate Number: PO7560
24/F, Siu On Centre,

188 Lockhart Road, Wanchai,

Hong Kong

28 June 2024

i MR 3 S S

BB ET RS W WRAE
HEE

BANETRRESZEGFIMASHMNE
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BABEEREHEERER  RYEE
LAHPHHRRERFABREBKE - R
BEEGEAGN(EXGFTEBETAD
(I=FR1D) - RFVBILNAEE - YERIET
AT T EMBREE -

RE(BB)EFHMEERERAA
-]

=]

EHXEHE

HEEFEEZRHSE - PO7560
BE

BT ERTTIE 188 5%
KR L2471

—ZE-mEXRA=-+NAH

139



JIYI HOLDINGS LIMITED $£— =8 H R A T

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 £ iR

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
GoEaRHEMEEKRER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &#Z - =+ _-_A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—EC=HF T F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
KtaE AR¥FIiT ARBTF T
Revenue WA 5 629,482 559,763
Cost of sales SHER AN (628,865) (529,444)
Gross profit EH 617 30,319
Other income HaUA 7 103 7,708
Other (losses)/income, net Hib (FBX), WS F5HE 8 (15,831) 2,945
Distribution and selling expenses DiH M EER S (1,565) (5,266)
Administrative expenses TR (15,640) (15,808)
Provision for impairment losses under FEEf{ZEEEBER T2
expected credit loss model, net BEBERE  F8 10 (365,882) (33,180)
Provision for impairment loss on a2 BEBERE
goodwiill (52,033) (1,175)
Provision for litigation compensation — FFFABSERN AR E
and legal expenses EES 27(a) (28,028) -
Share-based payment expenses D AER 2 NRFES 12 — (11,903)
Finance costs UpCID®N 9 (9,721) (13,439)
Loss before tax BREBLATEE (487,980) (39,799)
Income tax expense FIS i 11 (10,600) (117)
Loss for the year FAEE (498,580) (39,916)
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mEREkEMEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z==—Z ==+ =-A=+—HILtFE

2023 2022
—E-=HF —E-F
NOTES RMB'000 RMB’000
Hist AR¥FT AR®FT
Other comprehensive income: EmEmEma
Item that will not be reclassified to BT EEN S EE R
profit or loss: ZIEH :
Gain on revaluation upon transfer of B ¥ « BE & REN
property, plant and equipment and REREEEERE
right-of-use assets to investment &;ﬁ MR 2 EG U
properties, net of related income tax - IR AERAPT 1SR - 399
Item that maybe reclassified HZAJE B D HEE
subsequently to profit or loss: BmIHE -
Exchange differences arising on MEBINEFIEEZ
translation of foreign operations MEH =58 (23,295) 6,452
Other comprehensive income for the ~ FEREM 2 U
year, net of income tax HERFTISH (23,295) 6,851
Total comprehensive loss for the year & A2 EIEEFE (521,875) (33,065)
(Loss)/profit for the year AT ZAEREA
attributable to: (&518), &7 :
— Owners of the Company — RRQRHEE A (498,588) (39,761)
— Non-controlling interests — FERER 8 (155)
(498,580) (39,916)
Total comprehensive loss for the year A RN & FEMGEFEAZE
attributable to: E iR -
— Owners of the Company — RRQFHEA A (521,883) (32,910)
— Non-controlling interests — JEEAR MR 8 (155)
(521,875) (33,065)
(Restated)
(% E=51)
Loss per share attributable to owners QA R)EA AEILHFA
of the Company for the year BREE 15
— Basic (RMB cents per share) — EXRANR%S) (189.03) (17.88)
— Diluted (RMB cents per share) — s (ARKS) (189.03) (17.88)
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e R

At31December2023 R—ZE_=F+—-A=+—H

2023 2022
—EC=HF T F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
KtaE AR¥FIiT ARETFT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% - BE L& 16 17,863 19,705
Right-of-use assets FREEE 17 7,147 7,067
Investment properties B 18 47,420 61,520
Goodwill Bl 19 - 52,033
Prepayment for acquisition of WHER B W% 2 Faft
investment properties KIE 23(d) 33,977 33,977
Financial assets at fair value through R AFEFAEBZRZ
profit or loss TREE 20 1,178 1,178
Deferred tax assets RIEFRTEE = 32 - 10,633
107,585 186,113
Current assets REEE
Inventories T8 21 1,448 1,218
Amounts due from related parties ek BE RS 5 k0B 26 - 3,945
Trade and other receivables and B 5 & E MUK
prepayments LA R TR A< 5008 23 499,117 795,437
Contract assets BHIEE 22 288,270 364,929
Restricted cash PR #IER & 24 103 182
Bank balances and cash RITEBRNIRS 25 5,642 7,017
794,580 1,172,728
Total assets EEHAE 902,165 1,358,841
Current liabilities wEARE
Trade and other payables B 5 KA ERT FRIE 27 134,402 120,246
Bank borrowings RITIEK 28 254,325 232,038
Other borrowings E &R 28 2,760 3,360
Lease liabilities HESE 31 269 41
Convertible loan notes AR E KRR 29 47,430 44,014
Contract liabilities EHEE 30 993 3,483
Provision for litigation and legal FATERERERES
expenses 27() 28,028 -
Amount due to related parties JE A~ BR S 75 k1B 26 207 -
Income tax payables JESFRAE AR 28,645 28,678
497,059 431,860
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At 31December 2023 NZZE-—=4+=-A=+—H

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
NOTES RMB'000 RMB'000

Wt et AREFT ARETT

Net current assets REEERE 297,521 740,868

Total assets less current liabilities #EERGBHERE 405,106 926,981

Non-current liabilities FEREBEME

Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIBBE 32 21,877 21,877
21,877 21,877

Net assets BEEFE 383,229 905,104

Capital and reserves R R #

Share capital A& A 33 2,390 112,112

Reserves EE 380,108 792,269

Equity attributable to owners of  AQTFEE AEIERER

the Company 382,498 904,381
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR A 731 723
Total equity RERBE 383,229 905,104

The consolidated financial statements on pages 140 to 396 £ 140E 396 B WG A M BERED N — =
were approved and authorised for issue by the board of —pO&E XA -+ /\BEEESH E L EET

directors on 28 June 2024 and are signed on its behalf by: o WHTIESKRERESE
Ms. Hou Wei Mr. Liu Xianxiu
3 ¥rdmn AEFEE
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
Ex Ex
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &#Z - =+ _-_A=+—HILFE

Contingent ~ Convertible Property Share-based Non-
Share Share consideration  loan notes Other revaluation ~Translation  payments ~ Statutory Retained controlling Total
capital  premium reserve equity reserve  reserve reserve reserve reserve  reserves profits Total  interests equity
TERER WRhA
g FhEE NEER Ui

Ba B RRER B RiGR ik EXRR BE ERE REE Bt FEREE  HEEE
RVBOO  AMBOD  AMBODD  RMBOOO  RMBOD  RMBODD  AMBOD  RWBOOO  RVBOMD  RMBODD  AVBODD  RMBOO  RMBOOD
ARETE ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETZ ARETZ ARETT ARETT ARETZ ARETT ARETT ARETZ ARETR

(Note a) (Note b) (Note ¢)
(ita) (ko) (Hiikc)

At1 January 2023 AZE-=%-f-A 12112 674845+ = = (54,850 29,855 8,803* 11,903¢ 18,956* 102,757 904,381 3 905,104
Loss for the year ERg = = = = = - - - - (498588)  (498,588) 8 (498580)
Other comprehensieincome ~~ ERE2ENE

for the year - - - - - - (23.29) - - - (23.295) - (23.295)
Total omprehensieincome ~~ ERZENEEE

for the year - - - - - - (23.295) - - (498588  (521,883) 8 (21875
Shares merger (Vote 36) Rivadit0) (109722) 10972 - - - - - - - - - - -
Lapse of share aptions (Mote 34) BRI - - - B - - = - B - - - -
At31 December 2023 WIZIZE

t-A=t-8 2390 784567¢ - - (54,850F 29,855 (14492 11,903¢ 18956* (395,831 382,498 731 383229

At 1 January 2022 153 483308 = 18* (54,8500 29,456 2351* 2,735* 17892¢ 140847 697,000 8718 697,878
Profit for the year - - - - - - - - - (39.761) (39,761) (155) (39.916)
Other comprehensieincome ~ EAEHRENE

for the year - - - - - 399 6,45 - - - 6,851 - 6,851
Total comprehensieincome.~ ERAENREE

for the year - - - - - 399 6,45 - - (39.761) (32910) (155) (33,065)
Issue of shares (Note 33) R HES) 3401 174412 - - - - - - B - 781 - 207813
Bercise of share optons T3

(Note 33) 3,488 17,105 - - - - - - - - 20,593 - 20,593
Converson of convertleloan TR

Totes (Vote 29) (K229 - - - (18) - - - - - - (18) = (18)
Lapse of share options (Vote 34 BRI (7334) - - - - - - - 2739) - 2735 - - -
Recogniton of equitysetted  BEMRAZHMRAE

share-based payments =4 PATE N

(Note 34 527 - = = = - - - 1w - - 1w - 1m
Tandertostatvoryresene  BAZEREE(HT)

(Note) - - - - - - - - 1,064 1,064) - - -
At31 December 202 i

tZA=t+-H 112112 674,845 = = (54,850 29,855 8,803 11,903 18956* 102,757 904,381 3 905,104

@ These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  * ZEEERE BRGSMBHRRRANEGS HEE
approximately RMB380,108,000 (2022: RMB792,269,000) in the #ANR#380,108,000 (=T ==& AR¥

consolidated statement of financial position. 792,269,000 7T) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &2 —ZE - =4+ -"A=1T—HILFE

Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Island (2009 Revision), the
share premium of the Company may be applied for payment of
distributions or dividends to shareholders provided that immediately
following the date on which the distribution or dividend is proposed to
be paid and the Company is able to pay debts as they fall due in the

ordinary course of business.

Other reserves

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, other reserves mainly comprise (i)
the capital injection from its equity holders of the Company and net
accumulative effect of deemed distributions and contributions between
the Company and its equity holders of the Company since 2014, of
approximately RMB91,523,000 in total, and offsetting (ii) the aggregate
deemed cost of the consideration amounting to RMB145,450,000 paid
to the Company for the issuance of 9,999 new shares to the
shareholders upon the completion of the Reorganisation as detailed in

the Company’s annual report for the year ended 31 December 2015.

According to the relevant rules and regulations in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC"), each of the Company’s PRC subsidiaries shall
transfer 10% of their net income after tax, based on the subsidiary’s
PRC statutory accounts, as statutory reserves, until the balance reaches
50% of the respective subsidiary’s registered capital. Further
appropriations can be made at the directors’ discretion. The statutory
reserves can be used to offset any accumulated losses or convert into

paid-up capital of the respective subsidiary.

Bt (8

BEREHEARE(ZTTNFEAR) AR
AMERMEE R ARABRR N2 IKHAE - 8
SRER N D IKEEE Z AR - AR BIZHERES
KB BEBBIZD A E BN E

b-)

HAtiFE

RZEZ=FR-ZFT-__F+=-A=+—H H
o fFEEEZ BHE() T —WFARER A=
BEANEERARTERARR B ERTAE A ZERIE
APREEEENEAFEESGHENDARE
91,523,000 7T + I K $ (i) 7 & 4 52 A 14 [ AR R
2£179,999 IRFTAR 12 1 X4 F AN R BRI B MERE
KA A £ AR ¥ 145,450,000 7T (F R AR A&
E_T—RF+-A=1+—BLEFENFR) -

RIBREAREME ([ E )z 8RR R ROE
B ARBEZ BHENERBABBERTIZ K
AFBE(BEMNBRARAZHBEIEERBER/H) Z
10% HEERE EEFRBRERRNE AT
HMERZ50% B - ERAWISIELE—F
DB o ETER R AR A BB R R 2 ER
ZETBEREBRSHARER -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FRRERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &#Z - =+ _-_A=+—HILFE
2023 2022
—E-=HF —E-F
NOTES RMB'000 RMB’000
Hiat AR¥FiT AREFIT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KESEE)
Loss before tax BrEi R E A (487,980) (39,799)
Adjustments for: AT RIEEL AR
Depreciation of property, ME - BEREETE
plant and equipment 12 1,999 5,028
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEENE 12 150 314
Reversal of write-down WORTF & 5 Bl
of inventories 12 - (1,666)
Finance costs BT A AN 9 9,721 13,439
Provision for impairment losses under  JBHf{z EEIEEAIE
expected credit loss model, net ZBEEERE  FE 10 365,882 33,180
Impairment loss on Goodwill B2 REBE 52,033 1,175
Interest income FEWA 7 = (6,479)
Loss from changes in fair value of WEMEANFEESHZ
investment properties B 8 14,100 1,766
Write-off of property, plant and WEEZE - BRE R &iE
equipment 8 = =
Gain on modification of convertible BRI R EREEZ
loan notes Uz 8 - -
Gain on disposal of property, HEYZE - BE R&E
plant and equipment pall & 8 = —
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB ARz s 8 - -
Share-based payment expenses LARR 15 BB 2 ST 3R
< 12 - 11,903
Operating cash flows before LEESFHF KL
movements in working capital REmE (44,095) 18,861
Decrease/(Increase) in inventories FEERL,/(3Em) (230) 4,728
Increase in trade and B 5 & H b FERIE
other receivables & n (25,924) (108,668)
Decrease/(increase) in contract assets & &I&ERD (3 0) 60,059 (19,427)
Increase in trade and bills payables and & 5 K =¥ fE {4 2008
other payables LA K B Ath & 1~ 5018
380 14,099 22,637
(Decrease)/increase in contract AHBRECRD), /8
liabilities (4,476) 1,907
Cash used in operations SERTAR S (567) (79,962)
Income tax paid ERFTEH - -
NET CASH USED IN RETBFAREFR
OPERATING ACTIVITIES (567) (79,962)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &2 —ZE - =4+ -"A=1T—HILFE

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
NOTES RMB'000 RMB'000

Wt et AREFT ARETT

INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETE
Purchase of property, plant and BEYXE  WE R&E

equipment - -
Interest received EF A 7 11 260
NET CASH GENERATED FROM REZHRERESFE

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 11 260
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEE
Proceeds from bank and other RITREMERE

borrowings I8 - 10,043
Net proceeds from placing of shares  BZ&M&1D 2 FT1SRUB

il = 207,813

Net proceeds from exercising of share ~ 1T{F &I 2 FT15 508

options FEE - 20,593
Repayment of bank and other BRIRIT R E A S

borrowings (577) (178,408)
Interest paid for bank borrowings RITEREFIE (26) (4,969)
Interest paid for convertible loan notes AI#& B EZEE

M E = (428)

Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEAE

— principal portion — ReED (195) (195)

NET CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED ®&EE& (FiA)
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES A8 & REE (798) 54,449

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH B RESZEY
EQUIVALENTS WA EEE (1,354) (25,253)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R—A—BzEER

AT 1 JANUARY HeLEEY 7,017 31,958
Effect of foreign exchange rate INETERE B2
changes (21) 312

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS Rt+t-—B=+—H2Z8H
AT 31 DECEMBER, represented by £REEZEY @ KU
bank balances and cash RTEBREEREERT 5,642 7,017
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ZE M IEEHRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z= =2 ==F+=-A=+—HILFE

2.1

148

GENERAL

Jiyi Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with
limited liability under the Companies Law (as revised) of
the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The controlling
shareholder of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred as to the “Group”) is Xinling
Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands (“BVI”) which is wholly-owned by Ms. Hou Wei.
The address of the Company’s registered office is to
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, P.O. Box 1350, Grand
Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands and the address of
its principal place of business is unit 912, 9/F, Tai Yau
Building, 181 Johnston Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries
are set out in Note 41.

The functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong
dollars (“"HK$"”) while the consolidated financial
statements of the Group are presented in Renminbi
(“RMB") to enable the shareholders of the Company to
have a more accurate picture of the Group’s financial
position and performance.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2023 have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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2.2 GOING CONCERN BASIS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
incurred a net loss of approximately RMB498.6 million.
As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s net current assets
were approximately RMB297.5 million and the Group'’s
current liabilities (including current liabilities that are in
default or cross-default or contain early repayment on
demand clauses) were approximately RMB497.1 million.

In addition, as of 31 December 2023, certain bank
borrowings of the Group in the amount of approximately
RMB154.3 million were not repaid in accordance with
the scheduled repayment dates. Accordingly, as of 31
December 2023, bank and other borrowings in the
aggregate principal amount of approximately RMB154.3
million were in default or cross-default. Subsequent to
31 December 2023, certain other bank and other
borrowings of the Group have not been repaid in
accordance with the scheduled repayment dates.

In addition, as disclosed in EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD in this Report, on 12 June 2023, a winding-up
petition (the “Petition”) was filed by & &4t TEE
A BB 2 7] (Qingdao Rongshikaiyuan Trading Company
Limited*) (the “Petitioner”) with the High Court of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (the “High
Court of Hong Kong”) for the winding-up of the
Company under the provision of the Companies
(Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance
(Chapter 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The Petitioner’s
ultimate beneficial owner is an individual named Zhang
Zongai (IRFE). A copy of the winding-up petition was
delivered by the Petitioner to the Company’s office on 5
July 2023. The Petition is in relation to the Petitioner’s
claim for the Outstanding Convertible Bonds in the
principal amount of HK$41,555,555.00 that had become
mature on 31 August 2022. As at 12 June 2023, the
Company is allegedly indebted to the Petitioner in the
aggregate sum of HK$57,482,397.55, with
HK$41,555,555.00 being the outstanding principal
under the Bond and HK$15,926,842.55 being the
accrued interest thereunder.
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2.2 GOING CONCERN BASIS (continued) 22 HEKEREE )
ZEEHXBERRARENERNTE
EE - ATREH AR BERELE 26
BREKRRH - EREHABR - A2
AEF(EX)DEEERAKER
Kn#hEeMREARAEE R AH
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EIARERBEREN

These events or circumstances indicate existing material
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. In view of
the circumstances, the directors of the Company (the
“Directors”) have carefully considered the future liquidity
and performance of the Group and the sources of
financing available to the Group. The Group has
formulated the following plans and measures to reduce
liquidity pressure:

150

The Company has been actively evaluating the
current financial and operating conditions with a
view to formulating a comprehensive solution that
respects the rights of all stakeholders and is capable
of unlocking the intrinsic value of the Group’s
business and assets as the domestic business
environment gradually recovers. Accordingly, the
Company has been communicating and
constructively engaging with certain holders of
senior notes and other debt issued by the Group
and its financial advisers and legal advisers to
facilitate the formulation of a mutually agreed debt
restructuring proposal for the Group. As of the date
of authorized publication of the consolidated
financial statements, no agreement has been
reached;

The Group will continue to accelerate the
transformation and upgrading of its business and
the collection of pre-sale payment and other
receivables;

The Group will continue to seek suitable
opportunities to dispose of corporate fixed assets
and investment properties to generate additional
cash inflows; and
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2.2 GOING CONCERN BASIS (continued)

o The Group has been taking measures to control
administrative costs and avoid unnecessary capital
expenditure in order to maintain liquidity. The
Group will also actively evaluate additional
measures to further reduce non-essential
expenditure.

The management is of the view that the above winding
up petition is made by the creditors to facilitate the
process of negotiation with the Group on a
comprehensive debt extension proposal. In fact, the
Group has been in active communication and
constructive dialogue with the bondholders’ group and
its financial advisers in order to facilitate the formulation
of a practicable debt extension proposal for the Group's
offshore debts as soon as possible. The Directors believe
that the Group will be able to reach agreement with the
creditors of the Group's existing borrowings in respect of
debt restructuring. The Directors have considered the
cash flow projections of the Group prepared by the
management for a period of not less than 12 months
from the end of the Reporting Period. The Directors are
of the opinion that, in view of the above plans and
measures, the Group will have sufficient working capital
for the foreseeable future to finance its operations and
to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall
due as agreed with its creditors. Accordingly, they are
satisfied that the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2023 have been properly
prepared on a going concern basis.
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2.2

152

GOING CONCERN BASIS (continued)

Notwithstanding the above, there remains a material
uncertainty as to whether the Group will be able to
realize the above plans and measures. The Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern will depend on the
following:

(@ Its debts, including bank and other borrowings and
senior notes, would be successfully extended;

(b)  Successful and timely implementation of plans to
accelerate the pre-sale and sale of properties under
development and completed properties, accelerate
the collection of outstanding sales proceeds, control
costs and control capital expenditure to generate
sufficient net cash inflows; and

(©)  Successful sale of assets when required.

If the Group were unable to continue as a going concern,
adjustments may be necessary to write down the carrying
amount of assets to their net recoverable value, to
provide for any further liabilities that may arise and to
reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as
current assets and current liabilities respectively. The
effect of these adjustments has not been reflected in the
Group's consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2023.
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2.3 APPLICATION OF NEW AND

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for
the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the
annual period beginning on 1 January 2023 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1 and  Disclosure of Accounting
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a

Single Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform
— Pillar Two Model Rules
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

The application of the amendment to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group'’s
financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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2.3 APPLICATION OF NEW AND 23 ERAMAIBE BN B REER
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG ((EEUBHREEDN])RE
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS ST (&)

(“HKFRSs") (continued)
New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue CEMGENRERZHITE S
but not yet effective MR EE R R EERTAR
The Group has not early applied the following new and REBE M AKRREEEATY S EME W
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are REM 2] EBMGHRELEL R E
not yet effective: EHENE
Effective for annual Rz &R
periods beginning RMEES
Standard Subject on or after b3 £ BREN
Amendmentsto  Classification of Liabilities as Current 1 January 2024 ERe AN PEARARDR —E-mE
HKAS 1 or Non-current ZIEFT e —-A-A
Amendmentsto  Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 1 January 2024 EAQEN  WEZEMERD 2 ZT-RF
HKAS 1 ("2022 Revision”) ZET aE(=2==& —A-A
TR ])
Amendmentsto  Lease Liability in a Sales and Leaseback 1 January 2024 BAMERE EREEMNHERE —T-MF
HKFRS 16 £816 21B7] o =
Amendmentsto  Sale or Contribution of Assets between  To be determined BEUREED KREZHEBENE BT
HKFRS 10 and an Investor and its Associate or Joint 10REBEF FaEbENEE
HKAS 28 Venture %828 2 {E7] HEHTE
Hong Kong Presentation of Financial Statements 1 January 2024 BERES MBRENEN — ZTZmE
Interpretation 5 — Classification by the Borrower of a (&831) ERAHEE —A-B
(Revised) Term Loan that Contains a Repayment RENERERN
on Demand Clause EHERNAE
Amendmentsto  Supplier Finance Arrangements 1 January 2024 EBSHENTR HREERERH —EomE
HKAS 7 and BBIBRE —A-AR
HKFRS 7 R 7 2 83T
Amendmentsto  Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025 EAQEN2 2 Remiak —E-RE
HKAS 21 (] —A-H
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2.3 APPLICATION OF NEW AND

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue
but not yet effective (Continued)

The directors of the Company anticipate that, the
application of the new and amendments to HKFRSs will
have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group in the foreseeable future.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs, which includes all
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing
Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain
properties and financial instruments that are measured at
fair values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the asset
or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in
HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties
which are transacted at fair value and a valuation
technique that unobservable inputs is to be used to
measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation
technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition the
results of the valuation technique equals the transaction
price.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety,
which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

These consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
for the end of each reporting period. A subsidiary is an
entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the
investee (l.e., existing rights that give the Group the
current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the
date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

o the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

o rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

o The Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until
the date that such control ceases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interest having a deficit balance. All intra-group
transactions, balances, income and expenses are

eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described in the accounting policy for subsidiaries below.

Changes in the Group’'s ownership interests in
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control
over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity

transactions.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit
or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any investment retained
and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and
any non-controlling interests. The Group's share of
components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to the consolidated
income statement or retained profits, as appropriate, on
the same basis as would be required if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations and goodwiill

Effective from 1 January 2020, the Group can elect to
apply an optional concentration test, on a transaction-by-
transaction basis, that permits a simplified assessment of
whether an acquired set of activities and assets is not a
business. The concentration test is met if substantially all
of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is
concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of
similar identifiable assets. The gross assets under
assessment exclude cash and cash equivalents, deferred
tax assets, and goodwill resulting from the effects of
deferred tax liabilities. If the concentration test is met,
the set of activities and assets is determined not to be a
business and no further assessment is needed.

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination,
the Group elects whether to measure non-controlling
interests that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net
assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or at the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition-related
costs are expensed as incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill
(Continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of
the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability
that is a financial instrument and within the scope of
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments, is measured at fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss in
accordance with HKFRS 9. Other contingent
consideration that is not within the scope of HKFRS 9 is
measured at fair value at each reporting date with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations and goodwiill
(Continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed. If, after assessment, the net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if
any), the excess is recognised immediately in the
consolidated income statement as a bargain purchase
gain.

After initial recognition, goodwill is carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses, if any, and is presented
separately in the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill
(Continued)

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31
December. For the purposes of impairment testing,
goodwill is allocated to each of the Group's cash-
generating units (or groups of cash-generating units) that
is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or
liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or
groups of units. Impairment is determined by assessing
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating units
(group of cash-generating units) to which the goodwill
relates. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
units (group of cash-generating units) is less than its
carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to
the unit (group of cash-generating units) and then to the
other assets of the unit on a pro-rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed
in subsequent periods.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series
of distinct goods or services that are substantially the
same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance
as the Group performs;

e the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

e the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that the
Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a net
basis.

Overtime revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of
a performance obligation

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on input
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of
the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a
performance obligation relative to the total expected
inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation,
that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration
(variation order of construction work), the Group
estimates the amount of consideration to which it will be
entitled using either (a) the expected value method or (b)
the most likely amount, depending on which method
better predicts the amount of consideration to which the
Group will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is
included in the transaction price only to the extent that it
is highly probable that such an inclusion will not result in
a significant revenue reversal in the future when the
uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates
the estimated transaction price (including updating its
assessment of whether an estimate of variable
consideration is constrained) to represent faithfully the
circumstances present at the end of the reporting period
and the changes in circumstances during the reporting
period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts
the promised amount of consideration for the effects of
the time value of money if the timing of payments
agreed (either explicitly or implicitly) provides the
customer or the Group with a significant benefit of
financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer. In those circumstances, the contract contains a
significant financing component. A significant financing
component may exist regardless of whether the promise
of financing is explicitly stated in the contract or implied
by the payment terms agreed to by the parties to the
contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and
transfer of the services is less than one year, the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the
transaction price for any significant financing
component.

For contracts where the Group transferred the associated
goods or services before payments from customers in
which the Group adjusts for the promised amount of
consideration for significant financing components, the
Group applies a discount rate that would be reflected in
a separate financing transaction between the Group and
the customer at contract inception. The Group recognises
interest income during the period between the payment
from customers and the transfer of the associated goods
Oor services.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from
business combinations on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16
at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one
or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-
alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group also applies practical expedient not to
separate non-lease components from lease component,
and instead account for the lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EREFHEBE®

(Continued)

Leases (Continued) HE®)

The Group as a lessee (Continued) FEEERABEA (E)

Short-term leases FHIEE

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition AEBH ARG ABEEBRA12EA
exemption to leases of office premises and retail stores SN TETEEEEERZBHAE
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the XRTEEHHEREASRHAEERR
commencement date and do not contain a purchase 0Ne -  WHAE 2 HENTNEE S
option. Lease payments on short-term leases are NIRBEREES S —RELEERER
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another B .

systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets EHEESE
The cost of right-of-use asset includes: FREEENARTE

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease

MERBZPTESRE

liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the o  MFHB B ZAEL 2 ERHE
commencement date, less any lease incentives BN RERBWREEERSE
received;

e any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and e AKEEAZAMVIFZEEK

AN

e an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in o ANEBIFRKRMBEBRIBEAEE - Ik
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, EHRBEEMESEHEEE
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring EREZHEERNIGEHETEE
the underlying asset to the condition required by AREET#E T E A Z fhET AR ©

the terms and conditions of the lease.
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AR IF R EE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities other
than adjustments to lease liabilities resulting from Covid-
19-related rent concessions in which the Group applied
the practical expedient.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated from
commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) and initially
measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

BEAETHE®

HE®
KEFELERBA ()
EHEEE (&)

£ R E R ABUER R T E &
BEREFE  YRBEEREZER
ENFEFLAE AEEHA
Covid-19 10 = B EFTE MM A 1T
BEDEMEMNHEER EHABRKRI -

EREEENEMGBIERFHLEE
H 2 B EREGELERE -

AEESERENEERNEREES
HEHEEEMARNEREEER
Mg AMEERFRERKFE - B
Al EREEEREMGTERFHR
HEH s WEERBRELEFE -

AEERBEREEEZAEATE
ARKRZBIIAR o

REMERE

ENARERERES HIREEBMHE
ﬁiﬁJ%9ﬁiﬂIﬂGE%W%

ERIZEIFH AR XHFER
$ﬁﬁ§omﬂﬁ%%%%ﬁ$ﬁz
ABRWRBEINEEMNK - WA
FREEEMKA -



JIYI HOLDINGS LIMITED & —3= 8 H R A 7
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 iR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B IF AR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z= =2 =-=F+=-A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In
calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as
at the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option
to terminate the lease.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXREFHEBER®

(Continued)

Leases (Continued) HE#)

The Group as a lessee (Continued) AEBERAHN (&)

Lease liabilities (Continued) HERE (B

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are REBBEZ  HEBESEBIEMF

adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments. BRBEEMNKAE -

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a WHRATER  AEEEFHT=1

corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use EaE Y REEREEEEL AR

assets) whenever: )

e  the lease term has changed or there is a change in e MHEHDPHIREIHNITHEEEIR
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in BREZIAMBAES  EZER
which case the related lease liability is remeasured T AEEEaEREHNTMA
by discounting the revised lease payments using a R 1B (F A AYE RT BA3R R BAIR &
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment. BT HENZMEH = o

e the lease payments change due to changes in e MENREMmBHESBAEZT
market rental rates following a market rent review B /KESEmEIRES £
in which cases the related lease liability is ZEAT  HAHREAGEFERY
remeasured by discounting the revised lease IR ARIA R B BALR SR E
payments using the initial discount rate. HRMEFETE °

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item NEFEBEABEY ALEGES BB

on the consolidated statement of financial position. MK ZIEIIAR o
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modifications

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which
the Group applied the practical expedient, the Group
accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand- alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right- of-use asset. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price
of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone
price of the non-lease components.
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AR IF R EE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term except for investment properties measured
under fair value model.

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 to allocate
consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease
components. Non-lease components are separated from
lease component on the basis of their relative stand-
alone selling prices.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessor (Continued)
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

Lease modification

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating
lease as a new lease from the effective date of the
modification, considering any prepaid or accrued lease
payments relating to the original lease as part of the
lease payments for the new lease.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. RMB) using exchange rates prevailing
at the end of each reporting period. Income and
expenses items are translated at the average exchange
rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during that period, in which case the
exchange rates at the date of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of translation reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal
of the Group'’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an
interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that
includes a foreign operation of which the retained
interest becomes a financial asset),all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

Exchange differences relating to the retranslation of the
Group’s net assets in Hong Kong dollars to the Group’s
presentation currency (i.e. RMB) are recognised directly in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in
translation reserve. Such exchange differences
accumulated in the translation reserve are not reclassified
to profit or loss subsequently.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the
cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the state-managed retirement benefit
schemes in relation to employees of the Company’s
subsidiaries in the PRC and the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme in relation to employees of the Company’s
subsidiaries in Hong Kong are recognised as an expense
when employees have rendered service entitling them to
the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services. All
short- term employee benefits are recognised as an
expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits the
inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into
consideration all non-market vesting conditions is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that
will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in
equity (share-based payments reserve). At the end of
each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of
the number of equity instruments expected to vest based
on assessment of all relevant non-market vesting
conditions. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that
the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with
a corresponding adjustment to the share-based payments
reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share-based payments reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share-based payments reserve will be
transferred to retained profits.

When shares granted are vested, the amount previously
recognised in share-based payments reserve will be
transferred to share premium.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions (Continued)

Share options granted to customers/consultants

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with
parties other than employees are measured at the fair
value of the goods or services received, except where
that fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which case
they are measured at the fair value of the equity
instruments granted, measured at the date the entity
obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the
service. The fair values of the goods or services received
are recognised as expenses (unless the goods or services
qualify for recognition as assets).

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax
because of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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AR IF R EE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which
the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax
rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are
presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless
the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted
when the investment property is depreciable and is held
within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the investment property over time, rather than through
sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable
to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities separately. Temporary
differences on initial recognition of the relevant right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised due to
application of the initial recognition exemption.
Temporary differences arising from subsequent revision
to the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of lease liabilities
and lease modifications, that are not subject to initial
recognition exemption are recognised on the date of
remeasurement or modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is
a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
inequity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax
arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.

3.

BEAETHE®

BE®E)

AHBENRENEHERGBCHERS
mE AEEHERAREEERHEESR
BN RIEAEEEERIF125RMAE
BZHE - HBEEREEEREER
BRI 2 EREZRERT S
RN MY BERER - RIREASH
AERERBEREEERMER ER
REENMMEABREEEL TR
EZR(MNEVI AR L) GREN
BB B B o

ERAEARFIMITREANGAEHRIAE
ERANPHARELRE  AER -
BHEAYRFE - ERHERBBWZAE
BMERE AEEHEEERAEBR
R EEaF i

BNEA MR AE TR A PN 1R 2 P HE AR - ME A
HENEMEEKREIER N ERT

RZEBBBEZBERT - KR
EFETESRINEMEEEERE
BEREETHER - HEBFAf2n
ST B IR E A RV A SR IR -
AIMBEESANREBEAH 2R
A e



JIYI HOLDINGS LIMITED & —3= 8 H R A 7
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 iR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Zz=-Z ==

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that
are held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes (other than
properties under construction as described below).
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Buildings in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less
any recognised impairment loss. Costs include any costs
directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location
and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating
in the manner intended by management and, for
qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready

for their intended use.

If a property becomes an investment property because its
use has changed as evidenced by end of owner-
occupation, any difference between the carrying amount
and the fair value of that item (including the relevant
leasehold land under HKFRS 16 or prepaid lease
payments under HKAS 17) at the date of transfer is
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in property revaluation reserve. On the
subsequent sale or retirement of the property, the
relevant revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to
retained profits.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets other than properties under construction less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight- line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes
in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of
the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or
retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are measured at fair value, adjusted to exclude any
prepaid or accrued operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for
the period in which they arise.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investment properties (Continued)

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposal. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the property (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss
in the period in which the property is derecognised.

If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-
occupied property becomes and investment property, the
Group accounts for such property in accordance with the
policy stated under “Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation” up to the date of change in use, and any
difference at that date between the carrying amount and
the fair value of the property is accounted for as a
revaluation in accordance with the policy “Property, plant
and equipment and depreciation” above.

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets other
than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets with finite useful lives
to determine whether there is any indication that these
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any).

3. EXEFHE®
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186

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets other
than goodwill (Continued)

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.

In addition, corporate assets are allocated to individual
cash-generating units, when a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The Group assesses whether
there is indication that corporate assets may be impaired.
If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of
the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-
generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

3.

BEAETHE®
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets other
than goodwill (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis
to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of
cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount of
the group of cash-generating units. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of
an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair
valueless costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use
(if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro-rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

BEASTHE®
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets other
than goodwill (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or
a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a
cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined on a
weighted average method. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price for inventories less all
estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to
make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases
or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

3.

BEAETHE®
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset
or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

3.

BEASTHE®
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXREFEBEX®

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) SWMIA®
Financial assets TREE

Classification and subsequent measurement of TREESERAEETE

financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are A UTIRER S 7S E H 1% 5

subsequently measure data mortised cost: RARET £ :

e the financial asset is held within a business model e REMNAKDRANEESREZH
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows; BEAAFEZEMEE &
and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to s EBHBRRBIRNETERAHEAN
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and B nEadrREINEAE RA
interest on the principal amount outstanding. BBARL%EHE o

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are BEUTIERENSMEEEBIZAT

subsequently measured at fair value through other Bt AHmermikzs ([ AFESA

comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"): Hih2mkam]) st E

e the financial asset is held within a business model e REMALERKERALIRER
whose objective is achieved by both selling and EVEBEREARNBECERE
collecting contractual cash flows; and B R

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to o EAHBRREBIRNETERAHELAN
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and REREAEBIELINAE R
interest on the principal amount outstanding. BBARLZEHE o
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application of
HKFRS 9/initial recognition of a financial asset the Group
may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in
fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for
trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquire r in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of

selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at the
amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting

mismatch.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

192

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of

financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of
the financial asset from the next reporting period. If
the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit-impaired.

3. EXEFHE®
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EREFHEBE®

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) SWMIA®

Financial assets (Continued) SRZE (&)

Classification and subsequent measurement of TREESEREZTE (E)

financial assets (Continued)

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL (i) HEAFEFABmNTHEE
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for TREREBHEKASIRA T ER
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or AEMEEK KIS T AEATF
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL. Bt \AEt 2 W HT=N S E

BE - URAVETABRGRAE

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value BEATEFABENEREER
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair FZREBRANAFET= - T
value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. AFEWREHEENESS ®
The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss o PRI R RE TR HY F Ui 25 5 ES
includes any dividend or interest earned on the EeiEZze il E ERIA TR
financial asset and is included in the “other gains B A B Wat A [ EM IS
and losses” line item. NEsiE]EE o
Impairment of financial assets and other items CHEERALETEBUBHRETE
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 BIZE 95 IE T RiEF1E 2 HEMIER 2
TB1E
The Group performs impairment assessment under AEBERERPEEEE(BHEE
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets EBEDEXEHEHEE(BIRESHNE
(including trade and other receivables, amounts due from fh FE Uk 278 - pE UG BE B T 0 IE A R 8R
related parties and bank balances), and other items THEHH)UAREMER (ENEE) (R
(contract assets) which are subject to impairment under EEBVBKRELEDFEIRAIRER
HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each B ) EITRE G - EHEEEES
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial BRESWMEABELNES  URKEH
recognition. AR AR B B R i &
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3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12 m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables and contract assets. The ECL on these assets
are assessed individually for debtors with significant
balances and/or collectively using a provision matrix with
appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk
of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

0]

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

196

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

(Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above

assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk

has increased significantly since initial recognition

when contractual payments are more than 30 days

past due, unless the Group has reasonable and

supportable information that demonstrates

otherwise.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

0]

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a debt instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition if the
debt instrument is determined to have low credit
risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if i) it has a low
risk of default, ii) the borrower has a strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term and iii) adverse changes
in economic and business conditions in the longer
term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability
of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument
to have low credit risk when it has an internal or
external credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as per
globally understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises them
as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. ERSEE®
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) E@MT R %)
Financial assets (Continued) TREE &)

198

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

THEERAETEBUBEREE
RIZ 9558 TR E 6 2 HMIER 2

(Continued) JBL1E (4)
(i)  Definition of default (i) ZEHEE

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full

FRAMEERREEMS @ A&
B R E A B A S SN ER SRR
FRSERERR - B AN KARE
MEGEA(BEAEE) N2
SR (LA RANREAE

(without taking into account any collaterals held by (T30 &) B - B HIBE 4=
the Group). 5 o
Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that fmam baian{o] - (HE i EmE

default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to

B0 R - AEEKRIEESHLE
EBH BEAKEBERSENRA
BEXFNERNE Eﬂ?‘%%ﬁﬂ’]t

demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is HNEEE SEA 0 BB ERE o
more appropriate.

(iii) ~ Credit-impaired financial assets (i) EfEERENEBEE
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or B—IEZESCmMEEMET R

more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;
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ERE - eMEEHREERE
B RBRES KA TEHHAE
HEIR

@ BEITARERAZEEMEK
N2



JIYI HOLDINGS LIMITED & —3= 8 H R A 7
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 iR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ZE I IEERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z= =2 =-=F+=-A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EREFHEBE®

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) ERMIA &)
Financial assets (Continued) THEE (&)
Impairment of financial assets and other items CTHEERALETEBEREE
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 BIZE 95 IE T RiEFF1E 2 HEMIER 2
(Continued) JBL1E (4)
(iii)  Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued) (i) E1sERER L5 EE (&)
(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past by ZEREX - WIEXRIEEE
due event; o= s
(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or (0 MEFRAMEEEFTZERA
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s RS XA BT R 2 A 8
financial difficulty, having granted to the S & AT - AR X
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) AREERATEEMBERLT
would not otherwise consider; or TEERMNES X
(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will d) BRAFAREHRESETH
enter bankruptcy or other financial B S E AR o

reorganisation.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(iv)  Write-off policy

v)

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the
case of trade receivables, when the amounts are
over five years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group's recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in
profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or
cater for cases where evidence at the individual
instrument level may not yet be available, the
financial instruments are grouped on the following
basis:

° Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the
Group's certain trade receivables and contract
assets are each assessed as a separate group.
Trade receivable and contract assets with
significant outstanding balances and amounts
due from related parties are assessed for ECL
on an individual basis);

° Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors;
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXREFEBEX®
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(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) €RTER#)
Financial assets (Continued) TREE &)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

SREERBETEBYBREE
RIS E PR B BB 2

(Continued) JBL1E (4)
() Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued) V) FEREREHEEEEE)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue
to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by

EEEeE R AR - A
BRSAENEERBEREUEER
B o

MEBWATIREE B EENKRE
RERE  RIFETMEERLRE
BERE - EER - FEBRAR
BEREENBHKAE -
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BAERAA R T A ZREYK

adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception woERE MESERZFIELS
of trade receivables and contract assets where the HEEZAEAR S AEEEE
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a BRFEABR I o
loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets AHILTER TR EE

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the

contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,

or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially

all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to

another entity. On derecognition of a financial asset

measured at amortised cost, the difference between the

asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration

received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and bills payable and
other payables, bank borrowings and convertible loan
notes are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Convertible loan notes

The component parts of the convertible loan notes are
classified separately as financial liability and equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument. A conversion option that will
be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or
another financial asset for a fixed number of the
Company’s own equity instruments is an equity
instrument.
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AR IF R EE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Convertible loan notes (Continued)

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability
component (including any embedded non-equity
derivatives features) is estimated by measuring the fair
value of similar liability that does not have an associated
equity component.

A conversion option classified as equity is determined by
deducting the amount of the liability component from
the fair value of the compound instrument as a whole.
This is recognised and included in equity, net of income
tax effects, and is not subsequently remeasured. In
addition, the conversion option classified as equity will
remain inequity until the conversion option is exercised,
in which case, the balance recognised in equity will be
transferred to share premium. Where the conversion
option remains unexercised at the maturity date of the
convertible note, the balance recognised inequity will be
transferred to retained profits. No gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration
of the conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible loan notes are allocated to the liability and
equity components in proportion to the allocation of the
gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the equity
component are charged directly to equity. Transaction
costs relating to the liability component are included in
the carrying amount of the liability portion and amortised
over the period of the convertible loan notes using the
effective interest method.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

Cash and bank balances

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flow, cash and bank balances comprise cash on hand
and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally
within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
financial position, cash and bank balances comprise cash
on hand and cash at bank balances, which are not
restricted as to use.
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AR IF R EE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising
from the passage of time is included in finance costs in
the consolidated income statement.

A contingent liability recognised in a business
combination is initially measured at its fair value.
Subsequently, it is measured at the higher of (i) the
amount that would be recognised in accordance with the
general guidance for provision above; and (ii) the amount
initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative
amortisation recognised in accordance with the guidance
for revenue recognition.

Related parties

(@ A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:
(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iiiy is a member of key management personnel of
the Group or the Group’s parent;

or
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group's parent.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity and include:

(@) that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(b) children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

(©) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse
or domestic partner.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in Note 3, the directors of the
Company are required to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from
those involving estimations (see below), that the directors
of the Company have made in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Deferred taxation on investment
properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the directors of the Company have
reviewed the Group’s investment property portfolios and
concluded that the Group’s investment properties are
not held under a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment properties over time.
Therefore, in determining the deferred taxation on
investment properties, the directors of the Company
have determined that the presumption that the carrying
amounts of investment properties measured using the
fair value model are recovered entirely through sale is not
rebutted. The Group recognised additional deferred taxes
relating to Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT"”) and Enterprise
Income Tax (“EIT”) on changes in fair value of such
investment properties as appropriate.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Classification between investment
properties and owner-occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in
making that judgement. Investment property is a
property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation
or both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a
property generates cash flows largely independently of
the other assets held by the Group. Some properties
comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for
capital appreciation and another portion that is held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes. If these portions could be
sold separately or leased out separately under a finance
lease, the Group accounts for the portions separately. If
the portions could not be sold separately, the property is
an investment property only if an insignificant portion is
held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes. Judgement is
made on an individual property basis to determine
whether ancillary services are so significant that a
property does not qualify as an investment property.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services (including the trading of bulk commodity) to a
customer, the Group determines whether the nature of
its promise is a performance obligation to provide the
specified goods or services itself (i.e. the Group as a
principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to be
provided by the other party (i.e. the Group as an agent).
The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
or services before that good or services is transferred to a
customer.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period that may have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year.

Impairment assessment of trade receivables
and contract assets

Trade receivables and contract assets with significant
balances and credit-impaired are assessed for ECL
individually. In addition, the Group uses provision matrix
to calculate ECL for the trade receivables and contract
assets which are individually insignificant. The Group has
engaged an independent qualified professional valuer to
estimate the ECL of the Group’s trade receivables and
contract assets. The provision rates are based on internal
credit ratings as groupings of various debtors that have
similar loss patterns. The provision matrix is based on the
Group's historical default rates taking into consideration
forward-looking information that is reasonable and
supportable available without undue costs or effort.
Estimated losses are based on historical observed default
rates over the expected life of the trade receivables and
their related contract assets and are adjusted for forward-
looking information. At every reporting date, the
historical observed default rates are reassessed and
changes in the forward-looking information are
considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
The information about the ECL and the Group’s trade
receivables and contract assets are disclosed in Notes
37(b), 23 and 22, respectively

4,

e B IF AR EE

F+ZRA=+—HItFE
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EmEARR -

EEEWZ&(
1&

RENEER BEFT

BEAEXRBEEHBIEBRECEERENES
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wREEAEERNBEAZE ZEYR

EREHEBEZTRBEERR A&
BEZEBYSEREXEMAEMMER
AEEEHERWTBREHNEELZTR
HEEEER - BHEXRAERUE
B NREB AR 2 AEEE
HRETE - BEREBDERAEEHZ
BEROE W REFTUERAK
BN EBZEEAEZAELEE
£t EEHBIR IR E B WGRIA R E
HESHNEENBERNFH ZBE
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Revenue recognition on contract work of
interior design and building engineering
services

The Group recognised contract revenue by reference to
the progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation at the end of the reporting
period which measured based on the proportion of
contract costs incurred for work performed to date
relative to the estimated total contract costs. The
recognition of contract revenue therefore relies on the
management’s estimation of the progress and outcome
of the project, which involves the exercise of significant
management estimation, particularly in estimating the
budgeted contract costs, which are prepared by the
management of the Group on the basis of agreements,
quotations or other correspondences from time to time
provided by the subcontractors, suppliers or vendors
involved and the experience of the management. In order
to keep the budget accurate and up-to-date, the
management of the Group conducts periodic reviews of
the budgets of service contracts by comparing the
budgeted amounts to the actual amounts incurred.
Construction revenue and contract assets are estimated
by using the percentage of completion method, which is
calculated based on the costs incurred on each
construction contract at the end of the respective
accounting period divided by the total estimated costs
for the contract and then multiplied by the estimated
construction revenue expected to be earned.

FTESTHERATTARE
M2 EEREE)

T REENEEZRERE)

EARTREZIERBEXNTE
2 W 55 TERR
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4, FESTHHERMETIAEE
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION M2 EERE &)
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty Rt T REENEERIR (&)
(Continued)

Revenue recognition on contract work of FARIRERZTIERRBELSHNIE
interior design and building engineering pd 3 A D,

services (Continued)

Notwithstanding that management reviews and revises BEEEEBRSAEERE KB
the estimates of both contract revenue and costs for the HAEK 7B DWW KA GET - R
construction contract as the contract progresses, the WH MK A EREAE 2 B HERE L
actual outcome of the contract in terms of its total Al N R B R WSS AT

b

e
revenue and costs may be higher or lower than the TR 7 Uas N s F s pl B AT 28 o
estimates and this will have significant impact on the
revenue and profit recognised.

At 31 December 2023, the contract assets recognised RZZE-_=F+_A=+—H ' #R
based on the percentage of completion method is TRBEDLEERNBNEEAAR
RMB288,270,000 (2022: RMB364,929,000). # 288,270,000 C(ZFTE=—F : AR

364,929,000 7T) °
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AR IF R EE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Impairment assessment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. Determining whether goodwill
is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of
the cash-generating units to which goodwill has been
allocated. The value in use calculation requires the Group
to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from
the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the carrying amount
of goodwill is RMBO (2022: RMB52,033,000). Details of
the recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in Note
19.

Revaluation of investment properties

The Group carries its investment properties at fair values,
with changes in fair values being recognised in the
consolidated income statement. The Group engaged
independent valuation specialists to determine fair values
as at 31 December 2023. The valuers used valuation
techniques based on an income approach by referencing
the rental income of comparable market data. The
carrying amount of investment properties at 31
December 2023 was approximately RMB47,420,000
(2022: RMB61,520,000). Further details are disclosed in
Note 18.
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5. REVENUE 5. kA

THEFEHWA :

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from

()

contracts with customers:

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-E-_=F+-A=+t—BHLHFE
Provision of
interior design
Sale and and building
distribution of  engineering
merchandise services Total
REZER
HER REtR
piEEm BEIERB #et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR TF T AR®FT AR®FIT
Types of goods and E @R BR#SEE B
services
Sale and distribution of ~ $4% &% 57 M
merchandise
— Building materials — & 3,142 - 3,142
— Home improvement  — REEEM K
materials 81 - 81
— Furnishings —RE - - -
— Bulk commodity — ArEmES
trading 626,259 - 626,259
Provision of interior RHEEARNRFT R
design and building EET RS
engineering services
— Interior design — EANRF - = -
— Building engineering ~ — EE TR
services = = =
Total St 629,482 - 629,482
Geographical markets HEM
The PRC h 629,482 - 629,482
Timing of revenue DO
recognition
At a point in time A B ] 2 629,482 629,482
Over time 4 A ] - - -
Total et 629,482 - 629,482
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5. REVENUE (continued)

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from
contracts with customers: (Continued)

Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue
from contracts with customers with the amounts
disclosed in the segment information.

5. WA

(i) PHFEFEHWA  (®)

ATEIFEFEHBRALDFE
KRR 8k -

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-ZE-=F+-A=+—HLFE
Adjustment
Segment and
revenue eliminations Consolidated
D ERBA AR m=e
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR FT AR¥FT
Sale and distribution of  $4& M $H R S
merchandise 629,482 - 629,482
Provision of interior RIEEART R
design and building BEETRERRS
engineering services = = =
Total revenue LU ON 629,482 - 629,482
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z= =2 =-=F+=-A=+—HILFE

5. WA

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from (i)
contracts with customers: (Continued)

PHREEESHRA (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_T__F+_A=t—HLFE

Provision of
interior design
Sale and and building
distribution of engineering
merchandise services Total
RHZER
HE K& FEt &
DIEEm  BEIRRSE 15t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETF T ARETFT ARETFT
Types of goods and EmkREER
services
Sale and distribution of ~ $H& K& $HE @
merchandise
— Building materials — ZEM 28,389 = 28,389
— Home improvement  — REBEEM K
materials 2,043 - 2,043
— Furnishings — A 6,424 — 6,424
— Bulk commodity — ArEmE
trading 494,450 - 494,450
Provision of interior R EANR R
design and building EETRARE
engineering services
— Interior design — ENRG = 2,224 2,224
— Building engineering ~ — EE T 2R
services - 26,233 26,233
Total et 531,306 28,457 559,763
Geographical markets HEHH
The PRC i 531,306 28,457 559,763
Timing of revenue LON AT
recognition
At a point in time AR 531,306 = 531,306
Over time BE R - 28,457 28,457
Total et 531,306 28,457 559,763
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5. REVENUE (continued) 5. WA

(i) PHFEFEHWA  (®)

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from
contracts with customers: (Continued)

AT EIIFF&HBRALD
KRR 8k -

Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue o0&
from contracts with customers with the amounts

disclosed in the segment information.

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_TZ-__F+_A=1+—HILFE

Adjustment
Segment and
revenue eliminations Consolidated
DEHA EEE-ISE k! ma
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT AEETFT
Sale and distribution of  $4& M $H R S
merchandise 531,973 (667) 531,306
Provision of interior RHEEANRFT K
design and building EETERE
engineering services 28,457 = 28,457
Total revenue LU ON 560,430 (667) 559,763

218



JIYI HOLDINGS LIMITED & —3= 8 H R A 7
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 iR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B IF AR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z= =2 =-=F+=-A=+—HILFE

5. REVENUE (continued)

(i) Performance obligations for contracts

with customers

Sale and distribution of merchandise

The Group sells a range of building materials, home
improvement materials, and furnishings to the
wholesale market and directly to customers through
its own retail outlets. During the course of business,
the Group engages in trading of bulk commodities
with its customers from time to time.

For sales of building materials, home improvement
materials and furnishings to the wholesale market,
revenue is recognised when control of the goods
has transferred, being when the goods have been
delivered to the wholesaler’s specific location
(delivery). Following the delivery, the wholesaler has
full discretion over the manner of distribution and
price to sell the goods, has the primary
responsibility when on selling the goods and bears
the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation to the
goods.

WA 4#)
(i) EEFMNENNBHERE

HER 7R

AEERSETENEBEER
TEEERATPHE —RIIE
Mo REREMBRER - RE
BgiEd  AEEE TREAR
FETARERES °

R BEMISHEEEN HER
EMHREEMS  BWARE M
ZHEEBERR (AEEMmXMT
Ttt%"?ﬁ?bizt’@%ﬂﬁ(x1‘f))ﬁ§
R MRME - HEFA2ER
BEEEmZNHT A RHEE
B AUTRAEEEMZIHE X
AEEAEBEERBHERBRZE

B -
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FH-—RA=+—HItFE

5. REVENUE (continued) 5. WA

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts

(i) EXFHNENNBENER

220

with customers (Continued)

Sale and distribution of merchandise
(Continued)

The Group generally allows a credit period ranging
from 0 day to 360 days upon delivery, depending
on the type of products sold. For those new
customers, the Group will request deposits from
them who entered into the sales contracts, this will
give rise to contract liabilities at the start of a
contract, until the customers obtain control of the
goods. The amounts of deposits requested vary
amongst different contracts.

For sales of home improvement materials and
furnishings to retail customers, revenue is
recognised when control of the goods has
transferred, being at the point the customer
purchases the goods at the retail outlet. Payment of
the transaction price is due immediately at the
point the customer purchases the goods.

The wholesalers, retail customers and customers of
bulk commodity trading have neither rights of
return nor rights to defer or avoid payment for the
goods once the goods are accepted by them. A
contract liability is recognised for consideration
received for which revenue has not yet been
recognised.

(%)

HER D HEE SR (&)

KREE—MAFNFRH1E0H
Z360BZ2EEH RIFEE
EmHERNME - MREHEF
mME ' AEBEERITLHES
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EHRBREEANAEE BEE
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5. REVENUE (continued)

(i) Performance obligations for contracts

with customers (Continued)

Sale and distribution of merchandise
(Continued)

For the trading of bulk commodity, the Group
would sell a commodity within a short period after
purchase under which profit would be generated or
loss may be incurred from these transactions. Since
these trading contracts are entered into for the sole
purposes of the receipt or delivery of the
commodity in accordance with the Group’s
expected purchase or sale and, accordingly, these
contracts are accounted for as revenue and cost of
sales. Revenue is recognised when control of the
commodity has transferred, being when the
commodity have been delivered to the customers’
specific location (delivery). Following the delivery,
the customers have full discretion over the manner
of distribution and price to sell the commodity, has
the primary responsibility when on selling the
commodity and bears the risks of obsolescence and
loss in relation to the commodity.

The Group generally allows a credit period ranging
from O day to 360 days upon delivery, depending
on the type of products sold. For those new
customers, the Group may request deposits from
them who entered the sales contracts, this will give
rise to contract liabilities at the start of a contract,
until the customers obtain control of the goods.
The amounts of deposits requested vary amongst
different contracts.

WA 4#)
(i) EXEFMNEANBHNERE

(&)

HER D #HRm (&)

RAREmESIME  AEEE
EBEREREALER B
m WRLAEERERHEL
AR ZEE o ARRI M %F
BHaHZE—BNAREARAE
B2 FEHIR B S i B B R
ZEm - A EFAOER/EA
KMIERARAIRERIE - WAKER
miEHEERRER  IEmE
RNBEPHEFEMER(RE) -
X2k EPANAT2BTT
REHEBmMODHTAME
R EHERRRAZIER
£ AR o AR R RO BRE A
BRMER o

REE—RATFNTRH%EOB
Z360HZEEH  STAEE
ERMERNME RZIEHEF
MmE ' AEBJREERITUHE
BRZHBRI MRS B
REHNHABRBEEEHNEE &
ERPEISERIESIERL - F7
Bk RS SBERTTRE LM
BRTE -
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5. REVENUE (continued) 5. WA

(i) EXFHNENNBENER

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts

222

with customers (Continued)

Interior design and building engineering
services

The Group provides interior design and building
engineering services to customers. Such services are
recognised as a performance obligation satisfied
over time as the Group creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced. Revenue is recognised for
these services based on the stage of completion of
the contract using input method.

The Group's interior design and building
engineering service contracts include payment
schedules which require stage payments over the
service period once certain specified milestones are
reached. The Group requires certain customers to
provide upfront deposits ranged from 20% to 60%
of total contract sum, when the Group receives a
deposit before interior design and building
engineering services commences, this will give rise
to contract liabilities at the start of a contract, until
the revenue recognised on the specific contract
exceeds the amount of the deposit.

(%)

EARTREELERT

AEERATEFR7ENR R
ETRRRE - BEAKERZEX
B SR PN B ST o B 1 &Y
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z= =2 =-=F+=-A=+—HILFE

5. REVENUE (continued)

(i) Performance obligations for contracts

with customers (Continued)

Interior design and building engineering
services (Continued)

A contract asset, net of contract liability related to
the same contract, is recognised over the period in
which the interior design and building engineering
services are performed representing the Group'’s
right to consideration for the services performed
because the rights are conditioned on the Group's
future performance in achieving specified
milestones. The contract assets are transferred to
trade receivables when the rights become
unconditional. The Group typically transfer the
contract assets to trade receivables when the Group
issued invoice to the customers based on the value
of work.

Retention receivables, prior to expiration of defect
liability period, are classified as contract assets,
which ranges from one to five years from the date
of the practical completion of the construction. The
relevant amount of contract asset is reclassified to
trade receivables when the defect liability period
expires. The defect liability period serves as an
assurance that the interior design and building
engineering services performed comply with
agreed-upon specifications and such assurance
cannot be purchased separately.

WA 4#)
(i) EXEFMNEANBHNERE

(&)

g

RERET REETRIRE (&)

BREEMHKER-—GHNAH
ZEHRBE)IRBITEART R
EETITREREHE(NAEEAE
REBLAT B 1T AR 75 WK B HIR )
R RAREBRENBURK A
SEERETEEEMNARRK
B BHEENEBRENNKASE
RIFREREE 5 RUKGIR - K
SE-RAAEERNFEFPHLE
BERZTIREEEFSHNEEESR
EEHRYGR -

FEU PR B A BRFE B A HIE M AT
BRAGHEE HBEERER
BETKZBE—ERF - iR
fRRTHERE  HENAHNE
ESHRENOBRE S RUK
I8 - RFAE E RN IRE AT
MZEANRTMEETIRRBTE
BERRE WA TREEEEE
HEFEIRAE ©

223



JIYI HOLDINGS LIMITED £ — =B HR A T
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 £ iR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ZE M IEEHRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z= =2 ==F+=-A=+—HILFE

5. REVENUE (continued) 5. WA
(ii) Performance obligations for contracts (i) BEEFNEANNBHNER
with customers (Continued) (&)
Interior design and building engineering FARGTREZIERS (&)

services (Continued)

The Group considers the promised amount of AREERAAFRESREBESE
consideration contain significant financing REn & 2o - Ittﬁ’é%)ﬁﬂﬂ&%
component and accordingly the amount of BrEEREE  RELEDR
consideration is adjusted for the effects of the time SRFHREECTEERE - K
value of money taking into consideration the credit EEEARMRAEBRET SR
characteristics of the Group. The Group applies a RS RS REE H 2B
discount rate that would be reflected in a separate BMERXGZHIRE - REFERE
financing transaction between the Group and the PNZE#EZHEE R RGE
customer at the date of transfer of the associated RITERR A B UL A ©

goods or services. The Group recognises interest
income during the period between the payment
from customers and the transfer of the associated
goods or services.
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5. REVENUE (continued) 5. WA

(i) Performance obligations for contracts

(i) EXFNENNBENER

with customers (Continued)

Online distribution and electronic
marketing

The Group also offers its customers online
distribution and electronic marketing services
through a multi-channel network. During the
contractual period, the Group will provide advisory
services on product pricing, upgrade customers’
online selling or live channel platforms’ interfaces,
offer training courses on online selling strategies,
source suitable key opinion leaders to promote
customers’ products through online live channels,
and provide repair and maintenance services for
customers’ online live channels. Revenue is
recognised when the services are rendered over
time since these services provide all of the benefits
that are received and consumed simultaneously by
the customers. The performance obligation is
satisfied when customers use the Group's
advertising and internet information services in their
daily operations for selling or promoting their
owned products through different online platforms.
The transaction price for the services is charged at a
predetermined fixed rate with no significant
variable consideration. Invoices are issued on a
monthly basis and are usually payable within 30
days.

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and
2022, the Group decided to temporarily suspend
the business of online distribution and electronic
marketing after thorough consideration of the
potential profitability of the business, the cost of
maintaining the online distribution platform, and
the changes in the e-commerce licensing policies in
the PRC. As a result, there had been no revenue
generated from the online distribution and
electronic marketing business in FY2023 and
FY2022.

(&)

ARE7IE R E

AEENNBRAZREPERARTR
RER D HERBELHERSE -
REHWEBERN  AEEBREEHE
EREENEZRS  ARER
BEHEXERRBTYAaNR
o R EHEE R IEIIR
B ERAENTIEEREH
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HREMERARKHAEF K
BEHE - RS RS IEEE
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TaHESHEREEBEMFER
NEBES KB EE R RGEE
BB - REXSHEBREEKR
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5. REVENUE (continued) 5. WA
(iii) Transaction price allocated to the (iii) 7EHZEHREFSHNNRT
remaining performance obligation for BHREENXRZE

contracts with customers

The transaction price allocated to the remaining RZZEZ=F+—A=+—HK

performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially —E-HF+ - A=+—H»E

unsatisfied) as at 31 December 2023 and 31 EHRTRAEBFECREKL LS

December 2022 and the expected timing of REK) 2R FHENTEEATERI

recognising revenue are as follows: ABREIT :

At 31 December 2023 R="2_=%+=H=+—H
Provision of

interior design
Sale and and building
distribution of  engineering

merchandise services Total
HER REZEARTR

piEEm BEIRRBE et

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000

ARETFT AREFT AREFT

Within one year —FA - 318,214 318,214
At 31 December 2022 R-—E-——F+-A=+—8H
Provision of

interior design
Sale and and building

distribution of engineering
merchandise services Total

HE R REEARG R
DiHEm  EEIRRS fast
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT ARETT

Within one year —F R - 378,272 378,272
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z= =2 =-=F+=-A=+—HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company, being the chief operating decision maker
(CODM), make decisions about resource allocation based
on the revenue by types of goods or services delivered or
provided and reviews reports on the financial
performance of the Group as a whole. No other discrete
financial information is reviewed by the CODM for the
assessment of performance of the Group. Therefore, no
other segment information is presented. The Group is
currently organised into the following two revenue
streams as follows:

1. Sale and distribution of merchandise

2. Provision of interior design and building engineering

services
Segment revenues and results

The following is an analysis of the Group'’s revenue and
results by reportable segments:

BREMRARRTHRAS (AE2K
ERRE([EBRERRED) 2R
RIRBRAR N E MR RS Z
BRED 2 WAL EBERDEC
RE > TEMEBEAEEBEBYHX
RZHE  TRRERREMERHN
HA B I ERAHE A S BRE -
A - BN E MY REER - AE
B Al B A T M E YA RIS -

1. HERDHEM®

2. REEAREETRRRY

DEBAR KA

REBZWARRGEIRZHRY HME D
pvskin CINE
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z= =2 ==F+=-A=+—HILFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. PHER @

Segment revenues and results (Continued) DI XELE (&)

Year ended 31 December 2023 BE_ZE_=F+"A=+—HILEEE

Provision of
interior design
Sale and and building
distribution of  engineering
merchandise services Total
HER RMUZERRZRTR
piEEmm BREIRRK et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTF T AR FT AREFT
Segment Revenue 2 EBUA
Segment Revenue 7 EBYA 629,482 - 629,482
Less: Inter-segment sales B D BRI E — — —
External sales HNERSH & 629,482 - 629,482
Segment cost of sales 7 EBH & A A (628,865) - (628,865)
Segment gross profit DEEF 617 - 617
Year ended 31 December 2022 BE-T-_—F+-RA=1T—HLHFE
Provision of
interior design
Sale and and building
distribution of engineering
merchandise services Total
HER RHEARR
DiHEm BEEIRRSE HEt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT AREFIT AREFIT
Segment Revenue 2 EBUWA
Segment Revenue SEUA 531,973 28,457 560,430
Less: Inter-segment sales B DEREIEE (667) - (667)
External sales SNEBEH & 531,306 28,457 559,763
Segment cost of sales D ERSHE R A (507,173) (22,271) (529,444)
Segment gross profit 72 EBEF 24,133 6,186 30,319
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z= =2 =-=F+=-A=+—HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Segment revenues and results (Continued)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in
Note 3. Segment gross profit represents the gross profit
earned by each segment without allocation of other
income, other gains and losses, distribution and selling
expenses, administrative expenses, provision for
impairment losses under expected credit loss model, net
and finance costs. This is the measure reported to the
CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and

performance assessment.
Inter-segment sales are charged at costs.

The CODM makes decisions according to operating
results of each segment. No analysis of segment asset
and segment liability is presented as the CODM does not
regularly review such information for the purposes of
resources allocation and performance assessment.
Therefore, only segment revenue and segment gross
profit are presented.

DEER (&)

DEHBARER @)

B8 &t BRI 3 ATI 2
K EBEH BRI - HBENES
DEERDREMBA - Ethlhzs K
BiE - DHRHERN  THRAX

TR ISR T 2 R E AR -
SFAE RIS A BT BRELZ EH - kB
BEBSEREB TR A
EEZWIEE

7 B SH E IR AR -

TERERRERBE DR ZRER
BIELAR - BIEZ2VNDHEERD
MEEIT  RESZERKERRE
I 4 5t &R 0 B e R IR TE HIEE B
BRAER - At - B2 5BWA KR
D ERBER ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z= =2 ==F+=-A=+—HILFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. DEHERE#E
Segment revenues and results (Continued) DI XELE (&)
Geographical information ith B EF

The Group's operations are located in the PRC (country

AEBEBURPEAERR) K&
of domicile) and Hong Kong. W o

Information about the Group’s revenue from external BRARNEBEREIINBELZWMAZE
BhEEEEFPHEZY - BEARS
EERBEECER HIREEMIRA

BE27 -

customers is presented based on the location of the
relevant customers. Information about the Group’s non-
current assets is presented based on the geographical
location of the assets.

Revenue from

external customers Non-current assets

230

RENBEEZWA FREBEE
(Note)
(Kiaz)
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-=F —=E—_— —E-=F —=E—_—
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F T ARETT AR¥FrT AREFT
The PRC F 629,482 559,763 105,263 174,302
Hong Kong BB - - 1,144 -
629,482 559,763 106,407 174,302
Note: HtaF -

Non-current assets excluded financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss and deferred tax assets.

FRBDEETBERATESARRNEREE
NOFETR IR B EE °
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z= =2 =-=F+=-A=+—HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. DEWER @)
Segment revenues and results (Continued) DEWMAREE (&)
Information about major customers EBEEEFZEH

REREFE  REEMAEEREHE
BI10% A EZ2BERZWAT -

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years
contributing over 10% of the total sales of the Group are

as follows:
2023 2022
—EBC=F T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥Fr ARETFT
Customer A EEA 496,753" N/A Ti@EA *
Customer B ZFB 63,526’ 71,932!
Customer C =FC 59,061" N/A @A *
Customer D EFD N/A RiEF * 108,100"
Customer E EPE N/A RiEA* 88,406'
Customer F EPFF N/A RER * 55,344/
Customer G PG N/A TER* 55,034
L Revenue from bulk commodity trade. RERREME S ZWA -
% The customers contributed less than 10% of the total revenue of & ZEEZEFERMASEBBKRAR10% AT °
the Group.
& At the beginning of the business, approximately RMB344,590,000 & RZEBRGBE  —T-=FHAREH
of the bulk trade sales made in 2023 were purchased by the SHE A AR % 344,590,000 0B F Y

customers'’ related parties. AR IEE o
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z= =2 ==F+=-A=+—HILFE

7. OTHER INCOME 7. HMA
2023 2022
—EC=F —=ET=-=
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥ETFT ARETF T
Interest income from trade and B 5 M E AU FRIE A K
other receivables and prepayments &1 718 2 Fl S U A - 6,479
Bank interest income RITAEUA 1 260
Rental income (Note) HEWA (K E) - 852
Sundry income HEIFA 92 117
103 7,708
Note: Hiat -

The amount represented rental income arising from operating leases of

investment properties in which the lease payments that are fixed.

ZEREHENTABE 2 REYEEEHEE
HEZBESEA -

8. OTHER (LOSSES)/GAINS, NET 8. Hfs(XZH) WA B
2023 2022
—E-=HF —E-F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AREFIT
Investment income from the KREMSHIRRERS
receivable relating to the refund of ~ JEUFRIE 2 & Wz
investment proceeds = 3,963
Loss from changes in fair value of REMERNTEZS 2B
investment properties (Note 18) (Kiz£18) (14,100) (1,766)
Net foreign exchange gains/(losses) — JMNEE[E 5 Uk zs,/ (E518) 358 (1,414) 196
Others HAth (317) 552
(15,831) 2,945
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z= =2 =-=F+=-A=+—HILFE

FINANCE COSTS 9. BBEH A
2023 2022
—E_=F ===
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T
Interest on bank borrowings IRITERF A 6,956 8,282
Effective interest expense on HRBRERZR ZERFE
convertible loan notes (Note 29) X (K12£29) 2,757 5,155
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEHNE 8 2
9,721 13,439

PROVISION FOR IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

10. AHEEBEREE TN 2RE

UNDER EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS MODEL, EERE - S5
NET
2023 2022
—E2-= —_ET-—
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARBFr
Impairment losses recognised/ BELAT B IEER
(reversed) on () 2 REEE
— contract assets — BHEE 16,600 5,019
— trade receivables — B S5 EINGIE 349,640 9,022
— other receivables and deposits — Bl IE RiE e (358) 19,139
365,882 33,180

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note

37(b).

RE RS BEER MR 37(0) ©
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11.

234

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 1. FISHiMX
2023 2022
—E_=F ===
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥FoT ARBFT
PRC EIT B EFTEH
— Current tax — BPHEAFR 18 - 3,707
— Overprovision in prior years — BEFEREEEEE (33) =
(33) 3,707
Deferred tax (Note 32) IRICFIE (Hf £ 32) 10,633 (3,590)
10,600 117

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as
an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and is exempted
from the Cayman Islands income tax.

The Company's subsidiary in the BVI was incorporated
under International Business Companies Act of the BVI
and is exempted from the BVI income tax.

No provision for taxation in Hong Kong has been made
as the Group’s income neither arises in, nor is derived
from, Hong Kong.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the
“EIT Law"”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT
Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both
years.

RARIREREFERANERFHEE
SEMKLRERRERAR - B
RENFASESAEN -

EONDPAGE PNCbLY b opies
EEREEANENRBEL BT
AR - MR S N B R B B
8% -

BERTEHBELEE  RAKK
KEZWAYFERBRELERNRAS
7 o

BEPBECEMGHE(EEMER
ED RCEMBHABE RIS - PE
M A RIAMEFE 2 B A25% o
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Financial Statements
FEEEIHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z= =2 =-=F+=-A=+—HILFE

11.

The income tax expense for the years can be reconciled
to the profit before tax per the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

R @)
ERFREHEY A RGA B REM

EEB IR ZBRRATG A ERROT

2023 2022
—EBE-=HF —=F=-
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARBTFT
(Loss)/profit before tax BRELRT (B8, &R (487,980) (39,799)
Tax at PRC EIT rate of 25% BRPBEEMEHTEE25%
STEZHE (121,995) (9,950)
Tax effect of income not taxable for BERHMKA Z FHEE
tax purpose - (1,794)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible NAJ TS 2 &
for tax purpose - 2,979
Overprovision in respect of prior years 81 4 Z B 5B RB B 15 33 -
Tax effect of temporary differences EFEBFHRERFEEREZ
utilised from previous periods k-7 (10,257) —
Tax effect of tax losses utilised from — EyFBE AR IEREEZ
previous periods Mg (376) (89)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised FRAERIRIEE B 2 RIS E 6,984 8,971
Tax effect of temporary differences ~ AR MEER 2 BT
not recognised % 115,011 —
Income tax expense for the year FAMEHAX 10,600 117
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12. (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 12. FR(EE), &R
Loss/(profit) for the year has been arrived at after FRERCaF) &M (Gt A)
charging/(crediting): AR B IRRIZES
2023 2022
—E-=HF —EF——
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AREFIT
Directors’ remuneration (Note 13) EEEHM (Mt 13) 2,911 4,568
Other staff salaries, allowances and ~ HM 8 TH & « 2B K
benefits in kind EEN 3,382 5,205
Retirement benefit scheme REME TR ZRIK
contributions for other staff RAET Bl 230 447
Equity-settled share-based payment ~ HA 8 T Z ARRA S LA
expenses for other staff R RER 2 RFAX = 4,210
Total staff costs B IR 6,523 14,430
Auditor’s remuneration 2 BBl 57 B 970 1,139
Depreciation of property, plantand ~ #1% - =M REITE
equipment (Note 16) (Krat16) 1,999 5,028
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ {FFEEEE
(Note 17) (HiaE17) 150 314
Equity-settled share-based payment &R Z AR A AR D &
expenses for consultants A2 NRAX = 6,046
Reversal of write-down of inventories s 17 & %2l — (1,666)
Variable rental payments in respect of B AEMEK
office premises and retail stores TEEM A EES IR
— Lease rental payment* — HERES IR 195 1,573
Gross rental income from investment & & ¥EHE & U A 4258
properties - (852)
Less: direct operating expenses B FREEESKRAZ
incurred for investment properties REMEmMRSIB B
that generated rental income EiEMX
during the year 18 163
18 (689)

* The amount represents the short-term leases entered with lease

term ended within one year.

ZE BRI 2 EHEE - AR —F

RAER °
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z= =2 =-=F+=-A=+—HILFE

13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 13. 55 EETTHRABREES

EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS HY 5 A

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s () EERBETHAENSH
emoluments EM
Directors’ and chief executives’ remuneration for FRNEERESITHA BB
the year, disclosed pursuant to the application BEAEA EMEREESEADFE
Listing Rules and the Hong Kong Companies FlREN T :

Ordinance, is as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-—ZE—-_=%+=-HA=+—H
LLFE

Retirement Equity-

Performance benefit settled
Salaries and related scheme  share-based
Fees allowances bonuses contributions  expenses Total
VTS T
ek  RBER  BHEAN URBA
Name of Directors ~ EE# % ik =41 A FHEfE  BE#ZREX b

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTL AREFT ARETRZ ARETT ARETR

Executive directors ~ H{TES

Ms. Hou Wei ERTL 1,440 139 = 6 - 1,585
Mr. Yang Bakang BHREE 240 - - - - 20
Mr. Liu Xianxiu AEANE 240 112 - pl| - 376
1,920 251 - 30 - 2,201
Non-executive FUTES
director
Mr. Hou Bo R 240 - - - - 240
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13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 13. 55 ESTHRABREES

EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued) R 2)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s (a) EERBESTHRAENS
emoluments (Continued) B ()
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-_Z_=%+=ZHA=+—H
(Continued) WEFEE (&)

Retirement Equity-

Performance benefit settled
Salaries and related scheme share-based
Fees allowances bonuses contributions  expenses Total
DRAXZ A
ek  ZEER  BAEA URBA
Name of Directors ~ EEH % we 2R AL GHEfR ERzRX @t

RMB'O00 ~ RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'O00 ~ RMB000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARBFR ARETT ARETT ARMTRZ AREFZ

Independent BUkYTES

non-executive

director
Mr. Ho Hin Yip (EEUE ¥k 240 - - - - 240
Mr. Ye Yihui EZBEE 110 - - - - 110
Mr.Houlianchang ~ BHE%E 120 - - - - 120

470 - - = = 470

Chief executive THER

officer
Ms. Deng Yiyi BrELt - 600 - 18 - 618
Total @t 2,630 851 - 43 - 3,529
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z= =2 =-=F+=-A=+—HILFE

13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 13. 55 EETTHRABREES

EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued) M EEN =)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s () EERBRSTHAENF
emoluments (Continued) =)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE_T_—_#+-_A=1+—H
LEFE
Retirement Equity-
Performance benefit settled
Salaries and related scheme  share-based
Fees  allowances bonuses  contributions eXpenses Total
PARRA 32 £
ek  REEE  RAUEBH  URLA
Name of Directors BEfY e 28 B FEfE ERZRAX ECh

RMBO00  RMB000  RMBOO0  RMBO00  RMB000  RMB'000
ARETT  ARKMFT ARRTT ARETT AREFT ARETT

Executive directors ~ H{TES

Ms. Hou Wei FELt 1,440 139 = 6 236 1,821
Mr. Yang Baikang WERLE 240 - - - 235 475
Mr. Liu Xianxiu AEALE 240 112 = 24 236 612
1,920 251 = 30 707 2,908
Non-executive FHTES
director
Mr. Hou Bo EREE 240 = = = 235 475
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z= =2 ==F+=-A=+—HILFE

13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 13. 55 ESTHRABREES

EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued) BN =)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s () EERBETHAENF
emoluments (Continued) B ()
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-_E_—_+-_A=+—H
(Continued) \HFE (&)
Retirement Equity-
Performance benefit settled
Salaries and related scheme  share-based
Fees  allowances bonuses  contributions expenses Total
IRAZ
ek REEE  RREN  URDA
Name of Directors e ik 4l A AR EReAx @t

RMBO00  RMB000  RMBOO0  RMBO00  RMB000  RMB'000
ARETT  ARBFT ARBTT ARETL AREFT ARETT

Independent BUkYTES

non-executive

director
Mr. Ho Hin Yip (EEUE ¥k 240 - - - 235 475
Mr. Ye Yihui ERBRE 120 - - - 235 355
Mr. Hou Lianchang RHERE 120 - - - 235 355

430 - - - 705 1,185

Chief executive THAZ

officer
Ms. Deng Yiyi BrELt - 600 - 18 - 618
Total @t 2,640 851 - 43 1,647 5,186
Performance related bonuses is recommended by RIBMHBIEABALATFMEE
the remuneration committee of the Company and @@ VYHESSWE B4
is approved by the board of directors, with DREREB 7 EBEE - BAA
reference to the Group’s operating results, FRIB R A B TISEET EE o

individual performance and comparable market
statistics.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z= =2 =-=F+=-A=+—HILFE

13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 13. £ EETHAEBRES
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) BEM =)

() EERBSTHRABNH

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s

emoluments (Continued)

The executive directors’ and chief executives’
emoluments shown above were mainly for their
services in connection with the management of the
affairs of the Company and the Group. The non-
executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services as directors of the Company and
its subsidiaries, if applicable. The independent non-
executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
mainly for their services as directors of the
Company.

In addition to the directors’ remuneration presented
above, the Group also provides other non-monetary
benefits (such as cars) to Ms. Hou Wei. During the
year ended 31 December 2023, depreciation of
property, plant and equipment in relation to these
non-monetary benefits amounted to nil (2022: nil).

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the
directors as an inducement to join, or upon joining
the Group, or as compensation for loss of office
during both years.

There was no arrangement under which a director
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive
any remuneration during both years.

(=)

EXFARZATEERESITR
ABZHFMEBRBRAKREEE
RRB] RARBER 2RI 2%
B o EXFIRIEITE T 2 Fr B
RESFEERRRRENMB LG
(WER)EFZ2HM - EXFR
ZBIFATESHFMNEER/W
FHEERRBES ZHB -

B EX 22 EFFHMIN - N
B ERL T REREMIFSE
@A (PlEnRE) - BE—T =
FT-A=+—RILFE  F#
ZEFTEEN2ME - BEK
BENEAT(ZE=F  T)-

RREFE  AEEHERNES
AT FEE R IR S INAR R B 2
IR B SR SV E BRI A 1E

RWEFE - HEEFHITHAE
EUIR L #A 5 3K ) 350 #A S A ) 5 B
ZZHE o
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z= =2 ==F+=-A=+—HILFE

13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 13. £ EETHAEBREES
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) RN (=)

(b) Employees’ emoluments (b)

The five highest paid employees of the Group
during year ended 31 December 2023 included
three directors (2022: three directors) and one
(2022: one) chief executive of the Company, details
of whose remuneration are set out in the
disclosures above. Details of the remuneration for
the year ended 31 December 2023 of the remaining
one (2022: one) highest paid employee who is

EEMH

REBRBE-_ZT_=F+_A
=t—RLEFEZRAER= T
EERE=-®REFR(ZT ==

ZHEF)RARR—H(ZE
TF —R)E=TBRAEBER -
BEZHFMFEEN L 2R
EH-HE_ZT-_=F+_A8
=+—HLEFE #HT—%&(=

neither director nor chief executive of the Company T F: —R)WIIEARRE
are as follows: EdmEETHRABZ&= T B IE
B HMEFBOT -
2023 2022
—_E_= T
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARETT

Salaries, allowance and other e R REMEY
benefits in kind A 941 941
Equity-settled share-based expense JAR% 7SS 15 LARR (7 /& ELHiE
Z X - 1,723
Retirement benefit scheme RIREF GBI
contributions 15 15
956 2,679
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13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

13.EE - RETHAERES
EdLIED,

(b) EEFHM =)

(b) Employees’ emoluments (Continued)

The number of the highest paid employee who is
not director nor chief executive officer of the
Company whose remuneration fell within the

WIEARBEFHITHRABE &
= ES B TEEFHM oA
2

following bands:

No. of employees

EEAE
2023 2022
—EB-=F T
HK$1,000,001 to 1,000,001 &L E
HK$ 1,500,000 1,500,000 7% 7T 1 -
HK$2,500,001 to 2,500,001 & LE
HK$3,000,000 3,000,000 % 7T - 1

(c) Directors’ material interest in (o) EERRE - THHEYW
transactions, arrangements or contracts ZEXER
Save for disclosed, no significant transactions, BRETIZEEE SN AND AL E R E

arrangements and contracts in relation to the
Group’s business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company and
the director’s connected party had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.

14. DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary

REFEANEMEFETBEMNEAR
RAEENEFHEETRETER
SEEER EMEA DR RN
SEXBBEEIEARS - ©HE
KREH

14. RE

HE-_ZTE-_=F+-_A=+—HItF

shareholders of the Company during the year ended 31 B BERAR R E BRI
December 2023, nor has any dividend been proposed BENRE - BREHRBITESM

since the end of the reporting period (2022: Nil).

BRNZRE(ZE-—F : &) o
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FH-—RA=+—HItFE

15. LOSS PER SHARE 15. BREE
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share NN BIEB AFELS T IR E A L #SE &
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on BINRA T EERTE ¢
the following data:
2023 2022
—E-=HF —EF——
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AREFT
Loss &8
Loss for the year attributable to METETRERREEEE
owners of the Company for the ME 2NN ABIGE
purposes of basic and diluted loss WEE
per share (498,588) (39,761)
2023 2022
—E-=HF —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AREFT
(Restated)
(F&&E7)
Number of shares K& E
Weighted average number of A EERERBEMS 2
ordinary shares for the purpose of TR NI #
basic loss per share 263,766 222,416
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary ~ B##EE H T @R 2 £
shares: Share options RE AR i - -
Weighted average number of MAETREEEEMS 2
ordinary shares for the purpose of T AR N T3 8K
diluted loss per share 263,766 222,416
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15. LOSS PER SHARE (continued)

For the period ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the
convertible loan notes and share options had an anti-
dilutive effect on the basic earnings per share and were
ignored in the calculation of diluted earnings per share.

Note: The comparative figures relating to the number of shares had
been restated as a result of the share consolidation of the

Company became effective on 13 December 2022.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
purpose of basic loss per share for the year ended 31
December 2022 has been restated for the capital
reorganisation of the Company on 13 December 2023.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the share options
had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per share and
were ignored in the calculation of diluted loss per share.

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the
convertible loan notes had an anti-dilutive effect on the
basic loss per share and were ignored in the calculation
of diluted loss per share.

15.

BREE

BHE-_T-_=FKk-_FT-_—_F+=HA
=t+—HIHE TRREREEY
BREABMNAEAREEER T8
T A% B I s 37 B 5T A % F Rl AR
ENEBRBRE,BETE -

et - BERARARMRHDEHRZTE__F+=
B+=B4% BERNHEENLERT
DHEET -

REBEBHE_ZT__F+=A
T HLEFEZEREABREZYE
BINEFHHEEEREARTR-Z
—Ft+t-_At+=HzZBRAEAHT U
EI

[l 38

|1

REBZE-_ZT-_=F+-A=+—H1t
FE BREHERANSEARE
SBIER - MFitEEREEBERTE
AAREBREEETE -

HE_T-_=-FR-FT-__F+=A
= +—HIEFE TRREREERY
EREAEBEEAEREEER - kit
ESRBEFERYESAZSETR
BREFREBE2EBETE -
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

246

FH-—RA=+—HItFE

16. Y% - MERRE

Furniture,
fixtures and
Owned Motor office Leasehold Construction
properties vehicles  equipment improvements  in progress Total
FE -
EE£ER
BENE AE BAERE HERE HEIR @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFT AREFT AR%Fr AREFT ARETT
COST A
At 1 January 2022 R-Z-_—%#—-H—H 30,080 4,248 1,184 25,839 - 61,351
Disposal i - (98) - (23,239) - (23,337)
Transfer to investment Wi/ BN EERE

properties (Note 18) BEME (B2 18) (651) - = - - (651)
Exchange realignment [ % % - 275 - - - 275
At31December 2022 and W-ZT-_—%&

1 January 2023 +ZA=t—-Ak

—T-=%—f—H 29,429 4,425 1,184 2,600 - 37,638
Disposal HE - - - - - -
Transfer to investment BRERENE

properties (Note 18) (Frz18) - - - - - -
Exchange realignment [EH AR - - - - - -
At 31 December 2023 R-B-=fF

+=HA=+—-H 29,429 4,425 1,184 2,600 - 37,638
DEPRECIATION L]
At 1 January 2022 RZZE_—_F—H—H 10,939 2,408 927 22,077 - 36,342
Provided for the year FREEFE2)

(Note 12) 932 315 60 3,721 - 5,028
Eliminated on write-off/ s/ ER AR

reclassification HHH - (93) - (23,239) - (23,332)
Transfer to investment SRR A

properties (Note 18) (FiaE18) (265) - - - - (265)
Exchange realignment [ % % - 160 - - - 160
At 31 December 2022 and  W-E-—fF

1 January 2023 +ZA=+—-Ak

“T-=%-R—H 11,597 2,790 987 2,559 - 17,933
Provided for the year FNEE (ML 12)

(Note 12) 1,475 452 31 41 - 1,999
Exchange realignment [ 5% % - (157) - - - (157)
At 31 December 2023 RZZE-=F

+-A=1+—-8H 13,072 3,085 1,018 2,600 - 19,775
CARRYING AMOUNT BREE
At 31 December 2023 R-EZ=F

+=-B=t+-8 16,357 1,340 166 - - 17,863
At 31 December 2022 NZE-—F

+-A=+—H 17,832 1,635 197 41 - 19,705




16.

17.

JIYI HOLDINGS LIMITED & —3= 8 H R A 7
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 iR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated, after taking into account of their estimated
residual values, on a straight-line method, at the
following rates per annum:

Owned properties 3.3%
Motor vehicles 5% to 10%
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 5% to 10%
Leasehold improvements 5% to 10%

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
leased out certain properties located in the PRC to
independent third parties and transferred owner-
occupied properties to investment properties. The total
carrying amounts of the properties at the respective
dates of transfer were RMB8,388,000 (2022:
RMB9,850,000).

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

e B IF AR EE

December2023 #Z—E-_=F+_A=+—HIFE

16. Y% - BMERRZE @)

LatE - BEMREBEB R RE
B RBREERREREATIIER

WE

BEM*E 3.3%
AE 5% % 10%
RE BETEEMBAERE 5% ZE10%
HEHEE 5% % 10%

HE_Z-_=F+-_A=+—HIt&F
B AEEHAMRAPBEZETYE
FTRYE=F UHERMEERS
KREME - MERSEREAH K@
w{E A ARES,388,000c (=T = —
F : AR¥9,850,0007T) °

17. ERHEEE

offices
Leasehold premises and

lands retail stores Total
MAEMER

HE L ZEBE et

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT ARETFT

At 31 December 2022 and HR=ZT==—

1 January 2023 +=RA=+—H
R-ZBZ=F
—HA—H
Carrying amount REE 6,818 249 7,067
At 31 December 2023 R-E-=%
+=A=t+-8H
Carrying amount BREE 6,668 479 7,147
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17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) 17. EREEE )

248

During the year, major items included in the movement
of right-of-use assets as followings:

FA TEEABEEREEEZE

R :

2023 2022

—s=-= T
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AREFIT
Depreciation charge (Note 12) WEER (Mt 12) 150 314
Additions to right-of-use assets EREEEEM = =
Termination of lease arrangement LI E R HE = =

Transfer to investment properties EREIREYE

(Note 18) (Htaz18) - 1

During the year, total cash outflow for leases under

FA MEGPRTHEHEZRESRH

financing activities as followings: mEmmr
2023 2022
—E=F —F-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AEBTFT
Total cash outflow for leases HEZR & RLERE 195 1,573

For both years, the Group leases various offices premises
and retail stores for its operation. Lease contracts are
entered into for fixed term of 1 year to 10 years with
fixed payment. The Group does not have the option to
purchase the leased properties at a nominal amount at
the end of the relevant lease terms or any extension/
termination options which are solely at the Group’s
discretion. The Group’s obligations are secured by the
rental deposits for such leases. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions. The Group
determines the lease period to be the non-cancellable
period based on the contractual terms of the contract.

RMEFE AEEHEZERLE
MERTEERTEZEZR -HE
BRREETFH1FR10FREER
FRRTAL o 7S [ 3f % 2 0 AR RE T
HaRFRIBABWBEREYE
TEAR B RIFTTEZ EER, &
IR - AREZEHHAREE
MEZ S FEM - BEERFIIRER
ERERERE > WH A Z AT R %R
e AEERBEANZANIGHREE
ME AT A AR -
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17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for
retail booths. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the
portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of
short term leases to which the short-term lease expense
disclosed above.

The above items of right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line method over the lease term.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
with four independent third parties (“Business Partners”)
bided the land use right with total amount of
RMB57,700,000 which is situated at Shenzhen in the
PRC. The portion invested by the Group amounted to
approximately RMB5,758,000, which represented to
9.69% of the total consideration. All acquisition costs of
land use right were fully paid by the Group and Business
Partners. During the year ended 31 December 2020, the
Group and Business Partners entered into the Land
Transfer Agreement with the local government for the
usage of the land use right with a period for 30 years
from 15 September 2020.

The land use right has been obtained as at 31 December
2021.

17. FHEEE®)

AEETHRTEENFILRBHEE -
N_E_=FR-_F_—_F+-H
=+ —H - EHEEASHEFXER
ZEBBEERT cREBEEESEM

b REEERE RN EHERRER
EITE o

HE_ZT-_ZF+_-_A=+—HI#F
B AEEENEBLIE=H([EH
BEBME ) BEMR R ERIG L
F A - 8% A ARYS7,700,0007T °
AEERENBOORARK
5,758,000 7T * 1H 4B 9.69% ° +
HWERENFTEBEXN AN IR AEE
REBEERHEZEIN -BHE_ZT
ZEFFTA=+—HLFE  XE
B REBEIERHEE HBATR L
FRAERGR THhEERSE X
HE T -_TFNATHA®LAEH30
¢ o

T RAEER _E=_—F+=A
=t+t—BHES-
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17.
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AR IF R EE

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

The Group has entered into Memorandum of
Understanding Agreement with Business Partners, a
commercial building will be constructed and developed
on the abovementioned land and the Group will be the
main constructor for the whole construction project. The
directors of the Company expected that parts of the
properties will be used as owned office and the
remaining parts will be leased out for earning rental
income when the commercial building completed.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
leased out certain properties located in the PRC to
independent third parties and transferred right-of-use
assets to investment properties. The total carrying
amount of the right-of-use assets at the date of transfer
was approximately RMB930,000 (2022: RMB1,079,000).

Restrictions or covenants on leases

In addition, lease liabilities of approximately RMB273,000
(2022: RMB43,000) are recognised with related right-of-
use assets of approximately RMB269,000 (2022:
RMB44,000) as at 31 December 2023. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other than the
security interests in the leased assets that are held by the
lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

Details of the lease maturity analysis of lease liabilities are
set out in Notes 31 and 37(b).

17. FHEEE®)

AEBDORHEBSIERHEZRBE
SEipE KR b REE AR
—EREETFT MASESIEREE
i IEEE’JE;(@ §E c KRRRIES
BH - Ao EMESRERE AN
ER AR BREERETERIR
i AH LABRER A YR ©

BHE-ZT-_=F+-_A=+—HLHF
B AEEHEETANRTEZYE
TEBUE=7 UHFEREEEER
EREME - RERAH FHESR
EZHBEAEBEY A ARKI30,0005T
(ZZ=——F : AR¥1,079,0007T) °

PR B = 2 e

Wi RAZE_=F+=-_A=+—H
EMOARE273,0007 (T -4 :
AR®43000m) cERBEREEE
REEBBENH AR 269,0007T (=
ToF: AR¥45,0007T) - B
ARBHEEEZBMERI  HE
2 N e pNE (] R 5E - HEEET
SRERERCERAR -

HEBBEZHEED RO WNFITEH M
#7131 %37(b) °
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18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
the Group leases out commercial property units under
operating leases with rentals receivable monthly. The
leases typically run for an initial period of 1 year to 15
years and no unilateral rights to extend the lease beyond
initial period held by the Group and lessees. Majority of
the lease contracts contain market review clauses in the
event the lessee exercises the option to extend.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a
result of the lease arrangements, as all leases are
denominated in the respective functional currencies of
group entities. The lease contracts do not contain
residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to
purchase the property at the end of lease term.

18. REY

HE-_ZT-_=FR-_ZF-__F+=A
=+—HLEFE  AEERELEH
ELREEEN HeATAK
B-BE-—RONPLEBBIFEISF
AN B AR A9 48 B8 5 T A AR
MTFHEBREREE - KBHHELHH
HEABRATEERBEZEKE TS

BT -

AREE W ERAEE R MAZINE R
B RASHAAEREOUEEERS
BZYEEEFE - AL ESEF
BAEEER R SEE AR
REEMREEE-

RMB’000
ARBTFT
At 1 January 2022 R-ZZE-Z—F—H—H 62,500
Transfer from property, plant and equipment BB W% - BE M &E
(Note 16) (Kizz 16) 386
Transfer from right-of-use assets (Note 17) ERBREEE (Mt 17) 1
Decrease in fair value recognised in profitor ~ RIB=ANERZ A FERD (K:E8)
loss (Note 8) (1,766)
Increase in fair value recognised upon transfer REMEZEKZRNEDE  BE&
from property, plant and equipment and REAREAREEERERSE
right-of-use assets to investment properties VISR TERR 2 A TELE N
in other comprehensive income 339
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18.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 18. REMF (&)
RMB’000
AEBTFT
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 RZZFZZF+=ZA=+—HkK
—E-=#—H—H 61,520
Transfer from property, plant and equipment — #E# 5 Y% « BE M RE (Kt 16)

(Note 16) -
Transfer from right-of-use assets (Note 17) ERBRAEEE (Mt 17) -
Decrease in fair value recognised in profitor ~ REm=AERZ A FERD (K1:E8)

loss (Note 8) (14,100)
Increase in fair value recognised upon transfer REMEE WA BME - HFE K&

from property, plant and equipment and BARGEREEEEREREMSF

right-of-use assets to investment properties R iEsR 2 2 AL N

in other comprehensive income -
At 31 December 2023 R=-TB=-=%+=-HA=+-—H 47,420

In determining the fair value of the investment properties,
the Group engages the independent qualified
professional valuer to perform the valuation. The
management of the Group works closely with them to
establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs
to the model and explain the cause of fluctuations in the
fair value of the investment properties to the board of
directors.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest
and best use of the properties is their current use. The
fair values of certain investment properties have been
adjusted to exclude prepaid or accrued operating lease
income to avoid double counting.

The following table gives information about how the fair
values of these investment properties are determined (in
particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used) at
the end of reporting period.

REERENERFER  A5EZ
BRI AERBERMGEMETHE-
AEEEEERAZETAE  UHIE
BEGMETERBARL 28E - X
AEFTUWERENEAFERDZ

REFTOERXFER  WEZER
RIEMEREBRIAS B TREY
KZRFECIFRAE - UMBREMN K
FERT R EHEWA  BREEE -

TREHABBNARESHREEZ
FREMELNFHEZEH(LERMKE
TERFTRBARE) o
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n'.F
For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Zz=-Z ==

. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 18. REWE ()

Valuation technique and Relationship of
Investment properties fair value hierarchy Significant input(s) inputs to fair value
REME hERERATFERR EXBANE BABBRATERE

2023: 10 units of a commercial building
namely Jiyi Household Material City
(with a gross floor area of 5,625.53
square metres) located at No. 2 Xianzi
Middle Road, Chengjiang Town,
Meixian District, Meizhou, Guangdong
Province, the PRC (Note 1)

“EToCF RN REERAEMNTIEE
EEE%%E$VZfM EEmER
FH 1 1I3-5fn(L AETEA5,625.53
Fhx) DE—FEEMH (HE1)

2023: Market approach
Level 2 (Note 2)

2022: Income approach
Level 3

“ECCE Bk
E2R(HE2)
2 —E AR

E34

2023: The market price per
square metre ranged from
RMB6,825 to RMB9,000

2022: Monthly rental ranged
from RMB500 to
RMB150,000

Term yield: 2.75%

Reversionary yield: 3.25%

“ECCE WSEERTA
NFARE6825TEAR
%9,0007

ZZ22F BAMS
NEARES0TE

2023: The higher the market price
per square metre, the higher
the fair value and vice versa

2022: Aslight increase in the term
yield and reversionary yield
used would result in a
significant decrease in fair
value and vice versa

“RCCE WRERER A

AEEES  R2MA

:?::ﬁ FTR 2 R %
REGURZEHEMBEEH
RHEXRERD - R TR

AR 150,0007
m%wﬂr 2.75%
RIEEE 3259

2022: 15 units of a commercial building
namely Jiyi Household Material City
(with a gross floor area of 5,070.52
square metres)located at No. 2 Xianzi
Middle Road, Chengjiang Town,
Meixian District, Meizhou, Guangdong
Province, the PRC (Note 1)

“RCCF  pERRABMTEEER
TREEENRI RN —EHFETH
15f8E T (REREA5070.52F 7
K) DE—RERMH (Wit 1)

2023: RMB47,420,000

2022: RMB61,520,000

U CE A E S
“FC=F AR%47,40,000

e

—2- 4 AR%61,520,0007

M T - ﬁ%@?ﬁ%ﬁﬂ@iiﬁﬁﬁﬁ%iﬁﬂﬁf\

WAFNAMB &R - RS

Note 1: The land use rights of the commercial building were granted
for a term expiring on 4 September 2048 for composite uses.
Note 2: BiaE2 : RIS 2 MISRFT R - 12 BF 2 B Al
IE7E B Ap B K BE ) — SRERATHETT AR A
AR B i 2 & RITUCEURE 80 B EE Y A1 2

As disclosed in the Appendix, the subject property is currently
subject to a litigation with a bank in Mianland China and the
court has ordered the bank to receive the the interests of the
subject property as compensation. Considering the potential EREEE - ZREIZEF WHESKAR
limitation in receiving rental incomes by the property owner, we BERS - HMEEEF ERATIS
have changed the valuation methodology to Market Approach & B ETRERYERRAE 12K
which is not based on the income potential of a property to HEGHREEE - BRMISERBA L
derive it's cpaital value. Since the observable quoated prices of DAL FAERNATBRRE  BEER
the comparables with adjustments are adopted in Market B8 -

Approach, it is thus regarded as a Level-2 approach.

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the
year (2022: Nil).

FAVEBBAFERE=R(—T_—
FE)-
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19. GOODWILL

For the purposes of impairment testing on goodwill,
management allocated goodwill to the Group’s cash —
generating unit (“CGU") identified. The Group’s goodwill
arising on acquisition of the subsidiaries was allocated to
the online distribution and e-marketing services and

home decoration.

19. BHE

EERERRNE
PEECHEENAEERSEL SN
((REeELEM]) AEEREKEH
BARMELANBECOEER LD
B8 N A% 1 B AR DA B SR B S A

EREHEE

Online
distribution
and Home
e-marketing decoration
services CGU CGU Total
BREDHER
AR SRS RE#EH
HeELEN HEELEEBN st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBFTE ARETT ARETE
Cost %N
At 31 December 2021 and R-ZE=-—F K
2022 —E- 4
+=ZA=+—H 37,411 15,797 53,208
Accumulated impairment ZiHEEEE
losses
At 1 January 2023 RZE—_=F
—H—H 1,175 - 1,175
1,175 - 1,175
Impairment loss ERAREREE
recognised
At 31 December 2023 i ——
+—HA=+—H 37,411 15,797 53,208
Net carrying amount BRTENFE
At 31 December 2022 NZE——
+—-—A=+—H 36,236 15,797 52,033
At 31 December 2023 RZTZ=4F
+=-—A=+—H - - -
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19. GOODWILL (continued)

Online distribution and e-marketing
services

The goodwill was arisen from a number of factors
including the expected fast growing on the multi-channel
network in the PRC, digital transformation on the
traditional distribution channels, internet sales channel
and assembled workforce of the acquired business. These
benefits were not recognised separately from goodwill
because they did not meet the recognition criteria for
identifiable intangible assets.

Home decoration

The goodwill was arisen from a number of factors
including the expected growing on the home interior
design for residential properties in the PRC and
assembled workforce of the acquired business. These
benefits were not recognised separately from goodwill
because they did not meet the recognition criteria for
identifiable intangible assets.

None of the goodwill of the CGUs recognised is expected
to be deductible for income tax purposes

Management provides the basis for
conducting impairment tests on goodwill

Due to the enormous challenges faced by the business
environment in the post pandemic era and the severe
impact on the real estate and related upstream and
downstream industries, the management of the
Company has undergone significant transformation and
adjustment of our business in the past two years to avoid
greater losses. We have significantly reduced the online
distribution and e-marketing services, and home
decoration business. At the end of the reporting period,
the operation of such businesses has been completely
suspended. Therefore, after careful evaluation, the
Company has made a full provision for impairment of the
above-mentioned goodwill as at 31 December 2023.

19. BE )

HEDHERPBEHERE

BEXREZERE SEEHKER
HIBENPEZREPE  FRoH
RENBFCEL EREHERE
ARBRBRBEHNEEAT - BARIL
PRAAIBAETR & ENERIRE
B 5% 5 M o 3 2 B ) B R

KRB

BEREZEREZ  BRBEHKSR
HIBRNPBEEEMERENIRE
ARBWBRENERAT - BRL
NE A BRI ETLEENERZE
B2 5 M s 3 L B ) R R

EHRARTELBEVNBHERHTS
SAFT{SA B B T LAFIRL ©

EEERETHEREARZ
&5

HRRREFR TEEREAENE
REKE A R P EE I = T AERETT %
BXBTHERRNEE  ARFH
MREXEANER  BEENIM
FHEBETTRANERFE - X
BB T 4% £ 85 R AR BE 0 $H AR TS
ARREFREER RARSHKR
EEE2EFLETZEXHHHE -
HEARBREERFER R2FT==
FT-A=+—AYLHEmELETT
EEAHERE -
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AR IF R EE

GOODWILL (continued)
Impairment assessment
Online distribution and e-marketing services

The recoverable amount of this unit has been determined
based on a value-in-use calculation with reference to a
professional valuation for the year ended 31 December
2023. The calculation uses cash flow projections based
on financial budgets approved by management covering
a five-year (2022: five-year) period. Cash flows beyond
the projection period are extrapolated using an estimated
growth rate of 2% (2022: 3%) per annum. The pre-tax
rate used to discount the forecast cash flows is 19.54%
(2022: 26.97%) per annum.

During the years ended 31 December 2023, provision for
impairment loss on goodwill arising from online
distribution and e-marketing services amounted to
RMB36,236,000 (2022: RMB1,175,000) was recognised.

Home decoration

The recoverable amount of this unit has been determined
based on a value-in-use calculation for the year ended 31
December 2023. The calculation uses cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a five-year (2022: five-year)
period. Cash flows beyond the projection period are
extrapolated using an estimated growth rate of 2%
(2023: 3%) per annum. The pretax rate used to discount
the forecast cash flows is 13.87% (2022: 19.24%) per
annum.

During the years ended 31 December 2023, provision for
impairment loss on goodwill arising from online
distribution and e-marketing services amounted to
RMB 15,797,000 (2022: nil) was recognised.

19. BE )

ZAIEE R
R L7 85 RAT# E R

BEZEGHE BE-_T=-_=F+=
A=+—BLEE Bz 4E
CHBEFEREBEEFEAEZMETE
HEFERAReREEN - UEE
BHERERF(ZTE_ZF : AF)
HIM BT BTREE AE % - iR TEAIH ~
HeEmEfREIEREREF2% (=
T —F 1 3%)EHc TEARSRE
RATRRI R AT F19.54% (=T ==
F:26.97%) °

HE_T_=F+_A=+—HL®F
B ERRARLEDHERBEEHERYS
EEfZEEREEBBEBEEARE
36,236,000 L(Z T —=F: AR¥
1,175,000 7T) °

EY=£3.]

BE_T_=—Ft+_A=1t—HLF
R tEUZ—M&@i%ﬁETﬂ%ﬁHF
Bt EEMEE - stEERAR
SmETEA L/{gfiﬁt/& AEDF

(ZEZZF: AF) BN KREE R
Ko BBRABZESREFERMG
AEEREEF2%(ZT__F :3%)
HEE - TBRARE S REHAMBER AT
F£13.87% (ZF "4 :19.24%) °

BHE-ZT-_=F+-_A=+—HLHF
B EHRAGRLOHERAEBEHERSG
EXCEEBREBBEEBEARK
15,797,000 L (ZF = —4F : &) ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z= =2 =-=F+=-A=+—HILFE

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 20. RAFEFABZNEHEE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss BAFEFAERENEREERES
represent long-term equity investments (Note 37(c)). R REHR & (MisE 37(c)) °
21. INVENTORIES 21. &
2023 2022
—E-=HF T F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARB¥ T AR®T T
Finished goods RURK i 1,448 1,218
Inventories represent goods held for resale and interior FERFEFBEEZEmNMNEAR R

design and building engineering projects.

The provision for write-down of inventories is generally
made on those inventories which are sold subsequently
with the prices lower than the carrying amounts while
the reversal of provision for write-down of inventories is
only recognised for those inventories which are sold
subsequently with the prices higher than the carrying
amounts.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, reversal of
write- down of inventories amounted to 0 (2022:
RMB1,666,000) was recognised.

BETIEIRA -

WORL 7 B B B R B IR B R IME R R
HEBERNEZFEE MM
BEEREH BEERERES N
AR EBRIEZFERR -

HE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HLF
B EREIAMBFERELDOTL(=ZZ
— % AR¥1,666,0007T) °
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22,

258

CONTRACT ASSETS 22. EHEE
2023 2022
—E-=HF —EF——
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARETFT
Contract assets arising from: BUATNEEEEZALHEE
Services contracts for provision of RHEARGTRELETIRRZ
interior design and building ARG E 4
engineering services 318,214 (39,944)
Less: allowance for expected credit & : TEEIE BB EEE
losses (29,944) (13,344)
288,270 364,929

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s right
to consideration for work completed and not billed
because the rights are conditioned on the Group’s future
performance in achieving specified milestones at the
reporting date on construction works. The contract assets
are transferred to trade receivables when the rights
become unconditional.

Contract assets, that are not expected to be settled
within the Group’s normal operating cycle, are classified
as current and non-current based on expected settlement
dates.

At the end of the reporting period, RMB29,944,000
(2022: RMB13,344,000) was recognised as an allowance
for expected credit losses on contract assets. The Group's
trading terms and credit policy with customers are
disclosed in Note 37(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.

BHBETZEANKEFE TR LR
FHREN THRRIKENENAR -
FRERZFEMBORN AN EB R RE
BHIs LT RRERIEE B REHR
KRR o % FRMMA S ESRME Bl
BHEEBBEE SRR -

BRI EARENERSERNA
BENASNEE REBMEEBH
DRRB/RE K IERE °

RS E R AR 29,944,000
(20224 : AR 13,344,0007T) FER
RENEEBRHEEEBERE A%
EREZFNE SRR EERREER
R E IR FE37(b) ©
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22. CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued) 22. EHEE®
Typical payment terms of services contracts for provision REEEANRTREETREZREE Y
of interior design and building engineering which impact 2RI (EEERERZE X
on the amount of contract assets recognised are as BESE)WMT :
follows:

o The Group’s services contracts include payment
schedules which require stage payments over the
construction period once certain specified
milestones are reached. The Group requires certain
customers, other than the local government or with
those of long term relationship, to provide upfront
deposits ranged from 20% to 60% of total contract
sum as part of its credit risk management policies.
When the Group receives a deposit before interior
design and building engineering services
commences, this will give rise to contract liabilities
at the start of a contract, until the revenue
recognised on the specific contract exceeds the
amount of the deposit.

o The Group also typically agrees a retention period
ranging from one to five years for 3% to 5% of the
contract value. As at 31 December 2023, the
retention receivables amounted to approximately
RMB46,875,000 (2022: RMB46,875,000) are
included in contract assets until the end of the
retention period as the Group’s entitlement to this
final payment become unconditional upon
expiration of the defects liability period and are
transferred to trade receivables.

o The Group classifies contract assets as current when
the Group expects to realise them in its normal
operating cycle.

REENRBEE D BIEN RERE
* —BEINETEECRERER -
RIZERA M T BRI VE L BE ER AT 3K o
REBEXRETER (EHEM
FFRPEENTFRIN) ZH
NTFELETE20% E60% 2 Al
Bz EREGERRERERK
BZ—HD RAKBEREANR
BT K SR T 72 AR A B 46 BT UK ER IR
SR BRENRBKELESD
BfE BEERBTANERZK
ABHZRSSBEAIL -

AEENMBERERENEEZ
3% E5% BTN T —ERF 2R
B - R =_=F+= A
=+t—H BRRBESHARE
46,875,000t( T = —F : A
R #46,875,0007) st AB K E
EEZRBHERAL  REAR
RREEERERE NEE K
N 5% B 18 SR 2 RE R X 2 AR 1
NEREE 5 R o

EAEEEPZEANEERRN
HIFREBEHNERE - A&
EeRENEESERRE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z= =2 ==F+=-A=+—HILFE

22. CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued) 22. EHNEE®)
Movement in the contract assets and the contract HE—_E_—FERg-_T-_—_F+=-A4
liabilities balances during the years ended 31 December =+ —HLFEENEERGHARE
2023 and 2022 are as follows: R BB ¢
2023 2022
—E_=F ===
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FRT ARET T

At 1 January n—H—H 364,929 350,521
Rights of consideration for works METIERARZIEE

amplitude but not yet billed ERAE 2 #E A - 31,018
Transfer from the contract assets HEBREHNEEERER

recognised to trade receivables Z FEW R T8 (60,059) (11,591)
Less: allowance for credit losses B EEEERE (16,600) (5,019)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—8H 288,270 364,929
Details of the impairment assessment are set out in Note BB RT (A I E R 5E 37(b) ©
37(b).
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E_E_=F+_A=+—HILFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

For the year ended 31 December 2023

23. ES R HEMEBWRIEURA

PREPAYMENTS f+FRIE
2023 2022
—E-=F —EF-_—
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARETFIT
Trade receivables from contracts BEFSHNNE S EUWFRIE :
with customers:
Due from third parties: JEUWEE = FRIA ¢
— sale and distribution of — HE KD HE M@
merchandise 283,509 225,583
— interior design and building — EARGTRELEIRE
engineering services Ak 75 50,827 50,827
Due from a related party: JE W — & R EsE 5 ROR
— sale and distribution of — HE KD HE @
merchandise 431 431
334,767 276,841
Less: allowance for expected credit & : TEEIE BB EEE
losses (16,589) (14,797)
318,178 262,044
Other receivables H{th fE W K8
Contract performance deposits BRI (Kt (a)

(Note (a)) 6,649 6,649
Project tender deposits (Note (b)) TRBERS (K b)) 65,844 65,844
Other tax recoverable H b AT Ur B #5718 1,447 1,832
Rental deposits MEZS 165 165
Receivables relating to the refund of & & P18 s IBRE R

investment proceeds (Note (e)) FEW /IR (Bt 52 (e)) 21,231 21,231
Others H 9,336 11,490

104,672 107,211
Less: allowance for expected credit & : TEEIEEEEREE
losses (23,733) (24,091)
80,939 83,120
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLESAND 23. €5 R EMEWSE U RTE

PREPAYMENTS (continued) NFRIE (&)
2023 2022
—=E-= T
RMB'000 RMB’000

AREFT ARETT

Prepayments FNRE
Prepayments for purchase of goods BB & @ MIZHRE 2
and provision of services (Note (c)) TEAS FRIE (AfaE () 347,848 372,563
Less: allowance for credit losses B TREME B E IR EE (347,848) —
Prepayment for acquisition of WHER B % 2 FAfT IR
investment properties (Note (d)) (Bta£(d)) 33,977 33,977
33,977 406,540
Notes receivable arising from bulk ArEmB S EBELED
commodity trading business FEML R AR (Bt a2 (1)
(Note (f)) 100,000 77,710
Trade and other receivables and B 5 Ik E A FEUGRIE DA &2
prepayments TR FRIE 533,094 829,414
Analysed as Vaiip="
Non-current B2 33,977 33,977
Current i) 499,117 795,437
533,094 829,414
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Zz=-Z ==

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS (continued)

(a)

(b)

(0

Contract performance deposits are advanced to
customers at the beginning of interior design and
building engineering services contracts. The
deposits are repaid to the Group based on the
progress of services and terms of the contract.

The contract performance deposits are expected to
be recovered within one year from the end of the
reporting period.

Project tender deposits are advanced to potential
customers during the contract tendering period.
The deposits are repaid to the Group when the
tendering process is completed.

As at 31 December 2023, included in the balance
of an amount of approximately RMB347,848,000
(2022: RMB372,563,000) represented a
prepayment for purchase of goods mainly for the
new construction of a commercial building in the
PRC.

2. EZRHEMENRE

AR IE R R 5E

F+ZRA=+—HItFE

n'.F

XA LK A

NERENE )

(a)

(b)

(@)

AHBHZEERENRTRER
REAORBERN TR
c M BIRRIGHEE REDIE
RIETAEE -

T

¢ T H B
RS
o

il

i}

i
5

7]

BHEHNENRS BN RS HHE
REFF—FAHKE -

ITRAGReNENBEHAR
NTEBEREP - ZERBEEF
TERRERIE TAER -

RZE-_=F+=-—A=+—8"
REEL AR5 347,848,000 T (=
T F : AR¥372,563,007T)
EErEpRP BN —EEmEe
FHEEERZENNRIE -
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLESAND 23. E5 R EMEWSE U RTE

264

PREPAYMENTS (continued) NFRIE (&)

() (Continued) (o (#&)
At the end of 2023, in the post pandemic era, the M2023FK  HREBER &
business environment continue to face numerous BIRIB MM E T R ke &
challenges, and economic recovery will take time. EEER . BREENsEE
Since the implementation of austerity measures to B EATEEES N EEETE
curb real estate speculation and regulate high AZR - REIEHEST R IEEERER
housing prices, the Chinese real estate industry is HHKEIRE  BESEMERD
facing a difficult business environment. With the HERTE  BEHENK ETNFEE
continuous thunderstorms of various real estate TEHZ TIIEDRIBRIEE -
developers, the real estate and related upstream Mz ZEEWMEERFER - 5
and downstream industries have been severely ERRE - EZEE =N KEH
impacted. In addition, the transparent prices of B T _E i 57 55 ZOIE A [B] Yk
building foundation materials and extremely low W WETRAESFERRIE ° &
profits. In this context, the Group carefully Bl WMASEARE IR
evaluated the recovery status of the above- TERETE2ELNE - KEH
mentioned funds and made significant impairment EEEBELS NEITERERR[RF
adjustments. However, a significant provision for BF o B SR IR S 28
impairment does not necessarily mean that it BEW - AEE—FHENRE
cannot be fully recovered. While the management AR -
of our group is striving for business transformation,
they are still working hard to collect historical
payments in order to further improve the
company’s financial situation.

(d) The properties were in the process of development (dy ZEVHEERBIMERZEH

of commercial premises by an independent property
developer. The properties are located in Meizhou in
the PRC and planned to be completed by 2024.
The management intends to lease out the
properties for earning rental income when the
properties are fully constructed. Full consideration
was paid and no further cash outflow is expected
to be paid for the properties.

BREESH - ZFWELRNT
BN AER T _MF 5%
T -BEEHRRNDEZHEKR
BELBBEARRESZEA - &
HXARE BRFATEHERZ
EMEXNBRERA
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z= =2 =-=F+=-A=+—HILFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS (continued)

(e)

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, included in the
balance of an amount of approximately
RMB21,231,000 represents the principal and
interest receivable from the two guarantors (the
“Guarantors”) of the Company’s investment
in Xinfeng Culture Media Limited ({5 & X {t & 1%
B BB 2 7)) (“Xinfeng Culture”) in pursuant to a
repayment agreement (the “Repayment
Agreement”) signed between the Company and
the Guarantors on 1 November 2021, in which the
Guarantors agreed to refund the investment
principal of approximately HK$21.32 million, with a
maturity date of 30 April 2024 and a 20% annual
interest rate. As at 31 December 2022, the
Company has received payment for the first two
instalments, amount to HK$2,000,000. However,
the Guarantors had defaulted in the repayment of
the instalment since 31 August 2022. The Company
is in the course of seeking legal advice and will take
appropriate legal actions against the Guarantors
and enforce the Company’s rights under the
Repayment Agreement, where appropriate,
including but not limited to, (1) enforcing the
Company'’s right to sell the acquired 20% of the
issued shares of the Target Company back to the
vendor (the “Vendor”) under the terms of the
acquisition agreement (the “Acquisition
Agreement”) at a consideration of HK$21.32
million, (2) demanding the Guarantors to repay all
the unpaid interest under the Repayment
Agreement and, (3) demanding the Vendor and the
Guarantors to repay all the costs and losses that the
Company incurred from the Acquisition Agreement
and Repayment Agreement. For the background
and details of the acquisition of 51% issued share
capital of Xinfeng Culture, the Repayment
Agreement and the profit guarantee provided by
the two guarantors, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 19 February
2019 and 10 October 2022.

2. EGNEMEVRREURTE
FRE @)

(e)

MNZE—=FKE T —_F+—=
A=+—HB BEHARK
21,231,000 LR R IR AN A 7] B 42
RAR—ZE-_—F+—A—8B%
FIMERBE(ERBE] &
I ERABREBERERERSL
21 NBEEBT: NHEEAE
“HMFENA=ZFTRH TR XA
20%) ' B AR AIIREFEES
IbEHEARAR (L3 B
MEERATERAD RS R
MEBE-RZTEZ_F+=A
=+—H  ARAFEWERE R E
<} %2,000,00078 7T ° A 1M ¥&
RAB-Z-_—F/\A=+—8H
BIEREEDBNR - ARAFIH
ESSKERER  UHHERA
KEGEE 2T RITEARAT
RERMZEE TOERN - (&
A)BREETRR : ()REKE
W ([ B W ]) AU R SK - &l
MITARAFUARENNEEE
TEBA(ER])ECFTKEER
Z AR 20% BB TR D HREF -
Q)ERERABEERBZRET
WAERNFE - RQ)EKRES
RERAEBEARR G AWE T ZE
RERMZEMEENTBKAR
B8 - BEBEEEXES1%E
BIRA - BEXBREEMEBER
ARENRFNEROS = KF
B #2HEARRAHPAET
—NWNEFZA+hBER=ZZT=Z=

+A+HRZRAE -
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLESAND 23. E5 R EMEWSE U RTE

266

PREPAYMENTS (continued) NFRIE (&)
(e) (Continued) (e) (#&)
Given the Guarantors had defaulted in the EBENERARGEEED BN

(f)

repayment of the instalment, after taking due
consideration on the repayment ability of the
Guarantors and the recoverability of the amount,
the Group recognised an allowance for impairment
loss for the full amount of outstanding principal
and interest receivable from the Guarantors, which
is recorded in note 10 to the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and
2022, the Group had entered into several trade
receivable (the “Notes”) factoring arrangements
and transferred those trade receivables to banks or
other financial institutions (the “Arrangements”).
Under the Arrangements, the Group may be
required to reimburse the banks or other financial
institutions for loss of interest if any trade debtors
have late payment after the maturity date, which is
normally for one year terms from the initial day, or
subsequently found default. As such, the Group
retained the substantial risks and rewards, which
include default risks relating to such Notes, and

()

REEZERERANEREN R
TENAEEER R-F—=
FR-ZB-__F+_A=1—
B AREGERERANEE
AREEAEEME(RARES
Bt % R M EE 10) HERIREE 15
B e

 E B =F R
+ZA=+—HLFE ~5E
ERIVZEESRKKREAE(E
BDRERZE  BZEEIHEK
RIEER ERITHEM SRR
(TRHE]D) - BIBEBLHE - WEMRE
SEBEARIBRABRBEAS
Hie—FHE) TR R E %
BIFEN  ANEERAERRITH
HtemgEEEN Bk -f
ER AEBEREBBREZS
SENEBENRBREANEE
R R EHR - B NEEEE

accordingly, it continued to recognise the full BEEN S EmMERRE | E
carrying amounts of the Notes as “note U Z= 4 | DA&*HFZ%E’]%E T@Zﬁﬂﬂ
receivables” and the associated borrowings from SRMEESTR - R —_=F
banks or other financial institutions. As at 31 F=HE=F=8 ¢ ;ASE,E}FE’\]%
December 2023, the original due date of such FEHENF-_ZE-_MNME-_AZH
Notes are ranging from February to May 2024 AzRB(ZEZ—_F: ZZZE

(2022: original due date of such Notes were
ranging from July to December 2023).

MREBHENT_E—_=F+A
§:+_ﬂ ZF'EEJ) ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z= =2 =-=F+=-A=+—HILFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

PREPAYMENTS (continued)

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables, net
of allowance for credit losses, presented based on the

invoice dates:

NERENE )

VAR 7 210 3%

2. EZRHEMENRE

XA LK A

SZEHZINE S RK
R (IR EEBERERE) B RE DT -

2023 2022

—E-=F —E
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARMTF T
Within 6 months NMEARA 86,320 156,403
6-12 months ~NET @A 19,185 20,470
1-2 years —ZEMF 127,502 37,602
Over 2 years 1B 18 R 85,171 47,569
318,178 262,044

As at 31 December 2023, included in the Group’s trade
receivable are debtors with aggregate net carrying
amount of approximately RMB194,256,000 (2022:
RMB105,641,000) which are past due as at the reporting
date. It is not considered as in default by considering the

RZZTZ=F+=ZA=+—H" KM@
FEAREAH AR 231,858,0007T (=
T F : AR¥105,641, ooomz
BB AREEE S EWFIE - ZE
BRmEBEEARE - %FilJMi?féZ

background of the trade receivables and historical SERWGIENE = RZEE 5 - R
settlement arrangement of these trade receivables. The HEWBREENZY - GEBHRIEL

Group does not hold any collateral over the balances.

TR BEL - AEEL LD
B B EAERS -

B 5 M E Ah UK IR E R A FFIE
MR 37(b) ©

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables are set out in Note 37(b).
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z=-Z ==

24,

25.

268

AR IF R EE

RESTRICTED CASH

As at 31 December 2023, the restricted cash mainly
represents the security deposits provided to secure
certain bank borrowings.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

The bank balances, including time deposits with original
maturities less than 3 months, carry interest at prevailing
market rates which ranged from 0.01% to 0.2% (2022:
0.01% to 0.3%) per annum.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
performed impairment assessment on bank balances and
concluded that the probability of defaults of the
counterparty banks are insignificant and accordingly, no
allowance for credit losses is provided. Details of
impairment assessment are set out in Note 37(b).

FH-—RA=+—HItFE

24,

25.

ZERERE

RZE—_=F+_A=+—"H ' ZR
FIIR &£ B AERE TRITERM
RIERIRIFZE -
BITHEBRRERS

RITEHR (BEER=EANUREIEH 2
EHER)RBOIMBENEN T
0.01% £02%(=ZZF = =% :0.01%
2£03%):H8 -

BE_T_-—Ft+_A=1t—HLF
B - REBEHRITERETRIERE -
BHEmAYF HRITZEN RN
W AEKR Hit - HEFREEER
B - RMERT A RIS E N MRE37(0)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z= =2 =-=F+=-A=+—HILFE

26. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) RELATED 26. FEUR ~(FE{T) BB 5 R IE
PARTIES

The amounts due from/(to) related parties are non-trade R/ (FE) BB T B R IEE 518
related, unsecured, interest-free and repayable on - mIEH . R NBERERKERE -
demand.

Maximum amount
outstanding during the

year
ended 31 December
BEZE+t=-HA=+—H

LFEZESHREMNEE

2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-=F —FT_—_— —EB-=F T

Related parties R RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMFT ARETT AR¥TRT ARETT

Ms. Hou Wei (e (207) 3,011 (207) 3,011
Meizhou Xikang IR

Construction Company ~ TI2HR AR *

Limited* (“Meizhou (MegMEmEl) -

Xikang") (1§ T1E R REERRZ L

BETRRBRARD, RIRTHNE

an entity significant FEH—K

influenced by a close £8)

family member of Ms.

Hou Wei = 934 = 934

(207) 3,945

& The English name is for identification purpose only & EXETBERZ
Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note BAERT (d 2 A B E M &2 37(b) ©
37(b).
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27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 27. EZ R HMENTIE
2023 2022
—E_=F —E—_—
RMB’'000 RMB’000

AREFT ARETT

Trade payables 2 e 5IE 41,768 44,301
41,768 44,301
Other payables H it B FIE
Salaries and staff welfare payables ~ Eff#< &8 TREA 5,597 4,182
Deposits received for building BEREETRRRGRS
engineering services 4,361 4,361
Other tax payables H A R 718 12,132 16,456
Withholding income tax in respect of & RB% SIK {2 TEFIFTIS L
dividend payment 16,000 16,000
Bank interest payable FEATERITH.& 11,056 4,100
Provision for litigation and legal FRIEREREER Q)
expenses (a) 28,028 —
Other payables H th & < 3KIB 43,488 30,846
Trade and other payables B R HMENRIE 162,430 120,246
(@ The amount includes accrued litigation costs, (@) ZELFEETIRAMFLE RE
preservation fees, liquidated damages, interest, and E.E2Ne - FERSBEZE
penalty interest. Details are disclosed in the IBEN AR E 2 M8 o
Appendix.
(b)  The following is an aged analysis of trade payables b) UTHRENRBZRHZEIIN ES
presented based on the invoice date. FERIBZ BRER AT ©
2023 2022
—E-=HF —E-F
RMB'000 RMB’000

AREFT ARETT

Within 6 months NEA A 144 10,122
Over 1 year Bl —F 41,624 34,179
41,768 44,301
() The credit periods on purchases of goods and (¢ BEERERSBREZEEHN
subcontracting services ranged from 0 to 180 days. F0ZE180H °
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28. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 28. RITRHEMMER
2023 2022
—E_=F —=E-—
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Secured fixed-rate bank borrowings B K E T FI RFITE K
(note (a)) (Ktat (@)
— Within one year or on demand — —FARIRER 154,325 154,328
— After one but within two years — —FERERMFEA = —
154,325 154,328
Discounted commercial bills and i A BRR RE IR P E R &
discounted Letter of Credit that BEIRZ 5 (KA 23(f)
were not yet due (Note 23(f)) 100,000 77,710
Unsecured loan from a shareholder 2R B — &% HR 2 EHFAE K
(note (b)) (KtaE b))
— Within one year or on demand — —FARIREXK — -
Unsecured loan from Ms. Deng Yiyi, KB AEB/THRABEHBERE
the Chief Executive Officer of the ZE(ERES) 2 EEA
Group, as director” =&/
— Within one year or on demand — —FRNIREXK = =
Unsecured loan from other unrelated R B E b FERE A 7] 2 Fi
companies HEN
— Within one year or on demand — —FERFHIRERK 2,760 3,360
Total bank and other borrowings RITRE M B AR 257,085 235,398
Less: Loans due within one yearor & : DB ARBEBEZ —F
on demand classified as Az ZKEH 2
current liabilities B3k (257,085) (235,398)
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28. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

272

FH-—RA=+—HItFE

28. SRITREMER &)

(Continued)

Notes: Hifet -

(a) As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the bank borrowings were (a) MNIEBE—=F{_BE-_—F+-_A=+—
secured by property, plant and equipment, investment properties, B RITEZEYE  BERSEE  KE
land use right in PRC recognised as right-of-use assets and the Y FERAFEREEE 2B E L MER
property in the PRC held by Chief Executive Officer. The amount PELA RATIR B P P B B4R - 3K
of assets pledged are disclosed in the Note 38. WEE 2 R BEN AR E RMTE38 -
The bank borrowings were also jointly guaranteed by Ms. Hou SRAE TR ERR A - R B R A (B
Wei and Mr. Deng Jianshen, spouse of Ms. Hou Wei. ZEREE) B AR -

The secured fixed-rate bank borrowings are denominated in BIRAEENRBITETIAAREE -
RMB.
Details of charges over the bank borrowings are disclosed in Note SRITERERFBHEERHE3S
38.
Details of overdue and litigation of the bank borrowings are SRITEFBE R FAFIBEBERARE 2
disclosed in the Appendix. Bt 5% o
The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal to AEBIRITRERREMA RIERZERF
contracted interest rates) on the Group's bank borrowings and R(BENREAFR)SHBENT -
other companies’ borrowing are as follows:
2023 2022
—E-= —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#FT ARKETIT
Effective interest rates (per annum): BERFE(FF) :
Fixed-rate borrowings [ 7 Fl 2= fE 3R 4.6%-14.40%  4.94%-12.00%
(b) The loan from a shareholder is unsecured and interest-free. (b) KE—BRRZERAEEARGRE o
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29. CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES

On 25 June 2019, the Company issued convertible loan
notes in an aggregate amount of HK$102,100,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB89,817,000), bearing
coupon interest of 6% per annum to eight independent
third parties (the “CB holders”). The convertible loan
notes are denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The
convertible loan notes entitle the CB holders to convert
them into ordinary shares of the Company at any time
during the conversion period at a conversion price of
HK$1.0 per convertible loan note, which is subject to the
adjustments pursuant to the terms and conditions of the

convertible loan notes as follows:

(i) a maximum of not more than one-third of the
principal amount of the convertible loan notes held
by such CB holders may be converted into
conversion shares from the twelfth month after the
issue of the convertible loan notes;

(i) a maximum of not more than one-third of the
principal amount of the convertible loan notes held
by such CB holders may be converted into
conversion shares from the fourteenth month after
the issue of the convertible loan notes;

(i) all the remaining of the principal amount of the
convertible loan notes held by such CB holder may
be converted into conversion shares from the
sixteenth month after the issue of the convertible

loan notes.

29. AIRIRERE

RZZE—NENAZ+HB XA F
MNBBLE=F (A RRESFEE
A D) ZE1T48%8 102,100,000 7T (M &
R ARE 89,817,000 7T) KA A IE &
REE  BEF6% 2EmMERTE -
AR EREEABITEHE - TR
ERERE T RRESFE AT
FA 8 4 HA RS P9 (E (] B RS 3R IR B B 1)
AR EREER1.08 T (AIRE TR
BRERER 2GR AR FE) Al
RESREBERARNEEBRAT :

() ZFARBRESHEAFEZA
BEEREREY  RZTEB=
DZ— AT EA R A ER
REBTRET_EARERA
S

(i) ZFARBRESHEAFEZA
BEERREY  5ZTEB=
D2 AR EA R A ER
SEBTRETHEAEERS
SRt

(i) ZFABRBRESHEAFEZA
BEERERBETNABERTAE
BARNABBEERZBRETERS
TN {E A B S AR o
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29.

274

CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (Continued)

The convertible loan notes shall mature on the date
falling eighteenth month after the date of issue. The
Company may, at any time prior to the maturity date,
redeem all or part of the outstanding convertible loan
notes at the redemption price of 105% of the
outstanding principal amount of the convertible loan
notes before the first anniversary of the date of issue and
108.5% of the outstanding principal amount of the
convertible loan notes after the first anniversary of the
date of issue, together with the accrued interest incurred
before the period from the redemption date and interest
for the period from the redemption date to the maturity
date at the rate of 6% per annum, by giving a prior
notice of not less than thirty days to the CB holders of
such convertible loan notes subject to the terms and
conditions of the convertible loan notes. Any convertible
loan notes outstanding on the maturity date shall be
redeemed by the Company subject to the terms and
conditions of the convertible loan notes.

At the maturity date (i.e. 24 December 2020), if the
convertible loan notes have not been converted or
redeemed, they will be redeemed at 108.5% of par,
unless the CB holders and the Company mutually agree
to extend the maturity date to 24 June 2021 (“Extension
Period”). The CB holders shall exercise the conversion
right to convert the convertible loan notes into
conversion shares during the Extension Period at the
conversion price of HK$1. Interest of 6% will be paid
quarterly up until the settlement date.

29. TEAREREE &)

AHREERZEANETAHREKSE
TNEAE B2 - KRR AR EH
BRIV ERERE - R ERRE
ZIERR AR RRT - A% Al AR
EREBZAHRBRESFEAZHLD
PR=ZTHWNERBM  URNHTH
H—REiRAIBREERER 2 RE
BACHEI05% 2 BEERNETH
H-RERRUBEERFERRE
BARLE1085% ZfBEE  ERBE
[ B 5 A8 HA i Al P 51 B AT LB K
&R HEAE S A BEAF AR 6%
AEZHNEER 2By REER
BMREREE REHARAREBEZME
I AT A B R R R A R AN R R Al
BREREIE 2 G MR ARR T T 2A
B e

REB (BT -_FF+-_A-+@

B)  fHA[RRE R E R M AR E e
fEE - AIEBIZEMmEME L 108.5% &

Bl - BRIFRI R AR E R A ARA QR
HEREKIBELEHE_T - —F
NAZTHEA(TEEEE D - ATk
EHIHE ARBITRLGRE - AREH
HERNEABRE VBT R A BRER
RBERBRHIBIRD - LA6%FE 27
ERRNEERRIRFTESR -
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29. CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (continued)

At initial recognition, the equity component of the
convertible loan notes amounted to approximately
RMB2,811,000, net of the transaction cost attributable
to equity component of approximately RMB16,000, was
recognised separately from the liability component. The
equity component is presented inequity as “convertible
loan notes equity reserve”. The early redemption option
is considered as closely related to the host debt. The
effective interest rate of the liability component is
16.50% per annum.

On 24 December 2021, the convertible bonds in the
amount of HK$60,544,445 (equivalent to approximately
RMB49,501,000) have been converted into 60,544,445
conversion shares by the CB holders, and the remaining
convertible bonds in the amount of HK$41,555,555
(equivalent to approximately RMB33,976,000) are
extended to 31 August 2022 (the “Extended CB Maturity
Date”) after mutually agreed by the Company and CB
holders. Except for the above, all the other terms and
conditions remain unchanged.

29. TEREFTEE »)

RN ZHERE - JRBRERER E
I AR 2,811,000 7T (B
EROELEZRIRNANARE
160ww HEEED D FAER &
mHIREZAZ [AIRREFRREZ

*mﬁﬁJEEIJ R R n&%fﬁ;’zﬁ
AETEXZRYERE - aEXO 2 E
BREFIE 5 16.50% o

ﬁ’ra“

RZTZ—F+=-A=+WMH ' ¢
60,544,445 TT(HHE R D AR
49,501,000 7T ) K AT AR B35 B B AT i
REFFA ARLIRE 60,544,445 1% H
MG - MEARRQ B EA R ESFE
EAHBZEER BT8R
41555555 TT(HEE RO AR
33,976,000 7T) M AT AR EFEREZ
T —FNA=ZF+—HA(KERTH
REFEIEHE]) o Br Lo - FREE
M AETR AR R T -
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29.

276

CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (Continued)

As at the date of modifications, taking into account the
terms of the extension, the fair value of convertible loan
notes were amounted to approximately HK$68,366,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB56,886,000) and
approximately HK$45,411,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB37,128,000) on 24 June 2021 and 24
December 2021, of which the fair values of liability
component and equity component were amounted to
approximately HK$68,333,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB56,859,000) and approximately
HK$33,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB27,000) on
24 June 2021, and approximately HK$45,389,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB37,110,000) and
approximately HK$22,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB18,000) on 24 December 2021 respectively. As a
result, the Group recognised a gain on modification of
convertible loan notes of approximately RMB5,360,000
in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income and transferred the amount of
approximately RMB10,000 from “convertible loan notes
equity reserve” to “retained profits” in the consolidated
statements of changes in equity for the year ended 31
December 2021.

As of the Extended CB Maturity Date, after considering
the difference between the market price of the
Company’s share and the exercise price of the convertible
loan notes and its impacts to the valuation of the fair
value of equity component of the convertible loan notes,
the amount of approximately RMB18,000 (2021:
RMB10,000) from “convertible loan notes equity reserve”
was transferred to “retained profits” in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31
December 2022.

The effective interest rate of the liability component for
the extended convertible loan notes is approximately
15.0% (2021: 17.32%) per annum.

29. TEAREREE &)

PMEET B HR - &5t RIE B RRIE - B
B —FRNAtHWHE T = —
F+-AZTNHATRREREE Y
NF{ES B4 A 68,366,000 %8 7T (FHE
R4 A R #56,886,0007T ) M %
45,411,000 T(HE RN AR
37,128,000 T) - HP B EH D kiEs
BAZAFER-ZTE = —F /XA
—+PA % B4 468,333,000 T (48
B R4 A R #56,859,0007T ) & %
33,0007 7T (10 & R £ A R # 27,000
T ERZE_—F+-_A=+HEHHES
RI#) 5 45,389,00078 7T HEERHAR
# 37,110,000 7T ) K& %722,000 7% 7T (18
ERHARE18,0007T) - At © A&
ERiraEakEmerEKaRbE
RABRBREFRZERETREHDARK
5,360,000 7t * W% %) A R 10,000 7T
MeHER [ REREREEESHFE]
EREHE_ZT-_—E+-_F=+—
HIEFEZHREEREHR [RE &
e

REERITRBRESFEHAR - £E&
AIREMSERETBRERE
BIIEEsHANEZEREHTRRE
RERERZI DA FEGBENTZEE -
BEHARE 18,000t (ZFE=_—%F : A
E#10,0007T) "&£ %A [ AT RKRER
CEERE BRBER T =
T A=t RLFEZERAERE
B [REB&EH] -

+t
>

KICHRAT R ERZEBE 2B ERH Z
ERMNEEFFLHI50% (T = —
F :17.32%) ©
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29. CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (continued)

As at the date of this report, the Outstanding Convertible
Bonds have reached the Maturity Date. On 12 June
2023, a winding-up petition (the “Petition”) was filed by
BB &It E AR A (Qingdao Rongshikaiyuan
Trading Company Limited*) (the “Petitioner”) with the
High Court of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region (the “High Court of Hong Kong”) for the
winding-up of the Company under the provision of the
Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions)
Ordinance (Chapter 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The
Petitioner’s ultimate beneficial owner is an individual
named Zhang Zongai (5= & ). A copy of the winding-
up petition was delivered by the Petitioner to the
Company'’s office on 5 July 2023.

The hearing for the Petition was taken place on 23
August 2023 as scheduled at the High Court of Hong
Kong before a Master, and the same court has directed
an adjournment of the hearing for the Petition to be
heard before a Master on Wednesday, 18 October 2023.
Furthermore, as provided by the Petitioner’s solicitors,
the Petitioner’s ultimate beneficial owner, an individual
named Zhang Zongai (5% 7= &), who was also the sole
director of the Petitioner, has passed away on 7 July
2023.

In view of the impact of the possible winding-up order
on the transfer of Shares, as disclosed in the
announcements of the Company dated 17 August 2023
and 23 August 2023, the Company is currently
preparing, with its engaged legal advisors, the application
to the High Court of Hong Kong for a validation order.
Shareholders are reminded that there is no guarantee
that any validation order would be granted by the High
Court of Hong Kong. In the event where a validation
order is not granted but the winding-up order is not
dismissed or permanently stayed, all transfers of Shares
after the commencement of the winding up shall be
void.

29.

AR IE R R 5E

F+ZRA=+—HItFE

n'.F

ABEREREE &)

RAERE B - 4R 1T Al AR (B 5
2REH RZFBE-=F,A+=8"
EERRTHEERART2EAD
BEESEMNENE(AT CEBRRE
T4 30) R 1811 ) 0 8 32 10 25 75 5 BN 4T IR
BESsk((EEESER )RS
BEE((2E]) UWEAQTER -
PEANBRKREXBEALBERE
—ZEARAL BBAER-E==
FrARBEERIBHNAERE
ADTMWERE -

ERRAEOVER=_ZE=_=FN\A
Tt =BEBEREERREEFEA
BT M ERBEETRK2FRAL
B WYRZFZ=F+A+N\B(EH
S)EREEFAIEITRR ° 1toh - 1B
BEFAZMEHOER  2FAH
RRERBEBARRE (NAEBAN
M—EBF)ER-_ZT-_=FtAtRH%
ﬂ °

ERARRBEHS T -_=F/\A
++AR-E-=€NA=-+=H2
NRERRBEHARFRSHRMNER
MFE  KNABBRTEEERERE
RER-EEEHEREESFERKBH
RAS - BEREEE IT\{%E{%
BB EER ?xtﬂﬁﬁ.m ° s I
ER R \ﬁ/ﬁﬁ/\ﬂi%&%xﬁi
KAEE /E\U/EE‘TEJ A 1% B AT A B D
EROEEN -
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29.

278

AR IF R EE

CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (Continued)

References are made to the announcements of the
Company dated 5 July 2023, 17 August 2023, 23 August
2023, 18 October 2023, 15 November 2023, 13
December 2023, 10 January 2024, 6 March 2024, 11
March 2024 and 12 April 2024, in relation to, among
other things, the Petition (the “Announcements”). A
settlement agreement entered into between the
Petitioner and the Company on 30 April 2024, consent
was reached accordingly between the two parties to
adjourn the hearing in connection with the Petition, and
in respect of which, consent summons was filed on 2
May 2024 and an order was granted on 3 May 2024 to
(i) vacate the hearing of the Petition on 6 May 2024; and
(ii) the hearing of the Petition before the Companies
Judge was adjourned to 30 September 2024 for the
fulfilment of obligations under the aforesaid settlement
agreement.

For further details in relation to the Outstanding
Convertible Bonds, please refer to the announcements of
the Company dated 23 April 2019, 25 June 2019, 24
December 2020, 31 December 2020, 24 June 2021, 16
July 2021, 24 December 2021, 17 January 2022 and 31
August 2022, the circular of the Company dated 14 May
2019, 26 January 2021, 30 July 2021 and 11 February
2022 in respect of the Extraordinary General Meeting
("EGM"), and the poll result announcement dated 30
May 2019, 22 February 2021, 10 September 2021 and 7
March 2022 in respect of the EGM.

29. TEAREREE &)

FRHARRRN_ZE_=F+HAAA
:;::iﬂﬂ+tas:§:_¢
NA-+=H  —ZT-_=F+AF+N\

B - ZZ2-=%+—HA+HA =%
—=F+= H+IE\:%:EE—
A+B - —E-_mW&E=AxA8"
ZHE=RA+—AMZ=Z= @EEH
TZARBREESEEEMNAE(A
ED o BBARARRRZTZWHFMN
A=+ HEKMERHZE  EHIELRE
EEHEFREFENEEE =5
“THERAZHRRTRAESRE I
R-E-_WNFERA=B&LEHS B
SKOWE—_ZE_WFER A NHBEEERE
EMWME'MﬁwﬁﬁﬁtLﬁ%
HEETHNER - Aa)AE AR
MEFeEHE_—_T_MFAA=T
E' o

ERERTEARRES 2E—F5F
B B2EARRIBHAEZZ—NE
MA-Z+=B - —_EE— A&~ A
:+£E~:§:§¢+_ﬂ_+m
A - —ZT-TF+=-HA=+—8"

——®F A= +@E‘:g:_¢
tH+AH T _—F+=AH
—+mA - :7::$—H+t5&
—E__FNA=T—RHZAE XK
AREBBHAEZT-—NFRATETA
—E-—F%—A-+RB T —
FrtA=+tBERZ=ZTE=_=ZF=-A+—
Az@EmH(NABRERRERRE ([
%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂ)&ﬁﬂﬁiﬁ—ﬂiﬁ
A=+8" —F-H=+=8H-
ZE - FNATERZE=F=
AtEtBZEREBERAERAE(AREH
BEREFRIRE) -
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29. CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (continued) 29. TRBRERERE »)
As a result of the Share Consolidation became effective HREOhEHR-_ZE-_—_FE+=_A8
on 13 December 2022, the following adjustments were +=H4%% RZBE_=FK=_F
made to the exercise price of the Outstanding ——HF+-A=+—BEHEHKRITE
Convertible Bonds and the number of Consolidated AR E SR ITEE M RITHE R RIT
Shares falling to be issued upon the exercise of the FBraBlREEZE TFERITHE GIRGD
Outstanding Convertible Bonds as at 31 December 2023 HEELATHEE
and 2022:
Prior to adjustment After adjustment
REAE AEE
Adjusted
Number number of
of Existing Consolidated
Shares to be Shares to be
issued upon issued upon
full exercise Adjusted full exercise
of the exercise of the
Exercise price Outstanding price per Outstanding
per Existing  Convertible Consolidated Convertible
Share Bonds Share Bonds
REBITE
REBHITRE e R AT
fe R AT E RRESE
TRRES% Bk HTRTN

BRRA KBTFROH  SHRHOZ Btk
B THEE REROHE KHBOEE KHEHYE

(HK$) (HK$)
(&) (&)
Outstanding Convertible RIARTTE AT IR
Bonds &% 1.00 41,555,555 5.00 8,311,111
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29. CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (continued) 29. TRKREREE &)

FABREERZEEESRAEHD

The movement of the equity and liability components of

the convertible loan notes for the year is set out below:

ZEEBETIAT

2023 2022
—s=-= —FT-—
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AEBTFT
Equity component D
Carrying amount at the beginning FHERMEAE
of the year - 18
Transfer to retained earnings upon ~ RIEEEBEESZRE BT
extension - (18)
Carrying amount at the end of the ~ FARIEEE
year — -
2023 2022
—E-= T
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AREFIT
Liability component BEHD
Carrying amount at the beginning FHEREE
of the year 44,014 37,110
Interest charge (Note 9) MEZH (AfaE9) 2,757 5,155
Interest paid ERFLE s (428)
Exchange realignment BE 5, A & 659 2,177
Carrying amount at the end of FAREREE
the year 47,430 44,014
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30. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

30. EHEE

2023 2022
—EBEC-=HF —EF-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTT ARETFT
Deposits received from customers in = EIATIEEBBEZBRF K
relation to: BiES :
— Sale and distribution of — HE KD EEm
merchandise - 2,941
— Provision of interior design and — REERNRET REE
building engineering services TiEAR 993 542
993 3,483

As at 1 January 2022 and 1 January 2023, the contract
liabilities amounted to RMB1,576,000 and
RMB2,490,000 are recognised as revenue in profit or loss
during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023,
respectively. The directors of the Company considered
that contract liabilities would be realised within one year
based on the Group’s earliest obligation to transfer
goods or services to the customers and are classified as
current liabilities.

Significant changes in contract liabilities during the year
was primarily due to significant contract liabilities were
recognised as revenue when the Group performs under
the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods
or services to the customer).

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of
contract liabilities recognised are set out in Note 5(ii).

N—_E-_—_F—-—HA—AR=ZT=_=%F
—A—RH &#HAEAR% 1,576,000
TR ARE 2,490,000t RIREZE =
S RZE=F+A=+—
AIEFEzBEmRNBERBRA - XA
AEERR AHEBEHRREEAEE
MEFPEEEMIREZEEER
—FREIR  WHBEARHEE -

FARHWRENEAZEH HTEZARN
BEXEHNAERAEBETEX (AR
EFWEEEA R m kRGO EFIE) i
HERR U

FEMBERIANaESE s — KA
TG R HA BT 5 5ii) ©
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31. LEASE LIABILITIES

31. HHE&E

2023 2022
—E_=F —=E-—
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥ T ARBFT
Within one year —FA 269 41
Within a period of more than one HBBA—FETLZRMEZ
year but not more than two years AR A = =
269 41
Less: Amount due for settlement B REBBEE TR
within 12 months shown + =18 A A E| ERE T
under current liabilities ZFRIE (269) (41)

Amount due for settlement after
12 months shown under
non-current liabilities

FRBEERTARZTZ
8 A& BERN 2 KB

32. DEFERRED TAX

32. IEFERIE

RREEHBRAKRZNTE - &1
BEFIAEERBEERIEE - st
BmEME - BREHIBERZ DTN
the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial T

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of financial position, certain deferred tax
assets and liabilities have been offset. The following is

reporting purposes:

2023 2022

—E-=F —E- %

RMB'000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARBFT

Deferred tax assets RIEFIEE B = 10,633
Deferred tax liabilities FIER A A E (21,877) (21,877)
(21,877) (11,244)
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32. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and

(assets) recognised and movements thereon during the

current and prior years:

32. JRIERLIE ()

ATRRAFEREANFEZEER
TRETERER(BE) REES :

Revaluation
Accrued of Allowance
rental and  investment ECL for
payroll  properties  provision inventories  Tax losses Total
Eitle RENEZ BEHEE
kIE  EXNftE EEBHE HEER  HEESR @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEEFT ARETT ARETT AREFT AREFT ARETT
At 1 January 2022 i S
—-A—A (580) 21,239 (4,538) (@17) (1,066) 14,638
Gain on revaluation upon BYE - BE Rk
transfer from property, NREREEESR
plant and equipment and BRERENERL
right-of-use assets to Bl
investment properties - 196 - - - 196
(Credited)/charged to profit B8 (AR),/ 4k
or loss (Note 1) (Wat11) (334) 7y (4,805) 417 690 (3,590)
At31December2022and ~ WZZE==
1 January 2023 TZA=T-BR
—E_=F
—R—H (914) 21,877 (9,343) - (376) 11,244
Charged to profit or loss BR&EM (it 11)
(Note 11) 914 - 9,343 - 376 10,633
At 31 December 2023 R-B=-=%
+=A=+-H = 21,877 = = - 21877

283



JIYI HOLDINGS LIMITED £ — =B HR A T
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 £ iR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n'.R

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z= =2 ==F+=-A=+—HILFE

32.

284

AR IF R EE

DEFERRED TAX (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
estimated unused tax losses of approximately
RMB77,987,000 (2022: RMB50,050,000) available for
offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of such losses amounting to
RMBO (2022: RMB1,504,000) during the year ended 31
December 2023. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of the remaining tax losses due to
the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in
unrecognised tax losses are losses of RMB43,125,000
(2022: RMB15,188,000) that will expire from 2024 to
2028 (2022: 2023 to 2027). Other losses may be carried
forward indefinitely.

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed
on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the
Group's subsidiaries in the PRC from 1 January 2008
onwards. Deferred taxation has not been provided for in
the consolidated financial statements in respect of
temporary difference attributable to the retained profits
earned by the subsidiaries in the PRC amounting to
approximately R MB97,837,000 as at 31 December 2023
(2022: RMB153,802,000) as the Group is able to control
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

32. IRIERLIE ()

R E R - AN B 0] 8 R R
FzEsrRBDABEBENARE
77,987,000 ( —Z T = =F : AR¥
50,050,0007T) ° REZE =T - —

+ZA=+—HLFE BERBEHAE
BRERAECHREEEARKOL(ZE
——%F: AR¥1,504,0007T) c @R
R Ao A 2 B TR ME - OBE AR Th

HIRIBBEREAREERBEE - &
R-T-NFE T /\ﬁ(_z__
F T =FETLHF)IMZ

Eﬁa&&%43usm0mh_7::
& : ARM 15,188,000 7T ) 5 AKRFER
FRIAEE o H b E518 n] £E[R HR 4%

BEFBECEMSETE BZZTN
F-—A—HR paARSETEMNEB
AEIREZH AW E IR S AN
EHf e RZEZ=F+=ZA=+—
B ZREVBRRARERFTHKNB
NAEFTRERB R M EREZENA
K#97,837,000C(ZZE=—F : AR
# 153,802,000 7T ) 1€ i i& & % 18 #
#H RAAAEEAIEHZEERE
BB ORRE ARZEERESEE
0] R A RN KA g [a) o
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32. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Under the Provisional Regulations of LAT (/7 % A & &
B L 11 BT E 1T I601)) effective on 1 January 1994,
and the Detailed Implementation Rules on the Provisional
Regulations of the PRC on LAT (& A R FEFNE] 1 i 1%
B 5 E 1715 5 & 7 48 81 ) effective from 27 January
1995, all income from the sales or transfer of state-
owned land use rights, buildings and their attached
facilities in the PRC is subject to LAT at progressive rates
ranging from 30% to 60% of the appreciation value,
being the proceeds of sales of properties less deductible
expenditures in relation to the gains arising from sales of
properties in the PRC effective from 1 January 2004.
Deferred taxation of LAT has been provided for in the
consolidated financial statements in respect of
appreciation value of investment properties located in
the PRC.

32. JRIERLIE ()

RER—NANAEF—A—BERZ(H
2 AR AFNB £ 4t 358 (B B E 1T 1650 ) LA
ER—hAWhBAF-—A-tEtRERZ
(FREE A R ALFIE L 338 E R B AT 01
AR NP BEIXKAHEREEE
BLEmE BFRENBRIEZ
PrAEWAB AR FHEBE YR
HEMBRIBEREBRTBEHEEN X
PrEAKZE Z B FEX)N0%E
60% < RER KM LIIBER - B
“ETNE-A-BRER - ERER
EMBBRRARUNPEZILEYE
ZTHEBEELIRE + #IZEH IR
B -
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33. SHARE CAPITAL 33. BA
Number of Share
shares capital
12 & &N
RMB’000
ARETIT
Authorised ordinary shares EEEBR
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021 W-_Z-_—%—H—H -
and 1 January 2022 at HK$0.1 each T —F+ZHA=+—H
R-_ZE__§—A—H8RK
EE0.1BT 5,000,000,000 609,650
Capital Reorganisation (note (a)) AR E 4 (K1 (a) (4,000,000,000) -
At 31 December 2022 at HK$0.5each M-_ZT-—F+-A=+—H
BIREEC.S BT 1,000,000,000 609,650
Issued and fully paid ordinary shares Eﬁ%ﬁ&ﬁﬁm
At 1 January 2021 at HK$0.1 each RZEZ—F— ﬂ HERME
BE0.1%87T 815,275,321 69,002
Issuance of consideration share upon  RURBEHT B A 5118 TR B
acquisition of subsidiaries 7 51,993,846 4,331
Conversion of convertible loan notes BRI MR EREE 23,115,278 1,890
At 31 December 2021 and R-_ZE_—f+=-A=+—H
1 January 2022 at HK$0.1 each kZZT-_—F—H—B8K
H{E0.157T 890,384,445 75,223
Placing of new shares under general RIE—REER S RN
mandate (note (b)) (Bt b)) 387,927,833 33,401
Exercise of FY2018 Share Options AT\ M REEERE
(Note (c)) (Hizt () 8,533,334 734
Exercise of FY2022 Share Options TR WM RFEERE
(Note (d)) (Kizt (@) 31,982,000 2,754
Capital Reorganisation (note (a)) WRAEH (K (a) (1,055,062,090) -
At 31 December 2022 at HK$0.5 each H-_Z-—F+_-_F=+—H
SR EE0.55 T 263,765,522 112,112
At 31 December 2023 at HK$0.01 each R=ZT=_=F+=-A=+—H
HRXEE0.015 7T 263,765,522 2,390
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33. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Note (a) Capital Reorganisation

Pursuant to an extraordinary general meeting held on 9 December 2022

(the "EGM"), the resolutions approving the capital reorganization

involving the share consolidation, the capital reduction and the share

sub- division (the “Capital Reorganisation”) was duly passed by way of

poll. The Capital Reorganisation involves:

(0]

(ii)

(iii)

Share Consolidation

Every five (5) issued Existing shares of HK$0.10 each shall be
consolidated into one (1) Consolidated Shares of HK$0.50 each,
and every five (5) unissued Existing Shares of HK$0.10 each shall
be consolidated into one (1) unissued Consolidated Share of
HK$0.50 each.

Capital Reduction

The Capital Reduction will be implemented subsequent to the
Share Consolidation becoming effective, pursuant to which the
par value of each of the issued Consolidated Shares will be
reduced from HK$0.50 to HK$0.01 by cancelling the paid-up
capital of the Company to the extent of HK$0.49 on each of the
issued Consolidated Shares. As such, the issued share capital of

the Company will be reduced.

Share Sub-Division

Immediately following the effectiveness of the Capital Reduction,
the Share Sub-Division will be implemented on the basis that
every unissued Consolidated Share of HK$0.50 each in the
authorised share capital of the Company shall be sub-divided into
fifty (50) New Shares of HK$0.01 each.

33.

& NE )

HiEE () A=A

BERZE__F+= AN BRITHRRFIIA
g ((RRERIAE]) - BOERAELAR(CF KRG
S0 RAEIR XRG4 ([RAEA])) KR
BEUAREFAEER AR - RASHEP R :

(0]

(ii)

(iii)

Bin & Bt

BHG)REREECIVETHE HTH
R EE R —)REREEOSE
TR A G - RE R (65)REMEEO0.10
BILHARBETRBERODBEH R —()K
SAEE0.50 BT AREITAHID -

R&ZAHIR

RABURAS R & FFERBETT &
bt BRFHEAA AR BB (A %
TAHRNER049EITTAR) B T
A BHRR 17 7 5 AR T {8 8 0.50 7 7T MR &
0.017 7T « At - AARK B BITRA
F LABIR o

B4 48

SERERAHIRERE - RDFAGZEAR
RURE R A FAE E0.50 B ITHI AR ETT

B0.01 BITHFIRG 2 EEETT ©
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33. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 33. RA& (4

BaE (a) RAEA (A7)

Note (a) Capital Reorganisation (Continued)

The Share Consolidation became effective on 13 December 2022 as a HRERRERA® B ERIRESR  RDEH
RZBZZFF+ZA+=HEN " MrHSHES
=B (AR 1) 3 MR A HR A AR 2 ([
RES D% RAERRBROIFAR T =4
ZAZTRAER - BEERBESERER LA
HEFSHESRRERENA BIRAEDRFFISEE
CRLHERNFAMERERERTEAEL - B4
AR AN HIR B AR 10 47 4 A2 B B BRE FF 1B - B2
ARAHA-E_=F-_A+tHMNRE -

result of the resolutions approved in the EGM, while the Capital
Reduction and the Share Sub-Division became effective on 20 February
2023 after the court order (the “Court Order”) issued by the Court of
Cayman Islands (the “Court”) confirming the Capital Reduction and
such order together with the minutes approved by the Court containing
the particulars required under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands
with respect to the Capital Reduction were filed and duly registered with
the Registrar. For details of the effective date of the Capital Reduction
and the Share Sub-Division, please refer to the announcement of the

Company dated 17 February 2023.

The effect of the Capital Reorganisation on the share capital structure of

the Company is summarised as follows:

BASHHARRBRARBZZER AT

Before Capital

Immediately after the
share consolidation

becoming effective but

before the capital
reduction becoming

Immediately after
the Capital
Reorganisation

Reorganisation effective becoming effective
SEERMD & O ERE

RBRAE AR B A BR 25 BB A 3 AT EERAEAENE

Authorised share capital 500,000,000 500,000,000 500,000,000
TETE AR

Par value HK$0.10 per HK$0.50 per HK$0.01 per

Existing Share Consolidated Share New Share

HE BREARKD0.108 T Bk& G 0.50 7T BRRFTAR( 0.01 BT

No. of authorised shares

VEERRDER B

Par value of issued share capital (HK$)
BEETRAEREGET)

No. of issued shares

BEEITIRMDE B

No. of unissued shares
REITRGOER

Par value of unissued share capital (HK$)

REFTIRAEE(BIT)
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5,000,000,000
Existing Shares
5,000,000,000 f%
BERG
131,882,761.20

1,318,827,612
Existing Share
1,318,827,612 %
RERH
3,681,172,388
Existing Share
3,681,172,388 %
RERHD
368,117,238.80

1,000,000,000
Consolidated Share
1,000,000,000 fi%
& OFHRR D
131,882,761.20

263,765,522
Consolidated Share
263,765,522 i
CLiten)
736,234,478
Consolidated Share
736,234,478 X
CLiten)
368,117,238.80

50,000,000,000
New Share
50,000,000,000 A%
Eilah)
2,637,655.22

263,765,522

New Share
263,765,522 i%
R
49,736,234,478
New Share
49,736,234,478 ix
AR
497,362,344.80
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33. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Note (a) Capital Reorganisation (Continued)

For details of the Capital Reorganisation, please refer to (i) the
announcements of the Company dated 4 November 2022 and 9
December 2022 respectively in relation to, among other things, the
Capital Reorganisation; (ii) the circular of the Company dated 24
November 2022 in relation to the EGM; (iii) the announcement of the
Company dated 9 December 2022 regarding, amongst other things, the
poll results of the EGM; and (iv) the announcement of the Company
dated 17 February 2022 in relation to, amongst other things, the

effective date of the capital reduction and the share sub-division.

Note (b) Placing of new shares under general mandate

On 25 January 2022, the Company allotted and issued a total of
28,022,000 placing shares to not less than six placees at the placing
price of HK$1.2 per placing shares pursuant to the terms and conditions
of the placing agreement signed between the Company and the placing
agent dated 30 November 2021. The net proceeds (after deducting the
placing commission and other related expenses and professional fees)
from the placing amounted to approximately HK$33.1 million
(equivalent to approximately RMB28.5 million). Please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 30 November 2021, 20
December 2021, 11 January 2022, 12 January 2022 and 26 January
2022 for further details.

On 15 March 2022, the Company allotted and issued a total of
48,000,000 placing shares to not less than six placees at the placing
price of HK$0.9 per placing shares pursuant to the terms and conditions
of the placing agreement signed between the Company and the placing
agent dated 4 March 2022. The net proceeds (after deducting the
placing commission and other related expenses and professional fees)
from the placing amounted to approximately HK$42.6 million
(equivalent to approximately RMB36.6 million). Please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 4 March 2022, 8 March 2022,
11 January 2022 and 15 March 2022 for further details.

33.

& NE )
fisE () RAEA (&)

BERASHENFE  F2HO)A2FBHS 5
AT —Ft+—ANBR-ZT-_—F+=Ah
BOAS  AAAM(ERaE) RAEA (i) A
ARBHA T —F+— AT HBENBK -
ANERBRABRRSRIRE : (NARFABHR=T
—ZHFFTZRANBMAE  REEM(EHBE)
BREFHIAEHHRERAER  R(WAARHA
ME-—T-_—F_A+tAMAE  RAGH(H
R EHE) RS IR B BRAR HR AR A £ Sk B AR o

HfEE (b) R IE — RN ER EH IR 6

RZZT-_—F—A=+HA8  AARRERRAF
HEEREMEZBRHA TS _—F+—HA=1
B 2 BR & 15 2 IR R G R AL & B B RECE IR
MD12B LM RPN ANBERRARLERETEE
28,022,000 IR FR &SRR 17 © BL & FIAZ FII1SFIEF
HRHAKRESHEREMEBRAXIEXER

Bi) #£-—SHBFL2HARRRAHAR=F
——F+—A=+A —F=-F+=-A=+
A —ZE-——#f8+-Q —FB-——F—§
+-AR=E-_—FE—HA=+ AZR%-

RZZ_—F=A+HA ' AARIREARQFE
REREMEZEEHA—T __F=ANBZE
& M 2 R R AR R & B B AR A & AR 15 0.9
BILTRATNLORANBARARERETAHE
48,000,000 AR AC E AR5 © BL & BIB 2 AT1S RIRF
HRHAKRESHEREMBBRAXREXER

BR) - g SHEREHNALAEMA=T
——F=ZAmA - —T-_—#F#=ZfN\B =T
S=F—AT-BR-Z--F=ATEAZA

Lo
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33.

290

SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Note (b) Placing of new shares under general mandate (Continued)

On 28 April 2022, the Company allotted and issued a total of
56,000,000 placing shares to not less than six placees at the placing
price of HK$0.76 per placing shares pursuant to the terms and
conditions of the placing agreement signed between the Company and
the placing agent dated 22 April 2022. The net proceeds (after
deducting the placing commission and other related expenses and
professional fees) from the placing amounted to approximately HK$42
million (equivalent to approximately RMB36.2 million). Please refer to
the announcements of the Company dated 22 April 2022, 25 April
2022, and 28 April 2022 for further details.

On 31 May 2022, the Company allotted and issued a total of
41,431,833 placing shares to not less than six placees at the placing
price of HK$0.57 per placing shares pursuant to the terms and
conditions of the placing agreement signed between the Company and
the placing agent dated 20 May 2022. The net proceeds (after deducting
the placing commission and other related expenses and professional
fees) from the placing amounted to approximately HK$23.3 million
(equivalent to approximately RMB20.0 million). Please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 20 May 2022 and 31 May 2022
for further details.

On 27 July 2022, the Company allotted and issued a total of 73,230,000
placing shares to not less than six placees at the placing price of
HK$0.55 per placing shares pursuant to the terms and conditions of the
placing agreement signed between the Company and the placing agent
dated 14 July 2022. The net proceeds (after deducting the placing
commission and other related expenses and professional fees) from the
placing amounted to approximately HK$39.7 million (equivalent to
approximately RMB34.2 million). Please refer to the announcements of
the Company dated 14 July 2022 and 27 July 2022 for further details.

On 17 August 2022, the Company allotted and issued a total of
45,882,000 placing shares to not less than six placees at the placing
price of HK$0.55 per placing shares pursuant to the terms and
conditions of the placing agreement signed between the Company and
the placing agent dated 3 August 2022. The net proceeds (after
deducting the placing commission and other related expenses and
professional fees) from the placing amounted to approximately HK$24.9
million (equivalent to approximately RMB21.4 million). Please refer to
the announcements of the Company dated 3 August 2022 and 17
August 2022 for further details.

33.

& NE )
Mz (b) R — R IBRERSH KM (2)

RZZEZ—FMHA=+/\H ' KARRELRRR]
HEEREMEERHA-—S_—FHNA=-+=
A Z B & & 2 B RGH R EEERAEER
7 0.76 BTN DRNBAIRARERETAH
56,000,000 AR Ac & AR 17 o Bl 18 < TS IR F
BENKEESAe REAMEERI REXEER
B)ARHNLEEBT(HEROARKE32EE
) E—HHBFELHAARNBRBRR T
FOAZ+=ZRA - ZE__FMA=-+tARBKR=
E_—_FMHA=FNAZRE -

RZZEZ—_FRAA=1+—H ' ARARRELRRAR]
HEEREMEZERRA S -__FHAA-TH
2 BRE M ZEZ ERRGH RS EERRE SR
057 B LM TR ANBREARBERETEH
41,431,833 IRECE XD - BoE HIB 2 TG RIEF
BEMRESAeREMBMAXREXZER

Br) E—SPHBERELEARTBEHA=T
——F#RA-+BR-—"ZE-——FRA=1+—H2

A% -

RZZEZZ_FtA=-++tH ARARREARRAR
HREEREMFERNA-_E-_—F+A+mA
2 BLE 3 2 R R AR & (B E IRAL &S R D
0558 LM TN DR NB AR AR REITEH
73,230,000 IR FR AR 17 © BE & HIE Z PSS
BEHIRESHe REMBERASZIREXER
%) RADTEEBT(HERNARKE342E
Br) #—FTHBRLHEARAAHAE=-T
ZZFEATHARZZE=FLA=Z+LRZ

NG

RZZEZZFN\A++R ARFREAQFH
REREMBZEEARA—ZS-_—FN\A=BZK
& g 2 IER RIE R AL & B SR B S AR 0.55
BLTATDRANBEAREARERETA S
45,882,000 AR AR & AR {5 © B & 18 2 FiS SR IEH
BRHNRESHE REMEERAZIREXER
&) RA249BERT(HERHVARKE 2148
Br) #E—FTHBEL2HEANRAHAE=-T
CTENAZRRCE_FENATLRZAEL -
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33. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Note (b) Placing of new shares under general mandate (Continued)

On 22 September 2022, the Company allotted and issued a total of
95,362,000 placing shares to not less than six placees at the placing
price of HK$0.38 per placing shares pursuant to the terms and
conditions of the placing agreement signed between the Company and
the placing agent dated 9 September 2022. The net proceeds (after
deducting the placing commission and other related expenses and
professional fees) from the placing amounted to approximately HK$35.9
million (equivalent to approximately RMB30.9 million). Please refer to
the announcements of the Company dated 9 September 2022 and 22
September 2022 for further details.

Note (c) Exercise of FY2018 Share Options

During the year ended 31 December 2022, share option holders
exercised their rights to subscribe 8,533,334 (2021: Nil) ordinary shares
in the Company at HK$0.704 (2021: HK$0.704) per share with net
proceeds of approximately RMB5,173,000 (2021: Nil) and resulted in the
increase in share capital of approximately RMB734,000 (2021: Nil) and
share premium of approximately RMB4,438,000 (2021: Nil).

Note (d) Exercise of FY2022 Share Options

During the year ended 31 December 2022, share option holders
exercised their rights to subscribe 31,982,000 ordinary shares in the
Company at HK$0.56 per share with net proceeds of approximately
RMB15,421,000 and resulted in the increase in share capital of
approximately RMB2,754,000 and share premium of approximately
RMB12,667,000.

33. A &)

B EE (b) 1R 3B — RIREE SR ()

RZB-_—_FAA-+=8  KARRELRATF
HEEREMEZERHA-S_—_FhANBZ
i & 15 5 2 1R R R IR R AL & (B B IR AL & IR 1D
038B LM A LR ANEERARERETA K
95,362,000 AR FR & AR 15 © BL & FIAZ FII1SFIES
H(RAOKRESHE REMEBRAXREXER
%) RA39BEET(HERHARKE309E
Br) E—FFEBFLHARFTNBHR=ZT
ZZFENAANBRZZEZZFAAZFTZHZA

Lo

ME(QTE=Z-N\BRFEBRE

REBE-_T-_—F+-_A=+—HLFE  BR
A A TEERFESR0.704 B T(ZF=—
F 07047 7) REAQAS,533334Kk(=F
Z—F:TR)EBER MEREBEFELNAAR
#5,173,000C(ZZE=—F : T) » LIRAE M
WAREET734000 (Z2=—5F : T) BRI
BIE I AR HA,438,000C(ZFE=—4F : F) »

MEMTE-Z-—MERFERRE

REBEE-ZT-_—F+-A=1+—RHILFE ' BR
BB ATEEENIZENK0.56 B TREARR A
31,982,000 iR L3RR - FIIS R IEFREA R ARE
15,421,0007C © < BRZAIG INA A R ¥ 2,754,000
TC R BR DR B A A REE 12,667,000 7T
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34.

292

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS

Equity-settled share option scheme of the
Company

In order to provide incentives and rewards to eligible
participants for their contribution or potential
contribution to the Group, the Company adopted share
option scheme on 6 October 2015. The maximum
number of Shares which may be allotted and issued upon
the exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to
be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company must not, in
aggregate, exceed 30% of the total number of Shares in
issue from time to time. The total number of Shares in
respect of which options may be granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company shall not exceed 10% of the
total number of Shares in issue as at the date of listing of
the Shares, being 36,000,000 Shares, unless the
Company obtains the approval of the shareholders in
general meeting for refreshment.

The shareholders of the Company passed an ordinary
resolution at the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 30 May 2019 to approve the renewal of the
10% general limit on the number of shares which may
be allotted and issued upon the exercise of the options
to be granted under the Share Option Scheme, being
10% of the total number of Shares in issue as of 30 May
2019 and amounting to 69,120,000 Shares.

34. LR BER 2 ARRZ

KRB URAEZfF 2 BRES
2

RAGEB2HERBFHASTEZ
BERMRETERIRHAE KRR -
REIRZE—AF+ANARMNER
RETE - AIRBRERERSIRAAF
FREMERESE SR EMBRFT
BRI RITEBREETEmMA
TRERETHZRROEBE 64
TEHBTHEBRITRNDBEHD
30% o IRIFEARERT B R A D B EM
H b B AR AE S 8 AT BB I 0 MO RE AR M P
HRERNBE - THEBARKRNG L
A EITRGEEH10% (Al
36,000,000 J&A%170) * BRIEAR ARG ER
R AE R R -

ARARIBRER=_E—NFRA=1H
BORRBZBRRERBFREG LB
RERBBUESEMRBREZE
THTFREEBREREITEER R T
BRETIZROHEE 210% — KR
B ONEE-_ZT—hAhFERA=1H
B 1Tl M8 8 M10% £
69,120,000 fi%
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34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme of the
Company (Continued)

Details of the Company’s share option scheme, please
refer to “Report of the directors” of the Company’s
annual report.

Share options granted on 2 November
2018 (the “FY2018 Share Options”)

On 2 November 2018, the Company granted 36,000,000
share options to certain directors, senior management,
employees, consultants and customers of the Group.
These share options have exercise price at HK$0.704 with
exercise period of 3 years starting from 7 months after
the grant date. Under the plan, participants are granted
options which only vest subject to grantees continuing to
be an employee of the Group or providing service to the
Group through each vesting date. Details are set out in
the Company’s announcement dated 2 November 2018.

34. URGOBER RIS #)

AATURAZ T 2 BRES
gl®)

ARBIERAET B 2 F 15 FLHA
RA)FHR [ EFEHRE] -

R-ZE-N\FE+—-—BAZHERH
ZERE(=ZZE2—-N\BHFEE
BRE ]

R—_ZF—\F+—HA=H ' ' XAFME
TEBETES  afE51E2E - B8
FARS I & B 1% H136,000,00017 B A -
ZEBRETEER0.704E T 1T1E
HAIF BRHEBA%Z7EARRAR -
BRIBZETE - 2HERRBRE A
FABRARSRBEREBEXNAELE
EEESAAEBIRHERY - H A H
B HRBERARRARAE-T—N
E+—RB-HZRE -
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34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 34. IR AER 2 NRRF (#)
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Share options granted on 2 November R-ZE—NF+—B-—HEH
2018 (the “FY2018 Share Options”) ZERE(=ZZ-\MREE
(Continued) BRE]D @)
The following table discloses movements of the TRBEHE S _=FR T —
Company’s FY2018 Share Options held by directors, FE+-_A=+—HIUIFEESE 5§
senior management, employees, consultants and ESIBEE - B8  EREEPERZA
customers during the years ended 31 December 2023 NEZE— )\BHEE B 2 #E) -
and 2022:
Number of share options
BREHE
Lapsed Exercised Lapsed
during During during  At31.12.2022
Options Vesting period At 1.1.2021 the year At 31.12.2021 the year the year and 2023
it S 2
RZB=-% R-%=-F R=%B-=Z%
BhE bl K -F-# FRX% t-A=1-H ERTE FREM +-A=t-H
Directors ZZ
Tranche 1 02.11.2018-01.05.2019 - - - - - -
A “E-\Et-AZRE
ZZ-nFhA-A
Tranche 2 02.11.2018-01.05.2020 700,000 (700,000) - - - -
£ “2-\§+-A=R%E
“Z_TFRA-A
Tranche 3 02.11.2018-01.05.2021 700,000 - 700,000 (200,000) (500,000) -
A4 Z-\§+-A=HZ
“2_-%7R-H

1,400,000 (700,000) 700,000 (200,000) (500,000) =
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34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

34. URGOBER RIS #)

R-ZE-N\E+—-—HBZHRH

Share options granted on 2 November

2018 (the “FY2018 Share Options”) Z2ERE(=ZE—N\UHHKEE
(Continued) BRE]®)
Number of share options
BREHE
Lapsed Exercised Lapsed
during During during At 31.12.2022
Options Vesting period At 1.1.2021 the year At 31.12.2021 the year the year and 2023
RZB=Z%
RZB--% R-B=-F k=%-=F
ER#E bl ki -A-H FR%¥ t-A=1-H Frfif ERX% t-A=t-H
Senior management BREEE
Tranche 1 02.11.2018-01.05.2019 - - - - - -
Eri “2-\§t-AZR%
“E-NERR-H
Tranche 2 02.11.2018-01.05.2020 100,000 (100,000) - - - -
b “2-\§t-AZRZE
“2_TFRA-A
Tranche 3 02.11.2018-01.05.2021 100,000 - 100,000 - (100,000) -
E=# “5-\F+-A=R%
“2_-%18-H
200,000 (100,000) 100,000 - (100,000) -
Employees €5
Tranche 1 02.11.2018-01.05.2019 - - - - - -
i “E-\Et-AZRE
“E-NERR-A
Tranche 2 02.11.2018-01.05.2020 400,000 (400,000) - - - -
i 2 \§+-AZRE
“2-TFRAA
Tranche 3 02.11.2018-01.05.2021 400,000 = 400,000 = (400,000) =
F=it “E-\Ft-RZHE
—2_-%7R-H
800,000 (400,000) 400,000 - (400,000) -
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34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 34. LR BER RS #)
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Share options granted on 2 November R-Z2—-—NE+—-—A=-HEL
2018 (the “FY2018 Share Options”) ZEBRE(=Z2-/\HREFE
(Continued) BRE]D @)
Number of share options
BREAR
Lapsed Exercised Lapsed
during During during  At31.12.2022
Options Vesting period At 1.1.2021 the year At 31.12.2021 the year the year and 2023
R-8-F
R-ZB=-% RZB=-% R=8-z%
ERE bl Ll -B-H Fr%¥ t-A=1-H Frfif FR%% t-A=1-H
Consultants B
Tranche 1 02.11.2018-01.05.2019 = = = = = -
1t “2-\§t-AZRZ
“E-NERR-A
Tranche 2 02.11.2018-01.05.2020 5433333 (5433333) = = - -
Ei “2-\§+-AZR%E
“E_ZFnA-H
Tranche 3 02.11.2018-01.05.2021 5433334 - 5433334 (2,966,668)  (2,466,666) -
£=H “2-\§+-AZR%E
S i =

10,866,667  (5433333) 5433334  (2,966,668)  (2,466,666) =

Customers £F
Tranche 1 02.11.2018-01.05.2019 - - - - - -
E—1t —E-\£+-A=HZ

“E-nERA-A
Tranche 2 02.11.2018-01.05.2020 5,366,667 (5,366,667) - - - -
£-# —E-\£+-A=HZ

ZEZEERA-H
Tranche 3 02.11.2018-01.05.2021 5,366,666 - 5,366,666 (5,366,660) - -
E=Ht —5-\£+-A=HZ

ZE-FRA-H

10733333 (5366,667) 5366666  (5366,666) = =

24,000,000 (12,000,000 12,000,000  (8533,334)  (3,466,666) =

Bxercisable attheend of ~ RREEIRAAT(E
the reporting period 12,000,000 -
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34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Share options granted on 2 November
2018 (the “FY2018 Share Options”)
(Continued)

The estimated fair value of the options granted on 2
November 2018 was HK$6,953,000. The Binomial model
had been used to estimate the fair value of the options.
The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair
value of the share options were based on the directors’
best estimate. The value of an option varied with
different variables of certain subjective assumptions.

The key inputs of the model for Tranche 1 to 3 were as

34. URGOBER RIS #)

R-EBE-NE+—-HA=-HRH
ZERE(=ZZ2-N\BHEE
BRELD®

R_ZE—\F+—A-_BEHBZER
W2 fEEt A FE 56,953,000 7T ° —
BARA D AR EETERE s AFE -
HEBREATEMERNERES
RBEERDERES 2 &EMGT - BR
EEEREEE TIBERRNTRES
mAaMAE e

—E=HERN T RHABERNAT

follows:

Tranche 1 Tranche 2 Tranche 3
E—#t E#t F=i
Share price IR (B & HK$0.69 HK$0.69 HK$0.69
0.6978 7T 0.6978 7T 0.6978 7T
Exercise price TEE HK$0.704 HK$0.704 HK$0.704
0.704 77T 0.704 77T 0.704 87T
Risk-free rate #2221 2.02% 2.18% 2.25%
Dividend yield R B 0% 0% 0%
Expected volatility TEHAR I8 43.4% 43.7% 46.1%

Time-to-maturity and B BARFER K FRET
expected life F B 1.5 years 2.5 years 3.5 years
1.5% 254 354

The expected life of the options is based on the historical BRENTEAFHENBE=FNFE
data over the past three years and is not necessarily BT A —ERRABEBENITE
R o ?EHH/&“PE&HQ%TEP“J_E/BUFE@E
%’Jﬁ%ﬂii}(%*ﬂ - MERBERAT—E

indicative of the exercise patterns that may occur. The
expected volatility reflects the assumption that the

historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which ZZDJLt R —F+= )EJ +—5:
may also not necessarily be the actual outcome. As at 31 —N ﬁﬁﬁﬁrﬁﬁﬂx%m%ﬁi’]ﬁ
December 2021, the weighted average exercise price for ﬁfgﬁfrﬂx 0.704 77T °

FY2018 Share Options was HK$0.704 per share.
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34.
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Share options granted on 2 November
2018 (the “FY2018 Share Options”)
(Continued)

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of the Company’s share price over the previous
18 to 42 months. No other feature of the options
granted was incorporated into the measurement of fair
value.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, share options
amounting to approximately RMB2,735,000 (2021:
RMB1,775,000) was lapsed and were transferred from
share- based payment reserve to retained profits.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, no share
options were granted or exercised, except for 12,000,000
share options were lapsed. The Group did not recognize
any expense (2021: RMB303,000) for the year ended 31
December 2022 in relation to FY2018 Share Options
granted by the Company.

Share options granted on 27 July 2022 (the
“FY2022 Share Options”)

On 27 July 2022, the Company granted 69,100,000
share options to certain directors, senior management,
employees and consultants of the Group. These share
options have exercise price at HK$0.56 with exercise
period of 10 years starting from the grant date. Details
are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 27
July 2022.

34. UM AERBRZAIRRS (@)

RZE-NFE+—HZHRH
ZERE(=ZZ—N\BREE
BRELD®

BHREEAAARRENBEISE
REAZELKIEETE - tERFE
RS AR M2 R ERERSE -

HE T -~ #+—-_A=+—HItF
B BREHARK?2735000mT(=
T——F: AR¥1,775,0007T) E K
Mo WEARD BER 2 REEE
BERERF -

REBEE—ZE-_—F+=-_A=+—H1t
FE - HEEREERRLDSNETE
12,000,000 17 % i 1 B R B BR A1 o &
ETF+ZA=+—HILFE -
AEBYEREARRBRLEHZZT—N
FHRFEEREBITANAL(ZE
——%F : AR¥303,0007T) °

R-ZBZZF+tA=-+tHAE
HzBBRE(=-Z=-_MERF
ERBRE]D

M-_E-——F+A—++8 &xQF
AASEETEE SREEE &
8 K& B[ % 1 69,100,000 7 fE Iz # o
ZEBRETEEROSE T 17
HRI10F  BREEEFAN - #1568
RARRBHA T -+ A
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34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 34. R AERZARRS &)

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Share options granted on 27 July 2022 (the
“FY2022 Share Options") (Continued)

The following table discloses movements of the
Company’s FY2022 Share Options held by directors,
senior management, employees and consultants during
the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2023:

R-ZB-=—F+A=++tHE
HeBRE(ZSE-_BHHE
EEREL®

TRBEBEHE_ZT_=4+_A
=+—RBAR=-—ZE-—=—F+=-RA=+—
HIEFEEE aRERBE EEK
BEEBEZARA S __MBFE
BREE8) -

Number of share options Number of share options
(Before Share Consolidation) (After Share Consolidation)
BREHE BREHE
(R & BEAD) (RRBEH#E)
Exercised Share
during Consolidation At 31.12.2022
At 27.07.2022 theyear At31.12.2022  Adjustments and 31.12.2023
R-B-Zf
+ZB=1-H
R-8-—% R-8-—% R=B=-=F
Options BRE tA=t++H ERTE tZA=t-B ROAHEE tZAZ+-H
(Note 1)
(Hizt1)
Directors E% 7,000,000 (2,000,000) 5,000,000 (4,000,000 1,000,000
Senior Management BRERE 18,300,000 (7,482,000) 10,818,000 (8,654,400) 2,163,600
Employees E& 8,700,000 (8,300,000) 400,000 (320,000 80,000
Consultants BB FE] 35,100,000 (14,200,000) 20,900,000 (16,720,000 4,180,000

69,100,000 (31,982,000)

37,118,000 (29,694,400) 7,423,600

Exercisable at the end of ~ FAR& HIRAI{7(E
the reporting period

7,423,600
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34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

34. R AERZNARRS &)

R-ZEBEZZF+tAZ+tHE
HeBERE(ZZFE-_BHF
EERE]D®

Share options granted on 27 July 2022 (the
“FY2022 Share Options") (Continued)

Note 1. As a result of the Share Consolidation became effective on 13

Kt 1 BB AR T F+-A+=

December 2022, adjustments were made to the exercise price BAER - 1B () BRIETE 2 &R R IE

of the outstanding FY2022 Share Options and the number of
Consolidated Shares falling to be issued upon the exercise of
the outstanding FY2022 Share Options in accordance with (i)
the terms and conditions of the Share Option Scheme; (ii) Rule
17.03(13) of the Listing Rules; and (iii) the Supplementary
Guidance on Main Board Listing Rule 17.03(13) and the Note
immediately after the Rule attached to the Frequently Asked
Question No. 072-2020 issued by the Stock Exchange on 6
November 2020 (the “Stock Exchange Supplementary

4 5 (i) = T AR BI B8 17.03(13) 16k 5 R (iii)
FEiR ETRRAISE 17.03(13) &A1 7545 3]
REEBIR - -_TF+—H/XH
SR 072-2020 5% % BRI RE AR B A
B R 2 B e BT = (TBE R P 7 8 5l 1)
Ho_TE - —BHBFERARTEEREZ
AEERR-ZE_ U REEHKRTE
BIREEITERE TRITZERMHE
B{EH A -

Guidance”).
Prior to adjustment After adjustment
RABEA RAEE
Adjusted
Number number of
of Existing Consolidated
Shares to be Shares to be
issued upon issued upon
full exercise Adjusted full exercise
of the exercise of the
Exercise price outstanding price per outstanding
per Existing FY2022 Share Consolidated FY2022 Share
Share Options Share Options
fef RATBERY
fe R ATRERY —F=-=
—5-= BBEE
MBEE BREE
BRERE BHTHEE
BRITEE R HFRIZ
BRAF HFRT2 BHRBZz SHROZ
Date of grant REBH BRHZTEE RERGHE KSHBTEE KHEHYE
(HK$) (HK$)
(&) (B7T)
27 July 2022 —E-F
+A=++H 0.56 37,118,000 2.80 7,423,600
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34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Share options granted on 27 July 2022 (the
“FY2022 Share Options") (Continued)

The estimated fair value of the options granted on 27
July 2022 was HK$13,914,039. The Binomial model had
been used to estimate the fair value of the options. The
variables and assumptions used in computing the fair
value of the share options were based on the directors’
best estimate. The value of an option varied with
different variables of certain subjective assumptions.

The key inputs of the model were as follows:

Share price HK$0.56
Exercise price HK$0.56
Risk-free rate 2.78%
Dividend yield 0%
Expected volatility 42.78%
Time-to-maturity 10 years

The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the
historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which
may also not necessarily be the actual outcome. As at 27
July 2022, the weighted average exercise price for
FY2022 Share Options was HK$2.80 per share (or
HK$0.56 per share prior to Share Consolidation).

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of the Company’s share price over 6.7 years
started from 6 November 2015 (“the Listing date”) of
the Company to 27 July 2022 (the “Valuation date”). No
other feature of the options granted was incorporated
into the measurement of fair value.

34. URGOBER RIS #)

R-ZB-=—F+A=++tHE
HeBRE(ZSE-_BHHE
EEREL®

R-ZE-_—E+A-++ABE
REHE 2 et AF(EA13,914,0398 7T -
—HABRAE AR GETEREZATFE
B AEBREATEMEANEH
SBEMBRNIEREZT 2 & E M-
BREEEREZSE TEBERENTH
HFEMAFTR o

BE 2 T BB AR

IR B 0.56 87T
ﬁﬁ%ﬁ 0.56 /87T

[ Bz 7| 2= 2.78%
Hx Blkzs 0%
TEHRR 18 42.78%
B HARFER 104

TEHA R iR IR B R SR LR IR RE SR R
RKBE  MEBRBR TS —EWLL -
RZZEZZF+LtA=++tH =%
::ﬁw@fﬁ%%ﬁéwm%%ﬁﬁﬁ
BRER2.80% T (KRN & FAI

A% 0.5687T) °

EHEEEAALCARERE S
—hAF+—AXNB(LWmAEHEDERE
—EFEAZ+HHBR(EERE])
6 7FZ2FELKIREE - sTE2RFE
B AR M BRI EE -
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Share options granted on 27 July 2022 (the
“FY2022 Share Options") (Continued)

The Group recognised the total expense of
RMB11,903,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022
in relation to FY2022 Share Options granted by the
Company.

As of the date of approval of these financial statements,
the Company had a total of 7,423,600 share options
that had been granted but remained unexercised, in
addition to 4,000 share options that were yet to be
granted under the Scheme. The unexercised options
represented approximately 2.81% of the Company's
shares in issue, while the ungranted options represented
approximately 0.01%. Collectively, the 7,427,600
unexercised options amounted to approximately 2.82%
of the Company’s shares in issue as of that date.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had
7,423,600 granted but unexercised FY2022 Share
Options outstanding under the Scheme. The exercise in
full of these share options would, under the present
capital structure of the Company, result in the issue of
7,423,600 additional ordinary shares of the Company
and additional share capital of HK$20,786,080 (before
issue expenses).

The shareholders of the Company passed an ordinary
resolution at the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 2 June 2023 to approve the renewal of the 10%
general limit on the number of shares which may be
allotted and issued upon the exercise of the options to
be granted under the Share Option Scheme, being 10%
of the total number of Shares in issue as of 2 June 2023
and amounting to 26,376,552 shares (after Share
Consolidation Adjustments).

34. UM AERBRZAIRRS (@)

R-ZB--—F+tA=+tHAE
HeBRE(ZSE-_BHHE
EEREL®

BE-_T-_—_#F#+-_A=+—HILF
B AEEBREBAQRBRE=Z
TMBEEERECATBEAR
#11,903,000 7T °©

HEZSUBREREHERR A2
AIEREERNRITENERES £
7,423,60017 © LA RABIREZET &I BRI
89 4,000 10 BE AR AE o RITIEIBARAEG
RAATEBITRMNAIA2.81% K
B B P AE (R 490.01% ° 7,427,60015
RITEBERESRERRARZAE
BITIRDBIH92.82% ©

RBEER - BIEZE - AREE
7,423,600 EEHEHRITEN =T
THBREEERE ZEBERERE
BEITEE  BRBAQRBEABEAR
ZRIEE B 31T 7,423,600 REBINA A D
A) &3 I & BEINAR AR 20,786,080 78 7T
(RetETR%) -

ARARRRRZZTEZ=FA=-HE
TARRAZBRRBAFRE ELAERR
BRBBRIESENERETEET
1 TR AR EITEE A TR
MEBETZBRMHEE 210% —ARRE
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B&1D A 10% + 526,376,552 %
(DA PEAEER) -
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34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Share options granted on 27 July 2022 (the
“FY2022 Share Options") (Continued)

As a result, the total number of shares available for issue
under the Share Option Scheme was 26,376,552 shares
(after Share Consolidation Adjustments), representing
10% of the issued shares as at the date of the Interim
Report.

The number of share options available for grant under
the scheme mandate was 26,376,552 (after Share
Consolidation Adjustments) as at 30 June 2023.

The number of shares that may be issued in respect of
options granted under all schemes of the Company
during the Reporting Period divided by the weighted
average number of shares of the relevant class in issue
for the same period was approximately 2.81%.

The number of share options available for grant
under the Share Option Scheme at the beginning
and the end of the financial period

34. URGOBER RIS #)

R-ZB-=—F+A=++tHE
HeBRE(ZSE-_BHHE
EEREL®

At - BERRRERTEITE T Al (31T A9 A%
D484 26,376,552 I (IR IR DA O
Big) (R HIRE BHIE BTN
10% o

R-ZE-_=ZFA=+8" BE:2
EEAMHEKREDZERESE A
26,376,552 19 (F& & PrFa &) ©

R & HEREA QR A SR
B B AR i A 21T 89 AR 1) B BR LA R BR
R B 1T IG5 M N T 8L
552.81%

R IBCRR T B 1) e B AR AR 15 R A 1
AT EIAI IR BB IR E B A

2023

Shares

—Eo=F

f&1n

As at 1 January 2023 R-ZEBE_=%—H—H 4,000
Refreshment of the 10% general limit BHM_T_=F"AZH

approved on 2 June 2023 BEZ 10% — PRI EE 26,372,552

As at 30 June 2023 R-E-_=FA=T+H 26,376,552
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34.

35.

304

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Arrangement to purchases shares or
debentures

At no time during the Reporting Period and up to the
date of this interim report was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries or a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other
body corporate.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of
the schemes are held separately from those of the Group,
in funds under the control of trustees. The Group
contributes of 5% of eligible employees’ relevant
aggregated income with a cap of HK$1,500 per
employee per month, which contribution is matched by
employees.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme
operated by the government of the PRC. The subsidiary is
required to contribute a certain percentage of payroll
costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect
to the retirement benefit scheme is to make the specified
contributions.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss of
RMB230,000 (2022: RMB401,000) represents
contributions payable to these plans by the Group at
rates specified in the rules of the plans.

34.

35.

DURBAERZARRS @)

BEROEER 2L

RS B EHE AR R A=A B R
FHH - ARAHEEMNERFHK
Hp— BRI EM L USE
FARKBARRRRERMEMEAE
B2 EERE MERFIE -

RKEFETE

AEERNBEENMARERERR
VRHERTERE B - RFTENEE
HERARFHNESHA  BURAK
SEEE - AKESAFELHR &
BREERERERBABREI5%
BREEZEALRR1,5008T &
B IMERARRIEAR o

AEERTPBENNEAREE SHE
B A8 2 1) B 3R T AR PR AR U AT 81X
E-MBARARREFENETA
o ER KR FIET B R - (ERE
PR o NS B Bh R K AR B 51 81 B9 e —
RERERIEEHR -

RERABRIAXBBEARY
230000 ( ZE - F: AR
401,00070) A K ERZER 87 A
BEZEXRENZETEIZHK -
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36. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts,
which includes bank and other borrowings, convertible
loan notes and lease liabilities disclosed in Notes 28, 29
and 31, respectively, net of bank balances and cash and
equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and other reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the
directors consider the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through the payment
of dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as
well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of
existing debt.

The only externally imposed capital requirement is that
for the Group to maintain its listing on the Stock
Exchange it has to have a public float of at least 25% of
the shares. The Group receives a report from the share
registrars on a timely basis on substantial share interests
showing the non-public float and it demonstrates
continuing compliance with the 25% limit from the date
of the Listing.

36. EXEEE

AEEERELEAURRAEENE
BESAEELERBEE AR
S8 B A T T 25 1 5 AR R 2
AEH o A2 BEBHE L —F
BRFTE -

AEBCEAREBREFAR  HE
FERIRHEE28 ~ 29 & 31 I T’ 2 $R1T
REMER TRBREFREELREE
BfE HRBRTEBEREUREAA
A ARELES (BEEETRAK
HAbfEE)

RRAREFGLFRBEHNERRE -
ERZBRHZ 80 BEFEERT
BRI BEARZBARARAARBER - &
BERZES  AEESBEEKMNEK
S FARD BT RA) BB IA M BT
MEHAERREESFEERESR
ANZRRE -

ME—INEBRBIEERERE  AEH
ﬁD%ﬁ”&%ﬁEHﬁﬁ?&FﬁiﬁE’]i@fj - H
NBEFREZLBRMNHII25% « A&
EREEIRNDABFELERBTIEA
BEBRENEABRMERNORS - E
BRE L THBAREEFERFS25%
E"]ﬁﬁ%ﬁ °
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 37. €@ T A

(a) €I BEEH

(a) Categories of financial instruments

306

2023 2022
—E2-= —_=EF-—
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥E T AREFr
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at FVTPL BAVEFABR  CREE
Unlisted equity securities FE_ETIRARE 5 1,178 1,178
Financial assets at amortised cost TR HRARTIBR 2 R B = 504,862 798,765
Financial liabilities EREE
Amortised cost HEHA AR 423,893 399,658

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include

financial assets at FVTPL, trade and other

receivables, amounts due from related parties, bank

balances and cash, trade and bills payables and

other payables, bank and other borrowings and

convertible loan notes. The risks associated with

these financial instruments include market risk

(currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and

F8

(b) B EBERBFERBE

AEEZTIReMTARREREA

AAABRZEREE B
Ko E A FE WK IR ~ FE W BB 05 3K
B RITEBEAE  BHEE
1 AN R OR DA R L At A SRR
SRIT N EL 5 7R B AT
B HZECRITAMBRZ AR
BREmSER(E %R R R X

LS £ TE
X 5 TA =

liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and

effective manner.

Bk) EERBREABE SR
% o MEZEFRE 2 HEHNT
X o EREEERERZSEAR
NEREFEREBIEBSAE
i
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk

(i)

Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have the
foreign currency bank balances which exposes
the Group to foreign currency risk. The

AR IE R R 5E

n'.F
BT =F+A=+—HIEFE

37. M T H %)

(b) BHEREREBERBX

(%)
5 E AR
(i) E&EmEE

RRFETHBRRZIMNE
RITRBRE AR BAZINEG
o REBNIEHRIA

carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign SNEEHEC EMEEZRE
currency denominated monetary assets at the BT :
end of the reporting period are as follows:
Assets
BE
2023 2022
—EC=F —FE-—
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥FT AER®TFT
HK$ BT 232 7,140

The Group currently does not have a foreign
exchange hedging policy. However, the
management of the Group monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign exchange exposure should
the need arises.

In the opinion of management of the Group,
the expected change in foreign exchange rate
will not have significant impact on the
carrying amount of the foreign currency
denominated monetary assets, hence
sensitivity analysis is not presented.

75 8 B AR S S B
% o AT AEEEREE
ROMERR RN EENZ
B EAINERR -

K’Elgﬁwﬁ BEHEISN

FEE 2= B 5 N & B A SIS
EHEZTM,%SEEEETE%EE
BEAFE HAMITESIIH

|

REE DA o
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

308

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest
rate risk in relation to bills payable as disclosed
in Note 28, lease liabilities as disclosed in Note
31, fixed-rate bank and other borrowings as
disclosed in Note 28 and fixed-rate convertible
loan notes as disclosed in Note 29. The Group
is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate bank balances as
disclosed in Note 25. The Group manages its
interest rate exposures by assessing the
potential impact arising from any interest rate
movements based on interest rate level and
outlook.

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk is
mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of
interest rates movement on bank balances.

The Group currently does not use any
derivative contracts to hedge its exposure to
interest rate risk. However, the management
will consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.

37. €EMI B %)

(b) BEREREBERBX

(%)
5 AR ()
(i) FIEE R

REEM T 28T HE 2
R SRAE - MY GE31 P INER
ZHERE  ME28M K
B 2 B A RRIT R E A
AR M 29T R B 2 Bl E
MERAMRERFBEAI R
FEMERE o AN E IR
B & 25 T 4% B8 2 V% B A K
RITESRAZ RS REN
R o REBEBRIEF X
K R AR R A R 2
BEANBETEEEER
RE K o

AEBORSRENRER
B RRRTRBFIRE
BERD) -

7N 6= [ 3R By X 4 {5 PR AT 0T
BB HS EL P E B 2 B R
Rz - AT - BEEEERE
T EREBEIREANKE,

)
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
(ii) Interest rate risk (Continued)

Total interest income from financial assets
that are measured at amortised cost is as

37. M T H %)

(b) BHEREREBERBX

(&)
5 ()
(i) FIERpz (&)

HEHEKATEC EREE
B ALRIT

follows:
2023 2022
—E_=F —E-=
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥Fr ARMTF T
Other income E bl A

Financial assets at amortised REESHAK AN E 2 SRl

cost BE

= 6,479

Interest expense on financial liabilities not
measured at FVTPL:

WIHR R FE ARG E
ZERMBEZMNERX

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARE TR ARETT

Financial liabilities at amortised IR E# A AGIE 2 & &b

cost afE

9,721 13,439

No sensitivity analysis was presented as the
management considers that the exposure to
cash flow interest rate risk for variable-rate
bank balances are insignificant.

HRERERRZBFXIR
THRBZ AT RENRER
WAENX - B2 5B
BT
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 37. €@ T B ®)

(b) BEREREBERBX

(b) Financial risk management objectives

310

and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group's
counterparties default on their contractual
obligations resulting in financial losses to the
Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures are
primarily attributable to trade and other receivables,
contract assets, amounts due from related parties
and bank balances and cash. The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to
cover its credit risks associated with its financial
assets.

The Group performed impairment assessment for
financial assets under ECL model. Information
about the Group’s credit risk management,
maximum credit risk exposures and the related
impairment assessment, if applicable, are

summarised as below:

(%)
= B E B R B E 1

EERBEAESEHFHERSE
Z’U%Eﬁﬁﬁﬁlzﬁ’ilﬁﬁ%iﬂéﬁ’]

c AEEMEEREENA
ﬁ%&ﬁﬁﬂfﬂ&mlﬁ‘ BHE
7 - FEURRAES 5 RIBE A M ERTT A
BRI HA - $EII$¥%E
EAE R m L E A TG R TE
NREHESHEERBCEE
R o

AEEREEHEEEBBERY
CREEETRENG - BEX
SEEERRER RAEFER
S RRBRES G (EA) 2 &
BT -
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets arising
from contracts with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group has delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits and
credit approvals and to determine any debt recovery
action on those delinquent trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers. Before granting
credit to these customers, the Group reviews the
credit quality and defines credit limits by these
customers. Limits attributed to these customers are
reviewed once a year and each customer has a
maximum credit limit. The Group maintains a
defined credit policy to assess the credit quality of
these customers and seeks to maintain strict control
over its outstanding receivables so as to minimise
credit risk. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 10%
(2022: 26%) and 23% (2022: 66%) of the total
trade receivables was due from the Group's largest
trade receivables and the five largest trade
receivables respectively.

37. M T H %)

(b) BHEREREBERBX

(&)

= BB B R B E FF 1 ()

BEFENELZEZBWFIE
REHNEE

SEEREEERR  AKEE
EEEZKEFEEEEEER
BLEELE WREHEFE
MEEMIERE 5 BUGIAED
EAEFERKITE - RAZFR
FPERHOEER  AEBEEMHEE
EEEMATEZEREFPHNEER
B nEEPRERBEFET
—RigE - AEREFPHARA
EERE - AEERAREEE
BRNFEZEEFPZEEE
= UHABREHEFERER
WFKIE NEEREEER
ReFUME * ARREFRE
AEENEERRD KIERE

rEBZEERBRET  REA
ERAEEZKEWERRAK
EWER R 2 KIBD AL E 5 B
RBHRE14%(ZE ==
26%) k33%(=ZF = = F:
66%) °
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 37. €@ T B ®)

(b) BEREREBERBX

(b) Financial risk management objectives

312

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets arising
from contracts with customers (Continued)

In addition, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model on trade balances
contract assets based on provision matrix. Except
for those trade receivables contract assets with
significant outstanding balances or credit-impaired,
which are assessed for impairment individually, the
remaining trade receivables and contract assets are
grouped under a provision matrix based on shared
credit risk characteristics by reference to the ageing,
repayment history and/or past due status of trade
receivables and contract assets. Impairment of
RMB349,640,000 (2022: RMB9,022,000) and
RMB16,600,000 (2022: RMB5,019,000) is
recognised for trade receivables and contract
assets, respectively during the year. Details of the
quantitative disclosures are set out below in this

note.

(%)

1= B /m B2 K 6l B 7P 1 (48)

BEFENELZEZBWFIE
REHNEE (#)

BEAN » REEIR B EERERIEE

MEEEBRAUNESERKE
%@éELﬁWﬁaﬂé cBRAEBK
B ARENEHRIEEBEER
BrZEEHIRRAEBERENE
EIN BT ESHEBKRIBRE L
éf?ifﬁx%ﬁ%é{%%ﬁ@& LZEER
RIEFHOE EREL2EEHE
WHRIBERENEE R - B
&,/ sa kiR - FR - R
B A K #349,640,0000( — =
— =% : AR#¥09,022,0007T) &
A R #16,600,000c( — T~ —
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R EERBFBHRNAMET
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 37. €@ T B @)

(b) BHEREREBERBX

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Amounts due from related parties and other
receivables and deposits

For amounts due from related parties and other
receivables and deposits, the directors of the
Company make periodic individual assessment on
the recoverability of these amounts based on
historical settlement records, past experience, and
also quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportive forward- looking
information. The directors of the Company believe
that there are no significant increase in credit risk
of these amounts since initial recognition and the
Group provided impairment based on 12m ECL.
Impairment of nil (2022: nil) is reversal for amounts
due from related parties and impairment of
RMB358,000 (2022: impairment of
RMB19,139,000) is recognised for other receivables
and deposits during the year. Details of the
quantitative disclosures are set out below in this
note.

Bank balances

Credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit
ratings assigned by credit agencies. Based on
above, the credit risk on bank balances is
considered to be insignificant by the management.

(&)

= BB B R B E FF 1 ()

FE W B8 B 5 51 1B AR A A B
HEREE

8 Uk B g 5 SRR A R E Ath R UK
REREZESME ARRESR
BRAEMNLE  BELRIAR
TEMTMHER(EBREZFE
AIEMER) HZEeB 2K
B 14 3 17 7E HA @ Bl A - AR A
EEHGE 2EeBE2EERAR
EREPNERVERNE PN N
S8z 12A A EHEEBE IR
WA - FA - BB T 5K
HERARES(ZTE__F: %)
Ko 3 EL At JE YR SR T8 I IE € o B
BEARM35800T(ZT ==
F REARK19,139,0007T) °
TERBREHFBRARETX
Bt -

RITAER

RITEBZEERRER - RE
REFHIREERFZRIT X
EFERBETREENR -1
B EXPT - ERERBIRITE
B EERRYTERX -
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 37. €@ T B ®)

(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) B EREEEERKE
and policies (Continued) (&)

1= B B2 K 6l B F 1 ()

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)
The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment REBEHASEERRSRTE
comprises the following categories: BIEATHER -

Internal credit Trade receivables and

rating Description contract assets Other financial assets
B EE R R ESRNFEREGHNEE HttEREE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk Lifetime ECL — 12-month ECL
of default and does not have not credit-impaired
any past- due amounts
NN BFEINENORBEEYEEMN 2HEDHEESE— R2EARHREEER
BHEE WELRESERE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after Lifetime ECL — 12-month ECL
due dates but usually settle in not credit-impaired
full
BRAE fii‘W\%« REEIBREN - B 2HEHEEESE — R EAEREEER
l%i%(:ﬂ/ﬁ W HREER
Doubtful There have been significant Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
increases in credit risk since not credit-impaired not credit-impaired
initial recognition through
information developed
internally or external sources
RER BRAEEEHNIINBER 2HRHEEERE — FHRBEEEE —
KR - BOSHRUAR 58 TEEREERE T EEREERE
Rl 2 BEE
Loss There is evidence indicating the Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
asset is credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
B FEBBTEERBLRGEER 2HEDEEEE— FHIRBEEEE —
] BHREERE BHBREERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that Amount is written off Amount is written off
the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery
s BFEBBTEBABABRENE B RME T RERM
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 37. €M T R »)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) HBEEBREEBEEREKE
and policies (Continued) (&)
Credit risk and impairment assessment 1= B & p2 R s B 571 (&)
(Continued)
The table below details the credit risk exposures of TRV BETTEEBAEEEET
the Group's financial assets, which are subject to HeAEBeMEEZEER
ECL assessment: g
2023 2022
—EC-=E T F
Internal 12-month or Gross carrying  Gross carrying
Notes credit rating lifetime ECL amount amount
12EA%2H
M ABEETIR HHFEER BEAE REAE
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTFT ARETT

Financial assets at amortised cost

REHRANIEC EREE

Trade receivables from contracts 23 (Note 1) Lifetime ECL
with customers (provision matrix) 318,178 215,365
XPaHIzEHRWHE (Haz1) THRBEEER
(BEmERE)
Lifetime ECL —
not credit-impaired
THRHEERE —
TR REERE
Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired 262,044 262,044
PHRHEERE —
EHREERE

46,679
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 37. @RI T R )
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) HBEBEEBEEREKE
and policies (Continued) (%)
Credit risk and impairment assessment 1= B & b2 R o B 7718 (&)
(Continued)
2023 2022
—EC-=E T F
Internal 12-month or Gross carrying  Gross carrying
Notes credit rating lifetime ECL amount amount
12EA%2H
M wBEETR BHGEBR BEAE FREAE
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETT

Amounts due from related parties 26 (Note 2) 12-month ECL - 3,945
FE U B 7 7R0E (Hizt2) R{EARBEERSE
Other receivables and deposits 23 (Note 2) 12-month ECL 83,120 83,120
H At YRR R iZ S (Hizt2) 12{8 A RBEERSR
Bank balances 25  (Note 2) 12-month ECL 5,642 7,017
RITHERR (Hizt2) R{EARBEERSE
Contract assets 22 (Note 1) Lifetime ECL

(provision matrix) 318,214 378,273
ANEE (fiat1) 2HRNEEEE

(Bfarh)
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Notes:

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group has
applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure
the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors with
significant outstanding balances or credit-impaired, the
Group determines the ECL on these items by using a

provision matrix, grouped by internal credit rating.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group
applies internal credit rating for its customers. The
following table provides information about the exposure
to credit risk for trade receivables and contract assets
which are assessed based on provision matrix within
lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired). Debtors with significant
outstanding balances or credit-impaired with gross
carrying amounts of RMB347,848,000 as at 31 December
2023 (2022: RMB424,952,000) were assessed individually.

E-PoSF+AS—HILER

= —<—

37. M T H %)

(b) BHEREREBERBX

(&)

1= B /m B2 K el B =P 1 (45)

it -

HESRRHBERENEEMS -
AEECEABEBY RS ELE
9k 2 LT AR 2 IR MERE
BRI EEBEE - BAXKEHAKE
fassrekE HIREEREZ KRR
FON - REE BB ETE %
FHEREBEEER - WIEAEE
B SHE -

ERAEEGERREEREZ —
5 AESBEHERFEAABEE
ST o TRIBHA R E 5 EIGRIE
REHNEEEERBRZER  BH
B2 BEREEEE (&
BIEERE) N2 B EERETE -
N-ZE-_=F+-fA=+—H ' &
REWARENERIEHREER
BZRKER 2 BEEBEARYE
347,848,000 C(ZF=—F : AR
#424,952,0007T ) B 3 17 & 5l 5T
flg o
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 37. €@ T B ®)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

(b) ¥BEBREEBERBXK

(%)

1= B B K BB P 1 ()

Credit risk and impairment assessment

318

(Continued)
Notes: (Continued) Hiat - (&)
(Continued) 1. (&)
Gross carrying amount FRE#AE
2023 2022
—EBE-=HF T F
Average Trade Contract Average Trade Contract
Internal credit rating NE=ETR loss rate receivables assets loss rate  receivables assets
FHEREE BZENTIE GHEE FUBEX ZEZEEFE AUEE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARETFT ARSFiT ARETT
Low risk KRk 0.93% 206,408 173,545 0.92% 150,274 250,204
Watchlist MRy s 9.45% 21,512 3,269 9.44% 21,512 3,269
Doubtful RER 14.4% 43,579 111,456 14.3% 43,579 111,456
Loss BB - - - - - -
271,499 288,270 215,365 364,929

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the
debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort. The
grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
relevant information about specific debtors is updated.
The contract assets have substantially the same risk
characteristics as the trade receivables for the same type
of contracts. The Group has therefore concluded that the
loss rates for trade receivables are a reasonable
approximation of the loss rates for contract assets.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
provided RMB349,640,000 (2022: RMB9,022,000) and
RMB16,600,000 (2022: RMB5,019,000) impairment
allowance for trade receivables and contract assets
respectively, based on the provision matrix.

EETBIERDRIEES A Z REF
HEE s R B RMAET - L5t
BAB L RATAE IS Z AT 1E
ARCETTHE - BEEETHRA S
A ARECRB BN EE TS A RIAERE
AREERN - aHNEEZRBREE
HRBA B 5 EKIEANEAE
R Bt AEEZ EwRAEHE
WHIRZ BERESNEEBRX
BIREL

BE-_T-_=F+-A=+—H1t
FE ASEREBREEERES
BRHERENEEDRIFHREAR
# 349,640,000 L (ZT =24 : A
R #9,022,0007t ) & A R %
16,600,000 C(—FE = —4: AR
5,019,000 7T ) 2B (EH E o
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 37. €M T R »)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) BIEBEEBERKE

and policies (Continued) (%)

Credit risk and impairment assessment =8 /m R E TG (&)

(Continued)

Notes: (Continued) Hiaz - (&)

1. (Continued) 1. (&)
Gross carrying amount (Continued) BRTEAAME (4)
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL TREBREHEZERUREBERAELD
that has been recognised for trade receivables and BEBRRZZHEHEEBENE
contract assets: )

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

— provision  —individual ~ — individual

matrix assessment assessment

(not credit- (not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) impaired) Total

2HEH 2HRA MBS
FEBE REBE FEEE
—BfEEE  —@ERFME  — BRI

(b HB (Giz:5p) (BHE
EEHME) FERE) RERHE) Eh
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000

AEETT ARETT AEETT ARETT

At 1 January 2022 R-E-—%—HF—H
Changes due to financial AR-Z-_—%—Af—H
instruments recognised as at AZEBMIAMEE :
1 January 2022: 11,715 2,385 - 14,100
— Impairment losses recognised — BERRARERSE 14,041 - - 14,041
— Impairment losses reversed — ERERERE = - - -
As at 31 December 2022 and R-T-_—F
1 January 2023
25,756 2,385 - 28,141
Changes due to financial
instruments recognised as at RZEBMIAN
1 January 2023: 2
— Impairment losses recognised — BERBEEE 18,392 = = 18,392
At 31 December 2023 R-B=-=F
+=A=+-H 44,148 2,385 - 46,533
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 37. €@ T B ®)

(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) EEBEEEEREEK
and policies (Continued) (&)

1= B /m B2 K 6l B 7P 1 (48)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

320

Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivable are
mainly due to the recognition of impairment allowance for
trade receivable with a gross carrying amount of
RMB334,767,000 (2022: RMB276,841,000) during the
year ended 31 December 2023.

The Group writes off trade receivables when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g.
when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has
entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or when the trade
receivables are over five years past due, whichever occurs
earlier. None of the trade receivables that have been

written off is subject to enforcement activities.

The Group assessed the loss allowance for amounts due
from related parties and other receivables and deposits on
12m ECL basis. In determining the ECL, the Group
performs periodic review on the financial position of the
debtors, its settlement status and other contractual
conditions to ensure it is financially viable to settle the
receivables. The Group has applied ranged to 0.14% to
26.16% (2022: 0.2% to 26.76%) of credit loss rates and
concluded that adequate impairment loss is made for

irrecoverable amount.

(Continued)

Notes: (Continued) Kiat : (&)
(Continued) 1. (%)
Gross carrying amount (Continued) IREAE(Z)

B S RYGRIEZ BIEREEE T+
EHRBE-_T-_=F+=A
=T —HIEFERREREEAA
R#334,767,0007c (=T = — 4 :
AR 276,841,0007T) 2 B 5 B
FIE 2 BB BAHPEL ©

BEREMBREBARBAREHSTS
P & B 37 48 B A AT A A R (D)
WIMEEB NETRRAEEARE
BF - RERSRNFAD A fiE
BRF(ARFEEERE)) - B
AEEMEE 5 EKGR - ED
HSH YR 2 MR IAZRHE 1T 58 IR
17178 °

REEZNEREHEESEBEE
AE T A LT A e 5 R TR B L A R U
HIERIEE 2 BEEE  REEE
HEEEERN  AEEHEFAZ
MSAOR - HEMKR R EME L
ERFGETTE B - ARE B
R N ER EWFRIE - AEEBfE
F0.14% £26.16% (=T = —
02%%E26.76%) Z =B EE X -
SHAER AR AT E S FEED
RHFHEEIE ©
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 37. TR T R %)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) B EEREEBEREEK
and policies (Continued) (%)
Credit risk and impairment assessment EE R R EFE (&)
(Continued)
Notes: (Continued) it - (&)
2. (Continued) 2. (&)
The following tables show reconciliation of loss allowances TRERE R EMEYRIARIES
that has been recognised for other receivables and T e UG RS 7 sR B RE SR 2 B iE B
deposits and amounts due from related parties: ZHEE -
12m ECL 12m ECL
— individual — individual
(not credit- (not credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
1218 A & 1218 B a8
FEEE FEEE
— {E B R — {E B R (L
(Y| HIR (WM HIR
EERE) FERE) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBTT ARETFT

At 1 January 2022 R=-B=-=5—HF—H

Changes due to financial AR=—ZT=-—F—HF—H
instruments recognised as at BTREMTAEEZ
1 January 2022: BHE - 4,054 = 4,054
— Impairment losses recognised — BEERREEE 19,139 - 19,139
— Impairment losses reversed — B RIREEE 898 - 898

As at 31 December 2022 and N-—TE-—

1 January 2023 +=A=+—-8EK
—E-_=%—HA—H 24,091 - 24,091
Changes due to financial AR—ZT_=F—HA—H
instruments recognised as at HREMIAEELY
1 January 2023: o
— Impairment losses recognised ~ — B MR REEE = - -
— Exchange difference —ERER (358) = (358)
At 31 December 2023 R-B-=F
+=HA=+—H 23,733 - 23,733
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

322

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

3. For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the
Group has applied the general approach in HKFRS 9 to
measure the loss allowance at 12m ECL as there is no
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
The Group determines the expected credit losses for bank
balances by assessment of probability of default. During
the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 in view of
the nature of the balance and historical default rate and
forward looking information, the Group considers the
provision of impairment allowance for the bank balances

are insignificant.
Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of bank balances
and cash deemed adequate by the management to
finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
management monitors the utilisation of borrowings
and ensures compliance with loan covenants.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on
the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can
be required to pay. The maturity dates for other
non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the
agreed repayment dates. The table includes both
interest and principal cash flows.

37. €EMI B %)

(b) HBEAMEEEFEREE
(&)

1= B B R Bl 18 1 ()

ffe : (&)

3. RAEERREEMS  A%E
EREAEBMBREENE IR
—RAXFEREAESREES
BREBERE REAEERRE
2 W R A SR SRR 3 N - ANER
EiE BT HENR BT RITES
WEHEEEE - BE_T-=F
RZT—ZF+-_A=+—HItF
B ERERNEE RELELE
RATEEER - NEBRAERIT
HEIROBERBELTERX °

REEZmEE

m}*

MEBETRRE - AKHE
*&ZE%EEELEJ%ELM%ZK
SELERTESWHERSR
ENPREZ —EKFZRITHE
HENEE  BEEBEEERD
ERABER - WHERE T E R L °

TRAVNARBZFTESREA
BZHTNEHNBHIER - KRB
DiREERAENRMRBRR
ERAKEARERNRZ &S
ARG - HIETAS AR
F 2 B Jh iRt E E 5K A B
SZERBERNERAERE

o
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 37. €M T R »)

(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) BIEBREEEERKE
and policies (Continued) (%)
Liquidity risk (Continued) mEBELEE ()
The table includes both interest and principal cash TRBEMNERAEZEHEER
flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating E-BMABEREATHINER
rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from = KBLR SR B HREEIKR
weighted average interest rate at the end of ZINFEFIG &K o

reporting period.

Liquidity table MEEE &K
At 31 December 2023 R=FB=-=%+=-A=+—H
Weighted
average  On demand Total
interest  or less than 3 months Over undiscounted Carrying
rate 1month  1-3 months to 1year 1-5 years Syears  cash flows amount
i RERS RAERRE

ToRE SRR 1ZE3f8R 3fERE1F 1258 HB5F RELE RAEE
% RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
% ARMTT ARMFT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETRL

Non-derivative FTECRER
financial liabilities

Trade and other payables & % R E i fE(

E] - 134,402 - - - - 134,402 134,402

Bank and other borrowings 81T R E M fEK 7 257,085 - - - = 257,085 257,085
Convertible loan notes THRRERZE 17.32 47,430 - - - - 47,430 47,430
Lease liabilities HERE 10.00 - - 269 - - 269 269
438,917 - 269 - - 439,186 439,186
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 37. @RI T R )
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) HBEBEEBEEREKE
and policies (Continued) (&)
Liquidity risk (Continued) HEE2EE ()
Liquidity table (Continued) MEEEZ (B)
At 31 December 2022 R—EBE-_—F+_-_H=+—H
Weighted
average  On demand Total
interest or less than 3 months Over  undiscounted Carrying
rate Tmonth  1-3 months to 1 year 1-5 years 5 years cash flows amount
pill:3 BERT RERRE

FaRE  SRMER 1E3@EA 3EARIF 125% BBSE  REAE fREfE
%  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMBO00  RMBO00  RMB'00  RMB'000
% ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETLE ARBTL ARETL ARETT

Non-derivative FiTEeMaR
financial liabilities

Trade and other payables ~ ZHREMER

FB = 120,246 - - - - 120,246 120,246

Bank and other borrowings  $R{TRE 53 7 - - 235,398 - - 235,398 235,398
Convertible loan notes RRERER 17.32 - - 44,014 - - 44,014 44,014
Lease liabilities REaE 10.00 - - 4 - - 41 4
120,246 - 401,436 - = 504,417 399,699
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Fair value measurements of financial

instruments

This note provides information about how the
Group determines fair values of various financial
assets and financial liabilities.

Fair value measurements and valuation
processes

Some of the Group’s financial instruments are
measured at fair value for financial reporting
purposes. The directors of the Company are
responsible to determine the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs for fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-
observable data to the extent it is available. Where
Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages
third party qualified valuers to perform the
valuation. The directors of the Company works
closely with the qualified external valuers to
establish the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs to the model. The management reports the
valuation committee’s findings to the board of
directors of the Company to explain the cause of
fluctuations in the fair value.

37. M T H %)

ETMITAZAVEANE

KR A RS BN EE
EHsRMEERERBEIRF
BZEF -

RFEAEBRIEEREF

AEEHS R IAENIZATE
TR MEFBHmERE - AR
AEZRERATEAEEES
AR ETTERBARE -

RIEFTAFER - AREBE R
ERAIBRMISEE - WML ES
— B ARBRIHER - AIAK
BZEE=SEERMEMET
EE - ARAEFHA BRI
HEMEZEE SRARIA
BEEDENBARE - EEE
ARABESTGERFEZES
MAEER  NRBEATFERD
MREA -
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
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(c) Fair value measurements of financial

instruments (Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets
that are measured at fair value on a
recurring basis

Investments in the unlisted equity securities
classified as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

The Group assessed the minimum recoverable
amount of the investments will be covered by the
personal guarantee arrangement on the basis that
the guarantors have sufficient assets to support
their personal guarantee. In this regard, the
directors of the Company consider that no fair
value change had been recognised for the year
ended 31 December 2022 and 2023 and as of the
date, the investments in the unlisted equity
securities classified as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss are amounted to
approximately RMB1,178,000 (2022:
RMB1,178,000).

There were no transfers in different levels of the
fair value hierarchy during the reporting period.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities that are not measured at fair
value on a recurring basis (but fair value disclosures
required)

The directors of the Company consider that the
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate their
fair values based on discounted cash flows analysis.

FH-—RA=+—HItFE

37. €EMI B %)

(9]

EMIACZAFEFE®

EZERFEFNENIEEE
BAEENLFHE

TEBENFETABDNE
HEENF LTRAZFFRE

AEEGFIRERKE R KBS
A B EAERT T AYE -
AIRIGEHRERAREREEE
RHBES2EAER stkm
T ARAESTRABECZT
T ZFRZFTZ=F+ZA
=+t R LEFEREREMAF
BEE mEEZB  2EARK
AFEFAEBENCREENIE
FTRABHERENAARE
1,178,000 C(ZT==F : AR
1,178,000 7T) °

RIRE AR + B TRHBIE A
TEE R -

W 3FE MR AT EFE(BAR
BAYE)NARESREER
TRAENAFE

ARBEZERG  REMBARE
MENT - MERAMIERRAR
BHEAAARZEMEENE R
BENFAERLQAFERS



JIYI HOLDINGS LIMITED & —3= 8 H R A 7
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 iR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEEEIHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z= =2 =-=F+=-A=+—HILFE

38. CHARGES ON ASSETS 38. EEHEA
The Group has the following charges on assets for bank RBERR - NEEM T 282
borrowings as set out in Note 28 at the end of the SRITIERBUTEEER -

reporting period:

2023 2022
—E_=F ===
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARE TR ARETT

Property, plant and equipment M - BB REE 16,513 17,832
Investment properties REMHE 47,420 61,520
Right-of-use assets FREEE 1,200 1,255
Transfer to investment properties EREREYE
(Note 18) (Bta18) 65,133 80,607
39. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES 39. MEEBELENEGENHER
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities TERFVNMEEDELENAEEEE
arising from financing activities, including both cash and 28 BEReRIRCEH - HE
non- cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing EBELAMBEDNEREMEI KR
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future ReERENAEB 2GR ERER
cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated DEAMEEHNEE -

statement of cash flows from financing activities.
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39. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES 30. MEEFHELENEGENYHIER
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (&)
(Continued)
Bank and
Lease other Convertible
liabilities borrowings loan notes Total
RITR GIE:Y:y
HESE H g BERE st

RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000
ARETT AR®TIT ARETT ARETT

At 1 January 2023 RZTEZ=%F
—H—H 41 235,398 44,014 279,453
Financing cash flows BMEREME
(Note) (Htaz) (195) (577) — (195)
Non-cash transactions: FRERXH :
New lease agreement HES N 415 - - 415
Notes receivable e EE - 22,290 - 22,290
Exchange adjustments bE 5, B - - 659 659
Interest expenses MERAXZ 8 26 2,757 2,162
At 31 December 2023 N-ZS-—=F
+=-A=+-—H 269 257,085 47,430 304,784
At 31 December 2021 and R =—Z——4F
1 January 2022 +=-—A=+—8
—EF
—H—H 234 322,740 37,110 360,084
Financing cash flows BEHRERE
(Note) (Btat) (195)  (173,334) (428)  (173,957)
Non-cash transactions: FRERH :
Notes receivable JEWRIR - 77,710 - 77,710
Exchange adjustments bE 5, B - - 2,177 2,177
Interest expenses FMERAX 2 8,282 5,155 13,439
At 31 December 2022 R-ZEBE-__—F
+=B=+—H 41 235,398 44,014 279,453
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39. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
(Continued)

40.

Note: The financing cash flows mainly represent net proceeds on issue

of convertible loan notes, proceeds from bank and other
borrowings, repayment of lease liabilities, repayment of bank and
other borrowings and interest paid and excluded proceeds from

exercising of share options.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Other than as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated

financial statements, the Group has following

transactions and balances with related parties:

(a)

(b)

Guarantee from related parties

The management report and Chinese legal opinion
on the litigation and arbitration of our affiliated
subsidiaries are detailed in the appendix on pages
336 to 391. Specifically, there is a related party
guarantee of RMB 20 million in the appendix on
pages 342 to 350, and a related party guarantee of
RMB 7 million in the appendix on pages 355 to
360.

Compensation of key management
personnel

The remuneration of executive directors, being the
key management personnel, are set out in Note 13,
which is determined by the remuneration
committee having regard to the performance of
individuals and market trends.

39.

40.

METHELENEBENYR

(%)

ffet : AR SRETERRBERTUREERR
RIS RIRFRE - RITREAMETRAE
PR EEAERE  ERRTREME
BREMNFE - TN BIEITEREEE 2 P
5008 -

BBL X5

BRZEHEEMBRR 2 EME DA
BEEI  AEEERBB AN TR
7 N KGR

(a) EEEETT AR

A& B B IR E A A A £ B A
NEE I RAPE BB k& B
BEZEER BBERAERE
336 E =391 B fffsk e HAR B K
FINBEEI0EMBEHN—%8
A ARE20008 THREE S
R AR KR E3558 £F360
Bl —E28mAAREET700
B ITHBERE TR o

(b) FEEEASHFHMH

HITES(RTEEEAB)NF
BN 13 BT HFMEE
ERERMEAXRBRETHEEM
B -
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41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 41, ZRATEEHB L TS
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by RATRNBEHREELREESE 2
the Company at the end of the reporting period are set MEB AR ESEHY T -
out below.

Issued and fully

Place of paid Proportion Proportion of
incorporation/ share capital/ ownership interest voting power
establishment/ Paid-up held by held by
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital  the Company the Company Principal activities
MR/ BRORBRRE/ ADFAREZ ARAARELZ
MEARER R/ EELS BRaMES FEEERLA REELAI TERH

2024 2023 2024 2023
2024F  2023F  2024F 2023F

% % % %
Zhan Yun Holdings Limited BVI USD50,000  100% 100 100% 100%  Investment holding
REARAT ARRAES 50,000% 7T RERR
Sino Legacy Investments Limited BV USD50,000  100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
AERLES 50,000% 7T RE R

Indirectly held subsidiaries:
AR MBLR
Jiyi Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$1  100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
E—REERATA B 18T REER
Jiyi Entertainment Limited Hong Kong HK$1  100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
S-FRREARAA 3 18T RE R
Jiyi International Trading (H.K.)  Hong Kong HK$100  100% 100% 100% 100%  Bulk commodity

Company Limited trading
S-ERES (BB ERAR BE 100787 RrEmES
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41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

e B IF AR EE

E_E_=F+_A=+—HILFE

41. ARRFEMBARFRE @)

(Continued)
Issued and fully
Place of paid Proportion Proportion of
incorporation/ share capital/ ownership interest voting power
establishment/ Paid-up held by held by
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital  the Company the Company Principal activities
MR,/ ERORARREA/ ARFAEEZ RARREZ
MEARER R/ EEHE BRAMES FAERERLA REELLA IERH
2024 2023 2024 2023
2024 2023 204%F 203F
% % % %
Win Giant Limited Hong Kong HK$1  100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
Bl 1T REER

Guangdong Jiyi Household The PRC RMB161,600,000  100% 100% 100% 100%  Sales of household
Building Materials Chain Co. building materials
Ltd.* (“Guangdong Jiyi")

ERE-ZRRIMEHBRA AR 161,600,000 HERERM
AlERE—)) T

Meizhou Jisheng Household The PRC RMB2,000,000  100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
Building Materials Company
Limited* (“Meizhou Jisheng”)

BNTEBZERIERAR P ARH2,000,00070 REERK
(MeM&Rs))

Guangdong Jiyi Xinya Decoration The PRC RMB10,100,000  100% 100% 100% 100%  Provision of interior
and Design Construction design and building
Company Limited* engineering services
(“Jiyi Xinya")

BRE-GRESRHAIR  $E AR#10,100,0007 REZARTR
NG 5 BETRRE
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41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 41. KREEEMEB LA BFHEE#)
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)

Issued and fully

Place of paid Proportion Proportion of
incorporation/ share capital/ ownership interest voting power
establishment/ Paid-up held by held by
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital  the Company the Company Principal activities
KL/ BRARBERE/ ARABEZ RARREZ
MEARER R/ EEHY BRAMES FERERLA REELLA TEXH

2024 2023 2024 2023
20245 203%  204F 03F

% % % %

Jiyi Industrial Group (Shenzhen)  The PRC RMB10,000,000  100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
Co. Ltd.* (“Shenzhen Jiyi")

S-BXRE(RINBRRR  +E AR%10,000,0007C RERR
(MRYIE=])

Shenzhen Xinjiale Cloud-based  The PRC RMB35,000,000  100% 100% 100% 100%  Provision of home
Decoration Technology Co., decoration and
Limited* online distribution

and electronic
marketing services

RNTHFEERERE t AR 35,000,0007C RURERB LA
BRAT] REBEE R

Meizhou Xinjiale Enterprise The PRC RMB1,000,000  100% 100% 100% 100%  Provision of home
Limited* decoration

BHNTHREERERAR & AR%1,000,0007 RftR%E
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z= =2 =-=F+=-A=+—HILFE

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 41. ZARETEMBLABFE )
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)

Issued and fully

Place of paid Proportion Proportion of
incorporation/ share capital/ ownership interest voting power
establishment/ Paid-up held by held by
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital  the Company the Company Principal activities
AL/ BRATRARRE/ ARFAREZ KRAARAEL
WEAFER R/ EELS BRAMES  FEEERLA REELAI IERH

2024 2023 2024 2023
0245 203%F  204%F 203%F

% % % %

Xinjiale Cloud-base Gaofeng ~ The PRC RMB306,000 51% 51% 51% 51%  Provision of home
(Meizhou) Decoration decoration
Engineering Company
Limited*

HERAEERPRE(ENE ARE306,0007 REERE
HIRERAR

Xinjiale Cloud-base Qinyang The PRC RMB600,000  51% 51% 51% 51% Provision of home
(Meizhou) Decoration decoration
Engineering Company
Limited*

HELERERE(BNES & AR 600,007 RERE
IRERAT

Meizhou Xingju Culture Media ~ The PRC RMB1,000,000 51% 51% 51% 51%  Provision of electronic
Company Ltd.* marketing services

BHERXLEEERAR & ARE1,000,00070 PREBIR S SHIRTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z= =2 ==F+=-A=+—HILFE

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 41. KREEEMEB LA BFHEE#)
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)

Issued and fully

Place of paid Proportion Proportion of
incorporation/ share capital/ ownership interest voting power
establishment/ Paid-up held by held by
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital  the Company the Company Principal activities
KL/ BRARBERE/ ARABEZ RARREZ
MEARER R/ EEHY BRAMES FERERLA REELLA TEXH

2024 2023 2024 2023
20245 203%  204F 03F

% % % %

Guangdong Jicheng Building ~ The PRC RMB10,000,000 99% 99% 99% 99%  Investment holding
Materials Enterprise (Limited
Partnership)*

BREFENER (BRAY) & AR 10,000,0007 REER

Jiyi (Shenzhen) Property The PRC RMB2,000,000  100% 100% 100% 100%  Estate management
Management Co., Ltd*

S-(RINEERBRAR +&E AR%2,000,0007C nEER

Meizhou Jiyi Building Materials ~ The PRC RMB10,000,000 65% 65% 65% 65%  Sales of household
Partnership (Limited building materials
Partnership)*

BINTEIRNABLE i AR 10,000,000 HERREM
(BRE%)

Jiyi (Shenzhen) Intelligent The PRC RMB5,000,000  100% 100% 100% 100%  Sales of electronic
Technology Co., Ltd* products

S-Z(MEEHEER  * AR®5,000,0007C HESTEM
AR
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41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z= =2 =-=F+=-A=+—HILFE

41. ARRFEMBARFRE @)

(Continued)
Issued and fully
Place of paid Proportion Proportion of
incorporation/ share capital/ ownership interest voting power
establishment/ Paid-up held by held by
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital  the Company the Company Principal activities
ML/ BRARBRRE/ KRAIREZ NG
MEARER R/ EELY AREMER  FEERRELA RERELH TEXH
2024 2023 2024 2023
2024%  2023F  204%F  2023F
% % % %
Jiyi Zhiwo (Shenzhen) Intelligent ~ The PRC RMB5,000,000 51% N/A 51% N/A  Sales of electronic
Technology Co., Ltd* products
S—BE (R SRR e AK%5,000,0007 il TER HEETEm
BRATF
Jiyi Industrial Investment The PRC NA  80% N/A 80% N/A Investment holding
(Shenzhen) Partnership
(Limited Partnership)*
S-EXRE(MaRLE + TER AER TER REER
(BRE%)
Shenzhen Shenjilian Trading Co., The PRC RMB30,000,000  100% N/A 100% N/A  Bulk commodity
Ltd* trading
MITRAEHEFERAR  H AR 30,000,0007C TER TER ArEnES
Guangjilian (Guangzhou) Trading The PRC RMB30,000,000  100% 100% 100% 100%  Bulk commodity
Co., Ltd* trading
BER(BM)BHERAR  HE AR 30,000,0007C ArAnES
Shenzhen Jiyi New Energy The PRC RMB100,000,000 51% N/A 51% N/A  Investment holding
Technology Co., Ltd
RYE—HERRBRERAE  F AR 100,000,000 TER TER REER
T
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z= =2 ==F+=-A=+—HILFE

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 41. KREEEMEB LA BFHEE#)
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)

Issued and fully

Place of paid Proportion Proportion of
incorporation/ share capital/ ownership interest voting power
establishment/ Paid-up held by held by
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital  the Company the Company Principal activities
EMRL/ BRORMERET/ ALXTHEZ LN
MEARER R/ EEhE RMREMER  FHERERLA RERELA TTER

2024 2023 2024 2023
2024F  203F  2024F 203F

% % % %

Guangxi Jiyi New Energy The PRC RMB5,000,000 73% N/A 73% N/A  Investment holding

Technology Co., Ltd
RREE—FERNRARAR PHE AR 5,000,000 70 ol TER RERK
Sinosat Asia Trading Co., Ltd Hong Kong HK$1  100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
hEGHEHBERAT &b 18T REER
*  The English name is for identification purpose only * RXEEERS
All the principal subsidiaries operate predominantly in FIBEXEMBARNEENEESE
their respective places of incorporation/establishment. Z MRS BRI M B E o
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, FRIRAABEERAEETEZENR
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, EEXEREEFECASENER
principally affected the results or net assets of the Group. Al -BEEFRR EHEMMBARZ
To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion HERERERFEREANILE
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities MEMNBARBEEMNEBHBESFRRE
subsisting at the end of the reporting period or at any HAR S B ] B R E 48 o

time during the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z= =2 =-=F+=-A=+—HILFE

42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

42. N7 R B HEIR O B e 4 R R

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARMTF T
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investment in the subsidiaries RHB AR RIRE * - 254,468
Amounts due from subsidiaries JrE U B /&8 A BRI * - 81,846
Other receivables H b USR8 - -
Right-of-use assets EREEE 273 43
273 336,357
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries PEMHT A IE L 542 485,932
Amount due from a related party icidezk b = =
Prepayments and other receivables BRE IE&EI@VW 590 533
Bank balances and cash SRR KIS 210 519
1,342 86,984
Current liabilities REBEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries R B A - -
Amount due to a related party JE A< R B /T>)\ 2,832 893
Other payables Hf e g 2,019 416
Convertible loan notes AR EREE 47,430 44,014
Lease liabilities HEEE 269 41
52,550 45,364
Net current assets REBEEFE (51,208) 441,620
Non-current liabilities FREBEE = =
Net assets BEEFE (50,935) 777,977
Capital and reserves R R #E
Share capital &N 2,390 112,112
Reserves E (53,325) 665,865
Total equity TR 4B R (50,935) 777,977
& As at 31 December 2023, the gross carrying amount of 202312 A31 8« RINBARKIEE

Investment in the subsidiaries was RMB 254,468,000, and a full
provision for impairment was made for the this year (2022: nil);
The total gross carrying amount of Amounts due from
subsidiaries is RMB 566,666,000, and the provision for
impairment in the this year was RMB 566,124,000 (2022: nil). As
stated in Note 23(c), due to the challenging economic

environment, the Company has carefully evaluated the recovery

status of the aforementioned amounts and made significant

impairment.

#2588 AR #254,468,0007C © ANEE R
BBETIE TR E R (2022 : &) : FEURHIEB
RREIRIEHEE S 5T A A R 566,666,000
T NEEFRABEEESEAARE
566,124,000 7T (2022 : &) - tAARIRE 2
B3 23(0) Bt + £ B AR & M AS B IR 55
EXEET  AARBETG il ZEHIE
BEIMARR - ST RASFERIRME ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z= =2 ==F+=-A=+—HILFE

42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 42. KRFMBERRREERE

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (&)
(Continued)
Movement in the Company’s reserves KATREEZEE
Convertible
Contingent  loan notes Share-based
Share consideration equity  Translation payment Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserves reserve losses Total
TRRER
Rz DRHAER
Rt SARERR R Eife 2fORRER ESy 7 At

RMBO0O  RMB000  RMBOO0  RMBOO0  RMBOO0  RMBOO0  RMB'0O
ARBTL ARETET ARKTT ARBTL ARETT ARETT ARETZ

At 1 January 2023 RZZ=-%-A-H 672,624 2,221 - 24,425 11,903 (45,308) 665,865
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - (828,578)  (828,578)
Other comprehensive expense  FREMZ2ERY

for the year - - - (334) - - (334)
Share merger B &5 109,722 - - - - - 109,722

At 31 December 2023 R=B==F
+=A=+-R 782,346 2,221 = 24,091 11,903 (873,886) (53,325)

At31December2021and ~ WZZ=—%

1 January 2022 TZA=+-Hk
“E--%-f-H 481,107 2,221 18 22,567 2,735 (32,198) 476,450
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - (13,110) (13,110)
Other comprehensive income  ERE M 2E Rz
for the year - - - 1,858 - - 1,858
Issuie of shares BRM 174,412 - - - - = 174412
Exercise of share options TiEmRE 17,105 - - - - - 17,105
Conversion of convertible ~ BEFAREHNZE
loan notes (Note 29) (Hzt29) - = (18) = = = (18)
Lapse of share options BERERM (HF34)
(Note 34) - - - - (2,735) - (2,735)
Recognition of equity-settled  HEALABRAE( 2 bk
share-based payments R RERAR
(Note 34) (Hiit34) - - - - 11,903 - 11,903
At 31 December 2022 R-Z-ZE
+=A=t+-H 672,624 2,221 - 24,425 11,903 (45,308) 665,865
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e B IF AR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z= =2 =-=F+=-A=+—HILFE

43. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD  43.

References are made to the announcements of the
Company dated 5 July 2023, 17 August 2023, 23 August
2023, 18 October 2023, 15 November 2023, 13
December 2023, 10 January 2024, 6 March 2024, 11
March 2024 and 12 April 2024, in relation to, among
other things, the Petition (the “Announcements”). A
settlement agreement entered into between the
Petitioner and the Company on 30 April 2024, consent
was reached accordingly between the two parties to
adjourn the hearing in connection with the Petition, and
in respect of which, consent summons was filed on 2
May 2024 and an order was granted on 3 May 2024 to
(i) vacate the hearing of the Petition on 6 May 2024; and
(ii) the hearing of the Petition before the Companies
Judge was adjourned to 30 September 2024 for the
fulfilment of obligations under the aforesaid settlement
agreement.

Besides above, there is no other material subsequent
event undertaken by the Company or by the Group after
31 December 2023 and up to the date of this annual
report.

BEMRER

BR2EARRRE_=F+tAAA
:?:_E)\HWL‘EEI —EC=F
NA=Z+=H" qu_i‘f'ﬂ‘f')\
H ZE-=F+—A+AHB =
—=f+=ZA+=H" f7f@¢—
A+HB - ZZE-_lWFE=H/"H -
:@i:ﬂ‘f‘—ﬁﬂfgfﬂimﬂ
ToBRBREESEEEMNASE(A
1) - B3 )\Eﬁiﬁjﬁf?fmiﬂ
A=+RHREXMBEHZE  EHEBRLEA
EEHEFREEFANEEE  —F
“MFEFRA—HARR TREEE I
R-ZE-_MFERA=—HEHGS  E
j: |)T:E_§_E¢£H /\E@ﬁﬁéi
EWWME'M&m%EﬂiLﬂM
WEETHNRE - RREABHFRESE
E’]%ﬁmakﬁﬁiqumiﬂﬂ +
g o

B b SCATILSN + AR B SR B =
To—F+-AS+—RREEAF

WA EEEEMEMNERNRES
I8 o
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hFRIIBEHR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &#Z - =+ _-_A=+—HILFE

The consolidated results, assets and liabilities of the Group for

the last five financial reporting periods as extracted from the

audited consolidated financial statements of the Group are

summarised below:

AEEREAAEELERRAMBERRZ
BEREMBRERGFEFE BEERER

BT

RESULTS ES
For the year ended 31 December
BEt-A=1-HLFE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
ZEIZF T “T--F ZT-TF ZTNEF
RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBFT ARSTT AREFT ARETT AREFT
Revenue A 629,482 559,763 458296 446,915 573,675
Loss/(profit) before tax BB AIEE,CRF) (487,980) 39,799 11,789 13,219 16,729
Income tax expenses gt X (10,600) (117) (3,925) (2,759) (3,659)
Loss/(profit) for the year FREBE/CEF) (498,580)  (39,916) 7,864 10,460 13,070
Total comprehensive loss/ FRNZEER/
(income) for the year (A g8 (521,875)  (33,065) 8,737 14,645 35,167
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
At 31 December
W+=A=+-H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
ZEC=F —Z--fF T ZE-%TF —T-NEF
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBFT ARETFT AREFT ARETT AREFT
Total assets BELE 902,165 1,358,841 1,203,357 1,080,132 929,930
Total liabilities Lt 518,936 454,737 505479 405691 394,368
Total equity R 383,229 905,104 697,878 674441 535562
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES

The related subsidiaries of the Group were involved in litigation
and arbitration cases, all of which were caused by the
downturn of the domestic economy and the unprecedented
impact on the industry to which the Group belongs, the large-
scale expansion of the construction projects in the early stage,
the failure to timely collect government and other project
payments. In order to ensure that the Company’s business
continues to progress, it has been necessary to increase the
relevant borrowings and financing and to reduce and defer the
relevant expenses, which has further aggravated the pressure
on the Company’s capital and led to numerous litigation and
arbitration cases. In respect of the amounts involved in the
current litigation and arbitration cases, large amounts of the
cases were guaranteed by the relevant properties belonging to
the Company and its senior management, and the Company’s
receivables were sufficient to cover the payment of such
amounts, therefore, the management of the Company is of
the view that the litigation and arbitration cases involving the
related subsidiaries of the Group will not have a material
impact on the audit for the current period.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’'S

EEEARASEERENE QT
WERARMPENERREHEHPE
EEER @

RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

342

Arbitration Case No.: Zhu Zhong Cai Zi (2023) No. 96
Arbitration Case (Related Case No.: (2023) Yue 14 Zhi
348)

Case cause: Contract dispute on financial loan

Zhuhai International Arbitration Court accepted this case
on 28 February 2023, based on the arbitration clauses in
the Comprehensive Credit Agreement, Loan Contract,
and Maximum Mortgage Contract signed between the
Applicant (China Zheshang Bank Co., Ltd. Zhuhai Branch)
and the Respondent | (Guangdong Jiyi Household
Building Materials Chain Co., Ltd.); the arbitration clauses
in the Maximum Guarantee Contract signed between the
Applicant and the Respondent Il (Guangdong Jiyi Xinya
Decoration Design Engineering Co., Ltd.), the
Respondent Il (Hou Wei), the Respondent IV (Deng
Jianshen), the Respondent V (Jiyi Industrial Group
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.), the Respondent VI (Deng Yiyi), and
the Respondent VII (Meizhou Weilongju Industrial Co.,
Ltd.); and the Applicant’s application for arbitration.

The arbitration judgment is set out below:

(i)  The Respondent | (Guangdong Jiyi Household
Building Materials Chain Co., Ltd.) shall, within ten
days from the date of delivery of this judgment,
return the loan principal of RMB108,000,000 to the
Applicant (China Zheshang Bank Co., Ltd. Zhuhai
Branch), and pay the interest (including interest and
compound interest) of RMB4,409,795.96
provisionally accrued up to 20 March 2023. The
above principal and interest shall be in the total
amount of RMB112,409,795.96;

CREUERSE - IRIPE T (2023) 5 96 57 {F

M (BB - (2023) B 14%,348

KGR PR R BB AN RT
ROBRARKEDITEERBA—
BR&E—REEMEHBR AR
B ERERERZ) (EBFRERD) (&
SEEAAR) A REBEAD BIER A
BAZERE —EHEMRTIIES
BRAA - WEHBAZER  HHEB

WESiER  WHREBARLE " EX5EH
CRINBR AR - #HEABANEBER
WHRBEALWMNTEEEEEXEBRA
AIEFIAEEEREFER) R AP
IERFNER B AR PE RS - R 20234F
2A28AXBT AR -

REERATT

(—) HHRBAERE—REEME
HEARDAERAFREREY
B+ B AMBBAMNERITR
MAERARKEDITRE/ERAN
%+ A K ¥ 108,000,000 7T 7 & 1+
FHZE2023F3A20BMFIE(E
FE 85 AR 4,409,795.96
T U ERBHFT AR
112,409,795.96 7T :



MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (cContinued)

Arbitration Case No.: Zhu Zhong Cai Zi (2023) No. 96
Arbitration Case (Related Case No.: (2023) Yue 14 Zhi
348) (Continued)

(i)  The Respondent | (Guangdong Jiyi Household
Building Materials Chain Co., Ltd.) shall, within ten
days from the date of delivery of this judgment, pay
to the Applicant (China Zheshang Bank Co., Ltd.
Zhuhai Branch), the penalty interest from 21 March
2023 to the date on which all principal and interest
judged in this judgment is actually settled, with
penalty interest to be charged at the rate of 7.5%
per annum based on the principal amount of
RMB108,000,000; and the Respondent |
(Guangdong Jiyi Household Building Materials
Chain Co., Ltd.) shall, within ten days from the date
of delivery of this judgment, pay to the Applicant
(China Zheshang Bank Co., Ltd. Zhuhai Branch),
compound interest from 21 March 2023 to the
date on which all principal and interest judged in
this judgment is actually settled, with compound
interest to be charged at the rate of 7.5% per
annum based on the unpaid interest (including
penalty interest);

(i)  The Respondent | (Guangdong Jiyi Household
Building Materials Chain Co., Ltd.) shall, within ten
days from the date of delivery of this judgment, pay
to the Applicant (China Zheshang Bank Co., Ltd.
Zhuhai Branch), a liquidated damage based on the
outstanding principal amount of R\MB108,000,000
at an interest rate of 6% per annum commencing
from 21 March 2023 to the date on which the
principal is settled;
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EEBEERASEREKE QT
WERARMPENIERBREEPE
EREER @

— - (RERER : BRPE T (2023) 5 96 5 1
=M (AR - (2023) B 14%,348
5R) (&)

(Z) WHBA—BRE—REEME
HERARERAF AEXEY
B+ BARBBAMNERITR
MHERARKED TN E 2023
FIA21HREAFREMF R
MABABERBEBD LM
B 818 LA A K #108,000,000
TASBEY  RFMETIS%
A WEEABRE—RE
EMEEERARERAF RS
HREZHRTARBBEBAMNE
RITRMBER QTR ED TN
E2023F3A21H#E = KR
ERMEANMEAREEREEH
LERIER) - ERIAR AR E (R
FBEE) BEE - RFFET 5%
FTUR

(Z) HHRBA—EBERE—REEME
HBERARERRNE AEXREY
Hie+HAMEBEBAMNERITR
MERDAKEDITEZNELD
T BHASUREBERSARE
108,000,000 7T & £ &1+ % F 7
K6%stU - B2023F3A21H
BEITEASFEZAL
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RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
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Arbitration Case No.: Zhu Zhong Cai Zi (2023) No. 96
Arbitration Case (Related Case No.: (2023) Yue 14 Zhi
348) (Continued)

(iv) The Respondent | (Guangdong Jiyi Household
Building Materials Chain Co., Ltd.) shall, within ten
days from the date of delivery of this judgment, pay
to the Applicant (China Zheshang Bank Co., Ltd.
Zhuhai Branch), a People’s Court preservation fee
of RMB5,000;

Solution for Management Report: In accordance with the
relevant domestic legal litigation procedures, the next
step may be to carry out a compulsory auction of the real
estate owned by Guangdong Jiyi Household Building
Materials Chain Co., Ltd., located in Jiyi Decoration and
Building Materials City on Xianzi Middle Road, Fuwai
Village, Chengjiang Town, Meixian District, Meizhou, the
proceeds from the auction will be used for the repayment
of the enforcement amounts, and the assessed value of
the mortgaged real estate in this case is RMB181.6542
million, and the proceeds from the auction should be
able to repay the enforcement amounts in full. The
guarantee obligations to other guarantors will be relieved
after the auction of the real estate.

Impact on Jiyi Holdings and its subsidiaries: the principal
amount of the loan under this arbitration judgment of
RMB108,000,000 has been accrued and accounted for,
and interest expense of RMB5,400,000.00, penalty interest
of RMB2,700,000.00, compound interest payable of
RMB309,375.00, liquidated damage of RMB5,040,000.00,
arbitration fee of RMB505,810.73 and preservation fee of
RMB5,000 in 2023 shall be additionally accrued.

CREUERSE - IRIPE T (2023) 5 96 57 {F

M (BB - (2023) B 14%,348
5R)(4&)

(M) HEHEBA—EBERE—KEEME
HBRARERAFAREXREZ
B+ B AR AMNERITR
MERARKEDITINARE
brir2 & AR 5,000 7T :

EREREEMATR - RREAME
MAEFARERX T —FUgfE
RE—ZRXEEMEHBRARAED
(LM T 18 B2 (& 12 )T SRR MR B AT
AR S — S A A U 9 B E 1T 58 )
HE MEMGREBARBERITR
B ARMBEANEEFHEERA
R#1.81654218 70 ABFMSHIENE
ZUNCREENTRIE - FERE
NS EMERTNEREEESHE
|3//:Fo

HE—IEREMBATMNTE : KK
MBEHIAOBRAEAEZ AR
108,000,000 7T & &1 2 A BR - 20234
EFEMmRF B 8B AR S5,400,000.00
RIS B A R 2,700,000.00
- FET IR EE I AR #6309,375.00
- fHETIRIE e AR ¥ 5,040,000.00
fhE &R A R%505,810.737C ¢
2BHARES5,0007T °
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (cContinued)

Arbitration Case No.: Zhu Zhong Cai Zi (2023) No. 96
Arbitration Case (Related Case No.: (2023) Yue 14 Zhi
348) (Continued)

Legal advice:

1. After verifying the Zhuhai International Arbitration
Court’s arbitration judgment Zhu Zhong Cai Zi
(2023) No. 96, it has been confirmed that the basic
information of the judgment in this case is true.

2. After verifying and comparing the data of
TianYanCha, the arbitration case was applied to the
court for compulsory enforcement by the original
applicant. Case No.: (2023) Yue 14 Zhi 348; Filing
date: 28 July 2023; Enforceee: Jiyi Industrial, Jiyi
Household Chain, Jiyi Xinya Decoration;
Enforcement target: RMB116,421,120;
Enforcement Court: Meizhou Intermediate People’s
Court.

3. Current status: Jiyi Industrial, Jiyi Household Chain,
Jiyi Xinya Decoration have not fulfilled the payment
of enforcement amount, and the Company’s senior
management, Hou Wei, Deng Jianshen and Deng
Yiyi, have been included in the list of restricted
consumption and bad faith enforceees.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’'S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Arbitration Case No.: Zhu Zhong Cai Zi (2023) No. 96
Arbitration Case (Related Case No.: (2023) Yue 14 Zhi
348) (Continued)

4.  Risk assessment: the main debtor of the case is Jiyi
Household Chain, involving bank debt and huge
amount, according to the relevant domestic legal
litigation procedures, the next step may be the
compulsory auction of the assets belonging to the
above three enforceees (including but not limited
to the mortgaged real estate, projects under
construction, external investment equity, etc.), and
the proceeds from the auction will be used to repay
the enforcement amounts. The solution mentioned
that the applicant has the right to use the
mortgaged property for repayment by auction, and
the appraised value of the mortgaged property is
RMB180 million, which is far more than the debt
amount and is sufficient to repay the full amount of
the debt. After the repayment of the debt, other
joint and several liability holders, such as Jiyi
Industrial and Jiyi Xinya Decoration, etc., can be
released from joint and several guarantee liability.
The solution is feasible and in compliance with the
requirements of the legal procedures.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (cContinued)

Il. Enforcement Case No.: (2024) Yue 0303 Zhi 3213
(Related Cases: (2021) Yue 0305 Min Chu 25030, (2021)
Yue 0305 Min Chu 25031, (2022) Yue 0303 Min Chu
16651)

Case cause: Dispute on civil loan contract

1. On 2 November 2020, due to the difficulties in cash
flow of the Company caused by the pandemic, the
defendant Deng Jianshen (supervisor of Guangdong
Jiyi Household Building Materials Chain Co., Ltd.)
signed a loan agreement with the plaintiff Huang
Wenging using his own properties and assets
purchased from Meizhou Weilongju Industrial Co.,
Ltd. as collateral, agreeing to borrow RMB20
million from the plaintiff Huang Wengqing in
batches. The loan term is 6 months from the date
of receipt of the loan by the defendant Hou Wei
and the defendant Deng Jianshen, with an annual
interest rate of 12% per annum and monthly
interest payment method. If the two defendants
mentioned above fail to repay the principal and
interest on time, they shall pay the overdue interest
to the plaintiff Huang Wenqing at a rate of 0.08%
per day from the overdue date.
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ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’S EEEZER®)

RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

. Enforcement Case No.: (2024) Yue 0303 Zhi 3213 = - #7755 : (2024)E0303%132135%% ([
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2. On 3 November 2020, the plaintiff Huang Wenging — - 202011 A3H BREENEA

348

transferred and paid the loan to the defendant Hou
Wei in batches through bank transfer. The
defendant Hou Wei used this loan to lend in batches
to domestic subsidiaries and Hong Kong companies
for operating expenses, and on 27 November 2020,
she paid interest of RMB166,666.67 to the plaintiff
Huang Wenging using her own funds. On 28
December 2020, 27 January 2021, 28 February
2021, and 1 April 2021, she paid interest of
RMB200,000 to the plaintiff Huang Wengqing,
respectively. The total amount of interest paid was
RMB966,666.67, and the principal and interest of
the loan were not repaid to the plaintiff Huang
Wenging since then.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (cContinued)

Il. Enforcement Case No.: (2024) Yue 0303 Zhi 3213
(Related Cases: (2021) Yue 0305 Min Chu 25030, (2021)
Yue 0305 Min Chu 25031, (2022) Yue 0303 Min Chu
16651) (Continued)

3. InJune 2021, in order to repay a loan of RMB35
million from Jiyi Industrial to Bank of China, Hou
Wei gave RMB20 million (such amount was
originally prepared to repay Huang Wenging)
including interest to Deng Yiyi. Deng Yiyi raised a
total of RMB31.5 million to lend to Jiyi Industrial
(Deng Yiyi has a loan contract with Jiyi Industrial) to
repay the loan to Bank of China (as evidenced by a
transfer record). On 9 November 2021, the plaintiff
Huang Wenging and the defendant additionally
signed a “Guarantee Contract”, agreeing that the
defendant Deng Yiyi shall bear joint and several
liability guarantee for the debts agreed in the
aforementioned “Loan Contract”. The scope of the
guarantee covers all debt principal, interest,
liguidated damage, lawyer’s fee, property
preservation fee and other fees for the realization
of the creditor’s rights under the main contract.
The guarantee period is from the effective date of
the guarantee contract to the date of completion
of performance and repayment under the main
contract.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’'S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
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Enforcement Case No.: (2024) Yue 0303 Zhi 3213
(Related Cases: (2021) Yue 0305 Min Chu 25030, (2021)
Yue 0305 Min Chu 25031, (2022) Yue 0303 Min Chu
16651) (Continued)

4.  On 13 May 2021, the plaintiff Huang Wenging
signed the “Supplementary Agreement to the Loan
Agreement” with the two defendants mentioned
above, extending the loan term from the originally
agreed expiration date of 2 May 2021 to the
expiration date of 1 August 2021, and changing
the interest payment method to a one-time
payment of the remaining unpaid interest upon
maturity.
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MANAGEMENT'S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Il. Enforcement Case No.: (2024) Yue 0303 Zhi 3213
(Related Cases: (2021) Yue 0305 Min Chu 25030, (2021)
Yue 0305 Min Chu 25031, (2022) Yue 0303 Min Chu
16651) (Continued)

5. On 7 January 2022, due to the fact that the property
mortgaged by the defendant Deng Jianshen is one of
the properties of Meizhou Weilongju Industrial Co.,
Ltd., which has not yet obtained a real estate permit,
in order to ensure the validity of the collateral, the
plaintiff Huang Wenging requested the addition of
the defendant Meizhou Weilongju Industrial Co., Ltd.
as a joint and several guarantor with the consent of all
its shareholders Deng Xuefen and Deng Xiufen. In
addition, as the loan was mainly used for Jiyi Industrial
Group (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. and the plaintiff Huang
Wenging originally knew that the loan was mainly
used for Jiyi Industrial the plaintiff Huang Wenging
requested the addition of the defendant Jiyi Industrial
Group (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. as a guarantor, which was
approved by the resolution of the the shareholder
meeting of its wholly-owned shareholder Jiyi
Investment Limited (Hong Kong Company). They
signed the “Guarantee Contract” with the plaintiff
Huang Wenqing respectively, which contractually
obligated them to guarantee the debts contracted in
the “Loan Agreement” dated 2 November 2020 in
the principal amount of RMB20 million signed
between the plaintiff Huang Wenging and the
defendant Hou Wei and the defendant Deng
Jianshen, and the “Supplementary Agreement to the
Loan Agreement” signed between the plaintiff Huang
Wenging and the defendant Deng Yiyi. They agreed
that “even if the maturity time of any debt under such
business contract exceeds the above-mentioned
agreed period, Party B (i.e. the defendant Meizhou
Weilongju Industrial Co., Ltd.) hereby confirms that
such debt is still included in the guarantee scope
under this contract and assumes the guarantee
liability. The scope of the guarantee covers all debt
principal, interest, liquidated damage, lawyer’s fee,
property preservation fee and other fees for the
realization of the creditor’s rights under the main
contract. The guarantee period is three years from the
effective date of the guarantee contract.
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RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

352

Enforcement Case No.: (2024) Yue 0303 Zhi 3213
(Related Cases: (2021) Yue 0305 Min Chu 25030, (2021)
Yue 0305 Min Chu 25031, (2022) Yue 0303 Min Chu
16651) (Continued)

Judgement result:

The Court of First Instance judged that: (1) Hou Wei and
Deng Jianshen shall repay the principal amount of the
loan of RMB20,000,000 and interest thereon to Huang
Wenging within seven days from the effective date of
this judgment, of which interest shall be calculated at the
rate of 12% per annum from 29 March 2021 to 1
August 2021, and the interest shall be calculated at the
rate of 15.4% per annum from 2 August 2021 to the
date of actual settlement; (2) Weilongju Company and
Jiyi Company shall be jointly and severally liable for
repaying the debts determined in item (1) of this
judgment; (3) Deng Yiyi shall pay Huang Wenging a
lawyer’s fee of RMB200,000 and the preservation
guarantee fee of RMB11,005 within ten days from the
effective date of this judgment; and (4) the other
litigation requests of Huang Wenging shall be rejected.

The Court of Final Appeal judged that:

Affirm the item (1) and item (2) of the civil
judgment (2022) Yue 0303 Min Chu 16651 of the
People’s Court of Luohu District, Shenzhen,
Guangdong Province;

Il. Revoke the item (3) and item (4) of civil judgment
(2022) Yue 0303 Min Chu 16651 of the People’s
Court of Luohu District, Shenzhen, Guangdong
Province;
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Enforcement Case No.: (2024) Yue 0303 Zhi 3213
(Related Cases: (2021) Yue 0305 Min Chu 25030, (2021)
Yue 0305 Min Chu 25031, (2022) Yue 0303 Min Chu
16651) (Continued)

. The appellee, Deng Yiyi, is jointly and severally
liable to repay the appellant, Huang Wenging, the
principal amount of the loan of RMB20,000,000
and interest thereon by Hou Wei and Deng
Jianshen, the defendants in the original trial (of
which the interest from 29 March 2021 to 1 August
2021 is calculated at 12% per annum, and the
interest from 2 August 2021 to the date of actual
settlement is calculated at 15.4% per annum).

Solution: The main debtor in the case was Deng Jianshen,
who used his own real estate in Meizhou Weilongju
Industrial Co., Ltd. with a value of approximately RMB50
million as asset collateral, it is expected that the disposal
of the mortgaged real estate is the main way to enforce
the creditor’s rights, and the income from the disposal of
the mortgaged real estate can cover all the liabilities in
the case; and Jiyi Industrial Group (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. is
only a joint and several guarantor, although it has not
fulfilled the payment of enforcement amount, the
possibility of the property being ultimately enforced is
relatively low; in addition, as Jiyi Industrial Group
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd., being a subsidiary of a listed
company, has agreed to the external guarantee without
a resolution of the board of directors, the guarantee
contract is invalid. Recently, Jiyi Industrial Group
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. will engage a lawyer in China to
request for an appeal and retrial of the item (2) of the
civil judgment (2022) Yue 0303 Min Chu 16651 of the
People’s Court of Luohu District, Shenzhen, requesting
for the rejection of the joint and several liability of Jiyi
Industrial Group (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. in respect of this
case. The Company’s senior management, Hou Wei,
Deng Jianshen and Deng Yiyi, have been included in the
list of restricted consumption.
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Il. Enforcement Case No.: (2024) Yue 0303 Zhi 3213 =+ #{TZ% : (2024)E0303#1,32135%: (3
(Related Cases: (2021) Yue 0305 Min Chu 25030, (2021) Bzt : (2021)E20305 K 12503055 -
Yue 0305 Min Chu 25031, (2022) Yue 0303 Min Chu (2021) 20305 #]250315% * (2022)
16651) (Continued) B 03034116651 5%) (&)
Impact on Jiyi Holdings and its subsidiaries: As Jiyi HE—IEREMNBEARMNZE AR
Industrial Group (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. is a joint and E-FEHEEBR(FRY) AR AT ZES
several guarantor, the amount of RMB28,366,572 in this BRE AE£5ARIEK28,366,572
case needs to be accrued as an estimated liability. TTEHEEAE -
Legal advice: ERER

354

After verifying the enforcement case No. (2024)
Yue 0303 Zhi 3213, it has been confirmed that the
basic information of the judgment is true, but
(2024) Yue 0303 Zhi 3213 judgment (related cases:
(2021) Yue 0305 Min Chu 25030, (2021) Yue 0305
Min Chu 25031, (2022) Yue 0303 Min Chu 16651)

and other judgment information are missing.

After verifying and comparing the data of
TianYanCha, this case was applied to the court for
compulsory enforcement by the original applicant.
Case No.: (2024) Yue 0303 Zhi 3213; Filing date:
13 March 2024; Enforceee: Jiyi Industrial;
Enforcement target: RMB283,665,272;
Enforcement Court: the People’s Court of Luohu
District, Shenzhen.

Current status: Jiyi Industrial has not fulfilled the
payment of enforcement amount, and the
Company’s senior management, Hou Wei, Deng
Jianshen and Deng Yiyi, have been included in the
list of restricted consumption.
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ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’'S FEER®
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
Il.  Enforcement Case No.: (2024) Yue 0303 Zhi 3213 = #7798 : (2024)20303#32139%(%

(Related Cases: (2021) Yue 0305 Min Chu 25030, (2021)
Yue 0305 Min Chu 25031, (2022) Yue 0303 Min Chu
16651) (Continued)

B2 4t : (2021) 20305 R #]250305% »
(2021)E 0305 425031 5% ~ (2022)
B 0303 R4 1665158)(4&)

4.

Risk assessment: Domestic banks in China usually
adopt the principle of recognizing houses rather
than companies for lending funds. As Jiyi Industrial
does not have any real estate available for loan
collateral, banks require individual shareholders or
spouses who are related to Jiyi Industrial and have
properties available for collateral as the main debtor
of the loan. However, the loan purpose should be
noted as for company operation, and the loan
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account only. Therefore, the loan is essentially used
for Jiyi Industrial operation, but in form, Deng
Jianshen (spouse of Hou Wei) is the borrower, and
Deng Jianshen himself and his property bear the
risk of repayment of the loan debt. The main
debtor of this case is Deng Jianshen, who used the
self-owned real estate of Meizhou Weilongju

BEREARAREEEAZESER
R ZE=MHTEBARTE
B EREMNTEREEEXEAR
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Industrial Co., Ltd. as collateral. It is expected that B AREEZESHTE  BEE
the disposal of the mortgaged real estate is the EHEEEREERMEEEZENE
main way to enforce the creditor’s rights. Weilongju BEE E—EEXERETER
Company is not related to Jiyi Subsidiary, and its 7 BRI RERES AL

asset disposal will not cause any impact on Jiyi
Subsidiary’s assets change. It is estimated that the
disposal and sale of Weilongju mortgaged assets
will be able to repay the debt, Jiyi Industrial is a
joint and several guarantor and will be relieved
from joint and several liability at that time.
Therefore, although it has not fulfilled the payment
of the enforcement amount at present, the
possibility of the real estate being ultimately
enforced is relatively low. The solution is feasible
and in compliance with the requirements of the
legal procedures.
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Enforcement Case No.: (2024) Yue 0311 Zhi 623 (Related
Case No.: (2023) Shen Zheng Zi No. 83829)

Case cause: Contract dispute on financial loan

In respect of the case of contract dispute between the
applicant for enforcement, Shanghai Pudong
Development Bank Co., Ltd. Shenzhen Branch, and the
enforceees (Deng Yiyi, Hou Wei, Deng Jianshen, Jiyi
Industrial Group (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (the main
borrower), Guangdong Jiyi Household Building Materials
Chain Co., Ltd., and Guangdong lJiyi Xinya Decoration
Design Engineering Co., Ltd., the notarized debt
instrument (2023) Shen Zheng Zi No. 83829 of Shenzhen
Notary Office, Shenzhen, Guangdong, has become legally
effective. As the enforceees failed to fulfill the obligations
determined by the effective legal instrument, the
applicant for enforcement applied to this court for
compulsory enforcement on 1 March 2024, and this court
accepted it in accordance with the law. In accordance
with Article 251 and Article 264 of the “Civil Procedure
Law of the People’s Republic of China”, you (entity) are
hereby ordered to perform the obligations determined in
the effective legal instrument (including but not limited to
the following judgement obligations: payment of the
enforcement amount of RMB35,686,563.89 and interest,
and the enforcement fee of RMB103,087) within five
days from the date of the delivery of the Notice, and to
bear the interest on the debt, the application
enforcement fee and other relevant fees, etc. during the
period of delayed performance. The person who was
enforced in this case has filed an appeal and the
compulsory enforcement has been temporarily
suspended.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (cContinued)

. Enforcement Case No.: (2024) Yue 0311 Zhi 623 (Related
Case No.: (2023) Shen Zheng Zi No. 83829) (Continued)

Solution: Jiyi Industrial is the main borrower (funds have
been used by Jiyi Industrial), Jiyi Household Chain and Jiyi
Xinya Decoration are joint and several guarantors. They
have not fulfilled the payment of enforcement amount
and have used the personal owned property of Deng
Yiyi, the then president, located at 17A, Block 2 (South
Tower), Bairui Garden, Keyuan Avenue, Nanshan District,
Shenzhen, as collateral. The current market value of this
property is estimated to be approximately RMB50-60
million. It is expected that the disposal of the mortgaged
real estate is the main way to enforce the creditor’s
rights, and the proceeds from the disposal of the
mortgaged real estate can fully pay the relevant funds
involved in the case. After the disposal of the real estate,
the guarantee liability to other guarantors will be
relieved.

Impact on Jiyi Holdings and its subsidiaries: The principal
amount of the loan involved in this case has been
accounted for, a supplementary accrual of interest
expense of RMB1,729,000.00 for 2023 is required, and
an enforcement fee of RMB103,087 is accrued as at 31
March 2024.

Legal advice:

1. After verifying the enforcement case No. (2024)
Yue 0311 Zhi 623 enforcement notice, it has been
confirmed that the basic information of the
enforcement of this case is true, but the notarized
debt instrument information (2023) Shen Zheng Zi
No. 83829 is missing.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’'S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

. Enforcement Case No.: (2024) Yue 0311 Zhi 623 (Related
Case No.: (2023) Shen Zheng Zi No. 83829) (Continued)

2. After verifying and comparing the data of
TianYanCha, the case was applied to the court for
compulsory enforcement by the original applicant.
Case No.: (2024) Yue 0311 Zhi 623; Filing date: 1
March 2024; Enforceee: Jiyi Industrial, Jiyi
Household Chain, Jiyi Xinya Decoration;
Enforcement target: RMB35,686,564; Enforcement
Court: the People’s Court of Guangming District,
Shenzhen.

3. Current status: Jiyi Industrial, Jiyi Household Chain,

Jiyi Xinya Decoration have not fulfilled the payment
of enforcement amount.
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RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (cContinued)

. Enforcement Case No.: (2024) Yue 0311 Zhi 623 (Related = -+
Case No.: (2023) Shen Zheng Zi No. 83829) (Continued) i

1TEHE  (2024) B 0311 #1623 5% (7
225 (2023)/RFF 558382957 ) (&)

4.  Risk assessment: Domestic banks in China usually
adopt the principle of recognizing houses rather
than companies for lending funds. As Jiyi Industrial
does not have any property available for loan
collateral, banks require individual shareholders or
relatives who are related to Jiyi Industrial and have
properties available for collateral as the main debtor
of the loan. However, the loan purpose should be
noted as for company operation, and the loan
funds are not allowed to be transferred to the
borrower’s personal account, and are strictly
stipulated to be transferred to the company’s
account only. Therefore, the loan is essentially used
for Jiyi Industrial operation, but in form, Deng Yiyi
(Hou Wei's relative) is the borrower, and Deng Yiyi
herself and her real estate bear the risk of
repayment of the loan debt. The main debtor of
this case is Deng Yiyi, who used personal real estate
as collateral. It is expected that the disposal of the
mortgaged real estate is the main way to enforce
the creditor’s rights. Deng Yiyi's asset disposal will
not cause any impact on Jiyi Holdings's assets. It is
estimated that the disposal and sale of Deng Yiyi's
mortgaged assets will be able to repay the debt, Jiyi
Industrial, Jiyi Household Chain, Jiyi Xinya
Decoration are joint and several guarantors and will
be relieved from joint and several liability at that
time. Therefore, although they have not fulfilled
the payment of the enforcement amount at
present, the possibility of the real estate being
ultimately enforced is relatively low. The solution is
feasible and in compliance with the requirements
of the legal procedures.
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V.
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Enforcement Case No.: (2024) Yue 1402 Zhi 175 (Related
Case No.: (2023) Yue 1402 Min Chu 900)

Case cause: Contract dispute on financial loan

On 29 January 2022, the plaintiff Bank of
Communications Co., Ltd. Meizhou Branch signed a
“Personal Loan Contract” with the defendant Deng Yiyi,
agreeing that Deng Yiyi, the then president, applied for a
loan amount from Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.
Meizhou Branch. Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.
Meizhou Branch agreed to grant a one-time credit of
RMB7,000,000 to Deng Yiyi for the daily operation and
turnover of Guangdong Jiyi Household Building Materials
Chain Co., Ltd., with a withdrawal validity period of 36
months. Guangdong Jiyi Household Building Materials
Chain Co., Ltd. and Deng Yiyi both signed a
commissioned loan agreement.

On 29 January 2022, the defendant Guangdong Jiyi
Household Building Materials Chain Co., Ltd. signed a
“Mortgage Contract” with the plaintiff Bank of
Communications Co., Ltd. Meizhou Branch, agreeing
that Jiyi Building Materials Company would provide a
mortgage guarantee for all the main contracts signed
between Deng Yiyi and Bank of Communications Co.,
Ltd. Meizhou Branch during the period from 29 January
2022 to 29 January 2027 through the commercial shops
(Certificate No.:
Guangdong Property Ownership Certificate Meizhou Zi
No. 0100073887 and 0100073888), west of Binfang
Avenue in Meizhou. The registration of the mortgages

under its name located at Sanlongju

was carried out in accordance with the law.
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V.

Enforcement Case No.: (2024) Yue 1402 Zhi 175 (Related
Case No.: (2023) Yue 1402 Min Chu 900) (Continued)

On 30 January 2022, Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.
Meizhou Branch granted a loan of RMB7 million to Deng
Yiyi in installments according to the agreement, and then
transferred it to Guangdong Jiyi Household Building
Materials Chain Co., Ltd. in installments for daily business
turnover. After the loan was borrowed, Deng Yiyi was
able to repay the principal and interest of the loan as
agreed at first, but overdue repayment began on 20
August 2022. Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.
Meizhou Branch, after unsuccessful collection, filed the
litigation of this case.

© HITEYR - (2024) B 14020 17555 (F8
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Judgment result: FIREESR -

1. Confirm that the “Personal Loan Contract” (Contract 1 BRREXBIERITERHER
No.: 202201496185999040200000387) signed NAEEIMN DT S ERER
between the plaintiff Bank of Communications Co., 2022F 1 A298 % & ;@ A

Ltd. Meizhou Branch and the defendant Deng Yiyi
on 29 January 2022 was terminated on 11 July
2023;

2. The defendant Deng Yiyi shall, within ten days from
the effective date of this judgment, repay the loan
principal of RMB6,672,630.69, interest of
RMB213,683.82, penalty interest of RMB5,951.20,
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Defendant Deng Yiyi shall pay the plaintiff Bank of
Communications Co., Ltd. Meizhou Branch the
interest, compound interest, penalty interest, and
penalty interest compound interest calculated from
21 February 2023, based on the actual outstanding
principal amount, at the interest rate specified in
the “Personal Loan Contract” until the date of
repayment of the loan, within ten days from the
effective date of this judgment;

The defendant Deng Yiyi shall pay a lawyer’s
fee of RMB49,649.11 to the plaintiff Bank of
Communications Co., Ltd. Meizhou Branch within
ten days from the effective date of this judgment;

The plaintiff has the right to claim priority
compensation for the debt determined in the
second, third, and fourth items of this judgment
against Guangdong Jiyi Household Building
Materials Chain Co., Ltd. for the proceeds obtained
from the auction, sale, and other disposal of its No.
1, 3, 5 to 8 Stores located at Building 9, Sanlongju,
west of Binfang Avenue, Meizhou [Real Estate
Certificate No.: Guangdong Property Ownership
Certificate Meizhou Zi No. 0100073887], within
the limit of RMB5.5337 million;
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (cContinued)

IV. Enforcement Case No.: (2024) Yue 1402 Zhi 175 (Related
Case No.: (2023) Yue 1402 Min Chu 900) (Continued)

6. The plaintiff has the right to claim priority
compensation for the debt determined in the
second, third, and fourth judgments of this
judgment against Guangdong Jiyi Household
Building Materials Chain Co., Ltd. for the proceeds
obtained from the auction, sale, and other disposal
of its No. 4 Store and the 2nd and 3rd floors
located at Building 9, Sanlongju, west of Binfang
Avenue, Meizhou [Real Estate Certificate No.:
Guangdong Property Ownership Certificate
Meizhou Zi No. 0100073888], within the limit of
RMB8.5061 million;

7.  Defendants Hou Wei and Deng Jianshen shall bear
joint and several liability for repaying the debts
determined in the second, third, and fourth items
mentioned above. If the obligation to pay money is
not fulfilled within the period specified in this
judgment, double the interest on the debt during
the delayed performance period shall be paid in
accordance with Article 260 of the “Civil Procedure
Law of the People’s Republic of China”. The case
acceptance fee is charged as stipulated at
RMB60,417.52, with preservation fee of RMB5,000,
and announcement fee of RMB650, totaling
RMB66,067.52 (which has been prepaid by the
plaintiff), which should be borne by the defendants
Deng Yiyi, Guangdong Jiyi Household Building
Materials Chain Co., Ltd., Hou Wei, and Deng
Jianshen (which will be directly paid by the
defendants to the plaintiff when fulfilling this
judgment).
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Enforcement Case No.: (2024) Yue 1402 Zhi 175 (Related
Case No.: (2023) Yue 1402 Min Chu 900) (Continued)

Solution for Management Report: According to relevant
domestic legal litigation procedures, the next step may
be to carry out a compulsory auction of No. 4 Store and
the 2nd and 3rd floors located at Building 9, Sanlongju,
west of Binfang Avenue, Meizhou [Real Estate Certificate
No.: Guangdong Property Ownership Certificate Meizhou
Zi No. 0100073888], and the proceeds from the auction
will be used to repay the enforcement amount.

Impact on Jiyi Holdings and its subsidiaries: Due to the
property mortgage guarantee provided by Guangdong
Jiyi Household Building Materials Chain Co., Ltd. in this
case, the assessed value of the mortgaged real estate in
this case is approximately RMB12 million. The proceeds
from the auction should be sufficient to repay the
enforcement amount in full. After the real estate auction,
the guarantee liability to other guarantors will be
relieved. The amount of RMB7,011,427 in this case
requires provision for estimated liabilities.

Legal advice:

1. After verifying (2024) Yue 1402 Zhi 175
Enforcement Judgement and (2023) Yue 1402 Min
Chu 900 Civil Judgement, it has been confirmed
that the basic information of them is true, but
(2024) Yue 1402 zhi 175 Enforcement Judgement
information is missing.
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RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

IV. Enforcement Case No.: (2024) Yue 1402 Zhi 175 (Related PO #7722 %E : (2024) 2 1402117592 (3
Case No.: (2023) Yue 1402 Min Chu 900) (Continued) BEZE5E - (2023)E1402 R¥19005% ) (42)

2. After verifying and comparing the data of
TianYanCha, the case was applied to the court for
compulsory enforcement by the original applicant.
Case No.: (2024) Yue 1402 Zhi 175; Filing date: 21
March 2024; Enforceee: Jiyi Household Chain;
Enforcement target: RMB7,011,427; Enforcement
Court: The People’s Court of Meijiang District,
Meizhou.

3. Current status: Jiyi Industrial has not fulfilled the
payment of enforcement amount, and the two real
estates under its name have not yet received the
real estate auction instruments and entered into
the auction procedure.

4. Risk assessment: The main debtor in this case is
Deng Yiyi. Deng Yiyi signed a commissioned loan
agreement with the actual user, Jiyi Household
Chain, to transfer the bank funds borrowed by
Deng Yiyi to Jiyi Household Chain. The actual
borrower should be Jiyi Household Chain. In
addition to Deng Yiyi assuming the debt, creditors
also have the right to demand that Jiyi Household
Chain bear joint and several liability and prioritize
the sale of the mortgaged real estate. According to
relevant domestic legal litigation procedures, the
next step may be to carry out a compulsory auction
of the mortgaged real estate of the above-
mentioned enforceees. It is expected that the
proceeds of the auction can be used to repay the
enforcement amount. The disposal of this asset
may cause the impairment loss of the overall net
asset value of Jiyi Household Chain Company and
have an impact on it. The solution is feasible and in
compliance with the requirements of the legal
procedures.
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RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

V.
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Enforcement Case No.: (2021) Yue 1403 Zhi 667 (Related
Case No.: (2021) Yue 1403 Min Te 350 case)

Case cause: Dispute on lease contract

In respect of the case of a dispute on lease contract
between the applicant for enforcement (Meizhou Jinxiu
Modern Logistics Park Co., Ltd.) and the enforceee
(Guangdong Jiyi Household Building Materials Chain Co.,
Ltd.), the civil judgment (2021) Yue 1403 Min Te 350
made by the court has become legally effective. The
enforceee shall pay the rent, operating fee, property
management fee, water and electricity fee, totalling
RMB4,093,485.83 up to 30 June 2021, and shall pay
interest on the funds occupied during the period of
overdue payment at the rate of 1.5% per month from 1
July 2021 onwards on the basis of the actual amount in
arrears to the applicant for enforcement, and the
enforceee shall also bear the application fee of
RMB43,335 for the enforcement of the case.
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RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (cContinued)

V.

Enforcement Case No.: (2021) Yue 1403 Zhi 667 (Related
Case No.: (2021) Yue 1403 Min Te 350 case) (Continued)

Judgment result:

After voluntary negotiation between both parties, a
settlement agreement for enforcement that requires a
longer period of time to fulfill has been reached: 1. Apply
for enforcement target of RMB4,093,485.83, with
interest of RMB736,827.45 as of 30 June 2022. On 23
June 2022, after deducting the court’s enforcement
principal of RMB1,210,594.62, the remaining
enforcement principal was RMB2,882,891.21, with a
total principal and interest of RMB3,619,718.86; 2. The
repayment plan of the enforceee is as follows: Starting
from 1 September 2022, the aforementioned principal
and interest of RMB3,619,718.86 shall be repaid in
monthly installments. RMB177,977.64 shall be paid to
the applicant for enforcement before the 25th of each
month until the repayment is completed; 3. If the
enforceee fails to make any payment on time in any one
of the instalments, the applicant for enforcement has the
right to apply to the court for resumption of
enforcement, and has the right to demand that the
enforceee pay interest starting from 1 July 2022, at a
monthly interest rate of 1.5% based on the unpaid
principal.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’'S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

V.  Enforcement Case No.: (2021) Yue 1403 Zhi 667 (Related
Case No.: (2021) Yue 1403 Min Te 350 case) (Continued)

Solution for Management Report: Jiyi Holdings and its
subsidiaries actively collect accounts receivable and other

receivables, and raise funds for their repayment.

Impact on Jiyi Holdings and its subsidiaries: The principal
involved in this case has already been accrued in the
current period, and an additional accrual of interest of
RMB778,380.62 (RMB2,882,891.21 X 18 X 1.5%)
should be made from 1 July 2022 to 31 December 2023,
at a monthly interest rate of 1.5% based on the unpaid

principal of RMB2,882,891.21.
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Legal advice: ERER

1. After verifying (2021) Yue 1403 Zhi 667 1. #EEF(Q2021)E 14031667 L
Enforcement Judgement, it has been confirmed THEEZEHRITANBRERS
that the basic information of the enforcement of LB E - BBk R SR
the case is true, but judicial instrument information (2021)E 1403 R 350 5% = 14 A)
of the related case (2021) Yue 1403 Min Te 350 is ENXEEE o
missing.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (cContinued)

V.  Enforcement Case No.: (2021) Yue 1403 Zhi 667 (Related
Case No.: (2021) Yue 1403 Min Te 350 case) (Continued)

2. After verifying and comparing the data of
TianYanCha, the case was applied to the court for
compulsory enforcement by the original applicant.
Case No.: (2021) Yue 1403 Zhi 667, Filing date: 3
March 2022; Enforceee: Jiyi Household Chain;
Enforcement target: RMB4,093,486; Enforcement
Court: The People’s Court of Meixian District,
Meizhou.

3. Current status: On 28 June 2022, the enforcement
of this case was terminated.

4.  Risk assessment: The debtor in this case is Jiyi
Household Chain. Although the enforcement of
this case was terminated, the management’s
solution states that a portion of the enforcement
amounts have been paid and actively raised for
repayment. The outstanding principal has been
accrued for the current period, and interest has
been additionally accrued for the period from 1 July
2022 to 31 December 2023. This should be an
appropriate and legal approach.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP'S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

VI
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Enforcement Case No.: (2024) Yue 1423 Zhi 242 (Related
Case No.: (2023) Yue 1423 Min Chu 1552)

Case cause: Contract dispute on financial loan

1. The defendant Guangdong Jiyi Xinya Decoration
Design Engineering Co., Ltd. shall repay the plaintiff
Guangdong Fengshun Rural Commercial Bank Co., Ltd.
the loan principal of RMB3,470,000 and the interest
thereon within 15 days from the date of this judgment
becoming legally effective (the interest calculated as of
20 June 2023 is RMB285,082.31, and the interest from
21 June 2023 to the date of payment shall be calculated
and paid at the interest rate stipulated in the “Loan
Contract”
Fengshun Rural Commercial Bank Co., Ltd. and the
defendant Guangdong Jiyi Xinya Decoration Design
Engineering Co., Ltd.); 2. The defendants Meizhou
Jisheng Household Building Materials Co., Ltd.,
Guangdong Jiyi Household Building Materials Chain Co.,
Ltd., Liang Weizhen, Deng Jianshen, Ling Yongshan, and
Hou Wei are jointly and severally liable for the defendant
Guangdong lJiyi Xinya Decoration Design Engineering

0., Ltd.’s repayment of the plaintiff Guangdong
Fengshun Rural Commercial Bank Co., Ltd.’s
aforementioned debts; 3. The plaintiff, Guangdong
Fengshun Rural Commercial Bank Co., Ltd., has the
priority right to receive compensation for the accounts
receivable of RMB8,822,348 pledged by the defendant,
Guangdong Jiyi Xinya Decoration Design Engineering
Co., Ltd., in the project under the “EPC General Contract
for the Construction of Provincial Poverty-Stricken
Villages and Connected Ecological Livable and Beautiful
Rural Areas in Pantian Town, Fengshun County” of the
People’s Government of Pantian Town, Fengshun
County.

signed between the plaintiff Guangdong
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (cContinued)

VI. Enforcement Case No.: (2024) Yue 1423 Zhi 242 (Related
Case No.: (2023) Yue 1423 Min Chu 1552) (Continued)

Solution for Management Report: Guangdong Jiyi Xinya
Decoration Design Engineering Co., Ltd. should
accelerate the project acceptance and settlement with
the People’s Government of Pantian Town, Fengshun
County on the project under the “"EPC General Contract
for the Construction of Provincial Poverty-Stricken
Villages and Connected Ecological Livable and Beautiful
Rural Areas in Pantian Town, Fengshun County”, and
recover the outstanding amount of RMB8,822,348 from
the People’s Government of Pantian Town, Fengshun
County. This amount can fully repay the principal of the
loan of RMB3,470,000 from Guangdong Fengshun Rural
Commercial Bank Co., Ltd. and the interest thereon.

Impact on Jiyi Holdings and its subsidiaries: The loan
principal involved in this case has been accrued, and an
additional loan interest of RMB275,865.00 needs to be
accrued.

Legal advice:

1. After verifying (2024) Yue 1423 Zhi 242
Enforcement Judgement, it has been confirmed
that the basic information of enforcement of this
case is true, but civil judgement information of
related case (2023) Yue 1423 Min Chu 1552 is
missing.
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LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’'S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

VI.

372

Enforcement Case No.: (2024) Yue 1423 Zhi 242 (Related
Case No.: (2023) Yue 1423 Min Chu 1552) (Continued)

After verifying and comparing the data of
TianYanCha, the case was applied to the court for
compulsory enforcement by the original applicant.
Case No.: (2024) Yue 1423 Zhi 242; Filing date: 13
March 2024; Enforceee: Jiyi Xinya Decoration, Jiyi
Household Chain; Enforcement target:
RMB3,755,082; Enforcement Court: The People’s
Court of Fengshun County.

Current status: Jiyi Xinya Decoration and Jiyi
Household Chain have not fulfilled the payment of
enforcement amounts.

Risk assessment: The debtor in this case is Jiyi Xinya
Decoration and Jiyi Household Chain. The
management’s solution states that the outstanding
receivables from the People’s Government of
Pantian Town, Fengshun County will be used as the
repayment source for the enforcement amounts
and the loan principal and interest will be
correspondingly accrued, which should be an
appropriate and reasonable approach.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (cContinued)

VII.  Enforcement Case No.: (2023) Yue 0605 Min Chu 24560

Case cause: Dispute on a contract of sale and purchase

The plaintiff Guangdong Keyuan Electric Co., Ltd. has
had business dealings with the defendant Guangdong
Jiyi Household Building Materials Chain Co., Ltd. since
2015. The defendant Guangdong Jiyi Household Building
Materials Chain Co., Ltd. purchased electrical equipment
from the plaintiff Guangdong Keyuan Electric Co., Ltd.

According to the reconciliation between the plaintiff and
the defendant Guangdong Jiyi Household Building
Materials Chain Co., Ltd., the defendant Guangdong Jiyi
Household Building Materials Chain Co., Ltd. still owes
the plaintiff Guangdong Keyuan Electric Co., Ltd. a
principal goods payment of RMB1,358,168. According to
Article 7 and Article 9 of the “Contract of Sale and
Purchase” regarding payment terms and liability for
breach of contract for overdue payments, the defendant
Guangdong Jiyi Household Building Materials Chain Co.,
Ltd. shall bear the liability for breach of contract for
overdue payments. The defendant Chaoyang
Electromechanical Company and defendant Deng
Jianshen voluntarily provide joint and several liability
guarantee for the above-mentioned debts of Guangdong
Jiyi Household Building Materials Chain Co., Ltd. The
guarantee scope of the defendant Chaoyang
Electromechanical Company is RMB1,055,779.98. The
guarantee scope of defendant Deng Jianshen is all debts
of defendant Guangdong Jiyi Household Building
Materials Chain Co., Ltd. This case was filed on 7
September 2017.
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RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

VIIl.  Enforcement Case No.: (2023) Yue 0605 Min Chu 24560 + - # 17 2 5% : (2023) & 0605 £ #/] 24560

(Continued) 5% (&)
Judgment result: FIREESR -

Guangdong Jiyi Household Building Materials Chain
Co., Ltd. shall pay Guangdong Keyuan Electric Co.,
Ltd. a goods payment of RMB1,358,168 and a
liquidated damage for overdue payment within ten
days from the date of this judgment becoming
legally effective (the liquidated damage calculation
method is based on the principal goods payment of
RMB1,358,168, calculated at 1.5 times the
benchmark interest rate of similar loans of the
People’s Bank of China for the same period from
13 March 2017 to 19 August 2019, and at 1.5
times the one-year loan quotation interest rate
published by the National Interbank Funding Center
from 20 August 2019 to the actual goods
repayment date).

Jiyi Industrial Group (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. shall bear
joint and several liability for repaying the debts
incurred by Guangdong Jiyi Household Building
Materials Chain Co., Ltd.
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Solution for Management Report: Guangdong Jiyi ERERSEMATERE  ERE—
Household Building Materials Chain Co., Ltd. actively EEMEHE AR A A TE 1% 18 Y E U R
collects accounts receivable and other receivables, and FMEMER  E5E2EE -

raises funds for repayment.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (cContinued)

VII.  Enforcement Case No.: (2023) Yue 0605 Min Chu 24560
(Continued)

Impact on Jiyi Holdings and its subsidiaries: The principal
amount of the goods payment involved in this case has
been credited as RMB1,107,399.08, and an additional
payable goods payment of RMB250,768.92 should be
accrued. An additional liquidated damage of
approximately RMB598,188 (81 months X 4.35% X 1.5
X RMB1,358,168 ~ RMB598,188) should be accrued
from 13 March 2017 to 31 December 2023.

Legal advice:

1. After verifying (2023) Yue 0605 Min Chu 24560
Civil Judgement and comparing the data of
TianYanCha, it has been confirmed that the basic
information of the case is true.

2. Current status: Jiyi Household Chain and lJiyi
Industrial have not fulfilled the payment of
judgment amount.

3. Risk assessment: The debtor in this case is Jiyi
Household Chain and Jiyi Industrial. The
management’s solution states that they will actively
collect accounts receivable and other receivables,
raise funds for repayment, and make corresponding
supplementary accrual for the principal of the
goods payment and liquidated damage. This should
be an appropriate and reasonable approach.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’'S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

VIIl. Enforcement Case No.: Mei Xian Lao Ren Zhong Zi An
[2023] No. 249 — Zhang Kaiyin, Mei Xian Lao Ren Zhong
Zi An [2023] No. 250 — Liao Qianghua, Mei Xian Lao Ren
Zhong Zi An [2023] No. 251 — Tang Haihua, Mei Xian Lao
Ren Zhong Zi An [2023] No. 252 — Ling Yongshan, Mei
Xian Lao Ren Zhong Zi An [2022] No. 53 — Zou Xiaoming
(Xinjiale)

Case cause: Dispute on labour contract

Arbitration result:

Total
Name Companies belonging to (RMB)

Zhang Kaiyin Guangdong Jiyi Xinya 135,573.3
Decoration Design
Engineering Co., Ltd.

Liao Qianghua Guangdong Jiyi Xinya 94,854.33
Decoration Design
Engineering Co., Ltd.

Tang Haihua Guangdong Jiyi Xinya 190,601
Decoration Design
Engineering Co., Ltd.

Ling Yongshan Guangdong Jiyi Xinya 321,559.5
Decoration Design
Engineering Co., Ltd.

Zou Xiaoming Shenzhen Xinjiale Cloud 62,636
Decoration Technology Co.,
Ltd.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (cContinued)

VIIl. Enforcement Case No.: Mei Xian Lao Ren Zhong Zi An
[2023] No. 249 — Zhang Kaiyin, Mei Xian Lao Ren Zhong
Zi An [2023] No. 250 — Liao Qianghua, Mei Xian Lao Ren
Zhong Zi An [2023] No. 251 — Tang Haihua, Mei Xian Lao
Ren Zhong Zi An [2023] No. 252 — Ling Yongshan, Mei
Xian Lao Ren Zhong Zi An [2022] No. 53 — Zou Xiaoming
(Xinjiale) (Continued)

Impact on Jiyi Holdings and its subsidiaries: This case
involves unpaid wages and unpaid provident fund, which
have been accrued and accounted for. The liquidated
damage should be additionally accrued at RMB259,855
(including RMB227,600 for Guangdong Jiyi Xinya
Decoration Design Engineering Co., Ltd. and RMB32,255
for Shenzhen Xinjiale Cloud Decoration Technology Co.,
Ltd.).

Legal advice:

1. After verifying the arbitration mediation letter of
Mei Xian Lao Ren Zhong Zi An [2023] No. 249, No.
250, No. 251 and No. 252, it has been confirmed
that the basic information of the arbitration content
of the case is true, but Mei Xian Lao Ren Zhong Zi
An [2022] No. 53 is missing.

2. Current status: Jiyi Xinya Decoration has not
fulfilled the payment of judgement amount.

3. Risk assessment: The debtor in this case is Jiyi Xinya
Decoration. The management’s solution states that
unpaid wages and unpaid provident fund have
been accrued and accounted for, which should be
an appropriate and reasonable approach.

JIYI HOLDINGS LIMITED & —3= 8 H R A &
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 i

Appendix (Continued)
Bif &% (48)

EEBEERASEREKE QT
WERARMPENIERBREEPE
EREER @

N\~ BITRS : BB S AT ER[2023]
2495k — RFE - BHEBAFRTEER
[202312505% — E25RZE - 18R 55 A
F2[2023]1251 5 — 585 - 1§H 4
AHFZ[2023]2525% — & E 1L - 1§
B AR Z[2022]5358 — FBHEEA
(FTR%) (&)

HE—EREMBATIMNTE : KK
HRRERREATEEEFTIRAR
BH2EMETIR A KK 259,8557T -
(HPERE—EHEMRAIRER
NEI AR 227,600  RIITTFREE
ERERFTAR QA ARK32255
TT) °

EREER

1 KEJZBEES AMFTER[2023]
24957 ~ 2505% ~ 2515% ~ 252 5%
MERARE  ZRGHPERNEE
KIERBE BRABHELEAMFT
22[2022]53 5% °

2 B B EHEHREETX
FEOR IR

3 ERHE : RRFEBARE—
EHEH  EEBERTEDH
PR RF L RBAEEEFTREA
R EEEEAEZIME -

377



JIYI HOLDINGS LIMITED £ —#=RRER A T
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4R

Appendix (Continued)
Bif % (£8)

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’'S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
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VIIl.  Enforcement Case No.: Mei Xian Lao Ren Zhong Zi An )\ -
[2023] No. 249 — Zhang Kaiyin, Mei Xian Lao Ren Zhong
Zi An [2023] No. 250 — Liao Qianghua, Mei Xian Lao Ren
Zhong Zi An [2023] No. 251 — Tang Haihua, Mei Xian Lao
Ren Zhong Zi An [2023] No. 252 — Ling Yongshan, Mei
Xian Lao Ren Zhong Zi An [2022] No. 53 — Zou Xiaoming
(Xinjiale) (Continued)
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After verifying and comparing the data of
TianYanCha, the labour arbitration case of Mei Xian
Lao Ren Zhong Zi An [2022] No. 53 was applied to
the court for compulsory enforcement by the
original applicant. Case No.: (2022) Yue 1403 Zhi
739; Filing date: 14 March 2022; Enforceee:
Xinjiale; Enforcement target: RMB42,636;
Enforcement Court: The People’s Court of Meixian
District, Meizhou.

Current status: The enforcement of the case was
terminated on 13 October 2022, with an
outstanding amount of RMB30,252.

Risk assessment: The debtor in this case is Xinjiale.
The management’s solution states that unpaid
wage and unpaid provident fund have been
accrued and accounted for, which should be an
appropriate and reasonable approach.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (cContinued)

IX.  Enforcement Case No.: (2023) Yue 0112 Zhi 11077
(Related Case No.: (2022) Yue 0112 Min Chu 32865)

Case cause: Dispute on a contract of sale and purchase

According to the civil judgment (2022) Yue 0112 Min
Chu 32865 which has become legally effective, issued by
the People’s Court of Huangpu District, Guangzhou, in
respect of the case of a contract of sale and purchase of
steel between the applicant Guangzhou Huaya Trading
Co., Ltd. and the enforceee Guangdong Jiyi Xinya
Decoration Design Engineering Co., Ltd., Meizhou
Weilongju Industrial Co., Ltd., and Deng Jianshen, the
enforceee shall pay the applicant a goods payment of
RMB1,832,985.03 and a liquidated damage of
RMB373,656.70 by 4 June 2023.

Current status: Jiyi Xinya Decoration has not paid the
enforcement amount, and the Company’s senior
management, Liang Weizhen and Deng Jianshen, have
been included in the list of restricted consumption.

Solution for Management Report: Guangdong Jiyi Xinya
Decoration Design Engineering Co., Ltd. actively collects
accounts receivable and other receivables, and raises
funds for repayment.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
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RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

IX.

380

Enforcement Case No.: (2023) Yue 0112 Zhi 11077
(Related Case No.: (2022) Yue 0112 Min Chu 32865)
(Continued)

Impact on Jiyi Holdings and its subsidiaries: The case
involves unrecorded payment for goods and liquidated
damage, which should be supplemented by the recording
of project construction cost of RMB1,832,985.03, non-
operating expense of RMB373,656.70, and liquidated
damage of RMB234,805.38 from 5 June 2023 to 31
December 2023 (183 days X 0.07% X RMB1,832,985.03
= RMB234,805.38).

Legal advice:

1. After verifying Enforcement Judgement (2023) Yue
0112 Zhi 11077, it has been confirmed that the
basic information of the enforcement is true, but
information for civil judgement of related case
(2022) Yue 0112 Min Chu 32865 is missing.

2. After verifying and comparing the data of
TianYanCha, the case was applied to the court for
compulsory enforcement by the original applicant.
Enforcement Case No.: (2023) Yue 0112 Zhi 11077;
Filing date: 5 July 2023; Enforceee: Jiyi Xinya
Decoration; Enforcement target: RMB1,832,985;
Enforcement Court: The People’s Court of Huangpu
District, Guangzhou; Date of termination of the
enforcement: 20 October 2023.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (cContinued)

IX.  Enforcement Case No.: (2023) Yue 0112 Zhi 11077
(Related Case No.: (2022) Yue 0112 Min Chu 32865)
(Continued)

3. Current status: Jiyi Xinya Decoration has not paid
the enforcement amount, and the Company’s
senior management, Liang Weizhen and Deng
Jianshen, have been included in the list of restricted

consumption.

4.  Risk assessment: The debtor in this case is Jiyi Xinya
Decoration. The management’s solution states that
it will actively collect accounts receivable and other
receivables as repayment sources for enforcement
amount, and make corresponding accrual for
supplementary payment for goods and liquidated
damage, which should be an appropriate and
reasonable approach.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

X.

382

Civil Case No.: (2023) Yue 1402 Min Chu 1125

Case cause: Dispute on a contract of sale and purchase

Guangdong Jiyi Xinya Decoration Design Engineering Co.,
Ltd. purchased mortar from the plaintiff Meizhou Huashun
Concrete Co., Ltd. Xiyang Branch in order to undertake
the construction of the “main project of Building 15# of
Jiyi Shangcheng”. The plaintiff, Meizhou Huashun
Concrete Co., Ltd., and the defendant, Guangdong Jiyi
Xinya Decoration Design Engineering Co., Ltd., signed a
“Meizhou Pre-mixed Mortar Purchase and Sales Contract”,
and had agreed on the unit price, quantity, settlement,
and payment method of the mortar. After reaching the
agreement, the plaintiff Meizhou Huashun Concrete Co.,
Ltd. Xiyang Branch supplied mortar to the defendant
Guangdong Jiyi Xinya Decoration Design Engineering Co.,
Ltd. in accordance with the agreement, fulfilling the supply
obligation. However, Guangdong Jiyi Xinya Decoration
Design Engineering Co., Ltd. did not pay the payment of
goods, with the cumulative unpaid payment of
RMB1,810,113.57 as agreed. On 9 March 2023, The
People’s Court of Meijiang District, Meizhou filed a case
and made the following judgments: 1. The defendant
Guangdong Jiyi Xinya Decoration Design Engineering Co.,
Ltd. should pay the concrete payment of
RMB1,810,113.57 to the plaintiff Meizhou Huashun
Concrete Co., Ltd. Xiyang Branch within fifteen days after
the judgment came into effect; 2. The defendant
Guangdong Jiyi Xinya Decoration Design Engineering Co.,
Ltd. shall pay a liquidated damage to the plaintiff Meizhou
Huashun Concrete Co., Ltd. Xiyang Branch within fifteen
days after the judgment came into effect. The calculation
of the liquidated damage is as follows: 1. Based on the
outstanding concrete payment of RMB1,309,408.57,
calculated at a daily interest rate of 0.08% from 31
October 2021 to the time of full payment; 2. Based on the
outstanding concrete payment of RMB500,705, calculated
at a daily interest rate of 0.08% from 1 July 2022 to the
time of full payment; 3. The defendant Deng Jianshen
shall bear joint and several liability for repaying the goods
payment of RMB1,309,408.57 owed by the defendant
Guangdong Jiyi Xinya Decoration Design Engineering Co.,
Ltd. to the plaintiff Meizhou Huashun Concrete Co., Ltd.
Xiyang Branch, as well as the liquidated damages arising
from the overdue goods payment according to the
calculation standard in point 1 of the second item;
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (cContinued)

X.

Civil Case No.:
(Continued)

(2023) Yue 1402 Min Chu 1125

Solution for Management Report: Guangdong Jiyi Xinya
Decoration Design Engineering Co., Ltd. actively
cooperates with Meizhou Weilongju Industrial Co., Ltd.
to improve the engineering project as soon as possible,
recover the receivable project funds, and raise funds for
repayment.

Impact on Jiyi Holdings and its subsidiaries: The goods
payment involved in this case has been accounted for
and should be supplemented until 31 December 2023,
with a liquidated damage of RMB1,177,578.55
(RMB1,309,408.57 X 26 months X 30 days X 0.08% =
RMB817,070.95, RMB500,705 X 30 months X 30 days X
0.08% = RMB360,507.60).

Legal advice:

1. After verifying, it has been confirmed that the basic
information of the civil judgment (2023) Yue 1402
Min Chu 1125 is true.

2. After verifying and comparing the data of
TianYanCha, Case No.: (2023) Yue 1402 Min Chu
1125; Case cause: Dispute on a contract of sale
and purchase; the defendant: Jiyi Xinya Decoration;
Litigation target: not detailed; Trial court: The
People’s Court of Meijiang District, Meizhou.

3. Current status: Jiyi Xinya Decoration has not paid
the enforcement amount.

4. Risk assessment: The debtor in this case is Jiyi Xinya
Decoration. The management’s solution states that
it will actively cooperate with Weilongju Company
to collect accounts receivable as a repayment
source, and make corresponding accrual for
supplementary liquidated damage of goods
payment, which should be an appropriate and
reasonable approach.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’'S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
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XI.  Enforcement Case No.: (2022) Yue 1427 Zhi 800 T— HITES  (2022) B 1427 #,800 5%

BEEARMD

Case cause: Dispute on a contract of sale and purchase ESslE

384

In respect of the case of the sale and purchase contract
dispute between the applicant for enforcement (Xingfeng
Construction Co., Ltd. in Xinpu Town, Jiaoling County),
and the enforceees (Guangdong Jiyi Xinya Decoration
Design Engineering Co., Ltd. Dapu Branch, Guangdong
Jiyi Xinya Decoration Design Engineering Co., Ltd.), the
Civil Mediation (2022) Yue 1427 Min Chu 635 issued by
the People’s Court of Jiaoling County on 18 July 2022
has become legally effective. The applicant for
enforcement, Xingfeng Construction Co., Ltd. in Xinpu
Town, Jiaoling County, applied to this court for
compulsory enforcement on 5 September 2022. This
court filed a case for enforcement in accordance with the
law on 5 September 2022. According to Article 247 and
Article 260 of the Civil Procedure Law of the People’s
Republic of China, as well as Article 24 of the Provisions
of the Supreme People’s Court on Several Issues
Concerning the Enforcement of People’s Courts (Trial),
your company is ordered to fulfill the following
obligations:

(1) Should repay the outstanding goods payment of
RMB192,869.12 to Xingfeng Construction Co., Ltd.
in Xinpu Town, Jiaoling County;

(2) Bear a case acceptance fee of RMB2,117 and an
application enforcement fee of RMB2,825.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (cContinued)

Xl.  Enforcement Case No.: (2022) Yue 1427 Zhi 800
(Continued)

Solution for Management Report: Guangdong Jiyi Xinya
Decoration Design Engineering Co., Ltd. Dapu Branch
actively collects accounts receivable and other
receivables, and raises funds for repayment.

Impact on Jiyi Holdings and its subsidiaries: This case
involves unrecorded goods payment, and an additional
goods payment payable of RMB192,869.12 and an
acceptance fee of RMB2,117, as well as an enforcement
application fee of RMB2,825, should be accrued.

Legal advice:

1. After verifying, it was found that there are missing
information on the Enforcement Judgement (2022)
Yue 1427 Zhi 800 and the Civil Mediation (2022)
Yue 1427 Min Chu 635.

2. After verifying and comparing the data of
TianYanCha, it was found that there was no
information on the case.

3. Current status: Jiyi Xinya Decoration has not paid

the enforcement amount.

4.  Risk assessment: The debtor in this case is Jiyi Xinya
Decoration. The management’s solution states that
it will actively cooperate with Weilongju Company
to collect accounts receivable as the repayment
source, and make corresponding accrual for
supplementary goods payment and court litigation
costs, which should be an appropriate and
reasonable approach.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’'S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
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Xll. Civil Case No.: (2023) Yue 1403 Min Chu 597 TZ REZEZE%  (2023) &2 1403 R #1597
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Case cause: Decoration and renovation contract dispute

Guangdong Jiyi Xinya Decoration Design Engineering
Co., Ltd. commissioned the applicant in October 2020 to
carry out an indoor decoration project (including labor
and materials) at Room 18A-1503, Jiyi Shangcheng,
Jianying Avenue, Meixian District, Meizhou. The house
area is 122.68 square meters, and the two parties agreed
that the project settlement price is RMB1,300/square
meter. The total project payment will be calculated based
on the house area, and the settlement time would be
paid after the sale of the house. The online signing
procedures for Room 1503 were completed on 23
October 2021. After communication and confirmation
between both parties, the project settlement unit price
has been adjusted to RMB1,000/square meter. As of the
date hereof, Guangdong Jiyi Xinya Decoration Design
Engineering Co., Ltd. has not paid any decoration fee.

The mediation of the case was ineffective and The
People’s Court of Meixian District, Meizhou, in
accordance with Articles 502 and 509 of the Civil Code
of the People’s Republic of China, judged as follows:

1. The defendant Guangdong Jiyi Xinya Decoration
Design Engineering Co., Ltd. shall pay the
decoration fee of RMB60,000 and overdue interest
(from 1 November 2022 to the full payment date,
with RMB60,000 as the principal and an annual
interest rate of 14.6%) to the plaintiffs Li Kai and
Liang Yongtao, within five days from the effective
date of this judgment;

5t

Zih  KHRESRMUD

BRE—(EHEMBZTTIEERAF
2020 F 10 ARFEHBA © BLRE
M T8 % (R R 28 KB A & — A
18A-1503FAEZENEREIE(BET
AR BEEEEA12268F K &
FRELRGEESEEARARK 1,300
TSERK UEEERETHES
IRF #ERMAZERLEREX
o % 1503F 2021 F10 A23HE
MEBEREEFE KEHEBER T
BEHEEERARABARK 1,000 F
FAEBIEERNBBRAH BRE—
EHEMIFTIEERAB R ME

A SR

REAEEY - BMNTHEERARE
RERRCPEARKMBERZEZR)E
TET K FRATNGRZIHAE
HRINT

— WEERRE—(EHEMRITIE
ERAFEINEBSRARE
60,000 7t }% 8 B3 FI| & (£ 2022 £
MATBERBEBILEUAR
60,0007C & AN & & F F X
14.6% T ) BREZH - BB
B RRBARHRERZBRR
HARRE :



MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (cContinued)

XIl.  Civil Case No.: (2023) Yue 1403 Min Chu 597
(Continued)

2. Reject the other litigation requests of the plaintiffs
Li Kai and Liang Yongtao.

If the defendant fails to fulfill the payment obligation
within the period specified in this judgment, they shall
pay double the interest on the debt during the delayed
performance period in accordance with Article 260 of
the Civil Procedure Law of the People’s Republic of
China.

The case acceptance fee is RMB2,753.6, with a 50%
reduction of RMB1,376.8 charged. The plaintiffs Li Kai
and Liang Yongtao would bear RMB703.8, while the
defendant Guangdong Jiyi Xinya Decoration Design
Engineering Co., Ltd. would bear RMB673.

Solution for Management Report: Guangdong Jiyi Xinya
Decoration Design Engineering Co., Ltd. actively collects
accounts receivable and other receivables, and raises
funds for repayment.

Impact on Jiyi Holdings and its subsidiaries: This case
involves unrecorded decoration payable, which should be
additonally accrued with RMB60,000 of decoration
payable, RMB10,220 of overdue interest (from 1
November 2022 to 31 December 2023, with RMB60,000
as the principal amount, at a rate of 14.6% per annum),
as well as an acceptance fee of RMB673.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’'S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

XIl.  Civil Case No.: (2023) Yue 1403 Min Chu 597
(Continued)

Legal advice:

1. After verifying and comparing the result of
TianYanCha: Case No.: (2023) Yue 1403 Min Chu
597; Filing date: 15 February 2023, Trial court: The
People’s Court of Meixian District, Meizhou. Case
closed. The situation is true.

2. Current status: Jiyi Xinya Decoration has not paid
the enforcement amount.

3. Risk assessment: The debtor in this case is Jiyi Xinya
Decoration. The management’s solution states that
it will actively collect accounts receivable and other
receivables as repayment sources, and make
corresponding accrual for supplementary goods
payment and interest, which should be an
appropriate and reasonable approach.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (cContinued)

Xlll. Matters relating to social security contribution, unpaid
wage and unpaid tax

With respect to social security contribution, unpaid wage
and unpaid tax of the related companies of the
Company, based on the data information provided by
the management of the Company on the screenshots of
cleared social security contribution and the screenshots
of unpaid tax on the official website of the Guangdong
Electronic Taxation Bureau of the State Taxation
Administration, the unpaid wage and unpaid tax of the
related companies of the Company as of 31 December
2023 are set out below:

1. Jiyi Industrial owes a tax of RMB15,055.62, which
has been accrued without any impact.

2. Jiyi Household owed employees’ wages of
RMB1,686,785.02. RMB1,798,942.32 had been
accrued and accounted for as wages payable,
which needed to be offset by RMB112,157.30; no
social security payment was owed to employees;
taxes owed amounted to RMB5,684,661.74, which
had been accrued and accounted for as taxes owed
of RMB7,131,836.49, which needed to be offset by
RMB1,447,174.75.

3. Jiyi Household Meixian Branch has unpaid tax of
RMB117,757.92, among which RMB113,237.23
had been accrued and accounted for, and a
supplementary of RMB4,520.69 for tax payable had
been accrued.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’'S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Xl

390

Matters relating to social security contribution, unpaid
wage and unpaid tax (Continued)

Jiyi Household Meijiang Branch has unpaid tax of
RMB459,498.85, among which RMB301,720.37
had been accrued and accounted for, and a
supplementary of RMB157,778.48 for tax payable
had been accrued.

Jiyi Xinya Decoration owed employee wage of
RMB2,966,680.49, and the wage payable of
RMB2,813,796.42 had been accrued and
accounted for, with a supplementary accrual for
wage payable of RMB152,884.07. Unpaid
employee social security payment is RMB62,852.29
from April to December 2023, with RMB70,381.45
of social security payment payable accrued and
accounted for, which needs to be offset by
RMB7,529.16; The unpaid tax payment is
RMB6,272,825.05, and RMB6,215,202.02 had
been accrued and accounted for, with a
supplementary accrual for tax payable of
RMB57,623.03.

Shenzhen Xinjiale owes a tax of RMB345,636.56,
and a tax payable of RMB348,956.41 had been
accrued and accounted for, which needed to be
offset by RMB3,319.85.

Meizhou Xinjiale owes a tax of RMB38,888.89, a
tax payable of RMB39,106.08 had been accrued
and accounted for, which needed to be offset by
RMB217.19.

Jiyi Holdings Limited owes a salary of HK$1,015,000.00.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (cContinued)

Xlll. Matters relating to social security contribution, unpaid
wage and unpaid tax (Continued)

Solution for Management Report: (Priority Payment)

1. Jiyi Industrial recovered the payment of land
repurchased by Guangming District, Shenzhen to
pay.

2. Jiyi Xinya Decoration recovered project payment to
pay.

3. Jiyi Household recovered account receivable to pay.
Legal advice:

1. After verifying and comparing relevant data and
evidence materials on the official website of
Guangdong Electronic Taxation Bureau, the
aforesaid social security payment, unpaid wage and
unpaid tax of the related companies of Jiyi Holdings
are true.

2. According to the relevant domestic laws and
regulations, normal operating companies with
unpaid wage, unpaid social security fee and unpaid
tax are usually warned in writing by the competent
government departments for rectification and
administrative fines, etc. It is recommended that
the Company should raise funds to settle unpaid
wage, unpaid social security fee and unpaid tax in a
timely manner in order to avoid any negative
impacts on the Company. The management’s
solution is proactive and should be appropriate and
reasonable.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’'S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
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XIV. Risk of non-recovery of rents and default on leased

392

premises

As of 31 December 2023, Guangdong Jiyi Household
Building Materials Chain Co., Ltd. signed a housing lease
contract on 15 November 2019 with Yang Jiaxing. The
contract stipulates that Guangdong Jiyi Household
Building Materials Chain Co., Ltd. will lease its legally
owned 1/F & 2/F shopping mall and attic in Jiyi Building
Materials City located at No. 2 Xianzi Middle Road,
Meixian District, Meizhou, Guangdong Province, with an
area of approximately 300 square meters, to Yang Jiaxing
for legal commercial operation.

The lease term is from 1 March 2020 to 28 February
2035, for a total of 15 years. The period from 1 March
2020 to 31 August 2020 is rent free. The rental fee is
RMB150,000 per month, with a 6% increase every 3
years. Yang Jiaxing owed Guangdong Jiyi Household
Building Materials Chain Co., Ltd. a rent of
RMB 1,650,000 for a total of 11 months from February to
December 2022; Yang Jiaxing owed Guangdong Jiyi
Household Building Materials Chain Co., Ltd. a rent of
RMB1,800,000 for a total of 12 months from January to
December 2023, totaling RMB3,450,000.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (cContinued)

XIV. Risk of non-recovery of rents and default on leased
premises (Continued)

According to Article 6 of the “Jiyi Building Materials City
Housing Lease Contract” signed between Guangdong
Jiyi Household Building Materials Chain Co., Ltd. and
Yang Jiaxing, "if the leased property is sealed by the
court or the mortgagee exercises the mortgage right,
resulting in the termination of the lessee’s lease and the
inability to use the leased property, the lessee may
choose to terminate the lease contract with the lessor.
The lessor shall return the performance bond and all
prepaid but unused expenses to the lessee within 15
days, and compensate the lessee with a compensation
equivalent to the total amount of the current year's lease
fees as liquidated damages. The lessee may also choose
to terminate the lease contract and claim actual losses
from the lessor (including but not limited to losses from
inability to continue renting the property, losses from
renovation investment, or losses from increased rent),
and the lessor shall make compensation”.

The impact on Jiyi Holdings and its subsidiaries:
Guangdong Jiyi Household Building Materials Chain Co.,
Ltd. has a maximum default risk loss on the leased
property, which is limited to the total annual rental cost
or the actual loss of the lessee. Guangdong Jiyi
Household Building Materials Chain Co., Ltd. should
make a supplementary accrual of liquidated damage,
which is estimated to be a liability of RMB1.8 million.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA EEHEERANAEBEREENE QT
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RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

XIV. Risk of non-recovery of rents and default on leased +/4 - A@ELEMEWERKEHES L EHEYE

premises (Continued) BE AR e ()

Solution for Management Report: Starting from May EEEBREERRATR  E—FXERQ
2024, Jiyi Household Company has coordinated with the AIE2024F5 A - HFHEETIEHE
competent tax authority to increase the amount of value- PSR ENEREERAAEE &
added tax special invoices issued, and issue monthly AREMHEZRZKRLEHERES -

rental invoices to recover overdue rent.

Legal advice: ERER
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According to Article 725 of the Civil Code of China,
if there is a change in ownership of the leased
property during the period of possession by the
lessee according to the lease contract, it shall not
affect the validity of the lease contract. The
provision of this law is the legal principle that
buying and selling do not break the lease, which
means that during the existence of the lease
relationship, even if the owner transfers the leased
property to others, it does not have any impact on
the lease relationship. The buyer cannot deny the
existence of the original lease relationship and
demand the lessee to return the leased property on
the grounds that it has become the owner of the
leased property. Therefore, if Jiyi Household Chain’s
property in Jiyi Building Materials City is seized,
auctioned and transferred to a new property owner
by the court, the original lease contract will remain
valid and the rights and obligations under the lease
contract will continue to be borne by the new
property owner. There is no breach of contract by
Jiyi Household Chain due to the lease contract.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (cContinued)

XIV. Risk of non-recovery of rents and default on leased
premises (Continued)

2. Taking a step back, according to Article 6 of the
lease contract for the first and second floors of Jiyi
Building Materials City provided by the Company, if
the leased property is seized by the court or the
mortgagee exercises the mortgage right, resulting
in the termination of the lease and the inability to
use the leased property, the lessee may choose to
terminate the lease contract with the lessor. The
lessor shall return the performance bond and all
prepaid but unused expenses to the lessee within
15 days, and compensate the lessee with a
compensation equivalent to the total amount of
the lease fees for the current year as liquidated
damages. The lessee may also choose to terminate
the lease agreement and claim actual losses from
the lessor (including but not limited to losses from
inability to continue renting the property, losses
from renovation investment, or losses from
increased rent), and the lessor shall make
compensation. Therefore, if the lessee proposes to
terminate the lease contract and make a claim to
the lessor before the auction of the seized property,
the maximum amount of default risk loss for the
leased property by Jiyi Household Chain is limited
to the total annual rent cost or the actual loss of
the lessee, and the relevant provision for loss
reduction should be calculated by the financial
personnel based on the actual amount.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’'S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

XIV. Risk of non-recovery of rents and default on leased
premises (Continued)

3. Risk assessment: According to the above analysis,
the risk of breach of contract by the leasing
contract company is not significant. The
management'’s solution states that they will actively
collect rent and make corresponding provisions for
liquidated damages, which should be an
appropriate and reasonable approach.
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